Generating actionable climate information in support of climate adaptation and mitigation

Edited by

Andreas Marc Fischer, Janette Bessembinder, Fai Fung, Hans Olav Hygen and Katharine Jacobs

Published in Frontiers in Climate





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5140-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5140-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Generating actionable climate information in support of climate adaptation and mitigation

Topic editors

Andreas Marc Fischer — Federal Office of Meteorology and Climatology, Switzerland Janette Bessembinder — Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute, Netherlands Fai Fung — Met Office, United Kingdom Hans Olav Hygen — Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Norway Katharine Jacobs — University of Arizona, United States

Citation

Fischer, A. M., Bessembinder, J., Fung, F., Hygen, H. O., Jacobs, K., eds. (2024). *Generating actionable climate information in support of climate adaptation and mitigation*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5140-0



Table of contents

05 Editorial: Generating actionable climate information in support of climate adaptation and mitigation Andreas M. Fischer, Janette Bessembinder, Fai Fung, Hans Olav Hygen and Katharine Jacobs

09 Co-creation of a Scalable Climate Service for Kenyan Smallholder Farmers

Sophie van der Horst, Hasse Goosen, Merlijn van Selm, Irene Koomen, Emmanuel Ochola Matsaba, John Wesonga, Jessica Koge and Marjel klein Holkenborg

15 From Climate Model Output to Actionable Climate Information in Norway

Irene Brox Nilsen, Inger Hanssen-Bauer, Anita Verpe Dyrrdal, Hege Hisdal, Deborah Lawrence, Ingjerd Haddeland and Wai Kwok Wong

33 Accelerating Climate Change Adaptive Capacity Through Regional Sustained Assessment and Evaluation in Hawai'i and the U.S. Affiliated Pacific Islands

Victoria W. Keener, Zena N. Grecni and Susanne C. Moser

- 49 Water AND Heat: Intervening in Adaptation Hazard Bias Janice Barnes and Kirstin Dow
- 63 High-Resolution Decadal Drought Predictions for German Water Boards: A Case Study for the Wupper Catchment Andreas Paxian, Katja Reinhardt, Klaus Pankatz, Alexander Pasternack, Maria Paula Lorza-Villegas, Marc Scheibel, Amelie Hoff, Birgit Mannig, Philip Lorenz and Barbara Früh

84 Designing Climate Information Services to Enhance Resilient Farming Activities: Lessons From Papua New Guinea

Rachel S. Friedman, Ellis Mackenzie, Ruth Baiga, Kasis Inape, Steven J. Crimp and Mark Howden

98 The Kake Climate Partnership: Implementing a knowledge co-production framework to provide climate services in Southeast Alaska

Elizabeth Figus, Burt Ki'yee Jackson and Sarah F. Trainor

- 126 Improved representativeness of simulated climate using natural units and monthly resolution Heike Huebener, Ulrike Gelhardt and Jürgen Lang
- 137 TRANSLATE: standardized climate projections for Ireland Enda O'Brien and Paul Nolan

156 Distortion of sectoral roles in climate change threatens climate goals

Naomi Cohen-Shields, Tianyi Sun, Steven P. Hamburg and Ilissa B. Ocko

162 How to provide actionable information on weather and climate impacts?—A summary of strategic, methodological, and technical perspectives

Tobias Geiger, Thomas Röösli, David N. Bresch, Bodo Erhardt, Andreas M. Fischer, Dominik Imgrüth, Stefan Kienberger, Laura Mainetti, Gudrun Mühlbacher and Raphael Spiekermann

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Matthew Collins, University of Exeter, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Andreas M. Fischer ⊠ andreas.fischer@meteoswiss.ch

RECEIVED 05 June 2024 ACCEPTED 12 June 2024 PUBLISHED 27 June 2024

CITATION

Fischer AM, Bessembinder J, Fung F, Hygen HO and Jacobs K (2024) Editorial: Generating actionable climate information in support of climate adaptation and mitigation. *Front. Clim.* 6:1444157. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2024.1444157

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Fischer, Bessembinder, Fung, Hygen and Jacobs. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Generating actionable climate information in support of climate adaptation and mitigation

Andreas M. Fischer^{1*}, Janette Bessembinder², Fai Fung^{3,4}, Hans Olav Hygen⁵ and Katharine Jacobs⁶

¹Federal Office of Meteorology and Climatology MeteoSwiss, Zurich, Switzerland, ²Weather and Climate Services, Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute KNMI, De Bilt, Netherlands, ³UK Applied Science, Met Office, Exeter, United Kingdom, ⁴School of Civil, Aerospace and Design Engineering, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom, ⁵Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Oslo, Norway, ⁶University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States

KEYWORDS

climate services, climate information, co-production, user engagement, knowledge distillation, climate adaptation, climate mitigation

Editorial on the Research Topic

Generating actionable climate information in support of climate adaptation and mitigation

Introduction

Climate change is exerting widespread impacts on nature, society, and economies across the globe necessitating careful consideration of climate monitoring, predictions and projections as decision support for effective medium- and long-term adaptation planning (Hewitt and Stone, 2021; IPCC, 2023). In this respect, the relevance of information at the local scale, tailored to users, is paramount in addressing potential multi-sectoral climate impacts. Recognizing this, numerous countries and organizations have instituted climate services addressing these topics in the form of national climate scenarios and climate assessments such as KNMI'23 in the Netherlands (Van der Wiel et al., 2024), UKCP18 in the UK (Lowe et al., 2018), CH2018 in Switzerland (NCCS, 2018; Fischer et al., 2022), and NCA-5 in the US (USGCRP, 2023). Such services aim to serve as a bedrock for decision support in climate action planning and to facilitate downstream applications.

Despite the shared urgency, the extent and configuration of the value chain in processing from raw climate data to the dissemination of actionable climate information as a service diverge from country to country. This divergence encompasses overarching goals (Skelton et al., 2017), scientific methodologies, specific workflow choices, integration of user needs, governance structures under institutional and political frameworks, modes of dissemination and communication, resources available and how feedback is re-integrated to adjust the production processes. The purpose of this Research Topic was to stimulate an international exchange centered on these nuanced aspects. The eleven articles that are appearing in this Research Topic of Frontiers in Climate Predictions and Projections have together shown the diversity in region-specific experiences, lessons learned, and best practices when distilling actionable climate information. They cluster around aspects of (1) distilling actionable information from climate data, (2) elaborating local-to-regional

climate assessments for adaptation planning, (3) evaluating user-needs in co-production and (4) supporting climate mitigation.

Distilling actionable information from climate data

O'Brien and Nolan outline the principles and methodological chain applied to generate a set of standardized climate projections for Ireland until the 21st century assuming three emission scenarios. The projections are based on regional climate model ensembles driven by CMIP5 global climate models. In their dedicated TRANSLATE project, initiated in 2021 by the Irish Meteorological Service, two distinct ensembles of detrended, bias-corrected and downscaled simulations are inter-compared showing consistent results, enhancing confidence, and robustness. Model uncertainty is hence addressed by merging the two model ensembles into a larger sample directed toward users.

Similar to Ireland, the methodological chain to produce future local-scale climate and hydrological projections is presented by Brox-Nilsen et al.. These projections are also based on downscaled and bias-corrected CMIP5 simulations. Beyond the methodological setup, the authors report on their way of disseminating the comprehensive and complex information. With the aim to increase uptake of information, one of their most promising dissemination channels has been the publication of county-wide factsheets. In terms of uncertainty, they conclude that the tradeoff between robustness and precision should guide the dissemination of climate information and that this information should ideally be coproduced with users.

This discrepancy between robustness and precision is also addressed by Hübener et al. for the use of spatial climate data, as there exists a significant gap between the spatial resolution requested by climate impact experts and policymakers for local adaptation planning and the resolution climate data providers typically offer to ensure robustness. The authors suggest to aggregate climate data at the level of natural units maintaining the physical geographic structures. This enables use of single grid cells within that unit for local studies as exemplified in the case study of the federal state Hesse in Germany. To be applied in downstream applications, the disseminated data should further be easily accessible and easy-to-understand for non-experts.

In another case study for western Germany (Wupper catchment) climate model data from the global decadal prediction system MPI-ESM-LR is post-processed by applying a statistical downscaling step to consider the specific local characteristics for the water catchment. In this way, actionable information is distilled to optimize flood protection and water distribution management of the catchment. While the downscaling step preserves the global prediction skill, Paxian et al. found that the application of a recalibration step clearly improved the prediction skill in Germany. In particular, the 3-year mean and seasonal probabilistic SPI (standardized precipitation index) predictions showed promising results, demonstrating potential skill for use in water management needs. To optimally reach users in this field, a user-oriented product sheet was disseminated on the Copernicus Climate Change Service website.

Local-to-regional climate assessments for adaptation planning

While national and international climate assessments are nowadays an established climate service in many countries, similar assessments on a sub-national level that support concrete adaptation planning are less established and hence their role, function and added value needs to be evaluated.

Keener et al. report on lessons learnt and the added value from the Pacific Islands Regional Climate Assessment (PIRCA), exemplifying the pressing need for nuanced, collaborative climate assessments tailored to local decision-making. Over a decade, PIRCA addressed gaps in detailed climate projections for the US-Affiliated Pacific Islands, emphasizing actionable, and culturally cognizant information. External evaluations also highlight PIRCA's role in enhancing regional adaptive capacity and accelerating climate adaptation. Key components of its effectiveness include framing climate information using human- and decision-centric methods, inclusive methods, flexibility to meet stakeholder objectives, leveraging regional organizations, building relationships, and sustaining collaborations. PIRCA's success suggests transferable lessons for other regions, emphasizing the role of collaborative regional assessments in supporting local climate adaptation and policymaking-thereby complementing national and international assessments.

In a community case study Barnes and Dow present the factors that led to a hazard bias in climate adaptation planning, using the example of the city of Charleston in South Carolina (US) and how this bias was overcome. The hazard bias materialized in that adaptation planning and funding solely focused on flooding and water management, thereby overlooking other hazardsin particular heat health risks and costs of reduced labor productivity-despite being identified in the National Climate Assessment. In the absence of investments, Charleston lacked key urban heat data and technical expertise, but also motivation to develop a prioritization approach in favor of heat risk. To increase compound risk awareness and adjust investments to be inclusive of heat risk management a new coalition of researchers, practitioners, and health experts launched a heat-health research program and initiated a new heat network that significantly helped to broaden the climate resilience agenda.

Geiger et al. go beyond the pure analysis of weather and climate hazards. To render climate information actionable for adaptation purposes, they advocate for a more holistic risk approach by assessing hazard impacts together with their societal and environmental settings in a comprehensive risk approach. The authors emphasize that in particular, National Meteorological and Hydrological Services (NMHSs) are in an excellent position to foster the implementation of such an integrated risk framework into their operational routines that incorporates hazard-exposurevulnerability models, expanding existing forecast, and impact services. This unified approach aims to create synergies within and across NMHSs, fostering collaboration with partners, stakeholders, and users for more effective risk-based services in the face of climate change.

User needs and co-production

Three studies exemplify the indispensable role of co-production between providers of climate services and their users to render climate information and climate services actionable.

Friedman et al. show that the tailoring of climate information services toward users is of utmost importance to increase the uptake of information as evidenced in the example of farmers in Papua New Guinea. Climatic changes threaten farming practices and reduce productivity. While climate information, tools, and practices exist to address climate variability, they often lack contextualization for equitable decision-making. One-size-fitsall information services don't consider regional, social, or local differences. To understand farmers' needs, a Papua New Guinea survey identified key design considerations for seasonal climate forecasts. The authors identified information content profiles, revealing gender and geographic differences. Tailoring weather and climate information services for specific farmer groups promotes equitable access, enhancing smallholders' capacity to adapt strategically to climate change while suggesting avenues for efficient scaling.

A second article takes on the tailoring of climate information to be used by farmers in the case of the horticulture sector in Kenya, East Africa. This sector is heavily affected by climate change, yet local adaptation efforts are strongly limited. Van der Horst et al. present the development of an agricultural climate atlas for two counties in the South of Kenya, aiming to bridge the gap between climate research and farmer uptake. Adopting a bottom-up approach, the atlas is tailored to local needs, focusing on specific crops but it also has the potential to be scalable to other counties and other crops. The co-created atlas demonstrates the significance of user engagement, flexibility and adaptability in climate information services for effective local adaptation. Reported challenges in this development include sustaining engagement beyond the project duration.

Figus et al. present a 24-month case study of knowledge coproduction with an indigenous community and tribe in Southeast Alaska, US, focusing on climate services for adaptation and mitigation with priorities of food sovereignty and security. The study applies a theoretical framework for co-production among indigenous and non-indigenous partners. Results show that coproduction can establish a collective vision, transforming applied climate science and shifting the researcher's focus to support local needs. Reported challenges include logistics, communication, and conducting research during a global pandemic. Similar to van der Horst et al. the authors recommend institutionalizing and maintaining long-term efforts for co-producing climate services aligned with community priorities.

Climate mitigation

The article by Cohen-Shields et al. addresses actionable climate information in support of climate mitigation. They argue for a

modification of the regularly used CO_2 -reporting method. This conventional method of reporting greenhouse gas emissions, using CO_2 -equivalence (CO_2 eq), underestimates the near-term impact of methane-dominated sectors. This is because the method calculates the warming impact over a 100-year period and therefore masks the potency of important short-lived climate forcers like methane. Simple climate modeling indicates that mid-century warming contributions from methane-dominated sectors (in particular from agriculture, fossil fuel, and waste) are twice as high as CO_2 eq estimates. Relying solely on CO_2 eq hence misrepresents the urgency of reducing emissions from these sectors and risks misaligning mitigation targets with desired temperature outcomes.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the articles in this Research Topic highlight the necessity to provide information on weather and climate in a way that is directly applicable to users and stakeholders and their needs. A user-centered approach with "actionable" information is of paramount importance and is urgently needed to support climate adaptation and mitigation measures worldwide. The exchange here also shows examples for other countries to stimulate and accelerate the use of scientific information and knowledge in usertailored and actionable climate services in order to better manage risks and identify opportunities. This collective exchange might even contribute to the formulation of international guidelines and best practices, which are currently absent. The Research Topic also underscores the importance of establishing, maintaining and coordinating regional, national and international climate service centers worldwide as a facilitating mechanism and instrument to foster the implementation of adaptation and mitigation measures (e.g., WMO, 2011; Hewitt et al., 2020). Moreover, the Research Topic strives to delve into future challenges, the sustainability of climate services, and the exploration of long-term strategies to establish these services as indispensable sources for decision-making, akin to the commonplace reliance on weather forecasts today.

Author contributions

AF: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. JB: Writing – review & editing. FF: Writing – review & editing. HH: Writing – review & editing. KJ: Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

Fischer, A. M., Strassmann, K. M., Croci-Maspoli, M., Hama, A. M., Knutti, R., Kotlarski, S., et al. (2022). Climate scenarios for Switzerland CH2018 - approach and implications. *Clim. Serv.* 26:100288. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2022.100288

Hewitt, C. D., Allis, E., Mason, S. J., Muth, M., Pulwarty, R., Shumake-Guillemot, J., et al. (2020). Making society climate resilient: international progress under the global framework for climate services. *Bull. Am. Met. Soc.* 101, E237–E252. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-18-0211.1

Hewitt, C. D., and Stone, R. (2021). Climate services for managing societal risks and opportunities. *Clim. Serv.* 23:100240. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100240

IPCC (2023). "Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report," in Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds. Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (Geneva, Switzerland: IPCC), 184.

Lowe, J. A., Bernie, D., Bett, P., Bricheno, L., Brown, S., Calvert, D., et al. (2018). *UKCP18 Science Overview Report, Met Office.* Available online at: https://www. metoffice.gov.uk/pub/data/weather/uk/ukcp18/science-reports/UKCP18-Overviewreport.pdf (accessed January 15, 2024). organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

NCCS (2018). CH2018 - Climate Scenarios for Switzerland, National Centre for Climate Services. Zurich, 24. ISBN: 978-3-9525031-3-3.

Skelton, M., Porter, J. J., Dessai, S., Bresch, D. N., and Knutti, R. (2017). The social and scientific values that shape national climate scenarios: a comparison of the Netherlands, Switzerland and the UK. *Reg. Envrion. Change* 17, 2325–2338. doi: 10.1007/s10113-017-1 155-z

USGCRP (2023). "Fifth National Climate Assessment," in U.S. Global Change Research Program, eds. A.R. Crimmins, C.W. Avery, D.R. Easterling, K.E. Kunkel, B.C. Stewart, and T.K. Maycock (Washington, DC, USA).

Van der Wiel, K., Beersma, J., van den Brink, H., Krikken, F., Selten, F., Severijns, C., et al. (2024). KNMI'23 climate scenarios for the netherlands: storyline scenarios of regional climate change. *Earth's Fut.* 12:e2023EF003983. doi: 10.1029/2023EF00 3983

WMO (2011). Climate Knowledge for Action: A Global Framework for Climate Services — Empowering the Most Vulnerable. The Report of the High Level Task Force for the Global Framework for Climate Services, 240.



Co-creation of a Scalable Climate Service for Kenyan Smallholder Farmers

Sophie van der Horst^{1*}, Hasse Goosen¹, Merlijn van Selm¹, Irene Koomen², Emmanuel Ochola Matsaba³, John Wesonga⁴, Jessica Koge⁵ and Marjel klein Holkenborg¹

¹ Climate Adaptation Services, Bussum, Netherlands, ² Wageningen Centre for Development Innovation, Wageningen University & Research, Wageningen, Netherlands, ³ Department of Landscape and Environmental Science, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Nairobi, Kenya, ⁴ Department of Horticulture and Food Security, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Nairobi, Kenya, ⁵ Independent researcher, Nairobi, Kenya

Climate change is already impacting the horticulture sector in Kenya. Even though the effects of climate change will be severe, adaptation to climate change still has little priority at the local and county level. This paper discusses the development of the agricultural climate atlas for Kajiado and Kiambu counties in Kenya as a climate information service to support the horticulture sector. This climate service for smallholder farmers aims to bridge the gap between climate research and data provision and the uptake by farmers and farmer organizations on the ground. Rather than developing a generic service for the whole of the country, we followed a local, bottom-up approach. Working at the county level, we tried to capture local needs. The result is a co-created atlas for two counties, for specific crops. The approach can be scaled up to other counties and other crops. We elaborate on our approach, and discuss lessons learned, challenges, and future work opportunities. The development of the climate atlas shows the importance of co-creation and user engagement. In addition, flexibility in the output and process was crucial. The main challenge remains to keep engagement high after completion of the project.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hans Olav Hygen, Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Norway

Reviewed by:

Annamaria Lammel, Université Paris 8, France

*Correspondence:

Sophie van der Horst sophie@climate adaptationservices.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Predictions and Projections, a section of the journal Frontiers in Climate

Received: 21 January 2022 Accepted: 11 March 2022 Published: 01 April 2022

Citation:

van der Horst S, Goosen H, van Selm M, Koomen I, Matsaba EO, Wesonga J, Koge J and klein Holkenborg M (2022) Co-creation of a Scalable Climate Service for Kenyan Smallholder Farmers. Front. Clim. 4:859728. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2022.859728 Keywords: Kenya, climate services, horticulture, adaptation, smallholder farmers, climate change, climate atlas

INTRODUCTION

Climate change presents one of the most significant challenges to Kenya's horticulture sector due to extreme events such as droughts, floods, and temperature increases (Patrick et al., 2020). The effects of climate change are already felt, with weather fluctuations impacting productivity (Omoyo et al., 2015; Chepkoech et al., 2018). Even though the effects of climate change will be severe, adaptation to climate change still has little priority at the local and county level. Integrated Development Plans hardly mention long-term climate change (Vincent et al., 2017; Patrick et al., 2020), and climate-smart technologies are promoted in a general way, but they lack a proper underpinning of what would indeed be "climate smart" at a specific location with its specific projected climate impacts (Matsaba et al., 2020). One important reason for this inaction could be the large gap between technical climate research and the usability for end-users (Findlater et al., 2021), the so-called "valley of death" (Markham, 2002). Even though information and data are available, farmers and extension workers agents are often not well informed about the effects of climate change and how to adapt because the information is not usable and understandable for them (Findlater et al., 2021).

9

Therefore, it is necessary to actively involve and educate farmers and their advisors to reach the "last mile" (Celliers et al., 2021).

Extensive research has been published on the development of climate services that focus on short-term weather or seasonal forecasts in Africa (Tall et al., 2014; Vaughan et al., 2019). Nevertheless, less literature is available on the development of climate services that focus on the long-term effects of climate change. We discuss the development of the agricultural climate atlas (climate-atlas.ke) for Kajiado and Kiambu counties in Kenya as a climate information service to support the horticulture sector, encompassing the production of fresh fruit and vegetables which is an important income generating sector in Kenya (Matui et al., 2016). This climate service for smallholder farmers, those in Kenya having an average landholding of 0.5 ha (Koomen et al., 2018), aims to bridge the gap between technical climate research and the usability by farmers and farmer organizations on the ground (see Matsaba et al., 2020 for a technical description). In this perspective paper, we provide insights on our methodology, lessons learned, challenges, and future work opportunities.

APPROACH

There is no one-size-fits-all when it comes to climate services. For services to be usable and to be used, they need to match the local context, inter alia in terms of planning phase, currently used knowledge, stakeholders, and capacity for using information. User knowledge and needs drive the specification of climate service requirements to enable information uptake and service utilization. However, other factors also steer the development and delivery of services. For instance, constraints emerging from available science, existing tools and available resources must be accounted for to ensure services are usable in practice. Moreover, it is often the case that stakeholders will not have well-defined information requirements and plans for service use at the outset. In a co-creation process the end-users can learn-by-doing and develop requirements in collaboration with service providers and other stakeholders (Lemos et al., 2012). This implies that identification of user needs is not a single activity but requires an iterative process in which demand and supply co-evolve through a learning process (Ziervogel et al., 2021). As such we used a bottom-up approach, which is described in the following sections, to improve the knowledge and skills of local partners and practitioners.

Needs Assessment

Previous work in Africa has also shown that user engagement is crucial to developing a successful climate service (Tall et al., 2014). Therefore, we started the project with an extensive user needs assessment. The purpose of the assessment was to find out if farmers take climate change into account, what climate information is needed by farmers, and the easiest way for them to access this information. During a 3 week field visit in September 2019, 13 smallholder farmers from Kajiado and Kiambu were visited and interviewed to get acquainted with their day-to-day work and vulnerabilities. In addition, interviews with agricultural extension officers and experts from different fields relevant to

horticulture were conducted. All interviews were qualitative, with the aim to draft a general insight in the status of climate change adaptation in smallholder horticulture. Interviews during initial farm visits were informal and conversational, focused on their current agricultural practices and their perception of climate change. According to Gall et al. (2003), these interviews build "... entirely on the spontaneous generation of questions in a natural interaction, typically one that occurs as part of ongoing participant observation fieldwork" (p. 293). Later, in-depth interviews were conducted with a selected group of farmers. These interviews were focused on climate change adaptation potential and willingness to adapt. All respondents were asked exactly the same questions, but they were free to provide as much information to those questions as they personally preferred (Gall et al., 2003). Optional follow-up questions were asked if the respondent touched upon relevant issues that needed further explanation. All farmers were selected by the local extension officers. This might have influenced the representation of the farmer community in both counties. However, it was assumed that farmers represent "average" farmers from their county. The farmer interviews, which were recorded, can be found in the Supplementary Material.

Most farmers pointed out a growing water scarcity in critical moments in the season as major environmental struggle. The timing of rains is crucial in rainfed agriculture, but continues to become harder to predict. Besides, the overall amount of rainfall seems to have decreased. Higher temperatures were perceived by more than half of the farmers. Together with decreasing amounts of rainfall and rainfall being increasingly erratic, it has created farmer awareness of the need to adapt to climatological circumstances. Nevertheless, they focus on the coming growing season and not so much on the climate that gradually changes over decades. Most farmers have not consciously adapted to long-term changes in climate. However, some farmers did find ways to deal with current variability. For example, farmers use irrigation to prolong growing seasons. Doing so, they respond to fluctuations in market demand to get higher returns on their products.

Furthermore, results indicated that smallholder farmers are looking for crop-specific and localized information (especially in the county Kiambu, climatic conditions vary greatly over relatively small areas of land). In addition, they stressed the need for seasonal information on the start and end dates of the rainy seasons. However, it became clear that accessing this information is a challenge due to the absence of mobile devices and internet connectivity. Here, we found that the extension workers are the most important climate and weather information providers of smallholder farmers. In contrast to smallholder farmers, extension workers do have access to computers and internet connectivity. As long-term climate information has a steering function toward decision-making, rather than directly influencing decisions as is the case with short-term information (Singh et al., 2018), it would be sufficient if farmers are informed through the extension workers. As a result, the extension worker became an important target audience for the climate atlas.

User Stories

During the needs assessment, we found that it was challenging to define the main target audience. Farmers need to implement actual measures in the field, but they are not focused on changes taking place on a timescale of decades. They are more concerned about the outcome of the current or upcoming season. Extension workers would be able to guide farmers, but we also identified county officials as having an important role here. This is a barrier for effective adaptation: a complicated landscape of interests and responsibilities amongst the involved stakeholders, not fit for addressing a cross-cutting issue such as climate change.

Therefore, we developed a diagram showing the relationship between the involved stakeholders (**Figure 1**). For each stakeholder, we formulated a user story. User stories are a method, mainly used in agile software development, for representing requirements from users using a simple template such as "As a <Role>, I want <Goal>, so that <benefit>" (Lucassen et al., 2016). The role defines who will directly benefit from the climate services, the goal specifies which features the climate services should exhibit, and the benefit is the value for the user that will be obtained by implementing the user story.

Climate Data Tool

As active collaboration is important for successful cocreation (Vincent et al., 2018), users were involved during the development process where users were challenged to propose new ideas and think "outside-the-box." The basic climate data tool, the climate atlas, shows the number of days per year above/below a maximum/minimum temperature threshold for future periods (Figure 2). The user can manually insert the desired temperature threshold and the months of interest. Thus, users can examine the risk of temperature increases for specific crops during specific periods. We presented the first version to extension workers after which their feedback was incorporated and multiple new versions were discussed with the users. Earlier, only coarse and generic climate data was available with little information about the effects on horticulture. Including growing seasons and identifying critical parameters with our user group allowed us to make a first step and interpret the data. In order to do so, crop-specific indicators, such as temperature thresholds above which yields drop were used. These thresholds were defined by experts and the user groups. This process ultimately resulted in a climate data tool with bias-corrected ERA5 and CMIP5 temperature data from the Climate Data Store (CDS) of the Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) (see Matsaba et al., 2020).

Additionally, during the user needs assessment, it became apparent that the timing of the onset of the rainy season is crucial for farmers. Therefore, the tool includes projections on the range of the start/end day of the rainy seasons. A key finding was that only looking at an "average year" provides limited information. Information on the variation between years is, therefore, a valuable and unique addition. For example, although the average onset of the long rains might be 15 March at some location, planting crops every year using that date will likely result in poor harvests. It would be better to prepare for different situations in terms of knowledge and skill (e.g., know how to handle a dry or wet year and which crops to plant). This could provide relevant climate information for strategic management of water resources.

Creating Crop-Specific Storylines Using the Tool

During our feedback sessions, we found that real-life examples would help to engage the user with the data. Therefore, based on the expert tool, we constructed two example narratives, or storylines, together with farmers. These storylines serve as an illustration for other users. For these case studies, the relevant agro-climatic indicators for two reference crops, tomato and maize, were extracted from the literature supplemented by information supplied by seed companies. Changes in climatic suitability were studied for Kiambu and Kajiado Counties, and the data was visualized to allow user-friendly exploration of the specific temperature and precipitation indicators. Finally, different adaptation options were provided. In the example storyline of tomato in Kajiado, the shift of growing tomatoes in the cooler months is explored, as maximum temperatures will exceed the harmful threshold on a regular basis during the current growing season. However, water is scarce in the cool season, thus, enhanced water retention would be required for this shift.

Capacity Development

Results have been generated for two specific counties (see www.climate-atlas.ke), and the aim is to expand and scale up the atlas to other counties as well, To increase the outreach and impact of the climate atlas, additional storylines can be developed for additional crops as well as other counties. To create this capacity in Kenya, we organized two capacity building workshops: one for technical staff at JKUAT University and one for the Kenya Meteorological Department (KMD) and local extension workers. The capacity building workshops were aimed at using the climate atlas to create storylines for new crops and for new areas. Staff from the district offices of the Kenya Meteorological Department (KMD) and local extension workers participated in these workshops. The representatives from the local meteorological offices in Kiambu, Kajiado, and Muranga provided feedback on the atlas and discussed which climate- and weather information is already available and how this relates to the climate atlas. The meteorological offices publish numerous reports and forecasts already and ideally these communication channels would be used to issue seasonal forecasts and communicate climate information to the relevant audience as well. The atlas was well-received, in particular the fact that it contains crop specific and regionalized narratives. At the same time, the tool allows users to define specific threshold values for specific periods of the year and for specific climate scenarios. The workshop also concluded that more training and capacity building activities were needed. To meet this demand, an online training module was developed (through the NUFFIC tailor made training program). This tailor-made training provides guidance on how to build and further expand the climate atlas to other crops and regions in Kenya. Participants learned more about the basics of climate change and were guided in the design of their own atlas and crop-specific story lines. They were





FIGURE 2 | Climate data tool with numbers explaining its function: 1. Select temperature or precipitation, 2. Select the climate variable, 3. Select the crop-specific temperature threshold, 4. Select the future period, 5. Select the growing months of the crop, 6. Clickable maps showing the number of days above the temperature threshold in the growing season, 7. Figure showing the monthly temperature variation of the selected location in the map for different periods.

encouraged to think critically about which information would be relevant in their case.

DISCUSSION

The development of the climate atlas shows the importance of cocreating a service together with the end users. We chose to work bottom-up and tried to capture local characteristics and needs. As a result the atlas is very specific for representative crops in two counties. At the start, a needs assessment has proven crucial to identify the extension workers as our main target user through which we could reach the smallholder farmers. However, they were not our only target group and the roadmap (**Figure 1**) shows that the climate atlas is not a simple tool that passes ready-made information to the end-users, but rather plays an important role in bringing the issue of climate impacts on horticulture to light in an iterative process. As a result, the atlas contains different information levels: stories to engage policy makers and other non-experts, and a deeper dive with more technical information for experts/practitioners.

Not only was the user involvement at the start important, throughout the process, users remained involved and the outputs were tested and evaluated on their usability. These moments of feedback were extremely valuable as users learned more about climate change and realized they needed other services than initially expected. Even though this meant that work needed to be redone, this process resulted in a climate service that was understandable and relatable to users. Field visits and workshops in real-life enabled us to better understand and to reach out to stakeholders. This was important to understand the local context in which the service would operate. This knowledge helped us to create user stories, which is a novel approach in the development of climate services, and to guide us through the development process. In addition, with the input from many smallholder farmers, we could integrate the climate data into storylines that served as practical examples.

The development of the climate atlas showed that flexibility in the process and outputs is important. Often the concept of climate indicators is new to the users and it is difficult for them to formulate their needs at the start. In this project, at first, the demand seemed to be for maps of temperature and precipitationrelated changes on a yearly basis. At second glance, however, it turned out that users had difficulty relating these annual averages to the agricultural practices in their region. For example, if the average temperature is 2°C higher in 2050, is that good or bad, and should agricultural practices be adapted or not? At this point it became clear that, in order to reach the last mile, the indicators should be entirely crop-specific, taking into account the cropping calendar and particular critical thresholds.

The importance of flexibility has been highlighted in previous literature. For example, Vincent et al. (2018) stress that flexibility is required on the part of all institutions and individuals participating in the co-creation process. In our case, we were only able to carry out this co-creation work because our commissioning party was flexible in the outcomes, as often the outcomes are more predefined at the start of a project. Besides flexibility in the process, flexibility in the design of the climate service is important (Swart et al., 2017). The climate service needs to co-evolve with the dynamic development of information supply and demand. Therefore, we designed a climate atlas that is easily expandable when more information becomes available.

The ultimate goal of the project was to transfer the outputs to institutions in Kenya so that they can manage the climate service themselves. Even though we did transfer the content of the service, active management is still limited and it is difficult to assure that the service is still used after the completion of the project. We recognize that causes earlier reported by Venäläinen et al. (2016) also apply here: limitations of resources including funding, capacity, and expertise. As many other issues have a higher prioritization, work on climate change is often neglected. Research in Burkina Faso and Ethiopia also addresses this challenge, even after considerable effort is often made to build community engagement with the services (Harvey et al., 2019). As a result, low- and middle income countries often rely on ongoing international support in order to maintain programmatic interventions. Finding a solution to this challenge is not easy. Vincent et al. (2020) developed a conceptual framework in which they include enabling factors that they found to be crucial for actually achieving practical use in climateresilient planning in Sub-Saharan Africa. They state that a climate service will not be used unless there are supportive institutions, appropriate policy frameworks, capacity of individuals, and agency to make decisions.

The development of the climate atlas has proven the importance of co-creation and user engagement to develop locally relevant and crop-specific user-defined indicators. Translating these specific indicators in "story lines" supported by maps created a powerful communication platform. The storylines were derived from the perspective of personas, or user stories. This helps to connect to the needs and understanding of the users on the ground. The numerous field trips and workshops showed that farmers need localized and crop-specific information, which resulted in the development of a climate data tool. This tool enables users to work with crop-specific temperature thresholds and growing seasons. Besides the value of co-creation and user engagement, flexibility during the process and output of the commissioning party and service provider was of key importance. The main challenge remains to ensure usage of the climate atlas after the project. Therefore, to increase its impact, we aim to expand the atlas and implement it into educational programs.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: www.climate-atlas.ke.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SvH made a first draft of the article with HG, MvS, IK, EM, JW, and JK had major contributions to the project. The draft was send to them and they reviewed the

manuscript. In addition, they added text, improved the content, and changed the structure of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the manuscript and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

For this Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S Grant: C3S_4200_CAS) demonstrator project CAS partnered with SMHI, Wageningen University & Research (WUR) and Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology

REFERENCES

- Celliers, L., Costa, M. M., Williams, D. S., and Rosendo, S. (2021). The 'last mile' for climate data supporting local adaptation. *Glob. Sustain.* 4, 1–17. doi: 10.1017/sus.2021.12
- Chepkoech, W., Mungai, N. W., Stöber, S., Bett, H. K., and Lotze-Campen, H. (2018). Farmers' perspectives: impact of climate change on African indigenous vegetable production in Kenya. *Int. J. Clim. Change. Str.* 10, 551–579. doi: 10.1108/IJCCSM-07-2017-0160
- Findlater, K., Webber, S., Kandlikar, M., and Donner, S. (2021). Climate services promise better decisions but mainly focus on better data. *Nat. Clim. Change* 11, 731–737. doi: 10.1038/s41558-021-01125-3
- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., and Borg, W. R. (2003). *Educational Research: an Introduction*. 7th Edn. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Harvey, B., Jones, L., Cochrane, L., and Singh, R. (2019). The evolving landscape of climate services in sub-Saharan Africa: What roles have NGOs played? *Clim. Change* 157, 81–98. doi: 10.1007/s10584-019-02410-z
- Koomen, I., van der Lee, J., Obwanga, B., and Coninx, I. (2018). 3R Kenya Issue Brief 001: Targeting Medium-Sized Commercial Family Farms: A Pathway for Development. Wageningen: Wageningen University & Research. Available online at: https://edepot.wur.nl/473519 (accessed March 21, 2022).
- Lemos, M. C., Kirchhoff, C. J., and Ramprasad, V. (2012). Narrowing the climate information usability gap. *Nat. Clim. Change* 2, 789–794. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1614
- Lucassen, G., Dalpiaz, F., van der Werf, J. M. E., and Brinkkemper, S. (2016). "The use and effectiveness of user stories in practice," in *International Working Conference on Requirements Engineering: Foundation for Software Quality*, eds P. Sawyer, B. Peach, and P. Heymans (Cham: Springer), 205–222.
- Markham, S. K. (2002). Moving technologies from lab to market. Res. Technol. Manage. 45, 31–42. doi: 10.1080/08956308.2002.11671531
- Matsaba, E. O., van Selm, M., Wesonga, J. M., Goosen, H., Coninx, I., and Koomen, I. (2020). "Agricultural climate atlas for Kajiado and Kiambu Counties, Kenya," in *Handbook of Climate Change Management: Research, Leadership, Transformation*, ed. W. Leal Filho, J. Luetz, and D. Ayal (Transformation Springer), 1–21.
- Matui, M. S., Saavedra Gonzalez, Y., and Gema, J., Koomen, I. (2016). From Aid to Sustainable Trade: Driving Competitive Horticulture sector development; A Quick Scan of the Horticulture Sector. Wageningen Centre for Development Innovation, Wageningen University & Research. Report 3RKenya-16-03/CDI-16-045. Available online at: https://edepot.wur.nl/473425 (accessed March 21, 2022).
- Omoyo, N. N., Wakhungu, J., and Oteng'i, S. (2015). Effects of climate variability on maize yield in the arid and semi arid lands of lower eastern Kenya. *Agric. Food Secur.* 4, 1–13. doi: 10.1186/s40066-015-0028-2
- Patrick, E. M., Koge, J., Zwarts, E., Wesonga, J. M., Atela, J. O., Tonui, C., et al. (2020). Climate-Resilient Horticulture for Sustainable County Development in Kenya (No. WCDI-20-107). Wageningen Centre for Development Innovation.
- Singh, C., Daron, J., Bazaz, A., Ziervogel, G., Spear, D., Krishnaswamy, J., et al. (2018). The utility of weather and climate information for adaptation decision-making: current uses and future prospects in Africa and India. *Clim. Dev.* 10, 389–405. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2017.1318744

(JKUAT), Kenya. We thank the 3R project (Grant: 28056) for supporting the development of the atlas and for using their channels to reach out to many stakeholders in the field. The Tailor-made training was made possible through the Nuffic program (OKP-TMT.20/00120).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fclim. 2022.859728/full#supplementary-material

- Swart, R. J., de Bruin, K., Dhenain, S., Dubois, G., Groot, A., and von der Forst, E. (2017). Developing climate information portals with users: Promises and pitfalls. *Clim. Serv.* 6, 12–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2017. 06.008
- Tall, A., Hansen, J., Jay, A., Campbell, B. M., Kinyangi, J., Aggarwal, P. K., et al. (2014). Scaling Up Climate Services for Farmers: Mission Possible. Learning From Good Practice in Africa and South Asia. CCAFS Report No. 13. Copenhagen, Denmark: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Vaughan, C., Hansen, J., Roudier, P., Watkiss, P., and Carr, E. (2019). Evaluating agricultural weather and climate services in Africa: Evidence, methods, and a learning agenda. *Wires Clim. Change* 10, e586. doi: 10.1002/wcc.586
- Venäläinen, A., Pilli-Sihvola, K., Tuomenvirta, H., Ruuhela, R., Kululanga, E., Mtilatila, L., et al. (2016). Analysis of the meteorological capacity for early warnings in Malawi and Zambia. *Clim. Dev.* 8, 190–196. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2015.1034229
- Vincent, K., Conway, D., Dougill, A. J., Pardoe, J., Archer, E., Gajanan Bhave, A., et al. (2020). Re-balancing climate services to inform climate-resilient planning A conceptual framework and illustrations from sub-Saharan Africa. *Clim. Risk Manag.* 29, 100242. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2020.100242
- Vincent, K., Daly, M., Scannell, C., and Leathes, B. (2018). What can climate services learn from theory and practice of co-production?. *Clim. Serv.* 12, 48–58. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2018.11.001
- Vincent, K., Dougill, A. J., Dixon, J. L., Stringer, L. C., and Cull, T. (2017). Identifying climate services needs for national planning: insights from Malawi. *Clim. Policy* 17, 189–202. doi: 10.1080/14693062.2015.1075374
- Ziervogel, G., Enqvist, J., Metelerkamp, L., and van Breda, J. (2021). Supporting transformative climate adaptation: community-level capacity building and knowledge co- creation in South Africa, *Climate Policy*. 1, 1–17 doi: 10.1080/14693062.2020.1863180

Conflict of Interest: SvH, HG, MvS, and MkH were employed by Climate Adaptation Services.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 van der Horst, Goosen, van Selm, Koomen, Matsaba, Wesonga, Koge and klein Holkenborg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



From Climate Model Output to Actionable Climate Information in Norway

Irene Brox Nilsen^{1*}, Inger Hanssen-Bauer², Anita Verpe Dyrrdal³, Hege Hisdal¹, Deborah Lawrence¹, Ingjerd Haddeland¹ and Wai Kwok Wong

¹ Department of Hydrology, Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate, Oslo, Norway, ² Division for Climate Services, Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Oslo, Norway, ³ Division for Model and Climate Analysis, Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Oslo, Norway

The Norwegian Centre for Climate Services (NCCS) has developed a production chain for climate information with the aim of delivering a knowledge base for climate change adaptation suitable for use by planners at various administrative levels in Norway. This process consists of two main steps: First, climate and hydrological projections are produced at a local scale (1 \times 1 km resolution) using available results from global and regional climate models (GCMs and RCMs). In a second step, climate factsheets with abridged information relevant for individual counties in Norway have been co-produced with users and county authorities. Projections were produced by using a climate-hydrological modeling chain driven by downscaled simulations from 10 GCM-RCM combinations and two climate scenarios in which temperature and precipitation were first downscaled and bias-adjusted to a 1×1 km resolution. Biasadjustment was necessary, partly due to biases in the RCMs. These results were published in the Norwegian climate assessment report "Climate in Norway 2100." The results have then been disseminated through various formats, such as reports, dataportals, visualizations and factsheets (available at https://klimaservicesenter.no/). NCCS has issued climate factsheets for 17 counties in Norway and Svalbard. The countywise climate factsheets have become the most extensive product issued by NCCS. A challenge when developing information about climate change for use in adaptation is the issue of uncertainty, and the trade-off between robustness vs. precision in the numerical values given should guide the dissemination of climate information. Based on our experiences, we also recommend that climate information is developed in collaboration with users because this ensures that it will be understood by a wider audience. Most climate-related challenges for infrastructure are related to extreme events. For technical applications in Norway, climate change allowances are now available for heavy precipitation, floods, and storm surges as a tool for design analyses of buildings and infrastructure. This paper describes the production chain for the presently available climate projections following the release of IPCC AR5 (CMIP5), our experiences of the dissemination process, as well as our plans for further development of the next national climate assessment report based on IPCC AR6 (CMIP6).

Keywords: climate projections, hydrological projections, climate change allowances, climate change adaptation, co-production of climate information, Norway, Svalbard

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andreas Marc Fischer, Federal Office of Meteorology and Climatology, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Gaby Sophie Langendijk, Climate Service Center Germany (GERICS), Germany Louise Wilson, Met Office, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Irene Brox Nilsen ibni@nve.no

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Predictions and Projections, a section of the journal Frontiers in Climate

Received: 31 January 2022 Accepted: 21 March 2022 Published: 13 April 2022

Citation:

Nilsen IB, Hanssen-Bauer I, Dyrrdal AV, Hisdal H, Lawrence D, Haddeland I and Wong WK (2022) From Climate Model Output to Actionable Climate Information in Norway. Front. Clim. 4:866563. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2022.866563

1. INTRODUCTION TO CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION IN NORWAY

The Norwegian Centre for Climate Services (NCCS) is a collaboration between the Norwegian Meteorological Institute, the Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate (the national hydrological services), the Norwegian Research Centre (NORCE) and Bjerknes Centre for Climate Research. The main goal of NCCS is to provide a knowledge base for climate change adaptation to decision makers and planners at various administrative levels in Norway. Since counties and municipalities are largely responsible for climate adaptation in Norway, delivering useful information at these scales is an important part of NCCS' mandate. The three main goals of NCCS are 1) to provide climate and hydrological data for the past and future in Norway, 2) to be the preferred supplier of knowledge about climate change and hydrology and the effects of climate change on natural hazards, and 3) to be one of Europe's leading national centers for knowledge on climate and hydrology for climate adaptation and impact research. The center is funded by the Norwegian Environment Agency, the Ministry of Climate and Environment and the collaborative partners.

Norway has a complex geography with large gradients in topography and climate, and challenges vary between regions and even within municipalities. The western parts of southern Norway receive the largest amounts of precipitation, up to 5,000 mm/year in coastal regions. In the rain shadow, approximately 100 km further inland, precipitation amounts are less than a tenth of this. Winter precipitation is commonly stored as snow, which melts in spring (in the lowlands) and early summer (at higher elevations). The country has approximately 5,400,000 inhabitants (Statistics Norway, 2021), distributed across the whole country. This decentralization policy results in a sparse population distributed over many small municipalities.

Although challenges resulting from climate change differ across the country, the most common natural hazards are related to water: an increase in heavy rainfall, rainfall-generated floods and rainfall-induced landslides, and for coastal regions: an increase in storm surges. It should be noted, however, that because land masses are still rising after the last ice age, the relative sea level rise is largest in the southwestern regions of Norway. The above-mentioned hazards impact different sectors and communities in various ways. In 2018, a national climate adaptation conference summarized central topics into four conference sessions: i) water and more water; ii) nature, land-use and cultural heritage; iii) civil protection in a changed climate; iv) holistic management. These topics are regarded as relevant climate adaptation challenges across Norway (Neby, 2019).

1.1. Climate Change Adaptation Policy and Guidelines

The White Paper on Climate Change Adaptation in Norway (Norwegian Government, 2012) states that all sectors have a responsibility for climate adaptation in their respective sectors, and further that municipalities carry the main responsibility for adaptation, for example through local land use planning. The Norwegian Planning and Building Act (Norwegian Government, 2013), requires that municipalities perform a risk and vulnerability assessment (RVA) for development plans. National authorities facilitate and guide the climate adaptation work undertaken by the municipalities. In 2018, the Norwegian government adopted new guidelines on climate change adaptation (Norwegian Government, 2018). These new guidelines impose heavier responsibilities on municipalities than before, for example through explicit requirements to take climate change into account in planning and to consult and take into use existing knowledge on climate change. Climate factsheets (Hisdal et al., 2021) issued by NCCS have been a core reference for climate adaptation in these governmental guidelines. They are discussed more thoroughly in section "Step 2." A survey by Klemetsen and Dahl (2020) found that 91% of municipalities in Norway have started work on climate change adaptation. The awareness of climate-related hazards is high; among the respondents, 97% expected the occurrence of an extreme weather event in their area. They further found that 76% of municipalities that have developed risk and vulnerability assesments (RVA) used a knowledge base on climate change. Of those, 61% responded that they used climate factsheets from NCCS (Klemetsen and Dahl, 2020). More details on how climate adaptation is coordinated in Norway can be found in e.g., Hanssen et al. (2013), Wejs et al. (2014), and Hauge et al. (2020).

As recommended in the White Paper on Climate Change Adaptation for Norway (Norwegian Government, 2012), a high emission scenario should be considered when assessing consequences of climate change, in line with the precautionary principle. Risk levels for riverine flooding, storm surges, landslides and avalanches are defined in the Norwegian Planning and Building Act and the associated technical regulations (Norwegian Government, 2017). Buildings in safety class 2 (e.g., a residential area) must be sited, designed or protected against the 200-year flood and the 200-year storm surge height. For the highest safety class, the 1,000-year return interval applies. Four principles for climate change adaptation have been formulated in Hamarsland (2015, our translation):

- i) Buildings and infrastructure with a short lifespan (10–20 years) are designed on the basis of the current climate.
- Buildings and infrastructure with a long lifespan are either built to withstand projected climate change or designed based on the current climate, but which are also suitable for reinforcement at a later date.
- iii) Measures should be climate-resilient, that is, they should function as intended even if the climate develops differently from what is projected.
- iv) Climate adaptations contributing to achieving several goals are considered win-win adaptations and should be given a high priority."

Extreme events pose challenges for infrastructure and the built environment in Norway. To cope with the expected changes, climate change adaptation can be set into practice by making allowances for climate change in risk assessments and planning. Such climate change allowances have therefore been developed from climate projections for heavy precipitation,

Actionable Climate Information in Norway

floods and storm surges for use in the design of buildings and infrastructure with a long lifespan, and in hazard mapping. These climate change allowances, requested by users and developed in collaboration between researchers and public management, recommend a buffer to account for increases in heavy rainfall, floods and storm surges. The Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate issued the first generation of climate change allowances for floods in Lawrence and Hisdal (2011), and have refined the recommendations since then. NCCS have formulated these recommendations in general as follows: "To increase resilience to climate change, it is recommended to make allowances for climate change in risk assessments of heavy rainfall, floods and storm surges when planning long-term infrastructure and residential areas. A climate change allowance states how much the current design value (that is, an extreme value such as the 200-year value) should be increased to account for future climate change, specifically: at the end of this century, under the high emission scenario." The allowances are also used as a basis for the design of protection measures related to existing infrastructure and buildings, although additional costbenefit considerations need to be made before making a decision. Specific formulations for heavy rainfall, floods and storm surges, respectively, are given under the relevant sections below, and in the climate factsheets.

1.2. Interacting With Users

Climate change adaptation needs to be integrated into all relevant policy fields and planning, according to the White Paper on Climate Change Adaptation (Norwegian Government, 2012), which broadens the potential user group of NCCS from scientists, via the private and public sector to the general public. NCCS has defined the prioritized user groups as listed in Table 1. Users are engaged through meetings and workshops initiated by both NCCS and other organizations. NCCS has been invited by intermediaries, such as the Norwegian Environment Agency and the Norwegian Association of Local and Regional Authorities (KS), to present information at courses and webinars, most of them aimed at municipal officers and consultants who implement climate change adaptation into municipal plans. In total, researchers affiliated to NCCS gave 340 presentations from 2015 to 2021. Web site statistics and participant lists at seminars NCCS have attended indicate that NCCS have also reached users ranging from international climate researchers, educational institutions, the energy sector, municipal engineers, consultants, municipal planners, and the general public. Spatial planning plays a critical role in climate adaptation and municipalities are therefore one of the main target groups. Municipalities best know their local situation and needs, and therefore, the White Paper on Climate Change Adaptation points them out as being the most appropriate authority level to develop adaptation policies (Hanssen et al., 2013). Land use plans represent an important part of climate change adaptation through their ability to shift new developments away from vulnerable, hazard-prone regions. Robust and climate-adapted spatial plans thus require information about future climate and further effects on e.g., natural disasters. In addition, several impacts of climate change depend on responses in e.g.,

TABLE 1 Prioritized user groups.	
Government agencies responsible	
for infrastructure	Counties
	County municipalities, country governors
Municipalities	Departments for land-use planning, water
	management and emergency preparedness
Consultancies used by municipalities	
Industries/sectors	Land use and the built environment
Impact research	Ecology, floods and landslides and
	social sciences.

ecological systems, or factors affecting human health. Providing useful climate datasets for scientists studying such impacts is therefore an important task for NCCS, in addition to providing municipalities with refined end products. During the past 10-15 years, the government has developed learning networks related to climate change. Two such networks, "Framtidens byer" ("Cities of the future") and iFront ("aHead") have been established between the largest cities. The mandate of iFront has been to facilitate the "tricle down" of knowledge from national networks to the networks that participating cities were encouraged to form with their neighboring municipalities, and in turn, that participating regional municipalities were encouraged to form with their neighboring municipalities and so on. The Norwegian Environment Agency and the Norwegian Association of Local and Regional Authorities initiated the first climate network in 2015 and now organizes the 4th generation climate network (Wang and Grann, 2019). A series of novel problemoriented collaborative workshops, Klimathon (Kolstad et al., 2019; Neby, 2019; Kvamsås et al., 2021), can also be considered to be a type of learning network. These hackathon-inspired seminars gather planners from the municipal and county levels, intermediaries and knowledge providers with the aim of coproducing knowledge for use in climate change adaptation. Through dialogue, different practitioners create a common understanding of a case. Although the questions discussed are not real-life problems, the participants build on experience from local, regional and national adaptation work (Neby, 2019).

2. STEP 1: CLIMATE PROJECTIONS FOR NORWAY

The climate assessment report "Klima i Norge 2100" (Hanssen-Bauer et al., 2015; hereafter abbreviated KiN), and the shorter English version "Climate in Norway 2100" (Hanssen-Bauer et al., 2017a), present historical climate change and climate projections toward the end of this century. The Arctic islands of Svalbard were not included in the national Norwegian report, as they lie outside the EURO-CORDEX domain (Jacob et al., 2014). Therefore, a special assessment report "Climate in Svalbard 2100" (Hanssen-Bauer et al., 2019; hereafter abbreviated CiS) was published in 2019. Here, we describe the climate-hydrological modeling chain used in the 2015 version of



KiN. An update of the report "Climate in Norway 2100," planned to be issued in 2024, is briefly described under "Future work."

The climate assessment reports KiN and CiS were based on coupled atmosphere-ocean general circulation models (GCMs) from phase 5 of the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP5). Atmospheric variables were downscaled to Norway from the output of the World Climate Research Programme (WCRP) Coordinated Downscaling Experiment-European Domain (CORDEX), see Figure 1. Projected temperature and precipitation were computed from regional climate models (RCMs) directly, i.e., without further downscaling or biasadjustment, at a spatial resolution of 12×12 km (2071–2100 relative to the reference period (1971-2000). These data were used to estimate projected changes for counties (Figure 2) and as spatially distributed, gridded maps. All projections were produced from ten GCM-RCM combinations from CMIP5 (Table 2), downscaled for EURO-CORDEX, i.e., CORDEX models for the European domain. At the time the selection of EURO-CORDEX models were done, these ten GCM-RCM combinations consisted of all EURO-CORDEX at a 0.11 $^{\circ}$ resolution, EUR-11, that were available at the time for two emission scenarios (RCP4.5 and RCP8.5), see Table 2. These simulations were later re-gridded and bias-adjusted into 1 × 1 km resolution. In addition, empiricalstatistical downscaling was used to produce temperature projections for the full multi-model ensemble of GCMs from CMIP5.



FIGURE 2 Historical and projected annual mean temperature for one county, Hedmark. The historical development is shown as single years (blue dots), smoothed 10-year variations (full red line), trends (dotted red line). The future development is shown for the high emission scenario, RCP8.5, as the median of the model ensemble (full gray line) and low and high model simulations (dotted gray lines), for the middle of this century (the period 2031–2060 is plotted at 2045) and the end of this century (the period 2071–2100 is plotted at 2085).

In addition to climate model simulations for historical and future projections, observation-based datasets were used to present the development of the climate in the historical period, as **TABLE 2** | GCM–RCM combinations used in KiN from the EURO-CORDEX ensemble and CiS for the Arctic-CORDEX ensemble (see page 144 in KiN and page 192 in CiS for references and details).

	KiN: GCM–RCM realization	CiS: GCM–RCM realization
1	CNRM-CERFACS-CM5-CCLM4-8-17	CCCma-CanESM2-SMHI-RCA4
2	CNRM-CERFACS-CM5-SMHI-RCA4	ICHEC-EC-EARTH-SMHI-RCA4-SN*
3	ICHEC-EC-EARTH-CCLM4-8-17	ICHEC-EC-EARTH-SMHI-RCA4
4	ICHEC-EC-EARTH-HIRHAM5	ICHEC-EC-EARTH-DMI-HIRHAM5
5	ICHEC-EC-EARTH-RACMO22E	MPI-M-ESM-LR-MGO-RRCM*
6	ICHEC-EC-EARTH-SMHI-RCA4	MPI-M-ESM-LR-SMHI-RCA4-SN*
7	MOCH-HadGEM2-ES-SMHI-RCA4	MPI-M-ESM-LR-SMHI-RCA4
8	IPSL-CM5A-MR-SMHI-RCA4	NCC-NorESM1-M-SMHI-RCA4
9	MPI-ESM-LR-CCLM4-8-17	COSMO-CLM**
10	MPI-ESM-LR-SMHI-RCA4	

Stars indicate models that were not available for RCP4.5, only RCP8.5. The double star indicates that a dynamical downscaling was performed with COSMO-CLM for Svalbard.

well as for bias-adjustment and for calibrating and validating the hydrological models. The main historical meteorological dataset used was a gridded dataset from the web portal http://senorge. no/ (hereafter senorge v.1.1; Tveito et al., 2005; Mohr, 2008), with a daily temporal resolution, and a spatial resolution of 1×1 km. Senorge v.1.1 interpolates temperature and precipitation from observation stations, using various geographical information (e.g., longitude, latitude, altitude, distance from coast; see Mohr, 2008 for details).

2.1. Climate–Hydrological Modeling Chain

Projections of hydrological variables (runoff, snow, groundwater, evapotranspiration and soil moisture deficit) were simulated with hydrological models, taking temperature and precipitation as input. Simulations were driven by bias-adjusted temperature and precipitation from the 10 EURO-CORDEX simulations. This approach consisting of using downscaled, bias-adjusted climate data to simulate hydrological variables is often referred to as the climate–hydrological modeling chain.

Ideally, climate model output should be used directly in hydrological models. However, the spatial resolution of regional climate model ensembles, such as the EURO-CORDEX simulations, is still too coarse for local assessments, especially in a country with rugged topography, such as Norway. In addition, global and regional climate models can produce somewhat biased output (e.g., Frei et al., 2003), which unfortunately prevents their direct use in impact studies. As a result, bias-adjustment of climate model output variables has become a fairly standard procedure in climate change impact studies (e.g., Hempel et al., 2013; Dankers and Kundzewicz, 2020), despite its limitations and the additional challenges it can introduce (see for example the discussion in Ehret et al., 2012). For this work, the main challenges were related to the volume of data (10 models \times 320 000 grid cells \times 130 years), which favored a computationally efficient method. Temperature and precipitation were regridded from approximately 12 \times 12 km to 1 \times 1 km and thereafter bias-adjusted for each grid cell separately, using senorge v.1.1 as the reference dataset, see Wong et al., 2016) for details. Wong et al. (2016) also presents some reasons for bias-adjustment, e.g., cold biases for Norway in the historical period leading to an unrealistic prolonged snow season if bias-adjustment was not implemented. For a more detailed discussion of the trade-offs please see Section Discussion.

2.1.1. Hydrological Modeling

For the hydrological simulations, the HBV hydrological model (Bergström, 1995; Sælthun, 1996; Beldring et al., 2003) was selected. This model has been widely used for hydrological simulations in the Nordic region (Bergström, 2006), and is used both operationally and for research (e.g., Lawrence and Haddeland, 2011; Wong et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2019). The HBV model is a conceptual hydrological model that computes the water balance in response to hydro-meteorological forcing, including storages and depletion in snow, soil moisture and groundwater, and simulates the associated runoff. Two versions of the HBV model were used: a) a catchment-based version with height zones for snow modeling (Sælthun, 1996); and b) the gridded HBV model developed by Beldring et al. (2003). Both versions employ temperature-index methods for snow accumulation and melting and for evapotranspiration. Thus, the model can be run with temperature and precipitation time series as the only driving variables. The hydrological model includes different land cover types, e.g., lake, forest, bedrock, and urban, which specifies the percentage of the given land cover type within the gridcell.

The catchment-based HBV model was calibrated and validated for 115 unregulated catchments for use in generating hydrological projections suitable for flood analyses in these catchments (Lawrence et al., 2009; Lawrence, 2016). Multiple parameter sets were calibrated for each catchment to quantify the uncertainty in HBV model parameterization (Lawrence and Haddeland, 2011; Lawrence, 2020). Bias-adjusted precipitation and temperature time series were created for each catchment for each of the 10 EURO-CORDEX RCMs by applying two bias-adjustment methods. The bias-adjusted time series were used as forcing data to run multiple hydrological simulations for each catchment, and this was also done for each of the 25 parameter sets for each catchment. The annual maximum flood series was extracted from each simulation for 30-year time slices for estimating changes in the average annual flood, the 200- and 1,000-year floods and the predominant flood season. Due to the relatively short time periods for analyses (annual maximum series consisting of 30 years for the reference and future periods), a twoparameter Gumbel distribution was used for estimating flood return levels. Percentage future change in flood discharge was calculated by comparing estimates for the flood quantiles for the reference and future periods.

A gridded version of the HBV model was implemented with a daily time step and 1×1 km spatial resolution for mainland Norway (Beldring et al., 2003) to study changes in hydrological variables. The model was calibrated using precipitation and temperature from senorge v1.1 as forcing data. The results from this historical run represents the reference data for the hydrological variables at 1×1 km. The model was thereafter run using downscaled and bias-adjusted climate model data from the ten EURO-CORDEX models, resulting in daily gridded hydrological time series spanning the period 1971–2100. Svalbard was not included in the national Norwegian report KiN, as it is outside the EURO-CORDEX domain. A special assessment report "Climate in Svalbard 2100" (CiS) was published in 2019, based on downscaled and bias-adjusted models from the Arctic-CORDEX ensemble treated in a similar way as described for KiN. Eight models were available for RCP8.5, five for RCP4.5, all with a 50 km resolution. Because of the coarse spatial resolution in Arctic-CORDEX, an additional regional downscaling to 2.5 km resolution was performed using one model, COSMO-CLM.

3. RESULTING PROJECTIONS AND ALLOWANCES

In the KiN and CiS reports, results are computed for two emission scenarios, for the mid-century period (2031–2060) and the end-century period (2071–2100) relative to the reference period (1971–2000). To satisfy the precautionary principle, the high emission scenario at the end-century period is most often used as a basis for climate adaptation in Norway. The summary of results below are valid for mainland Norway for the endcentury period compared to the reference period, under the high emission scenario RCP8.5, unless otherwise stated. Model spread in the KiN report is presented as the 10 percentile, median and 90 percentile of the model ensemble. In this paper as well as in the climate factsheets, the ensemble median is presented, in some cases with the 10 percentile and 90 percentile in parentheses.

3.1. Temperature

The mean temperature for mainland Norway has increased by approximately 1°C in the period 1900–2014. The projections toward the end-century for high emissions show a 4.5° C warming for mainland Norway (3.4–6.0°C). **Figure 2** shows how this information is conveyed graphically through a climate factsheet. For the intermediate emission scenario, RCP4.5, the temperature increase is estimated to be 2.7° C (1.6–3.7°C). As expected from Arctic amplification, the projected warming is larger for the northernmost counties (Finnmark: 5.5° C), and especially for Svalbard: 9.8° C, according to the report CiS. The projected warming in winter exceeds that of the other seasons.

3.2. Precipitation, Including Climate Change Allowance

Historically, the mean annual precipitation has increased by approximately 18% in the period 1900–2014. Annual precipitation is in general projected to increase at high latitudes. By the end of this century, annual precipitation is estimated to increase by 18% (7–23%) for the high emission scenario and by 8% (3–14%) for the intermediate emission scenario. Precipitation intensities during short-term heavy showers increase more than daily values because air has the capacity to hold more precipitable water when it is warmer. Heavy rainfall may lead to widespread stormwater runoff with traffic disruptions and material damage. Climate change allowances have therefore been developed to

TABLE 3 | Recommended climate change allowance for heavy rainfall (modified from Dyrrdal and Førland, 2019).

	Return period < 50 years	Return period \geq 50 years
≤ 1 h	40%	50%
> 1–3 h	40%	40%
> 3–24 h	30%	30%

mitigate damages from increases in precipitation intensity during heavy rainfall. A climate change allowance for heavy rainfall states by which factor or percentage the current design rainfall (taken from an IDF curve NCCS, 2022b) should be increased to account for future climate change. The resulting climateadjusted value is used to design infrastructure on a local, urban scale. These climate change allowances are not themselves climate projections, but are derived from climate projections of precipitation. The climate change allowance for heavy rainfall was defined on the basis of projected precipitation amounts for the end of this century (2071-2100) relative to the reference under the assumption of a high emission scenario. Initially, the allowance was formulated as "at least 40% increase," independent of storm duration or return period. In the current version of the climate factsheets (Hisdal et al., 2021), this is expanded: "If a more refined approach is desired for different durations and return values, the climate change allowance as shown in the table below (Table 3) may be used."

At Svalbard, the relative increase in annual precipitation is projected to be larger than that for mainland Norway, i.e., approximately a 65% increase; however, the absolute values of precipitation are low (approximately 400 mm/year at Ny Ålesund) (CiS).

3.3. Snow

Changes in temperature and precipitation influence snow coverage. Higher temperatures in autumn and spring lead to a shorter snow season. A shorter snow season does not necessarily mean less snow, however. For regions with sufficiently low temperatures in a future climate (at elevations exceeding 1000 m a.s.l.; Skaugen et al., 2012), snow amounts are expected to increase due to an increase in precipitation, at least toward the middle of this century. The cryosphere is an important part of nature at Svalbard, with almost 60% of the land area of Svalbard covered by glaciers. The snow season is expected to become shorter, and the loss of glacier mass will change the landscape (CiS).

3.4. Runoff

Changes in precipitation and snow regimes will alter runoff in different ways for the different seasons. In winter, runoff is projected to increase (substantially for relative values but only modestly for absolute values) due to a smaller fraction of the precipitation being stored as snow. The timing of snowmelt is shifted to earlier in the year. In spring, this shift toward earlier snowmelt leads to a diverse picture, with an increase in runoff at high altitudes, where snowmelt continues into summer months (June–July) in the present climate. In the same season, a decrease in runoff is projected in the lowlands, where snowmelt ends during April–May in the present climate. In summer, runoff in general is projected to decrease. This expected decrease is mainly due to an increase in evapotranspiration outweighing the increase in rainfall. In autumn, runoff is projected to increase at most locations due to an increase in rainfall. An exception are the lowlands of South Norway where higher evapotranspiration may even reduce autumn runoff.

For Svalbard as a whole, runoff is expected to increase in summer as a response to glacier melt, and in the other seasons as a response of more precipitation falling as rain rather than snow.

3.5. Floods, Including Climate Change Allowance

Although rainfall is projected to increase, flood risk depends on several factors in addition to rainfall (see Hodgkins et al., 2017; Sharma et al., 2018). In Norway, rainfall floods are projected to increase, but snowmelt floods are not (Vormoor et al., 2015, 2016; Lawrence, 2016, 2020). This difference depends on the characteristics of the river catchment, particularly related to the potential for snow accumulation. Figure 3 shows changes in the 200-year flood by the end of the century under high emissions. The green dots correspond to catchments that are dominated by a snowmelt flood in today's climate, where the flood magnitude is projected to be unchanged or reduced. Blue dots correspond to catchments that are dominated by a rainfall flood or a combination of rainfall and snowmelt floods in today's climate, where the flood magnitude is projected to increase. The daily (24 h) time step does not allow resolving the flood peak in catchments that respond quickly to rainfall; however, more recent studies with 3-h input have shown that the flood magnitude in these catchments have larger increases (Lawrence, 2018). The largest increases in flood magnitude are expected in small, steep catchments and in other catchments in which excess rainfall accumulates and is transferred rapidly through the catchment. In larger catchments, snowmelt and evapotranspiration occurring over longer timescales (i.e., days rather than hours) have a greater effect in mitigating the impact of increases in short-term precipitation intensities as compared with smaller catchments (Sharma et al., 2018).

Recommendations for a climate change allowance for floods were developed based on the median projections illustrated in **Figure 3** for the projected change in 200-year flood values by the end of this century (2071–2100) under the assumption of a high emission scenario. For this purpose, three classes are distinguished: 1) no change or an expected decrease in flood hazard (0%); 2) an expected moderate increase in flood hazard (20%); and 3) an expected large increase in flood hazard (40%). Individual catchments are placed in one of these classes based on catchment characteristics, particularly related to location, potential for snow accumulation and the dominant flood season in the current climate. Due to the high degree of uncertainty in projected flood magnitudes and the large spread in the ensemble projections for each catchment, these three classes are used (rather than more precise values) to ensure robustness



in the recommendations. At present, a hydrological assessment is performed for each catchment where a climate change allowance is required. However, a national map illustrating the recommended climate change allowance for all river reaches in Norway will be published in 2022. This allowance is particularly used in design flood analyses and in flood hazard mapping throughout Norway, i.e., they are targeted for the more advanced users of climate change information. Mapping of flood hazard is performed by the Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate for some exposed river reaches, and these mapped river reaches are listed in the climate factsheets, together with the recommended climate change allowance for the reaches. At Svalbard, flood magnitudes are expected to increase, both as a response to increasing rainfall amounts and snowmelt and glacier melt (CiS).

3.6. Landslides and Avalanches

Landslides and snow avalanches cover many types of mass movements, see chapter 7.3 in CiS for an overview of types. Weather triggers certain types of slides and avalanches, and climate change may thus affect their future frequency. For mainland Norway, it is expected that in steep terrain, climate change may lead to an increase in the frequency of landslides, debris flows and slush avalanches associated with heavy rainfall (Hisdal et al., 2021). Increased erosion could trigger more quickclay slides. The risk of dry snow avalanches is expected to decrease, while the risk of slush slides is expected to increase, and may occur in areas where they have not occurred previously. The climate factsheets describe how different types of landslides are expected to change based on changes in climate. In particular, earth slides, floodslides and slushflows are sensitive to climate change because of increased precipitation (Hisdal et al., 2021). The climate factsheets list existing hazard maps and highlight the importance of further hazard mapping because of the expected increased frequency of landslides and avalanches. Climate change allowances are, however, not used in hazard mapping and other assessment related to landslides and snow avalanches.

Landslides and avalanches can be classified according to the water content. Floodslides and earth slides are rapid mass movements in steep slopes, but the former has a higher water content than the latter. Both types of landslides are expected to become more frequent because they are triggered by rainfall. We differentiate snow avalanches into slushflows, wet snow avalanches, dry snow avalanches. A slushflow is a "mudflow-like avalanche composed of slush-very saturated snow" (European Avalanche Warning Services, 2022). Slushflows are, similar to earthslides and floodslides, triggered by precipitation, and the hazard is therefore expected to increase. The hazard of wet snow avalanches, an "avalanche of wet snow masses," is expected to increase in hazard-prone areas because the snowline will shift to higher altitudes and rain will fall on snow-covered ground more frequently. For the same reason, the occurrence of dry snow avalanches can be expected to be reduced. A quick-clay slide is a "very rapid to extremely rapid flow of liquefied sensitive clay" (Hungr et al., 2014). Quick-clay slides are often triggered by construction work, but increased erosion due to larger flood magnitudes may trigger quick-clay slides more frequently in the future. Rockfall is defined as "Detachment, fall, rolling, and bouncing of rock [...] fragments" (Hungr et al., 2014). Frost action influences rockfalls, which are often triggered by increased pore pressure during heavy rainfall. More frequent heavy rainfall events may increase the frequency of rockfall. Hungr et al. (2014) defines a rock slide (rock avalanche) as an "Extremely rapid, massive, flow-like motion of fragmented rock from a large rock slide or rock fall." This type of landslide is mainly caused by long-term, geological processes and are less influenced by weather events. Permafrost thawing may contribute to triggering rockslides; however, there is no scientific evidence that indicates that climate change will increase the frequency or magnitude of large rockslides. In addition to the above-mentioned processes, Svalbard will also experience changes related to thawing of nearsurface permafrost in coastal and low altitude areas, and and increase in erosion and sediment transport. This is thoroughly described in the report CiS.

3.7. Sea Level Rise, Including Climate Change Allowance

The global mean sea level is rising as a response to thermal expansion and loss of land ice (Simpson et al., 2015). The relative sea level, that is, the sea level relative to land, will increase less for Norway than the global mean sea level rise. The reason for this is the vertical uplift of the land after the

last ice age. Because the ice sheet was thickest around the Bay of Bothnia, this region experiences the strongest uplift. In coastal regions farthest from the Bay of Bothnia, i.e., the southwestern regions of Norway, the crust rebounds at a slower rate. Therefore, the relative sea level rise is largest in these regions. Storm surges are extremely high sea levels resulting from very low pressure and high winds. Simpson et al. (2015) provide projected sea level changes and estimates of projected storm surges for municipalities. They project more frequent storm surges and more frequent inundations. In planning long-term infrastructure, allowances for storm surges should be considered. The climate change allowance for storm surges is defined on the basis of the projected sea level change from 1986-2005 to 2081-2100, for RCP8.5, and the 95th percentile of the ensemble spread (see Table A.2.3 in Simpson et al., 2015). In Svalbard, the relative sea level is projected to fall because of continued loss of local ice masses. Storm surges are not expected to become worse because of sea level rise. However, thawing of permafrost makes coastal erosion more of a challenge.

4. STEP 2: DISSEMINATION OF CLIMATE INFORMATION IN NORWAY

National climate reports such as KiN are useful for documentation of knowledge status and for providing a comprehensive and consistent picture of climate developments in an area. For many users of climate information, however, the report has little practical usefulness, and NCCS has therefore developed several products aimed directly at different user groups (see examples in the bottom panel in **Figure 1**). Some climate projection products are published online through http:// klimaservicesenter.no/, for visualization as well as for download. For less advanced users, summaries of the most important findings for each county have been compiled into climate factsheets, and maps of projected changes are presented on the web (30-year mean values). For more advanced users, the climate and hydrological projections at 1×1 km are made available as daily time series in netCDF format.

4.1. Climate Factsheets

Because scientific reports are generally not read by decisionmakers and municipal planners and because key information from the reports has to be combined with legal regulations and guidelines on climate change adaptation, NCCS has issued climate factsheets for each county (Hisdal et al., 2021). They describe current conditions as well as the most important changes from the reference period to the end-century, under the high emission scenario following the precautionary principle (ref. Section Discussion). Physical climate hazards summarized in the climate factsheet include heavy rainfall and stormwater runoff; floods, droughts, landslides, avalanches and storm surges. In the summary table, relevant natural hazards are assigned to one of four categories: "Increased probability" (red), "Possible increased probability" (orange), "No change or less probability" (green) and "uncertain" (blue) (Figure 4). In addition to presenting projections and climate change allowances, the climate factsheets

	INCREASED PROBABILITY
Heavy rainfall	Heavy rainfall events are expected to increase in intensity and frequency. This will lead to more stormwater runoff.
Rainfall floods	More frequent flooding, and higher flood magni- tudes are expected. In small rivers and brooks, a higher flood magnitude should be expected.
Debris flows and avalanches	Increased risk due to increases in heavy rainfall.
Storm surge	As a consequence of sea level rise, the level of storm surges are expected to increase.
POSS	IBLE INCREASED PROBABILITY
 Drought	Higher temperatures and increased evaporation increases the risk of summer drought.
Ice-run	A shorter frost season, more frequent ice-runs in winter and ice-runs at higher elevations than today.
Snow avalances	In a warmer and wetter climate, rain will fall on snow more frequently. This can reduce the risk of dry snow avalanches and increase the risk of wet snow avalances for avalanche-prone regions.
Quick-clay slides	Increased erosion as a consequence of more flooding may trigger more quick-clay slides.
NO C	HANGE OR LESS PROBABILITY
Snowmelt floods	The onset of snowmelt floods are expected to shift earlier in spring and decrease in magnitude towards the end of this century.
	UNCERTAIN
Strong winds	Likely no change.
Rock avalanche	A substantial increase in the risk of rock avalances are not expected due to climate change.
Rock fall	More frequent heavy rainfall may increase the frequency of rock fall, however, mainly for small events.

FIGURE 4 | Example factsheet for one county. The factsheet shows a summary of projected changes in hydrological conditions and natural hazards relevant to the county for the period from 1971–2000 to 2071–2100.

list climate adaptation regulations, outline natural climate risks for the county and give links to hazard maps for floods and landslides produced by the Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate. The climate factsheets were updated in February 2021 and are now available both online and as printable PDF documents.

The idea of a climate factsheet was conceived during a multi-level governance network project, "Climate project Troms" (Hanssen et al., 2015), where the goal was to integrate climate change adaptation into municipal planning according to the Planning and Building Act and the associated technical regulations. The project involved participation from multiple governance levels, from the local level to the national. The county of Troms led the project, which also involved selected municipalities, the county authority, the Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection (DSB) and NCCS. The county authorities and municipalities requested a short summary of climate change information relevant for various planning processes in the municipalities. A prototype 8-page, condensed climate factsheet for Troms county was developed and issued in January 2015, and was intended to be used alongside a report describing how to integrate climate change adaptation into municipal plans (Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection, 2015).

After this pilot project, climate factsheets have been published for all counties in mainland Norway as well as Longyearbyen, Svalbard on request from local authorities. This co-production, where practitioners were heavily involved in developing the climate factsheet Troms, continued during work with the other counties. The content was inspired by the factsheet for Troms, but was adjusted in dialogue with county authorities. Local representatives were given the opportunity to comment and make suggestions to early drafts of the factsheet. For example, a coastal municipality in Nordland requested information about wave action, which was included in later factsheets for coastal counties. Further, the county authorities in Sogn og Fjordane, who had built up competence on climate change adaptation, asked for uncertainty ranges, whereas other county representatives did not prefer that such information be included. Prior to publication, NCCS asked county authorities to promote the climate factsheet at political meetings at the county level in order to obtain political anchoring among local politicians. Decisions on e.g., which scenario to use for climate change allowances and planning is a political question. The municipal practitioners in the pilot project stressed that political anchoring was necessary to get political support for the adaptation measures they suggested. Through dissemination on websites and in seminars and later via the implementation of governmental regulations, the public gradually became familiar with the factsheets, both their availability and their use. In addition, government organizations and county administrations have distributed the factsheets locally.

4.2. Use of Climate Factsheets

Climate factsheets are a core reference in the government guidelines on climate change adaptation (Norwegian Government, 2018) and are widely used in RVAs by municipalities (Klemetsen and Dahl, 2020). Some municipalities have developed a climate adaptation strategy (Handberg and Pedersen, 2018), where background information on local climate change was based on the factsheet for the given county, among other sources. A few municipalities have in addition developed climate vulnerability analyses. County municipalities, such as Vestland, used climate factsheets as a knowledge base when developing their adaptation planning strategy. The Norwegian Agency for Local governments has developed a portal for local climate risk in each municipality which presents **Table 1** from the factsheets. An example can be seen for e.g. Lillestrøm (The Norwegian Agency for Local Governments, 2022).

According to a survey by KS (Wang, 2018), climate factsheets are the most frequently applied service provided by NCCS. Comments on climate factsheets in such surveys point to too general information (Rusdal and Aall, 2019; Hauge et al., 2020), a need to translate knowledge on climate change into climate change adaptation (Rusdal and Aall, 2019) and a lack of capacity to use the information (Wang and Grann, 2019). Published surveys of climate change adaptation are discussed more thoroughly in Section Discussion.

4.2.1. Evaluation of the Climate Factsheets

NCCS has evaluated the use of climate factsheets and other products through a survey and workshops described in the following paragraphs. This section illustrates how NCCS use the results of the evaluation to define new user needs and inform future development of our services.

During two workshops in November 2019, NCCS gathered comments on climate factsheets. The first workshop was coarranged with a research project, and aimed at collecting user suggestions for future climate factsheets (unpublished internal notes). Here, specific indices for the land use sector were suggested. The second workshop was co-arranged with the Norwegian Association of Local and Regional Authorities (KS) and was aimed at collecting user comments on the climate factsheets (unpublished internal notes). The comments about the climate factsheets can be summarized as follows:

- The factsheets raise awareness about climate change adaptation.
- The factsheets are too general to be used for local decisions, such as detailed land use planning. Translation of technical knowledge to the downstream user is required, in particular from recommended climate change allowances to design in practice. Examples are requested.
- Municipal officers use other data formats than researchers. They requested data as maps.
- Which status do the recommendations have? Are they legally binding?

Some of the municipalities had not used climate factsheets in their planning strategies, and they explained that their planning strategy is changed every 4th year such that the climate factsheet was not published in time to incorporate it into the planning strategy. One participant had not heard about the climate factsheets before the workshop.

In one survey of the NCCS website, it was requested that NCCS make projections available through existing web portals

such as http://senorge.no/ (unpublished, internal notes). A user from the hydropower sector requested projections aggregated for catchments, similar to the Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute's portal Hypeweb (SMHI Hypeweb, 2022).

4.2.1.1. Klimathon

The climate factsheets from NCCS were a topic for discussions at a so-called Klimathon events targeting a variety of practitioners, aiming in particular at municipal planners (Neby, 2019; Kvamsås et al., 2021). Discussions were prepared as group posters and presented in a common poster session, in addition to reflective notes and evaluations. One group working on "Nature, landuse and cultural heritage" devoted their time to addressing how the climate factsheets could be used in conjunction with other knowledge bases, and listed the following possible solutions: check lists, local knowledge in map formats, political anchoring in land use plans and a database of example measures (Neby, 2019). The authors point out that challenges and barriers were addressed rather than solutions. Although most participants knew about the climate factsheets and/or used them regularly, some participants did not know where to find local climate information (Neby, 2019). The numbers given by Klemetsen and Dahl (2020) in the introduction to this paper can therefore be interpreted as follows: 24% of the municipalities that have developed RVA analyses have not used a knowledge base about climate change. The potential for disseminating climate factsheets to a wider audience is therefore present.

4.3. Dissemination of NCCS Data on the Web

Maps of 30-year means are presented on the NCCS web portal https://klimaservicesenter.no/climateprojections. Web portals allow for displaying additional information (e.g., more maps) than that which is presented as figures in the KiN report. This web portal displays projected changes for the mid-century period (2031–2060) and end-century period (2071–2100) relative to the reference period (1971–2000) for two emission scenarios (RCP4.5 and RCP8.5) as well as the reference period average. It also contains a few variables that have been computed after the report was issued: projected changes in days with snow depth exceeding 30 cm, and zero-degree crossings. The latter was calculated from bias-adjusted maximum and minimum temperatures (Nilsen et al., 2021). On the web, only the ensemble median is shown, whereas in the KiN report, model spread is shown using the 10 percentile, median and 90 percentile.

The bias-adjusted climate variables and hydrological simulation results (mean temperature, maximum temperature, minimum temperature, precipitaton, runoff, snow, groundwater, evapotranspiration and soil moisture deficit) for 101 GCM–RCM combinations are available as daily values for the period 1971–2100 at the 1×1 km spatial resolution. They can be downloaded from the NCCS website (nedlasting.nve.no/klimadata/kss), for two emission scenarios (RCP4.5 and RCP8.5). These data are freely available for research and other purposes in accordance with the Norwegian Licence for Open Government Data (NLOD). The whole or parts of the dataset has been downloaded by e.g., students, scientists, consulting companies and energy

companies. The dataset has been applied in research projects to estimate impacts of climate change for agriculture (e.g., Haugen et al., 2019) and for societal risks (e.g., the project Klima 2050 Klima 2050, 2022).

Based on requests from users, NCCS recently created maps of projected changes that can be accessed from the web portal through an application programming interface (API). More specifically, these maps are available as figure files, through the Web Map Service (WMS) standard. This standardized technical solution has the advantage of providing the most updated version of a map automatically, without having to actively search for updates. Users such as the Norwegian Environment Agency and the Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection can display these WMS maps on their websites. Metadata will be searchable through Geonorge, Norway's national website for map data and location information (Geonorge, 2022).

On the web portal for climate scenarios, maps of 30-year means are not presented as zoomable, interactive maps. Instead of developing yet another web portal that contributes to the abundance of information, maps will be presented on an existing web portal, http://senorge.no/, that contains state-of-the-art functionality for map presentations and data download. The senorge web portal displays gridded maps of weather and water conditions at a daily resolution and lower. This open portal is widely used by the general public and media. The web portal has been user-tested for user groups ranging from ski tourists, hydropower companies and emergency preparedness institutions as well as students and the media (unpublished internal notes). Recent developments in senorge include webpages adapted for use on mobile phones, and the availability of a subset of 30-year means (temperature, precipitation, runoff and snow). All maps are accessed from the API described above.

4.3.1. Dissemination in Collaboration With the Media (NRK)

NCCS have recently disseminated climate projections for each municipality in Norway through a collaboration with the Norwegian Broadcasting Corporation (Norwegian Broadcasting Corporation, 2020). The feature article has reached 900 000 page views and has been used as reference for reader's letters to local newspapers confronting local politicians (personal communication with the journalist, Mads Støstad, 4. November 2021). There are several examples of Norwegian climate projection being used in outreach through the media. The TV meteorologists from Norwegian Meteorological Institute have successfully communicated climate information on national television, in association with the weather forecast, where climate projections are one source of information (European Meteorological Society, 2022).

5. DISCUSSION

Here we discuss what NCCS can improve to assist in overcoming some common barriers for implementing climate change adaptation measures. We first explain how uncertainty is considered, and second, how the trade-off between robustness and precision guides the dissemination. This second point is

relevant when providing more local products on a gridded or averaged scale, when allowing users to zoom in to the actual numbers in the 1 x 1 grid cell, and when giving more detailed climate change allowances. This discussion is structured around a few core requests from Norwegian climate data users and barriers that are documented as hindrances to climate change adaptation (e.g., Hauge et al., 2020; Klemetsen and Dahl, 2020). Through presentations at meetings and workshops, climate factsheets have been promoted to widely different sectors, ranging from land use planning, sewage/stormwater management, and emergency preparedness to agriculture. Whereas, advanced users often request direct access to data in formats that comply with the existing workflow of the user (e.g., time series and map formats made available through API), the non-technical audience tends to prefer simple visualizations, zoomable maps and guidance (Hanssen-Bauer et al., 2017b). When issuing data to a wider audience, NCCS has considered the trade-off between robustness and precision: a robust estimate takes uncertainties into account, e.g., by including an uncertainty range or by rounding, whereas a seemingly precise estimate under-communicates the underlying uncertainties. Advanced users request uncertainty estimates to a larger degree than less advanced users and it remains a challenge to present these uncertainties in a clear manner that can be understood by the various user groups. Uncertainties in the climate projections can be separated into i) uncertainty related to natural variability, ii) uncertainties related to future emission scenarios, i.e., which is most likely, and iii) model uncertainty related to global and regional climate models and hydrological models.

In most climate factsheets, point i) is explicitly addressed, by presenting changes between two 30-year means and smoothing decadal variations in plots. Further, climate factsheets present time series and numbers aggregated for counties. On the web portal https://klimaservicesenter.no/climateprojections, point ii) are shown by presenting the intermediate, RCP4.5, as well as the high, RCP8.5, emission scenario, while point iii) is illustrated by showing not only the ensemble median, but also the 10 and 90 percentiles. The report KiN describes these uncertainties and states that we partly cope with the uncertainties by presenting median values, for different emission scenarios, as well as intervals including 10 to 90 percentile model spread for various climate variables. In KiN, point iii) was addressed further by downscaling temperature from all available CMIP5 models by empirical statistical methods (ESD; Benestad, 2021). The median of the annual temperature projections were rather similar, and the 10 to 90 percentile spread for the most only slightly higher in the large ensemble ESD projections than in the EURO-CORDEX-based projections. This adds credit to the temperature projections. Regretfully, the ESD models for precipitation were not very skillful at the time. The KiN report states that the illustration of the uncertainty maps only parts of the total uncertainty, and that the results therefore need to be considered in relation to their application. The climate factsheets also discuss uncertainty, and recommend the use of the median model result as this is the most robust estimate given the available ensemble. Only the factsheet for Sogn og Fjordane states the model spread (point iii). On that portal, gridded precipitation and temperature is shown at a 12 \times 12 km resolution.

Ideally, the climate-hydrological modeling chain should include multiple bias adjustment methods and multiple hydrological models, in addition to a large GCM-RCM ensemble. Previous studies have shown that the bias adjustment has an impact on the climate change signal (e.g., Hagemann et al., 2011), as does the choice of climate model and hydrological model (e.g., Schewe et al., 2014). The results by Schewe et al. (2014) and Hagemann et al. (2013) indicate that the choice of hydrological model impacts the results the most in water-scarce areas. This knowledge is behind the motivation of including an additional bias-adjustment method and two evapotranspiration parameterizations in the distributed hydrological model in ongoing research projects (see Section 6). However, difficult decisions have to be made regarding feasibility when it comes to the number of model setups and simulations.

Reaching out to practitioners in the target groups in a comprehensible, but non-technical manner is crucial for an effective climate adaptation because these practitioners are responsible for implementing climate adaptation measures in practice. Handling uncertainties becomes even more important when presenting results for less advanced users. Feedback from these users reveals a wish for even more tailored information, either directed toward a specific sector or with a higher spatial resolution. Surveys of climate change adaptation have found that respondents request more local and specific information than what is given in e.g., the climate factsheets (Hauge et al., 2017; Rusdal and Aall, 2019; Kvamsås et al., 2021). At a meeting with NCCS, a representative for the county governor Agder requested information for the town hall entrance, which illustrates what Neby (2019) call a seemingly "insatiable need for local information." Maps of gridded climate projections at a 1×1 km grid (Wong et al., 2016) are usually sufficiently detailed for research purposes, but not necessarily for local planning. In its current form, the uncertainty inherent in the climate and hydrological projections, make them unsuitable for literal interpretation when zooming to the nearest 1×1 km. This issue has become relevant because gridded maps will be published at http://senorge.no, which allows zooming to very fine detail. On senorge.no, precipitation and temperature is shown at a 1×1 km resolution. Currently, users are prevented from zooming too much, but in the future, NCCS will strive to prepare local information that will be sufficiently robust to be presented at fine resolutions.

5.1. From Regional to Local Information

Many tools and web portals present Europe-wide climate information, e.g., Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) Copernicus Climate Change Service, 2022), IMPACT2C (IMPACT2C, 2022), and Climate-ADAPT (Climate-ADAPT, 2022). Although they provide very comprehensive information, they are likely not being used by local practitioners in Norway, who prefer information in Norwegian (Copernicus Climate Change Service, 2017; Hanssen-Bauer et al., 2017b). Further, regional climate projections are too coarse-scaled to be used for local climate adaptation, which makes downscaling necessary.

The complex topography of Norway makes this point very relevant. For example, the highest mountain of Norway is 2469 m a.s.l. At a 1×1 km grid resolution, this mountain is represented with a grid cell of elevation 2260 m a.s.l. At 12×12 km resolution, however, the highest grid cell in the CORDEX EC-SMHI model is 1646 m a.s.l. Temperature, precipitation and thus climate variables derived from these variables are sensitive to altitude. Even though relative changes may not be sensitive to altitude, relative changes are influenced by thresholds such as the 0°C threshold. We therefore stress the need for bias-adjustment, in addition to downscaling, before hydrological modeling (Wong et al., 2016) and when analyzing absolute values (e.g., Nilsen et al., 2021). Limitations of bias-adjustment methods are being discussed in the scientific community (e.g., Ehret et al., 2012; Maraun and Widmann, 2018). Since the bias-adjustment procedure is applied to each $1 \times 1 \text{ km}^2$ grid cell (over 320 000 in total) and to ten precipitation and temperature projections, each containing over 130 years of data, the chosen method must be computationally efficient. Empirical quantile mapping method (Gudmundsson et al., 2012) was selected because this is a method that does not assume a theoretical distribution and that corrects each variable individually. However, this type of univariate bias-adjustment method cannot correct potential biases in precipitation-temperature dependency in climate model data. In addition, the bias-adjusted datasets basically reproduce the spatial correlation structure of the climate model, and this can differ significantly from the observed one. Similar concerns can also be raised about the temporal biases that exist in the climate model outputs, such as the length of wet and dry spells.

Bias-adjustment was performed e.g., for the Swiss climate assessments (National Centre for Climate Services, 2018). Not all national climate assessments contain bias-adjusted output, however. NCCS' advice to practitioners who want to download climate projections in order to do their own calculations, depends on their application. If absolute temperature and precipitation is essential, our advice is to use our post-processed datasets; if not, our advice is to use the projections without bias-adjustment. For the interested reader, the British climate assessment provides guidance on bias-adjustment (Fung, 2018).

5.2. Municipal Averages

Norwegian counties are diverse, most counties span from coastal to high-elevation regions, which introduces a need to specify local data. Information on a municipal level has been requested and generated as average values. This local dataset provides data tailored toward a smaller area, for example, municipalities inland will not be presented with information on sea level rise. However, municipalities are also diverse; therefore, a municipal average does not necessarily solve the problem of too general information. After NCCS provided climate projections aggregated to municipalities for the feature article written by the Norwegian Broadcasting Corporation, representatives from two municipalities on the west coast of Norway commented that the information given for the historical climate did not align with their experience. The west coast of Norway is characterized by steep topographical gradients from the coast to the mountains, with most of the population located in the lowlands. An average value of all grid cells within the municipality therefore corresponds to an average altitude, and is not representative for the altitude where people reside. No inhabitant or decisionmaker feels the average of a grid cell or a municipal average. One municipality having a relatively dry local microclimate objected that they were presented as being among the third wettest municipalities in Norway. When including higher altitudes into the averaging, however, this municipality does not come out as a particularly dry one. The higher altitudes within the municipality in fact include glacierized areas. When these higher altitudes are weighted in the municipal average without further comment, the result seems counterintuitive. In retrospect, an explanation of the discrepancies between what is experienced locally and simulations aggregated for a larger area would have been helpful. For the next generation of climate projections, NCCS considers aggregating results based on e.g., catchments or altitude zones. Aggregation of climate information within representative altitude zones (e.g., 0-400 m a.s.l., 400-800 m a.s.l., and above 800 m a.s.l.) is a possible way of post-processing data to provide robust estimates, not necessarily precise estimates. In addition to local information, users request more specific and detailed information (Hauge et al., 2020), e.g., tailored products and indices such as indices for heatwaves, frost in the growing season and drought. Klemetsen and Dahl (2020), however, found this barrier to be ranked as the least important among 10 barriers to climate change adaptation. Municipalities that have more experience with climate change adaptation, and thus know what to look for, ranked it higher than those with little experience. More specific information can be provided through guidance on translating climate information into action. Still, many questions from practitioners remain unanswered, for example: "What does a 4 degree warming within this century mean for ecology? How does it influence construction standards (e.g., choice of material, air conditioning) or agriculture (e.g., harvesting time, crop yield)"? Assessing the impact of a warmer, wetter climate is an active field of research, and NCCS strives to provide relevant datasets for impact research (e.g., Haugen et al., 2019 and the project Klima 2050).

5.3. Barriers to Uptake and Use of the Climate Information

5.3.1. Capacity and Resources

One of the most commonly cited barriers for climate change adaptation in Norway is a lack of capacity and resources (e.g., Rusdal and Aall, 2019; Selseng et al., 2019; Wang and Grann, 2019; Hauge et al., 2020; Klemetsen and Dahl, 2020). This is particularly true for small and medium-sized municipalities, that is, municipalities with fewer than 50 000 inhabitants (Rusdal and Aall, 2019; Klemetsen and Dahl, 2020). Since many municipalities are small, there are limited possibilities to form robust professional environments outside of the networks described above. It is commonly stated that municipal planners do not have the time or capacity to read reports, nor even to search for such literature. Providers of climate information can alleviate these challenges in capacity by providing data in a format that can be readily used in e.g., Geographic Information Systems or other planning systems, ranging from text-based to map-based and numerical services. Until now, NCCS has provided maps as .png figures on web platforms and as WMS, but plan to extend this service for the next round of KiN through co-production with users. The aim is to design a map service based on user needs and requirements.

5.3.2. Detailing of Allowances

The use of three classes for a climate change allowance for flooding (i.e., 0, 20 and 40%) rather than more precise estimates represents a strategy for simplifying recommendations for climate change adaptation. At present, guidance for the use of the classes is available on a regional basis and requires an assessment by a practitioner as to which class is most suitable for a given catchment. Amongst practitioners, there is a clear wish for a more detailed approach. NCCS are aware that more guidance is needed, and this is being addressed in other projects involving the NCCS consortium. In addition, the current recommendations do not distinguish return periods although recent work has shown this to be relevant (Lawrence, 2020), and further work is also in progress on this issue.

5.3.3. Abundance of Information

Much guidance material for climate change adaptation is available nationally and internationally. Whereas, national climate services tend to concentrate on a few climate variables (Samaniego et al., 2019), NCCS combines climate and hydrological projections, including snow, runoff and floods, with information on e.g., landslides and avalanches. Other services are more comprehensive. C3S presents an impressive web portal, visualization tool and guidance. The abundance of information can make it hard to navigate through the various alternative sources of information. In a study of guidance material for climate change adaptation in Norway, Hauge et al. (2017) evaluated 84 guidance reports and web portals. They concluded that information in the form of reports, websites and tools is abundant, but to a large degree is not used by practitioners. Having an abundance of information seems to be an advantage, but can also become a barrier when users do not know where to begin reading.

This problem can be alleviated by making the information available in formats and workflows already used by the practitioners (e.g., in APIs and Geographic Information Systems). Municipalities access public maps from the map catalog geonorge.no. WMS maps from NCCS will therefore be searchable on Geonorge when they become available. Another way of reaching the practitioner in their workflows is to continue disseminating information through popular web portals, such as http://temakart.nve.no/ and http://senorge.no/. Finally, the Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection has developed a onestop shop for public data on risk and vulnerability for natural hazards (https://kunnskapsbanken.dsb.no/). Ephemeral services are not of much use for long-term municipal planning. For climate services developed through short-term research projects, it would be particularly relevant to collaborate on transferring the ownership to a national database when the research project is completed. There are a few examples that short-term projects

have been given a longer life time and granted long-term support and continuity by being transferred to governmental agencies (e.g., www.ovase.no). Overlapping information from different sources can result in contradictory results. Different authorities such as the public road authorities and Oslo municipality issue their own recommendations for a climate change allowance (The Norwegian Public Roads Administration, 2018). In some cases, the assumptions underlying the information and the areas for their use differ between sources, but if this is not clearly specified it can be a source of both confusion and frustration amongst practitioners. In other cases, multiple sources for information on projected climate change impacts can mislead practitioners to take into use erroneous results. For example, when studies of future changes in flood hazard are undertaken in large-scale projects (e.g., European-wide or larger), the resulting projections often indicate a future reduction in flooding throughout the country. This can result from a variety of factors, but is generally related to the simulation of snow accumulation, melting and their consequences for flood generation. This can be due to, for example, scale issues, the need for bias correction or simply the performance of the chosen hydrological model. For example, EDgE, a prototype project related to C3S, simulated too much snow under the current climate in many catchments in Norway, with the consequence that simulated flood magnitudes decrease in the future in those catchments (Samaniego et al., 2019). This resulted from a "cold" bias in the model ensemble and confirms a need for local analyses (Vormoor et al., 2015, 2016; Lawrence, 2016, 2020) and local verification, also in larger-scale projects. The web portal Climate information (Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, 2020) also disseminates information regarding projected changes in flood hazard in Norway that do not agree with local analyses. For example, if one enters the coordinates for a point located in a catchment in the northernmost region of Norway (Karasjok in Finnmark "69.47 / 25.51") the portal states an increase in the 50-year return value of annual maximum discharge. This point is an area with a significant seasonal snow cover, for which ensemble projections developed by the Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate (Lawrence, 2016, 2020) clearly indicate a decreased flood hazard by the end of the century. The differences again can be due to a range of differences in the modeling and analysis setups. Nevertheless, such obvious contradictions in projections can both lead to confusion and undermine the credibility of information generated by climate services.

We therefore stress the need for national and international collaboration to avoid creating conflicting results and/or guidance as to which results are most trustworthy and reliable for different regions or sectors. We have no clear vision of this collaboration, but a few ideas are put forward here. When developing guidance material, there is much to learn from best practices and standards (e.g., ISO-14091, 2021). Different user needs range from the large-scale to local. International climate service providers (C3S) fulfill a Europe-wide need, but to fulfill a local need, these providers could benefit from a collaboration with national climate services. Norwegian users have the advantage that the Norwegian Environment Agency systematically collects and disseminates sector-specific

information on their web pages (NEA, 2022). In particular, national and international climate service providers can benefit from a closer collaboration, both regarding data products and translation into local languages.

6. FUTURE WORK

An update of the report "Climate in Norway 2100" has been ordered by the Norwegian Environment Agency to ensure that the national knowledge base on climate adaptation is updated based on the most recent global and regional climate projections. Even though climate projections from the new CMIP6 ensemble are available on the global scale, NCCS requires a sufficient number of downscaled simulations from EURO-CORDEX (Gutowski et al., 2016; Jacob et al., 2020) to be available before CMIP6-based simulations can be used for new analyses. The updated report will therefore be issued in 2024. The climate community has delivered many new developments during the years since KiN was issued in 2015. In CMIP6, new Shared Socio-Economic Pathways (SSPs) replace RCPs as emission scenarios driving the GCMs. Several novel datasets will be used to describe the historical development of atmospheric variables, including a gridded dataset for wind, and an homogenized gridded dataset developed for trend studies. In addition to RCMs at the 12×12 km scale, simulations from a convective-permitting model will be run at finer spatial and temporal scales. These simulations are expected to increase our knowledge of climate change effects on heavy rainfall, stormwater runoff and rapid flooding in small catchments. The complexity of the modeling chain has increased since the production of the previous generation of hydrological simulations. Previously, gridded hydrological variables were simulated using temperature index methods for calculating evapotranspiration. The new generation of hydrological projections will be simulated using an updated version of the gridded HBV model, which allows for two alternate evapotranspiration schemes: the traditional temperature index method and the Penman-Monteith method (Huang et al., 2019). Hence, more climate variables need to be bias-adjusted. The bias-adjustment method is also improved, both by introducing a second bias-adjustment method, and by introducing a postprocessing technique (Mehrotra and Sharma, 2019). Catchmentbased simulations will apply both the HBV model used for previous work and the DDD model (Skaugen and Onof, 2014). The DDD model uses simplified energy balance methods for evapotranspiration (Skaugen et al., 2020) and snow modeling (Skaugen et al., 2018). In addition, it will be used for simulations with a 3-h timestep, with the aim of improving our estimates for climate change effects in catchments that respond quickly to rainfall (e.g., Lawrence, 2021).

New climate projections may differ from previous projections, which can pose challenges when communicating updated results. For example, the reference period has changed from 1971–2000 in KiN to 1991–2020 in the updated report, whereas the end period is 2071–2100 in both cases. The absolute value of changes can seem smaller than in KiN, because an 80-year period is used instead of a 100-year period, and the standard normal period 1971–2020 is warmer and wetter than the reference period 1971–2000 (NCCS, 2022a). Further, different emission scenarios

in CMIP5 and CMIP6 are not necessarily comparable. The model ensemble in KiN had a cold and wet bias (Wong et al., 2016), and the ensembles are based on relatively few global models (both in the new and previous projections). Thus, there are reasons to believe that new climate projections may differ from the previous projections.

A separate report for sea level rise will be updated based on Simpson et al. (2015). The report is planned to be issued in 2023, and will focus on sea level, wave action, and storm surges. No new simulations are planned for Svalbard because Arctic-CORDEX simulations are not available for CMIP6 yet, and this would require a parallel production line for a different domain. Instead, a summary of CiS and a literature review of recent research will be included.

7. CONCLUSIONS AND ACTIONABLE RECOMMENDATIONS

This paper describes the production of climate factsheets in two steps, step 1: the production of background information through a climate-hydrological modeling chain used in the reports Climate in Norway 2100 (KiN) and Climate in Svalbard (CiS) and step 2: co-production of knowledge leading to the continual development of climate factsheets and dissemination of climate data from NCCS.

- NCCS' experiences in developing and disseminating climate and hydrological projections are valid for Norway, however, many experiences may be relevant for climate service providers in other countries. We propose the following recommendations:
- The trade-off between robustness and precision should guide the dissemination of climate information. Both the climate information and recommendations for their use should be understandable by a wide audience, preferably available in the local language.
- We recommend collaborating with users on developing the climate service. The first climate factsheets were developed through a multi-level governance network, and all subsequent climate factsheets have been reviewed by local representatives and later discussed in fora such as a Klimathon. If possible, coordination of the long-term operation of a service should be done in partnership with national authorities.
- Downscaling of regional climate model data for use in local climate change adaptation, as well as bias-adjustment of the climate output variables is often necessary. We recommend a strategy that involves both providing as local information as possible, but at the same time ensuring the quality of the information relative to the downscaled model simulations it is derived from. This involves considering the trade-off between robustness and precision, such as given by the example of a climate change allowance that differentiates between a small number of distinct classes, rather than detailed values which individually are highly uncertain.
- An abundance of climate information is available, which can make the climate change adaptation landscape hard to navigate between alternatives to find the most relevant and reliable sources. To guide users to the appropriate information,

it is helpful to provide data in established web portals and APIs in formats that comply with the existing workflow of the user, preferably in the user's mother tongue. We stress the need for national and international collaboration to avoid creating conflicting results and to provide guidance as to which results are most trustworthy and reliable for different regions or sectors.

Climate change adaptation measures should be implemented for buildings and infrastructure with a long lifespan. This is formulated into the following climate change principles: For buildings and infrastructure with a short lifespan, the design can be assessed on the basis of the current climate. Buildings and infrastructure that have a long lifespan are either built to withstand projected climate change or designed based on the current climate, but prepared for reinforcements later.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated and analyzed for the report KiN can be downloaded from NCCS' download portal: https:// nedlasting.nve.no/klimadata/kss. Results can be viewed at https:// klimaservicesenter.no/climateprojections. Data for Svalbard can be provided on request.

REFERENCES

- Beldring, S., Engeland, K., Roald, L. A., Sælthun, N. R., and Voksø, A. (2003). Estimation of parameters in a distributed precipitation-runoff model for Norway. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 7, 304–316. doi: 10.5194/hess-7-304-2003
- Benestad, R. E. (2021). A norwegian approach to downscaling. Geosci. Model Dev. Discuss. 2021, 1–23. doi: 10.5194/gmd-2021-176
- Bergström, S. (1995). "The HBV model," in *Computer Models of Watershed Hydrology, Chapter 13*, eds V. P. Singh (Highlands Ranch, CO: Water Resources Publications), 443–476.
- Bergström, S. (2006). Experience From Applications of the HBV Hydrological Model From the Perspective of Prediction in Ungauged Basins. Wallingford: IAHS Publication.
- Climate-ADAPT (2022). *The Adaptation Support Tool.* Available online at: https://climate-adapt.eea.europa.eu/knowledge/tools/adaptation-support-tool (accessed January 11, 2022).
- Copernicus Climate Change Service (2017). End-to-end Demonstrator for improved decision making in the water sector in Europe (EDgE). EDgE Deliverable Report Deliverable 1.2.1, Copernicus Climate Change Service. Contract number 2015-C3S 441-LOT1 NERC SC2.
- Copernicus Climate Change Service (2022). *Climate Change*. Available online at: https://climate.copernicus.eu/ (accessed January 11, 2022).
- Dankers, R., and Kundzewicz, Z. W. (2020). Grappling with uncertainties in physical climate impact projections of water resources. *Clim. Change* 163, 1379–1397. doi: 10.1007/s10584-020-02858-4
- Dyrrdal, A., and Førland, E. (2019). Klimapåslag for korttidsnedbør ("Climate change allowance for short-term precipitation"). NCCS Report 5/2019, Norwegian Centre for Climate Services, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Ehret, U., Zehe, E., Wulfmeyer, V., Warrach-Sagi, K., and Liebert, J. (2012). HESS Opinions "Should we apply bias correction to global and regional climate model data?". *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 16, 3391–3404. doi: 10.5194/hess-16-3391-2012
- European Avalanche Warning Services (2022). *Glossary*. Available online at: https://www.avalanches.org/glossary/ (accessed January 18, 2022).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HH, IN, and IH-B have authored the climate factsheets. IH-B was the main editor for both reports KiN and CiS. AD produced climate change allowances for heavy rainfall and is leading the work on updating the report KiN. WW downscaled and bias-adjusted the climate variables. IH produced gridded hydrological simulations. DL produced flood simulations and climate change allowances for floods. IN wrote the manuscript. All authors have contributed substantially to the manuscript.

FUNDING

This article was funded by NCCS, and thus supported by the Norwegian Environment Agency and the Ministry of Climate and Environment in addition to in-kind contributions from NVE and MET.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank two reviewers for their valuable comments, and all authors contributing to the Norwegian climate assessment report Klima i Norge 2100. Eirik Førland and Dagrun Vikhamar-Schuler are acknowledged for authoring the climate factsheets together with IBN, HHI, and IHB.

- European Meteorological Society (2022). Outreach Award for Norwegian TV Meteorologists Communicating Climate Change. Available online at: https://www.emetsoc.org/outreach-award-for-norwegian-tv-meteorologists-communicating-climate-change/ (accessed January 30, 2022).
- Frei, C., Christensen, J. H., Déqué, M., Jacob, D., Jones, R. G., and Vidale, P. L. (2003). Daily precipitation statistics in regional climate models: evaluation and intercomparison for the European Alps. J. Geophys. Res. 108, 2287. doi: 10.1029/2002JD002287
- Fung, F. (2018). How to Bias Correct. UKCP18 Guidance, UK Met Office.
- Geonorge (2022). *What is Geonorge*? Available online at: https://www.geonorge. no/en/about/what-is-geonorge/. (accessed January 03, 2022).
- Gudmundsson, L., Bremnes, J. B., Haugen, J. E., and Engen-Skaugen, T. (2012). Technical Note: downscaling RCM precipitation to the station scale using statistical transformations-a comparison of methods. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 16, 3383–3390. doi: 10.5194/hess-16-3383-2012
- Gutowski, W. J., Giorgi, F., Timbal, B., Frigon, A., Jacob, D., Kang, H.-S., et al. (2016). WCRP coordinated regional downscaling EXperiment (CORDEX): a diagnostic MIP for CMIP6. *Geosci. Model Dev.* 9, 4087–4095. doi: 10.5194/gmd-9-4087-2016
- Hagemann, S., Chen, C., Clark, D. B., Folwell, S., Gosling, S. N., Haddeland, I., et al. (2013). Climate change impact on available water resources obtained using multiple global climate and hydrology models. *Earth Syst. Dyn.* 4, 129–144. doi: 10.5194/esd-4-129-2013
- Hagemann, S., Chen, C., Haerter, J. O., Heinke, J., Gerten, D., and Piani, C. (2011). Impact of a statistical bias correction on the projected hydrological changes obtained from three GCMs and two hydrology models. *J. Hydrometeorol.* 12, 556–578. doi: 10.1175/2011JHM1336.1
- Hamarsland, A. (2015). NVEs klimatilpasningsstrategi 2015-2019. ("NVE's Climate adaptation strategy 2015-2019"). NVE Report No. 80/2015, Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Handberg, O., and Pedersen, S. (2018). Lokal klimatilpasning Erfaringer fra arbeid med klimatilpasningsstrategier i Oslo, Sandefjord og Kristiansand. ("Local climate adaptation - Experiences from climate adaptation strategies in Oslo,

Sandefjord og Kristiansand"). MENON publication 99/2018 M-1165|2018, MENON, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.).

- Hanssen, G. S., Hofstad, H., and Hisdal, H. (2015). Manglende lokal tilpasning til klimaendringer: Kan flernivånettverk øke tilpasningskapasiteten? ("missing local adaptation to climate change: can multilevel networks increase the adaptive capacity?"). Kart og Plan 108, 64–78. Available online at: http://www. kartogplan.no/Hefter/KP1-2015/KP-1_2015.htm
- Hanssen, G. S., Mydske, P. K., and Dahle, E. (2013). Multi-level coordination of climate change adaptation: by national hierarchical steering or by regional network governance? *Local Environ.* 18, 869–887. doi: 10.1080/13549839.2012.738657
- Hanssen-Bauer, I., Førland, E., Hisdal, H., Mayer, S., Sandø, A., and Sorteberg, A. (2019). Climate in Svalbard 2100-a knowledge base for climate adaptation. NCCS Report 1/2019. Technical report, Norwegian Centre for Climate Services, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.). pp. 206.
- Hanssen-Bauer, I., Førland, E. J., Haddeland, I., Hisdal, H., Mayer, S., Nesje, A., et al. (2015). *Klima i Norge 2100. Kunnskapsgrunnlag for klimatilpasning*. NCCS Report 2/2015. Technical report, Norwegian Centre for Climate Services, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.), pp. 204.
- Hanssen-Bauer, I., Førland, E. J., Haddeland, I., Hisdal, H., Mayer, S., Nesje, A., et al. (2017a). Climate in Norway 2100—a knowledge base for climate adaptation. NCCS Report 1/2017, Norwegian Centre for Climate Services, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.). pp. 43.
- Hanssen-Bauer, I., Hygen, H., Heiberg, H., Førland, E. J., and Nordskog, B. (2017b). User needs for post processed climate data - A survey of the needs for output from the research project PostClim. NCCS Report 2/2017, Norwegian Centre for Climate Services, Oslo, Norway.
- Hauge, Å. L., Almås, A.-J., Flyen, C., Stoknes, P. E., and Lohne, J. (2017). User guides for the climate adaptation of buildings and infrastructure in Norway - Characteristics and impact. *Clim. Serv.* 6, 23–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2017.06.009
- Hauge, Å. L., Time, B., Flyen, C., Sivertsen, E., Venås, C., and Thomassen, M. (2020). Climate adaptation - how to make it happen? The meaning of learning in networks. Kart og Plan 113, 145–167. doi: 10.18261/issn.2535-6003-2020-03-02
- Haugen, I., Hanssen-Bauer, I., Skaland, R., Engh, M., and Svardal, S. (2019). Kornproduksjon i møte med klimaendringer. ("Grain production in the face of climate change."). TF Report 491/2019, Telemarksforsking, Telemark, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Hempel, S., Frieler, K., Warszawski, L., Schewe, J., and Piontek, F. (2013). A trendpreserving bias correction –the isi-mip approach. *Earth Syst. Dyn.* 4, 219–236. doi: 10.5194/esd-4-219-2013
- Hisdal, H., Vikhamar-Schuler, D., Førland, E., and Nilsen, I. (2021). Klimaprofiler for fylker. ("Climate factsheets for counties"). NCCS Report 2/2021, Norwegian Centre for Climate Services, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Hodgkins, G. A., Whitfield, P. H., Burn, D. H., Hannaford, J., Renard, B., Stahl, K., et al. (2017). Climate-driven variability in the occurrence of major floods across North America and Europe. J. Hydrol. 552, 704–717. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2017.07.027
- Huang, S., Eisner, S., Magnusson, J. O., Lussana, C., Yang, X., and Beldring, S. (2019). Improvements of the spatially distributed hydrological modelling using the HBV model at 1 km resolution for Norway. *J. Hydrol.* 577, 123585. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2019.03.051
- Hungr, O., Leroueil, S., and Picarelli, L. (2014). The Varnes classification of landslide types, an update. *Landslides* 11, 167–194. doi: 10.1007/s10346-013-0436-y,
- IMPACT2C (2022). Discover the IMPACT2C web-Atlas. Available online at: https:// www.atlas.impact2c.eu/en/ (accessed January 11, 2022).
- ISO-14091 (2021). ISO 14091:2021 Adaptation to Climate Change. Available online at: https://www.iso.org/standard/68508.html (accessed March 9, 2022).
- Jacob, D., Petersen, J., Eggert, B., Alias, A., Christensen, O., Bouwer, L., et al. (2014). EURO-CORDEX: New high-resolution climate change projections for European impact research. *Reg. Environ. Change* 14, 563–578. doi: 10.1007/s10113-013-0499-2
- Jacob, D., Teichmann, C., Sobolowski, S., Katragkou, E., Anders, I., Belda, M., et al. (2020). Regional climate downscaling over europe: perspectives from the eurocordex community. *Reg. Environ. Change* 20, 51. doi: 10.1007/s10113-020-0 1606-9

- Klemetsen, M., and Dahl, M. S. (2020). Hvor godt er norske kommuner rustet til å håndtere følgende av klimaendringer? Spørreundersøkelse om klimatilpasning utført våren 2019. ("How well are Norwegian municipalities prepared to handle climate change? Survey on climate adaptation spring 2019"). CICERO Report 2020, 05, CICERO, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Klima 2050 (2022). *Klima 2050*. Available online at: https://www.klima2050.no/ (accessed January 18, 2022).
- Kolstad, E. W., Sofienlund, O. N., Kvamsås, H., Stiller-Reeve, M. A., Neby, S., Øyvind Paasche, P.ontoppidan, M., et al. (2019). Trials, errors, and improvements in coproduction of climate services. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 100, 1419–1428. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-18-0201.1
- Kvamsås, H., Neby, S., Haarstad, H., Stiller-Reeve, M., and Schrage, J. (2021). Using collaborative hackathons to coproduce knowledge on local climate adaptation governance. *Curr. Res. Environ. Sustain.* 3, 100023. doi: 10.1016/j.crsust.2020.100023
- Lawrence, D. (2016). Klimaendringer og fremtidige flommer. ("Climate change and future floods"). NVE Report No. 81/2016, Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Lawrence, D. (2018). "Modelling the effects of projected changes in sub-daily precipitation intensities on flooding in small catchments," in *Climatic Changes in Short Duration Extreme Precipitation and Rapid Onset Flooding - Implications for Design Values.* (Oslo: Norwegian Centre for Climate Services), 109–120. Available online at: https://klimaservicesenter.no/kss/rapporter/rapporter-ogpublikasjoner_2
- Lawrence, D. (2020). Uncertainty introduced by flood frequency analysis in projections for changes in flood magnitudes under a future climate in norway. *J. Hydrol. Reg. Stud.* 28, 100675. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrh.2020.100675
- Lawrence, D. (2021). "Modelling the effects of projected changes in subdaily precipitation intensities on flooding in small catchments," in *Climatic Changes in Short Duration Extreme Precipitation and Rapid Onset Flooding -Implications for Design Values.*, Number 2/2021 in NCCS Report, Chapter 4.3, eds A. Sorteberg, D. Lawrence, A. Dyrrdal, S. Mayer, and K. Engeland (Oslo: Norwegian Centre for Climate Services), 109–120.
- Lawrence, D., and Haddeland, I. (2011). Uncertainty in hydrological modelling of climate change impacts in four Norwegian catchments. *Hydrol. Res.* 42, 457–471. doi: 10.2166/nh.2011.010
- Lawrence, D., Haddeland, I., and Langsholt, E. (2009). Calibration of HBV hydrological models using PEST parameter estimation. NVE Report No. 1/2009, Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate, Oslo, Norway.
- Lawrence, D., and Hisdal, H. (2011). Hydrological projections for floods in Norway under a future climate. NVE Report No. 5/2011, Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate, Oslo, Norway.
- Maraun, D., and Widmann, M. (2018). Statistical Downscaling and Bias Correction for Climate Research. WMO Technical note. Cambridge University Press.
- Mehrotra, R., and Sharma, A. (2019). A resampling approach for correcting systematic spatiotemporal biases for multiple variables in a changing climate. *Water Resour. Res.* 55, 754–770. doi: 10.1029/2018WR023270
- Mohr, M. (2008). New Routines for Gridding of Temperature and Precipitation Observations for "seNorge.no." Report 8/2008, Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Oslo, Norway.
- National Centre for Climate Services (2018). *CH2018 Climate Scenarios for Switzerland*. Technical report, National Centre for Climate Services, Zürich, Switzerland. (In Norwegian.).
- NCCS (2022a). *Klimanormaler* ("*Climate normals*"). Available online at: https:// klimaservicesenter.no/kss/vrdata/normaler (accessed March 9, 2022).
- NCCS (2022b). Precipitation Intensity (IDF Values). Available online at: https://klimaservicesenter.no/ivf?locale=en (accessed March 9, 2022).
- NEA (2022). Klimatilpasning i sektorer ("Climate Change Adaptation in Sectors"). Available online at: https://www.miljodirektoratet.no/ansvarsomrader/klima/ for-myndigheter/klimatilpasning/klimatilpasning-i-sektorer/ (accessed March 9, 2022).
- Neby, S. (2019). Klimathon II 2019. Om samproduksjonsmetodikk, utfordringer og løsninger for lokal klimatilpasning ("On co-production methods, challenges and solutions for local climate adaptation"). Technical report, NORCE Norwegian Research Centre, Bergen, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Nilsen, I., Hanssen-Bauer, I., Tveito, O., and Wong. W. K. (2021). Projected changes in days with zero-crossings for Norway. *Int. J. Climatol.* 41, 2173–2188. doi: 10.1002/joc.6913

- Norwegian Broadcasting C.orporation (2020). *Hvordan blir klimaet i din kommune*? (**how will the climate change in your municipality?*"). Available online at: https://nrk.no/klima/kommune (accessed December 22, 2021).
- Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection (2015). *Klimahjelperen En veileder i hvordan ivareta samfunnssikkerhet og klimatilpasning i planlegging etter planog bygningsloven.* ("*Climate helper*"). Dsb tema, Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Norwegian G.overnment (2017). Regulations on Technical Requirements for Construction Works. Regulations Associated With the Norwegian Planningand Building Act. Available online at: https://dibk.no/globalassets/byggeregler/ regulation-on-technical-requirements-for-construction-works-technicalregulations.pdf (accessed January 03, 2022).
- Norwegian Government (2012). Climate Change Adaptation in Norway meld. st. 33 (2012–2013) Report to the Storting (White Paper). Available online at: https://www.regjeringen.no/en/dokumenter/meld.-st.-33-20122013/ id725930/ (accessed December 17, 2021).
- Norwegian Government (2013). *The Norwegian Planning- and Building Act.* Available online at: https://dibk.no/regelverk/Building-Regulations-in-English/ (accessed December 17, 2021).
- Norwegian Government (2018). Statlige Planetningslinjer for klima- og energiplanlegging og klimatilpasning. ("government guidelines on climate and energy planning"). Available online at: https://lovdata.no/dokument/SF/ forskrift/2018-09-28-1469 (accessed December 17, 2021).
- Rusdal, T., and Aall, C. (2019). Kartlegging av erfaringer fra arbeidet med klimatilpasning i små og mellomstore kommuner. ("Mapping experiences from climate adaptation in small and medium-sized municipalities."). VF Report 4/2019, Vestlandsforsking, Sogndal, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Sælthun, N. R. (1996). The 'Nordic' HBV model. Description and documentation of the model version developed for the project Climate Change and Energy Production. Technical Report NVE Publication 7-1996, Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate, Oslo, Norway.
- Samaniego, L., Thober, S., Wanders, N., Pan, M., Rakovec, O., Sheffield, J., et al. (2019). Hydrological forecasts and projections for improved decisionmaking in the water sector in europe. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 100, 2451–2472. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-17-0274.1
- Schewe, J., Heinke, J., Gerten, D., Haddeland, I., Arnell, N. W., Clark, D. B., et al. (2014). Multimodel assessment of water scarcity under climate change. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 3245–3250. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1222460110
- Selseng, T., Hønsi, T., and Aall, C. (2019). Kartlegging av barrierar og kunnskapsbehov om klimatilpassing i offentleg forvalting. ("Mapping barriers and knowledge needs for climate adaptation in public management."). VF Note 2/2019, Vestlandsforsking, Sogndal, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Sharma, A., Wasko, C., and Lettenmaier, D. P. (2018). If precipitation extremes are increasing, why aren't floods? *Water Resour. Res.* 54, 8545–8551. doi: 10.1029/2018WR023749
- Simpson, M., Nilsen, J., Ravndal, O., Breili, K., Sande, H., Kierulf, H., et al. (2015). Sea Level Change for Norway. NCCS Report 1/2015, Norwegian Centre for Climate Services, Oslo, Norway.
- Skaugen, T., Lawrence, D., and Ortega, R. Z. (2020). A parameter parsimonious approach for catchment scale urban hydrology - which processes are important? *J. Hydrol. X* 8, 100060. doi: 10.1016/j.hydroa.2020. 100060
- Skaugen, T., Luijting, H., Saloranta, T., Vikhamar-Schuler, D., and Müller, K. (2018). In search of operational snow model structures for the futurecomparing four snow models for 17 catchments in Norway. *Hydrol. Res.* 49, 1929–1945. doi: 10.2166/nh.2018.198
- Skaugen, T., and Onof, C. (2014). A rainfall-runoff model parameterized from GIS and runoff data. *Hydrol. Process.* 28, 4529–4542. doi: 10.1002/hyp. 9968
- Skaugen, T., Stranden, H., and Saloranta, T. (2012). Trends in snow water equivalent in Norway (1931–2009). *Hydrol. Res.* 43, 489–499. doi: 10.2166/nh,2012.109

- SMHI Hypeweb (2022). Climate Change Data. Available online at: https:// hypeweb.smhi.se/explore-water/climate-change-data/ (accessed January 11, 2022).
- Statistics Norway (2021). Official Statistics Since 1876. Available online at: https:// www.ssb.no/en (accessed December 17, 2021).
- Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute (2020). *Climate Information*. Available online at: https://climateinformation.org/ (accessed January 11, 2022).
- The Norwegian Agency for Local Governments (2022). *Sustainability/Local climate risk/Lillestrøm*. Available online at: https://klimarisiko.kbn.com/en/regions/ viken/lillestrom/ (accessed January 11, 2022).
- The Norwegian Public Roads Administration (2018). *Vegbygging. Normal.* ("*Road construction. Regulations.*"). Handbook series N200, The Norwegian Public Roads Administration, Oslo, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Tveito, O., Skjelvåg, A., and Aune, B. (2005). A GIS-based agro-ecological decision system based on gridded climatology. *Meteorol. Appl.* 12, 57–68. doi: 10.1017/S1350482705001490
- Vormoor, K., Lawrence, D., Heistermann, M., and Bronstert, A. (2015). Climate change impacts on the seasonality and generation processes of floods –projections and uncertainties for catchments with mixed snowmelt/rainfall regimes. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 19, 913–931. doi: 10.5194/hess-19-913-2015
- Vormoor, K., Lawrence, D., Schlichting, L., Wilson, D., and Wong, W. K. (2016). Evidence for changes in the magnitude and frequency of observed rainfall vs. snowmelt driven floods in Norway. J. Hydrol. 538, 33-48. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.03.066
- Wang, L. (2018). Klimatilpasning i Kommunene Nasjonal Spørreundersøkelse for KS Høsten 2017. ("Climate adaptation in the municipalities. National survey for KS fall 2017"). insam report, insam, Drammen, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Wang, L., and Grann, O. (2019). KS' arbeid med klimatilpasning i kommunesektoren 2008-2018 - grunnlag for å drøfte veien videre. ("Norwegian Association of Local and Regional Authorities' work on climate adaptation. Way forward."). insam report 20.03.2019, insam, Drammen, Norway. (In Norwegian.).
- Wejs, A., Harvold, K., Larsen, S. V., and Saglie, I.-L. (2014). Legitimacy building in weak institutional settings: climate change adaptation at local level in Denmark and Norway. *Env. Polit.* 23, 490–508. doi: 10.1080/09644016.2013.854967
- Wong, W., Haddeland, I., Lawrence, D., and Beldring, S. (2016). Gridded 1x1 km climate and hydrological projections for Norway. NVE Report No. 59, Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate, Oslo, Norway.
- Wong, W. K., Beldring, S., Engen-Skaugen, T., Haddeland, I., and Hisdal, H. (2011). Climate change effects on spatiotemporal patterns of hydroclimatological summer droughts in norway. *J. Hydrometeorol.* 12, 1205–1220. doi: 10.1175/2011JHM1357.1

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Nilsen, Hanssen-Bauer, Dyrrdal, Hisdal, Lawrence, Haddeland and Wong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Accelerating Climate Change Adaptive Capacity Through Regional Sustained Assessment and Evaluation in Hawai'i and the U.S. Affiliated Pacific Islands

Victoria W. Keener^{1,2*†}, Zena N. Grecni^{1†} and Susanne C. Moser^{3,4†}

¹ Research Program, East-West Center, Honolulu, HI, United States, ² Global Institute of Sustainability and Innovation, Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ, United States, ³ Susanne Moser Research & Consulting, Hadley, MA, United States, ⁴ Department of Landscape Architecture and Regional Planning, University of Massachusetts-Amherst, Amherst, MA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Katharine Jacobs, University of Arizona, United States

Reviewed by:

Corrine Noel Knapp, University of Wyoming, United States Sonya Ziaja, University of Baltimore, United States

> *Correspondence: Victoria W. Keener vkeener@asu.edu

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Predictions and Projections, a section of the journal Frontiers in Climate

Received: 05 February 2022 Accepted: 19 May 2022 Published: 15 June 2022

Citation:

Keener VW, Grecni ZN and Moser SC (2022) Accelerating Climate Change Adaptive Capacity Through Regional Sustained Assessment and Evaluation in Hawai'i and the U.S. Affiliated Pacific Islands. Front. Clim. 4:869760. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2022.869760 As the impacts and risks from climate change increase, the climate assessment landscape has expanded in scope and application, resulting in the desire for more information relevant to local decision-making. Some regions lack detailed climate projections and a body of consensus findings about sector-specific impacts, and there is a need for actionable, culturally cognizant, translated climate information suitable for integration into operations and management, budgeting, funding proposals, and domestic and international policy. The Pacific Islands Regional Climate Assessment, or PIRCA, is the subject of this decade-long case study illustrating the need, development, and benefit of creating and sustaining a nuanced, collaborative, and deliberately inclusive climate assessment effort among researchers and practitioners in Hawai'i and the US-Affiliated Pacific Islands (USAPI). Using external evaluations done in 2013 and 2021, and our observations as participants in the process, we describe regional adaptive capacity challenges-an important component of the decision context for PIRCA stakeholders—and analyze the role of the PIRCA network in accelerating climate adaptation. We also examine how regional and national assessments complement each other, and how assessment processes can aid in translation to sub-national decision making across the climate science-policy interface. Results reveal components of the PIRCA that are foundational to its effectiveness: framing climate information in human and decision-centric ways; use of inclusive and non-extractive methods; willingness to shift approaches to meet stakeholder objectives; leveraging the resources of the Pacific Regional Integrated Sciences and Assessments (RISA) and other boundary organizations; taking the time to build relationships; and creating a dedicated position to sustain collaborations and relationships within the region and at larger assessment scales. Our experience and the feedback received through the evaluation suggest that these lessons are transferable to other regions and scales, and that sustained and collaborative regional climate assessments can serve a key function in complementing major national and international assessments, by translating and more effectively

targeting information to meet local needs in support of regional climate adaptation and policymaking.

Keywords: Pacific Islands, evaluation, adaptation, acceleration, climate change assessment, co-production

INTRODUCTION

The Role of Actionable Climate Assessments in Shaping Policy, Funding Priorities, and International Negotiations

Actionable climate assessments such as the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Assessment Reports and the U.S. National Climate Assessments (NCA) have been critical in characterizing past climate trends and future projections and their impacts (e.g., USGCRP, 2017, 2018; IPCC, 2021, 2022), shaping emission mitigation goals (e.g., IPCC, 2014; UNFCCC Glasgow Climate Pact¹; Hawai'i Act 234 and 15²) and setting broad research and adaptation funding priorities (e.g., USGCRP., 2012; Green Climate Fund (GCF), 2020) at global and national scales. Over the last several decades, the climate assessment landscape has evolved from mainly global and largescale syntheses of physical mechanisms of change like those in the early IPCC and NCA products, to integrated analysis and special reports including social science and decision contexts (e.g., New et al., 2022), sectoral and regional impacts (e.g., USGCRP., 2016; USGCRP, 2018), evaluation of progress on adaptation planning and policy (e.g., Halofsky et al., 2015), mitigation pathways (IPCC, 2018), and extreme event attribution (e.g., Seneviratne et al., 2021) at smaller spatial scales (e.g., Bedsworth et al., 2018; MCC STS, 2020). There are benefits and challenges in increasing the scope and reach of climate assessments for use by regional and local decision-makers who need climate information to guide adaptation and mitigation to address rapidly emerging impacts on their communities. With the mounting financial and societal costs and risks associated with climate change, information such as climate trends and projections at finer spatial and temporal resolutions, the interactions of impacts across key sectors, and adaptation options are needed more quickly at sub-regional and sub-national, policy-relevant scales to support planning.

To accelerate the transformation of climate change science into knowledge that is useful and usable at sub-national planning scales, critical analyses of existing assessment frameworks recommend expanding cross-disciplinary collaboration, increasing the frequency of ancillary assessment products, co-developing information and tools by including information users in the assessment process, and sustaining the process using networks of both government and civil society (Lemos and Morehouse, 2005; Raes and Swart, 2007; Dilling and Lemos, 2011; Moss et al., 2019). Sustained interaction between scientists and information users, at local and regional scales, in informal networks and through climate boundary organizations can especially build trust in climate products and counterbalance misunderstanding and the perceived irrelevance of scientific information, as well as focus outputs to be stakeholder relevant (Dilling and Lemos, 2011; Wall et al., 2017; Ziaja, 2019).

Going beyond these well-established and broadly applicable recommendations, there are several unique challenges and needs in the Hawai'i and U.S. Affiliated Pacific Islands (USAPI) region that make effective local and regional climate assessments essential foundations for accelerated adaptation planning and implementation and for negotiations and global advocacy. Chief among them are widespread climate data scarcity, varied political classifications (**Figure 1**), spatial isolation, and the colonialism that burdens self-reliant populations and creates persistent funding inequities.

Need for Co-produced Climate Information and Translated Research to Strengthen Community Resilience and Adaptation Efforts

At an organizational level, the process of collaborating to develop "actionable" or "useful" climate research and information with regional and local managers and decision-makers has matured since the late 1990's (Pulwarty and Redmond, 1997; McNie, 2008; Prokopy and Power, 2015). As a framework, the co-production process emphasizes principles of stakeholder participation, interdisciplinarity, active communication, and relationship-building among project partners to foster trust in researchers and salience of scientific products for decision making and related social impact (Cash et al., 2003; Jacobs et al., 2005; Lemos and Morehouse, 2005; Moser, 2016). This process of scientific co-production can be used to lay the foundation for sustaining a robust assessment process (Lemos and Morehouse, 2005) that is applicable to adaptation planning in locations with differing geographies, demographics, climate impacts, decision-making needs, and sources of funding or available data. Co-production of research and assessments is becoming widely accepted-even demanded-as a methodological framework for increasing trust and use of scientific information in planning and management across different sectors (Lemos and Morehouse, 2005; Lemos et al., 2012; Meadow et al., 2015). Benefits of co-production include: integrated decision-relevant contexts from the conceptualization phase; increased representation and diversity of affected stakeholders; and creating credible policy-researcher networks that can accelerate actionable science (Dilling and Lemos, 2011; Ziaja, 2019). Co-production is useful in building a sustained local and regional climate assessment process by increasing bottom-up participation from diverse sectors of society, increasing climate literacy

¹Advance text of the UNFCCC Glasgow Climate Pact https://unfccc.int/sites/ default/files/resource/cma2021_L16_adv.pdf.

²HI Act 234, 2007 https://health.hawaii.gov/cab/files/2014/07/GM1005_.pdf; and Act 15 https://www.capitol.hawaii.gov/session2018/bills/GM1115_.PDF.



FIGURE 1 | The Pacific Islands region includes the State of Hawai'i, as well as the U.S. Affiliated Pacific Islands (USAPI): the territories of American Sāmoa and Guam; the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands (CNMI); the Republic of Palau; the Federated States of Micronesia (FSM); and the Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI). Residents of Guam and the CNMI are U.S. citizens; those from American Sāmoa are U.S. nationals⁴. Under the Compact of Free Association (COFA), citizens of the FSM, Palau, and the RMI can live and work in the U.S. without visas, and the U.S. is obliged to provide economic assistance to COFA nations. On this map, shaded areas indicate the exclusive economic zone of each island, including Marine National Monuments (in green). [Figure from Keener et al., 2018].

and capacity in decision making contexts, establishing trust and transparency through relationship-building, and framing findings to directly address stakeholders' needs (Lemos and Morehouse, 2005; Moser, 2016; Moss et al., 2019). There are, however, also documented challenges. For instance, building such interdisciplinary science-practice relationships and networks takes time, significant human and financial resources, requires scientific data and models that match the complexity of users' environments, and is often not weighted favorably toward professional advancement in academic institutions (although this is starting to change, e.g., Purdue University tenure³) or in rankings of traditional research grant proposals, hindering sustaining these projects (Agrawala et al., 2001; Lemos and Morehouse, 2005; Bolson and Broad, 2013; Lemos et al., 2018; Moss et al., 2019; Meadow and Owen, 2021).

Challenges in Building Inclusive, Regionally Representative, and Sustained Assessments

There are several examples of national organizations with regional programs that utilize concepts of co-production of academic science and stakeholder participation to produce

 $^{^{3}} https://www.purdue.edu/provost/faculty/promotion/criteria-tenure-procedures. html$

⁴Rights related to citizenship vary in the Pacific Islands. Those born in American Sāmoa and Swains Island are classified as U.S. non-citizen nationals and are not legally able to vote in federal elections or hold federal office, although they can serve in the military, have a U.S. passport, and can live and work freely in the country. U.S. citizens are also considered U.S. nationals.


"actionable" environmental science, including the NOAA Regional Integrated Sciences and Assessments (RISA), Hawai'i Sea Grant, He'eia National Estuarine Research Reserve (NERR), Pacific Islands Climate Change Cooperative (PICCC, now defunct), Pacific Islands-Climate Adaptation Science Center (PI-CASC), Pacific Islands Water Science Center (PIWSC), and the Hawai'i Cooperative Extension Service, many of which have contributed significantly to Pacific Islands climate assessment products. The NOAA RISA program has been a pioneer in developing, documenting, and implementing the co-development process in climate research and assessment (McNie, 2008, 2013; Lemos et al., 2014; Parris et al., 2016; Meadow, 2017). Regionally focused and stakeholder-driven, RISAs are competitive interdisciplinary climate research programs that function as boundary organizations and span the science-policy interface. The Pacific RISA, based on the island of O'ahu, Hawai'i, serves the greater USAPI region and coordinates the Pacific Islands Regional Climate Assessment (PIRCA). The PIRCA is a collaboration of scientists, businesses, governments, and communities in Hawai'i and the USAPI founded in 2011 to inform the regional chapter for the Third NCA and create a process to exchange climate information (Figure 2). The PIRCA process and outputs used principles of co-production to form an inclusive network of contributors and a reliable assessment of climate knowledge for the region (Keener et al., 2012; Moser, 2013), and addressed the barriers mentioned above by leveraging coordination and human and financial resources from the Pacific RISA program, the USGCRP, the PI-CASC, the PICCC, and others, to establish a sustained assessment process. An external evaluation of the 2012 PIRCA revealed that while regional stakeholders found the network's first collaborative report highly credible and the process trustworthy, the information did not fully meet their needs, particularly in assessing sectoral impacts in the USAPI that were not addressed in-depth in the first PIRCA report (Moser, 2013).

This case study discusses the creation and ongoing activities of the PIRCA and documents its evolution through time with longitudinal external evaluations done in 2013 and 2021 (Moser, 2013, 2022 *in progress*). We analyze the climate impacts and information needs for the USAPI region, the decision context in which the PIRCA functions for a variety of regional stakeholders across different islands, the potential role the PIRCA network and reports serve in accelerating the creation of regional and local climate policy, the ways in which regional and national assessments complement each other, and identify transferable process characteristics that could be utilized to aid in translation across the climate sciencepolicy interface.

CONTEXT: CLIMATE AND CAPACITY CHALLENGES IN HAWAI'I AND THE U.S. AFFILIATED PACIFIC ISLANDS

The USAPI region encompasses thousands of islands, more than 300,000 square miles of land, and millions of square miles of ocean, including 50% of the U.S. Exclusive Economic Zone (Figure 1). The island region contains diverse geographies, climates, political classifications, cultures, languages, histories, and ecosystems that require different assessment foci and approaches that resonate with the needs of stakeholders in each location. As described eloquently in the introduction of Indigenous Literatures from Micronesia (Flores and Kihleng, 2019), the Pacific Islands have a complex 400-year colonial history with impacts that persist today. Starting in the 16th century, European and Asian countries and the United States successively occupied, exploited, and colonized the lands of the Indigenous peoples of Micronesia, Polynesia, and Melanesia. Hawai'i and Micronesia were used as important transit points, military hubs, sources of natural resources, and opportunities for European and U.S. missionaries. During these several hundred years, islands across the region were sequentially colonized by Spain, Germany, Britain, France, the United States (after the Spanish-American War), Australia, and Japan. As a consequence of colonization, the lands, waters, and people of the Pacific Islands were involved significantly in the Pacific Theater during World War II (Poyer, 1991), with resulting widespread environmental devastation and displacement of Indigenous people due to region-wide warfare and nuclear weapons testing in the Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI) (Simon, 1997; Cocklin, 1999; Yamada and Akiyama, 2013). Following the war, American Sāmoa and much of Micronesia-as the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands-came under U.S. administration. In the 1970's-90's, USAPI districts achieved independence with special U.S. political affiliations or became U.S. territories, ensuring U.S. military access through the present-day and economies dependent on international aid and military spending (Friedman, 1997; Overton et al., 2018). U.S. military presence in the region continues and has included construction of a missile defense system in Kwajalein, RMI, and multiple major installations in Hawai'i and Guam. In recent decades, Pacific Islands have been discussed in global media about climate change, with the dominant portrayal of islanders as vulnerable, frontline populations on "sinking islands" (Shea et al., 2020; Aguon, 2021) experiencing some of the most severe physical and socioeconomic impacts from anthropogenic climate change for which they bear little to no responsibility for causing. Very recently, islander-informed media narratives may be shifting toward a focus on the resilience of communities, adaptation solutions, and climate justice (Shea et al., 2020; Aguon, 2021).

agencies, programs, and adaptation funds (e.g., the Green Climate Fund). Meanwhile, the Freely-Associated States of the Republic of Palau, the RMI, and the Federated States of Micronesia (FSM) are systemically under-represented in regional island governance councils and are currently ineligible for U.S. Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) funding. The physical realities of living on small, remote islands exacerbate vulnerabilities. For instance, Hawai'i has the most expensive electricity rate in the United States, and more than 85% of food is imported on most islands (Leung and Loke, 2008; Asifoa-Lagai, 2012; Keener et al., 2018). Political leaders in the Pacific Islands consistently classify climate change as their primary existential threat and advocate for aggressive mitigation policies and adaptation investment to improve regional environmental security, through, for example, the Majuro Declaration for Climate Leadership⁵, the Boe Declaration for Regional Security⁶, and recently, the Kainaki II Declaration for Urgent Climate Change Action Now⁷, the strongest collective advocacy instrument issued by Pacific Islands to date to support their position at the UN Secretary-General's Climate Action Summit.

The region has historically experienced a high burden of climate disasters, sometimes resulting in wide ranging impacts to food and water security, human health, infrastructure, ecosystems, and geopolitical stability. The direct and indirect burdens of these events are often underestimated and are projected to increase with climate change (The World Bank., 2013; Keener et al., 2018). The damages resulting from weather and climate-related extremes are rarely the result of an isolated event. Rather, they are typically "compound" events, occurring in combination (Raymond et al., 2020), and with ongoing environmental, historical, and societal stresses. Recent (spatial or temporal) compound events include extreme rainfall, flooding and wildfire (Nugent et al., 2020); a particularly destructive 2018 typhoon season; land and ocean heatwaves and coral bleaching and death (Couch et al., 2017; NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information., 2020); El Niño and drought (Annamalai et al., 2015); and wave, tide, and surge events with rising sea levels (Vitousek et al., 2017). While the need for cross-sectoral climate adaptation is great, the Pacific Islands are relatively data-scarce compared to the Continental United States, and IPCC and NCA assessments are insufficient to inform island-scale policy (Keener et al., 2012; Moser, 2013; National Academies of Sciences Engineering Medicine, 2021). Although multiple international aid organizations operate within the region, there has been

Existing governance and social systems can hinder climate adaptation—planning, funding, and implementation. For example, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands (CNMI), American Sāmoa, and Guam are ineligible for bilateral and multilateral climate finance and are excluded from UN

⁵Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat, 5 September 2013. *Majuro Declaration for Climate Leadership*. Majuro, The Republic of the Marshall Islands. https://www.forumsec.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/2013-Majuro-Declaration-for-Climate-Leadership.pdf.

⁶Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat, 5 September 2018. *Boe Declaration Action Plan.* Boe, Nauru. https://www.forumsec.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Updated-Brief-on-Boe-Declaration-Action-Plan-1.pdf.

⁷Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat, 11 December 2020. *Kainaki II Declaration for Urgent Climate Change Action Now: Securing the Future of our Blue Pacific.* Funafuti, Tuvalu. https://www.forumsec.org/2020/11/11/kainaki/.

limited relationship building with in-country subject matter experts, resulting in products that have not always met the climate needs of local policymakers and resource managers (Moser, 2013).

The adaptive capacity of islands when faced with increasing climate shocks and stressors is negatively affected by regional issues such as limited capacity-building, underinvestment in infrastructure, social inequality, and multiple colonial histories. In the CNMI, improper military and industrial waste disposal resulted in contaminated drinking water (Denton et al., 2014; Grecni et al., 2021). Following contamination after the impact of Super Typhoon Yutu in the CNMI in 2018, residents relied on desalinized ocean water (Gilbert, 2018). After World War II, most of Guam's population shifted from subsistence farming to a reliance on imported food (Marutani et al., 1997), which has negatively affected food security and human health. Climate impacts such as changing rainfall, higher temperatures, and more intense storms compound and hasten the decline of local crop production (Taylor et al., 2016; Grecni et al., 2020). In November 2021 on the island of O'ahu, Hawai'i, it was revealed that tens of thousands of gallons of jet fuel had leaked from the World War II-era U.S. Navy Red Hill Bulk Fuel Storage Facility's underground storage tanks into the largest aquifer supplying drinking water on the island, sickening and displacing thousands of families (Jedra, 2022). As this example shows, even in the most prosperous place in the USAPI, historical impacts decreased O'ahu's freshwater resilience in the face of continuing drought (Frazier and Giambelluca, 2017) and reduced Hawai'i's future ability to provide freshwater in an emergency and protect water resources-as mandated in the State Constitution-for domestic and Native Hawaiian traditional and customary uses. While downscaled climate projections and other data are needed for adaptation projects, science and data alone do not address the systemic and structural dimensions needed to successfully adapt (Finucane, 2009), and some normative co-production processes can reaffirm traditional boundaries when actors assert the dominance of Western science and reinforce notions that it is superior to other forms of knowledge (Daly and Dilling, 2019). Fourhundred years of colonialism in the region that exploited the islands for their strategic military value, resources, trade location, and other extractive purposes resulted in communities with limited capacity and a culture of drop-in consultants and researchers (Finau et al., 2000; Braun, 2021; Lett et al., 2022). These complex issues require a different approach to co-producing useable climate information that is nonextractive, culturally cognizant, flexible enough to incorporate different modes of interaction, centered around relationships and storytelling, transparent, iterative, and inclusively co-developed with resource managers and local governments to foster collective ownership and shared understanding (Amitage et al., 2011; Daly and Dilling, 2019; Aguon, 2021). In fact, assessments anywhere must consider the unique geographical, historical, and cultural contexts if they are to make useful contributions to decision making.

THE PIRCA, KEY PROGRAMMATIC ELEMENTS, AND RESULTS The Second PIRCA: Key Elements of Assessment Co-development

Since its inception more than a decade ago, the PIRCA has incorporated feedback obtained from external evaluation to shape the ongoing assessment process and network's growth and inclusion of new expertise and areas of focus. As a result, the expertise and topic areas that the PIRCA includes were diversified in the most recent round of assessments. A frequent appeal by those interviewed and surveyed in the 2013 evaluation was to update the PIRCA regularly, incorporating new topics, including identifiable trends in top priority impacts on key economic sectors and human security, adaptation options and costs, and cultural impacts (Moser, 2013). Moreover, respondents to the first PIRCA, which was still Hawai'i-centric, wished for jurisdiction-specific assessments. The PIRCA coordination team recognized that to fulfill these needs, a new full-time "Sustained Assessment Specialist" (SAS) within the region was crucial, and found financial resources from multiple partners to fund the position through the Pacific RISA.

As a result of this feedback, the foci, author structure, and processes for assessment development have evolved. The most recent round of PIRCA assessments produced the Hawai'i and U.S. Affiliated Pacific Islands regional chapter of the Fourth NCA (Keener et al., 2018), as well as island-specific assessments for Palau (Miles et al., 2020), Guam (Grecni et al., 2020), the CNMI (Grecni et al., 2021) and American Sāmoa (Keener et al., 2021). Other reports for the RMI, the FSM, as well as the initial work for the regional chapter of the Fifth NCA are in progress as of this writing. While technical writing teams for the 2012 PIRCA were mainly subject matter experts from Hawai'i-based academic and federal government institutions, the 2020-2021 PIRCA authorship varied by jurisdictional report and was split between Hawai'i-based academics and specialists in local NGOs and governments residing in each jurisdiction. Additionally, between 25 and 50 practitioners from a wide range of management sectors were credited as Technical Contributors for each assessment. The changes in assessment characteristics in response to feedback between the first and second PIRCA, and the status of those same elements in regional contributions to recent U.S. NCAs, are presented in Table 1. Authors and Technical Contributors attended a workshop in their jurisdiction, which the PIRCA coordination team planned and organized in partnership with local co-authors and key points of contact from government, higher education, and NGOs (Figure 3). In proximity to the workshops, members of the PIRCA coordination team met with a few Technical Contributors for more in-depth conversation on key topic areas for which they had unique expertise. These meetings were *ad-hoc* or opportunistic and were arranged in connection with planning for or facilitating the local workshops (Table 2). Following those workshops or meetings, Technical Contributors were invited to continue refining the PIRCA report for their jurisdiction in an iterative process of reviewing drafts of

Assessment	Author structure and composition	Main foci or topics	Development process (key elements)
First PIRCA (2012)	Hawai*i- and U.S. Continent-based authors and contributors (academic and federal roles)	Physical impacts (e.g., freshwater and drought, sea-level rise and coastal inundation, ecosystem impacts)	Workshops in Hawai'i, involving authors and technical experts; author drafting; review by science advisory committee
Second PIRCA (2020–2021)	USAPI- and Hawai'i-based authors (academic, USAPI government, and NGO roles); 25–50 locally based contributors per assessment	Human- and decision-centric topics (e.g., climate indicators; climate-risk management; considerations for households, families, and vulernable populations; considerations for key sectors; research and information needs)	Workshops and meetings in USAPI, involving stakeholders in variety of sectors and roles (govenment, NGO, business, and academic/research); iteravite draft development among authors and technical contributors; review by advisory committee with diverse expertise
Third NCA, Hawai ⁺ i and Pacific Islands chapter (2014)	Hawai'i-based lead and convening authors; 7 contributing authors	Ocean changes, coral reefs, and fisheries; freshwater supplies; terrestrial ecosystems; sea-level rise and coastal infrastructure; human migration	Technical input report development (PIRCA 2012) and workshops; Author chapter drafting; advisory committee review; pubic and expert review; federal agency and White House review
Fourth NCA, Hawai⁺i and USAPI chapter (2018)	Hawaiʻi-based authors; 77 technical contributors, majoirty Hawaiʻi-based, and a small number from USAPI	Water supplies; ecosystems and biodiversity; coastal communities; marine resources; Indigenous peoples; cumulative impacts and adaptation	Public engagement workshops (1 in Hawai'i; 1 in Guam); sectoral workshops hosted by author team; author drafting; federal agency, public, and expert review
Fifth NCA, Hawaiʻi and USAPI chapter (forthcoming)	USAPI-, U.S. Continent-, and Hawai'i-based authors; USAPI and Hawai'i-based technical contributors (TBD)	TBD	Regional Engagement Workshop (1 for Hawai'i and USAPI); sectoral workshops hosted by author team; author drafting; federal agency, public, and expert review

TABLE 1 Key differences in characteristics of the first and second PIRCA, and the status of the same elements in regional contributions to recent U.S. NCAs.

the assessment, and the PIRCA coordination team tracking and responding to all comments.

The PIRCA workshops were structured to be accessible to managers and decision-makers across a range of sectors, and to elicit feedback on an early draft of the PIRCA report to further develop the content. The PIRCA workshops linked participants to the U.S. NCA process by presenting findings from the Fourth NCA and describing a sustained assessment process in which local and regional assessments gather and synthesize climate knowledge and inform the national assessment.

Evaluation Methods

To assess how the ongoing PIRCA process is evolving and responding to expressed stakeholder needs, we conducted an evaluation between Fall 2021 and January 2022. It involved data collection from two principal sources: a survey and interviews with assessment participants and beneficiaries.

The survey was sent to a database of 222 individuals across Hawai'i and the USAPI. Respondents were approached by email; 22 of those emails were no longer functional (resulting in an actual n=200). The 29-question survey was open between October 13 and November 30, 2021 and received 60 responses— an excellent response rate of 30% in an email- and social-media saturated world during the COVID-19 pandemic. The majority of respondents were based in Hawai'i, but all jurisdictions for which the Fourth NCA chapter and PIRCA reports had been prepared were represented, as well as a few Continental U.S. respondents.

The survey questions were prepared by Moser in collaboration with the Pacific RISA team (inluding Keener and Grecni) (see survey instrument in **Appendix 1**) and focused on the Fourth NCA chapter and the jurisdictional PIRCAs, inquiring about people's involvement and contributions, their perceptions of the report's relevance, usefulness, legitimacy and credibility; the uses of the report; future assessment needs; and for respondents who knew of the first PIRCA, about improvements made based on the feedback received from the evaluation conducted in 2012–13.

Following the survey, the evaluation also involved in-depth interviews (conducted by Moser) with selected assessment contributors and observers. The Pacific RISA team provided a prioritized list of 38 potential interviewees, including representatives from all jurisdictions and the Fourth NCA chapter⁸. Of these, all the "very high" and "high" priority interview candidates (28 individuals) were approached and 21 individuals representing all PIRCA jurisdictions and the Fourth NCA chapter responded favorably and were interviewed. One interview was discontinued (due to an inability to address interview questions during a local crisis). The remaining 20 interviews were completed, with interviews lasting on average 56 min (range 27–92 min). Given the time since some portions

⁸Prioritization was done by Keener and Grecni and was based on factors such as individual's (1) direct involvement in either the Fourth NCA chapter or regional assessments as an author, contributor or reviewer; (2) direct involvement in an assessment-related workshop or event; (3) position in local government or other key decision-making bodies that is likely to have knowledge of the assessment; or (4) position in the federal government with direct knowledge of the PIRCA contribution to the NCA.



(Photo courtesy of Valentine Vaeoso). (B) Human-ignited wildfires burn a sizable portion Guam's land each year. Dry conditions increase the potential for wildfire on tropical Pacific Islands, and total acres burned tends to be higher in the year following an El Niño event (Photo courtesy of Guam Department of Agriculture, Forestry Division). Pictured on the right are PIRCA workshops and events: (C) participants of the CNMI workshop; (D) participants of the Palau workshop; and (E) members of the PIRCA team with Guam's Lieutenant Governor and Co-Chairs of the Guam Climate Change Resiliency Commission (photo courtesy of the Pacific Islands Climate Adaptation Science Center).

of the the assessment were completed, the consistency of insights gained, and based on responses from those who were approached but declined to be interviewed suggested that additional interviews would likely not yield more useful information. Thus, the lower-priority individuals were not approached. Interviews were semi-structured, recorded, and detailed notes were taken, then analyzed for themes. Recordings were destroyed after the analysis. Some interviewees also sent written follow-up notes or documents mentioned during the interviews.

The interview questions focused on nine topics (see interview protocol in **Appendix 2**), including background of the interviewee, participation in the Fourth NCA/PIRCA, uses of the Fourth NCA outputs by stakeholders/decision- and policy-makers (at local/state and federal U.S. levels), impacts of greater inclusiveness in the Fourth NCA vs. the first PIRCA, perception of the inclusive stakeholder participation at the national level, the value of the Sustained Assessment Specialist position, other information sources for decision-makers, barriers to building greater resilience through adaptation, and emerging needs. The interview protocol was reviewed and agreed to by the Pacific RISA staff. Both the survey and interviews were determined to be "exempt" human subjects research by the East-West Center's IRB.

Evaluation Results

Familiarity, Interest, and Perceived Relevance, Legitimacy, and Credibility

A very large majority of survey respondents (>90%) and all interviewees were closely familiar with the Fourth NCA Pacific Islands chapter (released in 2018) and the jurisdictional reports (released between 2020 and 2021) - a similarly high level of awareness as was found in the evaluation of the first PIRCA. At the time of the survey, respondents confirmed that they had either heard of, read, or scanned and remembered various parts of those assessments. Of greatest interest to survey respondents in the Fourth NCA chapter were the Executive Summary, the section on coastal communities, and the section on adaptation. Those familiar with the jurisdictional PIRCA reports found the sections synthesizing key issues for managers and policymakers; implications for families, households and vulnerable populations; implications for vulnerable sectors; indicators of climate change; and on managing risks in the face of uncertainty of greatest interest.

The framing of climate change challenges in human- and decision-centric ways in the jurisdictional reports is in and of itself notable. This constitutes an innovation in response to the 2012 report (and thus does not allow for a direct

Date of workshop	Workshop location	Co-hosting partners	Expertise of participants (academic or practice)	
June 10, 2019	American Sāmoa Community College, Pago Pago, American Sāmoa	American Sāmoa Community College	Agriculture, coastal management, coral reef research and management, education, environmental protection, historic and cultural resources, natural resources management, public works, utilities, water management, weather forecasting	
July 23, 2019	Palau National Marine Sanctuary headquarters, Koror, Palau	Republic of Palau Office of Climate Change	Agriculture, coral reef research, cultural resources, disaster management, economic development, ecosystems, energy systems, fisheries, human health, infrastructure planning, tourism, utilities	
July 30, 31, 2019	Saipan, CNMI	NOAA Office for Coastal Management and CNMI Bureau of Environmental and Coastal Quality	Agriculture, coastal resources management, education, extension, fish and wildlife management, public health, natural resources management, parks and recreation, planning and development, policy and governance, public works, ocean ecosystem research and management, utilities	
October 29, 2019	Governor's Complex, Adelup, Guam	Guam Climate Change Resiliency Commission; Pacific Islands Climate Adaptation Science Center; Guam Bureau of Statistics and Plans; University of Guam	Climate science, climate vulnerability assessment, climate and weather forecasting, coastal and ocean resources management, cultural resources, energy systems, environmental protection, homeland security/civil defense, nature conservation, planning, public advocacy, water and environmental research, water management	

TABLE 2 | PIRCA assessment workshops including dates, locations, conveners, and expertise represented held in each jurisdiction in 2019.

comparison of different parts of the assessment between the first and second PIRCA reports). Survey respondents found the sections they reviewed "somewhat," "very," or "extremely" useful. Leading in this regard were the sections on the implications of extreme weather and climate events for key sectors (96.7%); and on families, households and vulnerable populations (90.6%); followed closely by the key issues for managers (90.3%); climate change indictors (90.3%); and managing climate risks in the face of uncertainty (87.1%).

In write-in answers, respondents hinted at why and for what the reports were useful, including having an audiencetailored, concise, peer-reviewed summary and explanation of climate change trends and impacts for funding requests, policy briefings, education, and communication/outreach. This finding is completely consistent with the first PIRCA report. However, in comparing what respondents got out of the first (less detailed) vs. the second (jurisdictionally specific) PIRCA reports, they were six times more likely to agree than to disagree that the jurisdictional PIRCA reports provided more regionally specific climate information and more specific risk information on issues relevant to their work, and 5.7 times more likely to agree than disagree that the second PIRCA provided more information on what can be done to adapt to climate change. The few who indicated that any report sections were not useful to them either were already familiar with the issue or restricted that judgment to the less relevant synthesis of global climate change.

The legitimacy of the PIRCA process appears to also have boosted the use of the reports by decision-makers in Pacific Island jurisdictions. First, interviewees appreciated the deliberate, careful and respectful approach to co-designing the assessment process. Being mindful of not overtaxing individuals, strategically

timing workshop events, respecting local culture, and working closely with island points of contact to identify all relevant stakeholders was viewed as a key ingredient in people joining the effort and viewing it as "with and for them" rather than "about them" (i.e., a non-colonial, non-extractive approach to codesign). Moreover, the engagement of practitioners and climate change professionals in the development of the assessment, particularly in identifying impacts, future risks, and adaptation options, provided the structured opportunity for authors and technical contributors to review new information regarding how the changing climate is affecting, or is expected to affect, their area of purview or expertise. As a result, assessment participants were eager to apply information gleaned through the assessment even before the reports were published. Soon after the workshop in Palau, for example, the National Office of Climate Change contacted the PIRCA coordination team to request use of the draft PIRCA in a funding proposal to support the development of the National Adaptation Plan. Familiarity with the range of experts involved in informing and producing the report also appears to have driven trust in the product among participants. Interviewees, for example, thought "all the right people were at the table." But even among the broader survey population, 86.3% of respondents felt the development of the assessments was "highly," "very" or "somewhat legitimate" (this question was not asked in the 2012 survey).

The majority of survey respondents also found the Fourth NCA regional chapter and jurisdictional reports highly credible. More than 72% of respondents found them "very" or "extremely" credible, with <2% disagreeing with that judgment – a perception of credibility nearly as high as in the 2012 PIRCA report (although the question was asked slightly differently and had

fewer levels to choose from, so can only be compared with caution). Representative of many study participants, one noted, "I now have [a] credible reference document I can use in my work and studies that talks about my island home." Others found it particularly important to have such a credible report in use with policymakers. That said, some 17% of respondents couldn't judge the assessment in this regard – suggesting maybe some opportunities to convey the qualifications of assessment participants more directly in the future.

Process Benefits

Survey respondents and interviewees appreciated their participation in the assessment beyond the involvement in co-designing the stakeholder workshops. Those involved in shaping the engagement opportunities felt deeply respected and were pleased with what was achieved. Noting that "many make the mistake of not connecting with local people," the fact that Pacific RISA did was considered foundational for the assessments' conduct and successful delivery. In addition, most survey respondents (71.4%) who participated in those events as contributors to the assessment found them at least "somewhat," "very," or "extremely valuable." (This is a slightly higher level of appreciation of these events compared to a similar, but not identical question asked about the outreach around the first PIRCA report, thus allowing comparison only with caution.) More than half of the respondents (57.1%) appreciated them as opportunities to learn from others what they are doing to address climate change; 53.6% found them valuable as opportunities to ask questions of experts; and 50%, respectively, also found them useful as opportunities to learn about adaptation, network with others, and simply be in dialogue with people about what to do. One interviewee found the workshop in their jurisdiction to be "one of the best we ever had." Experts involved in the process were glad to not just share knowledge, but also correct any information from the larger regional assessment that did not apply to their particular jurisdiction, while yet others were glad to have a forum for difficult but important conversations to occur. As one put it, "It's a chance to force these necessary conversations with local decision-makers."

The educational value of those stakeholder engagement events, together with the information contained in the reports, cannot be overestimated. More than 62% of survey respondents noted that they now have a better understanding of what climate change means to their region, and 26% felt they can now take climate change into account in their work. As such, the participation in the process, connecting with peers, and having jurisdiction-specific information at their fingertips, illustrates that the assessment was perceived as empowering. "I have useful recommendations to inform management and policy decision making."

Interviewees also spoke to another aspect of the assessment process, particularly those who had been involved in prior assessments and who had a keen understanding of the oftenextreme capacity constraints in the USAPI. Uniformly, interviewees saw the value of having dedicated staff (a "Sustained Assessment Specialist," SAS) assigned to support the assessments as "critical." Particularly in a region that thrives on good relationships, having someone focused on building relationships was seen as foundational. Many interviewees were aware and deeply appreciative of the range of tasks undertaken by the SAS, including extensive outreach to obtain robust input, communication, "cat herding," editorial assistance "down to the semi-colon," finding needed data, identifying gaps in contents, and so on. One emphatically called the SAS "integral to the success of the Fourth NCA."

Evidence of Use of the PIRCA for Practical Decision-Making in a Changing Climate

Stakeholders have used the jurisdictional assessments when writing proposals for climate-related finance, communicating with the public and their peers, proposing and developing new law and policy, and integrating the information in management plans. We mention just a few examples here. As noted earlier, the PIRCA report for Palau serves as a technical resource in the development of the National Adaptation Plan. In Guam, meetings with legislators, legislative aids, and consultants to review NCA and PIRCA findings informed new legislation. Inspired by an adaptation option presented in the Guam PIRCA, one successful bill in the Territorial Legislature passed a statute that created the Tumon Bay Insurance Task Force, to be comprised of representatives from across the government of Guam, to examine the prospect and evaluate the feasibility of parametric insurance for the beaches and corals reefs of Guam's Tumon Bay (Kaur, 2020a; Public Law 35-107, 2020; Limitaco, 2021). Other new laws prohibited the burning of forest land and established a task force to explore the possibility of establishing conservation areas on select Guam Government properties that overlay the Northern Guam Lens Aquifer to protect the island's main freshwater aquifer, considering future drought projections (Kaur, 2020b; The Office of Sen. Sabina Perez Bureau of Statistics Plans' Guam Coastal Management Program., 2020; Public Law 35-134, 2021; Public Law 35-141, 2021). A training for territorial government staff, held prior to the update of American Sāmoa's Hazard Mitigation Plan, highlighted the PIRCA assessment as a resource and invited a coordination team member to present on climate-sensitive hazards detailed in the assessment.

Actors in government, including Guam Governor Lou Leon Guerrero (Pacific Daily News Staff., 2020), publicly acknowledged the PIRCA's role in informing policy, revealing key climate change issues, and providing consolidated, relevant knowledge for local decision processes. Palau's National Climate Change Coordinator said of the Palau assessment, "This report provides a glimpse of key issues... it serves as a guide with suggestions to enhance our resilience to climate change" (NOAA Climate Program Office, 2020). Shortly after the release of the assessment for the CNMI, the report's lead author testified as an invited expert witness in a Full Committee Hearing of the U.S. House Committee on Natural Resources regarding the Insular Area Climate Change Act (H.R. 2780), which proposed new federal programs for climate change adaptation and mitigation for U.S. Insular Areas (U.S. Congress, House, Committee on Natural Resources, 2021).

DISCUSSION

Acceleration of Information Uptake for Adaptation Decision-Making

Recent PIRCA activities demonstrate how regional assessment efforts can accelerate the flow and application of information from larger national and international climate assessments into local-level decision-making by relating key findings to local context and consolidating relevant information. In the case of the PIRCA, jurisdiction-specific assessment co-production processes helped to counter the information-overload effect and perceived irrelevance of national and international assessments by providing structure for climate researchers (some authors of the larger assessments) and local managers to review the larger assessment findings, examine their local implications in the context of key sectors, and together distill the salient knowledge for decision-making. In workshops, participants questioned the "experts" about levels of uncertainty, leading to better understanding among the group about points of consensus and factors contributing to remaining uncertainties.

The regional assessment also strengthens national and international climate assessment processes. Resource- and placespecific details captured in the PIRCA reports make the information available to a wider decision-maker audience, and to the NCA, IPCC, and other regional and international assessments that have historically not had access to fine-grained knowledge of local climate risks and adaptations. By delivering nuanced, placebased assessments in between the NCAs, regional assessment efforts can serve a key role in an integrated and sustained national assessment program (such as envisioned and described by Buizer et al., 2016).

One value of the PIRCA products to decision-makers appears to be the ability to use a single report as a resource and reference document for climate change information. One participant summarized this valuable function, saying, "Before we had the PIRCA, we had to piece together the information from other reports... so time-consuming." While various climate reports, documents, and peer-reviewed literature exists for each place, the time and capacity required to comb through it for relevant information can represent a significant barrier to timely fundraising and addressing climate change in policy and management situations. Both interviewees and survey respondents confirmed that having a consolidated state-ofknowledge helps to facilitate and accelerate the use of climate information for planning by managers without specific expertise or extra time. Meanwhile, participatory co-development of the reports meant that some decision-makers across government and NGO sectors were already familiar with, and trusted, the basic structure and content, making fact and informationfinding easier.

Working in an assessment context outside of the Continental United States necessitates a nuanced approach that differs from, and can complement, that more commonly used in the NCA

and international climate assessments. As a crucial point of departure, well-established multi-state and country assessments have traditionally placed a large emphasis on the findings of peer-reviewed articles and expert consensus; however, a dearth of published data and literature in the USAPI led the PIRCA team to rely on partnerships with local researchers and practitioners, in NGOs, government, and academic institutions, to source relevant data, traditional knowledge, and recent research findings, much of it "gray literature" or not yet published. Workshop discussion sessions allowed an informal prioritization of climate issues in terms of locally perceived levels of risk and consequence, and to understand, if only anecdotally, the climate impacts and risks not yet scientifically documented. Even in regions where relatively more published literature and data exist, the inclusion of local and traditional knowledge can imbue assessments with greater legitimacy and credibility among local stakeholders and allow frontline communities to enter policy discussions by bringing their own words, experiences, and forms of knowledge into decision-making spaces where they are often absent (Daly and Dilling, 2019; Davis and Ramirez-Andreotta, 2021). The PIRCA use-cases further demonstrate that bringing together various actors who hold different knowledges can promote social learning, shared understandings, and "collective ownership" (Amitage et al., 2011). Subnational assessment efforts, in their participatory development, can foster these critical functions, which are needed across all U.S. regions if adaptation is to increase.

Interviewees pointed to an important impact of the Fourth NCA Pacific Islands chapter on the overall NCA process in this regard, which can be read as an aid in the acceleration of information provision and uptake. Following the urging of one of the Fourth NCA convening lead authors, the USGCRP formally accepted Indigenous knowledge (only available in the oral tradition) as equivalent to scientific knowledge without having to be peer-reviewed. In a scientifically data-scarce and capacity-limited region such as the small-island states in the Pacific, much long-term observational information would have to be ignored if it could only be included in an assessment once it is reflected in the peer-reviewed literature. Thus, getting local and traditional ecological knowledge accepted as valid and equivalent to scientifically acquired knowledge has helped speed up the assessment process and address issues of knowledge-equity in climate adaptation planning. Combining it with the available scientific information in one report, the time to information use is significantly reduced.

Adjusting Assessment Methods to Resonate in Different Geographical Contexts

In each of the jurisdictions, PIRCA engagement linked directly or indirectly with local governance and policy entities by, for example, aligning outreach with the launch of the Guam Climate Change Commission and co-hosting a workshop with Palau's National Office of Climate Change. The format and timing of workshops adapted to fit into partners' already planned convenings and were sometimes "nested" within broader meeting agendas. The underlying logic for the adaptable workshops approach was twofold: (1) to avoid burdening over-tapped stakeholders who participate in many, often overlapping, planning and input activities; and (2) to embed the final assessments within, or have direct relevance to, local governance frameworks and processes. This points to the notion of a "sustained assessment" that aims at building ongoing relationships between researchers/assessors and practitioners (Moss et al., 2019), rather than a "stop-and-go" approach more common in the NCAs. Ongoing relationships may limit the repeatedly needed intense ramp-up of stakeholder relationships, and also avoid drawing on the same stakeholders again and again. This is a lesson that applies widely to other NCA regions, given the frequently mentioned challenge of "stakeholder fatigue" (e.g., Cooke and Kothari, 2001; Reed, 2008; Chu et al., 2016).

That the PIRCA is a network does not imply that the engagement and co-production model is merely replicated across all jurisdictions. Interviewees repeatedly noted how the Pacific RISA team understood the need for such a nuanced approach, banking on the cognizant leadership of local contacts to frame the assessment and navigate local politics. Those relationships then enabled engagement with groups that is respectful of local culture and customs, which differ among jurisdictions. The team made decisions on the process and products that intentionally aligned with local culture, language, technology use, and values, for example translating a summary into local language (Samoan), structuring daily agendas to include cultural protocol and meetings with dignitaries or elders, and inclusion of meals with appropriate foods at workshops. A focus on key sectors, both in the structured engagement and the assessment reports, rather than the drivers of climate change impacts, further emphasized the relevance of the assessments to the stakeholders' governance and management responsibilities and purview. Regional and local climate assessment efforts that shift their methods or approach to meet the objectives and fit into the agenda of decision-making bodies may go farther in their quest for user uptake than those efforts that remain detached from local governance.

Assessment and Learning Networks as Climate Boundary Organizations

Trust in the Pacific RISA as a boundary organization and as a central player and coordinator of the PIRCA had already been built in the years leading up to the most recent round of assessments (Moser, 2013). Boundary organizations provide a distinct and helpful interface for the exchange between science and policy or practice, with accountability to both sides, and critical translating, negotiation, and interface management functions (Guston, 1999; Gustafsson and Lidskog, 2018; Ziaja, 2019). While the design of the interface varies, boundary organizations as formal networks facilitate the exchange of climate information in quickly-evolving contexts and in more informal networks (Ziaja, 2019), such as the PIRCA. The evaluation of the Fourth NCA regional chapter and jurisdictional PIRCA reports suggests that the central role of Pacific RISA has only been solidified, as the lead coordinators and authors have in many cases become the initial contacts for decisionmakers seeking trusted climate information on a short timeline or interested in proposing a project to meet a local need. Pacific RISA works actively and swiftly to connect researchers with practitioners while responding to requests and questions as a trusted source of climate information. Thus its partners learn and can build up their capacity to address climate change; in turn, Pacific RISA staff learn from local partners about the realities and challenges on the ground, which informs its research agenda, and the conduct of assessments. As one interviewee concluded, "If they continue [this careful approach to assessments] with NCA5, they [Pacific RISA] will become a real flagship in the Pacific.... like SPREP for disasters"⁹.

In considering the success of the Pacific RISA as a regional boundary organization effective in the NCA, a critical factor as described above—was a dedicated and full-time science-policy boundary spanning position, the Pacific Islands SAS (NOAA Regional Integrated Science Assessments (RISA) Program, 2021). The role of the SAS was central to building relationships and maintaining the PIRCA networks in the region over years, assessment products, and as partner organizations and administrations came and went, and is a necessary role for assessment success that can be transferred across regions.

CONCLUSION

The PIRCA is a decade-long case study illustrating the need, development, and benefit of sustaining an iterative process of building trusted relationships as the all-essential foundation for a collaborative climate assessment effort with researchers and practitioners in Hawai'i and the U.S. Affiliated Pacific Islands. Because of the expansive area, diverse cultures and geographies, colonial histories, and variation in the availability of peerreviewed literature and data, a nuanced approach to climate assessment was used that considered expertise, information, context, and outputs needed at different island scales. Regional and local climate assessment efforts that shift their methods or approach to meet the objectives and fit into the agendas of decision-making bodies in our experience go farther in their quest for user uptake than those efforts that remain detached from local governance and historical context.

Recent PIRCA activities demonstrate how regional assessment efforts can accelerate the flow and application of information from larger national and international climate assessments into local-level decision-making by relating key findings to local context and consolidating relevant information. In defining itself as a collaborative climate science boundary organization with a dedicated Sustained Assessment Specialist to coordinate and build relationships, the PIRCA is growing as a go-to trusted resource and as a network of actors that is essential for translating rigorous climate research and multiple forms of knowledge into relevant management and policy outcomes at local and regional levels. Our experience and the feedback received through the

⁹SPREP, the Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme, is a well-known intergovernmental organization headquartered in Apia, Sāmoa (see: https://www.sprep.org/about-us).

evaluation suggest that sustained and collaborative regional climate assessments can serve a key function in complementing major national and international assessments, by more effectively targeting information needs at local and regional climate adaptation and policymaking.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study involved human participants and thus were reviewed and approved by the East-West Center IRB. The study was found to be exempt, and thus participants were not required to provide their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VK and ZG conceived of the case study presented. VK developed the initial theory and established the framework, and ZG expanded upon and coordinated the project. VK, ZG, and SM planned the evaluation approach and developed the survey and interview questions collaboratively, integrated evaluation findings into the PIRCA process and products, and co-wrote the manuscript and provided critical insight into the findings. SM collected, analyzed the survey, and interview data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Agrawala, S., Broad, K., and Guston, D. H. (2001). Integrating climate forecasts and societal decision making: challenges to an emergent boundary organization. *Sci. Technol. Hum. Values.* 26, 454–477. doi: 10.1177/016224390102600404
- Aguon, J. (2021). To Hell With Drowning. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic. com/culture/archive/2021/11/oceania-pacific-climate-change-stories/620570/ (accessed November 1, 2021).
- Amitage, D., Berkes, F., Dale, A., Kocho-Schellenberg, E., and Patton, E. (2011). Co-management and the co-production of knowledge: Learning to adapt in Canada's Arctic. *Glob. Environ. Change* 21, 995–1004. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.04.006
- Annamalai, H., Keener, V. W., Widlansky, M. J., and Hafner, J. (2015). El Niño strengthens in the Pacific: Preparing for the impacts of drought. *AsiaPacific Issues*, 122. Honolulu, HI: East-West Center.
- Asifoa-Lagai, M. (2012). "Food Desert" American Sāmoa: Assessing Food Desert at School Locations. American Sāmoa Community College, Pago Pago, AS, 21. Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/10125/33963 (accessed May 25, 2022).
- Bedsworth, L., Cayan, D., Franco, G., Fisher, L., and Ziaja, S, (California Governor's Office of Planning and Research, Scripps Institution of Oceanography, California Energy Commission, California Public Utilities Commission). (2018). Statewide Summary Report. California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment. Publication number: SUMCCCA4-2018-013. Available online at: https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2019-11/Statewide_Reports-SUM-CCCA4-2018-013_Statewide_Summary_Report_ADA.pdf (accessed May 25, 2022).
- Bolson, J., and Broad, K. (2013). Early adoption of climate information: Lessons learned from south Florida water resources management. *Weather Clim. Soc.* 5, 266–281. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-12-00002.1

FUNDING

This ongoing work was supported by the NOAA Regional Integrated Sciences and Assessments (RISA) Program grants NA15OAR4310146 and NA20OAR4310146A, the East-West Center, and the DOI Pacific Islands Climate Adaptation Science Center grant G15AC00509.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The PIRCA is a collaborative network, and we acknowledge that the PIRCA reports were made possible through the collective efforts of the dozens of technical contributors, coordinating authors, and the PIRCA Advisory Committee. We thank them for providing their expertise, meeting facilities, writing and editing, figures and images, data analysis, facilitation, language translation services, and advice. We acknowledge the organizations that provided funding for and leadership in creating and sustaining the PIRCA network: the East-West Center, the NOAA RISA program, the PI-CASC, and the USGCRP. We also acknowledge the input from and thank the key informants and survey respondents who donated their time and insights during the evaluation to improve the sustained PIRCA process and outputs.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fclim. 2022.869760/full#supplementary-material

- Braun, A. (2021) "The Pandemic Showed What Can Be Done Without Parachute Science". *Hakai Magazine*. Available online at: https://www. smithsonianmag.com/science-nature/pandemic-showed-what-can-be-donewithout-parachute-science-180978024/ (accessed June 22, 2021).
- Buizer, J. L., Dow, K., Black, M. E., Jacobs, K. L., Waple, A., Moss, R. H., et al. (2016). Building a sustained climate assessment process. *Clim. Change* 135, 23–37. doi: 10.1007/s10584-015-1501-4
- Cash, D. W., Clark, W. C., Alcock, F., Dickson, M., Eckley, N., Guston, D. H., et al. (2003). Knowledge systems for sustainable development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 100, 8086–8091. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1231332100
- Chu, E., Anguelovski, I., and Carmin, J. (2016). Inclusive approaches to urban climate adaptation planning and implementation in the Global South. *Clim. Policy*. 16, 372–392. doi: 10.1080/14693062.2015.1019822
- Cocklin, C. (1999). Islands in the midst: environmental change, vulnerability, and security in the Pacific. In: Environmental change, adaptation, and security. Dordrecht: Springer. 141–159.
- Cooke, B., and Kothari, U. (2001). *Participation: the new tyranny?* London, New York: Zed Books.
- Couch, C. S., Burns, J. H. R., Liu, G., Steward, K., Gutlay, T. N., Kenyon, J., et al. (2017). Mass coral bleaching due to unprecedented marine heatwave in Papahānaumokuākea Marine National Monument (Northwestern Hawaiian Islands). *PloS ONE* 12, e0185121. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0185 121
- Daly, M., and Dilling, L. (2019). The politics of "usable" knowledge: examining the development of climate services in Tanzania. *Clim. Change* 157, 61–80. doi: 10.1007/s10584-019-02510-w
- Davis, L. F., and Ramirez-Andreotta, M. D. (2021). Participatory research for environmental justice: a critical interpretive synthesis. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 129, 026001. doi: 10.1289/EHP6274

Denton, G. R., Emborski, C. A., Habana, N. C., and Starmer, J. A. (2014). Influence of urban runoff, inappropriate waste disposal practices and World War II on the heavy metal status of sediments in the southern half of Saipan Lagoon, Saipan, CNMI. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 81, 276–281. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.01.014

Dilling, L., and Lemos, M. C. (2011). Creating usable science: opportunities and constraints for climate knowledge use and their implications for science policy. *Glob. Environ. Change* 21, 680–689. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2010.11.006

Finau, S., Finau, E., and Ofanoa, M. (2000). Research imperialism in Pacific health: the case of Tonga (1966 – 1997). *Pac. Health Dialog* 7, 109–14.

Finucane, M. L. (2009). Why Science Alone Won't Solve the Climate Crisis. AsiaPacific Issues, 89, 1–8. Honolulu HI: East-West Center. Available online at: https://www.eastwestcenter.org/system/tdf/private/api089.pdf?file= landtype=nodeandid=32356 (accessed May 25, 2022).

Flores, E., and Kihleng, E. (2019). Indigenous Literatures from Micronesia. Introduction. Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press.

Frazier, A. G., and Giambelluca, T. W. (2017). Spatial trend analysis of Hawaiian rainfall from 1920 to 2012. Int. J. Climatol. 37, 2522–2531. doi: 10.1002/joc.4862

Friedman, H. M. (1997). 'Races undesirable from a military point of view': United states cultural security in the Pacific Islands, 1945–1947. J. Pac. Hist. 32, 49–70. doi: 10.1080/00223349708572827

Gilbert, H. E. (2018). Typhoon Victims Get Access to Drinking Water Converted From Seawater. *Pacific Daily News*. Available online at: https://www. guampdn.com/news/local/typhoon-victims-get-access-to-drinking-waterconverted-from-seawater/article_7593cc43-ccf3-5042-8dc2-2f16329a645c. html (accessed October 31, 2018).

Grecni, Z., Miles, W., Greene, R., Derrington, E., and Keener, V. (2021). Climate Change in the Commonwealth of the Northern Marianas Islands: Indicators and Considerations for Key Sectors. Report for the Pacific Islands Regional Climate Assessment. Honolulu, HI: East-West Center.

Grecni, Z., Miles, W., King, R., Frazier, A., and Keener, V. (2020). Climate Change in Guam: Indicators and Considerations for Key Sectors. Report for the Pacific Islands Regional Climate Assessment. Honolulu, HI: East-West Center.

Green Climate Fund (GCF). (2020). Updated Strategic Plan for the Green Climate Fund 2020-2023. Green Climate Fund Documentation, Republic of Korea, 18. Available online at:https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/document/updated-strategic-plan-green-climate-fund-2020-2023.pdf (accessed May 25, 2022).

Gustafsson, K. M., and Lidskog, R. (2018). Boundary organizations and environmental governance: Performance, institutional design, and conceptual development. *Clim. Risk Manag.* 19, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2017.11.001

Guston, D. H. (1999). Stabilizing the Boundary between US Politics and Science: the role of the Office of Technology Transfer as a Boundary Organization. *Soc. Stud. Sci.* 29, 87–111. doi: 10.1177/030631299029001004

Halofsky, J. E., Peterson, D. L., and Marcinkowski, K. W. (2015). Climate Change Adaptation in United States Federal Natural Resource Science and Management Agencies: A Synthesis. Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program.

IPCC. (2014). "Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change," in *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change*, eds Edenhofer, O., Pichs-Madruga, R., Sokona, Y., Farahani, E., Kadner, S., Seyboth, K., et al. United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

IPCC. (2018). "Global Warming of 1.5° C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5° C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, eds V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H. -O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P. R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J. B. R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M. I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. Waterfield (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press).

IPCC. (2021). "Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change," in *Climate Change* 2021: The Physical Science Basis. eds Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S.L., Péan, C., Berger, S., et al. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

IPCC. (2022). "Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change," in *Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability.* eds H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E. S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press). In Press.

Jacobs, K., Garfin, G., and Lenart, M. (2005). More than just talk: connecting science and decisionmaking. *Environment*, 47, 6–21, doi: 10.3200/ENVT.47.9.6-21

Jedra, C. (2022). Lawmakers: Red Hill Fuel Leaked Into Well Through A Pipeline Navy Didn't Know Existed. *Civil Beat.* Available online at: https://www. civilbeat.org/2022/01/lawmakers-red-hill-fuel-leaked-into-well-through-apipeline-navy-didnt-know-existed/

Kaur, A. (2020a). Senators pass 13 bills during session Monday. *Pacific Daily News*. Available online at: https://www.guampdn.com/story/news/local/2020/10/19/ senators-passed-13-bills-during-session-Monday/3706740001/ (accessed May 11, 2022).

Kaur, A. (2020b). Session resumes Monday morning; animal welfare, aquifer protections up for vote. *Pacific Daily News*. Available online at: https:// www.guampdn.com/news/local/session-resumes-Monday-morning-animalwelfare-aquifer-protections-up-for-vote/article_a854a229-3d23-5fde-9c8e-72db3dd47521.html (accessed May 11, 2022).

Keener, V., Grecni, Z., Shuler, C., Anderson Tagarino, K., and Miles, W. (2021). Climate Change in American Sāmoa: Indicators and Considerations for Key Sectors. Report for the Pacific Islands Regional Climate Assessment. Honolulu, HI: East-West Center.

Keener, V., Helweg, D., Asam, S., Balwani, S., Burkett, M., Fletcher, C., et al. (2018). "Hawai'i and U.S.-Affiliated Pacific Islands," in *Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume II*, eds Reidmiller, D. R., Avery, C. W., Easterling, K. E., Kunkel, K. E., Lewis, K. L. M., Maycock, T. K., et al. (Washington, DC, USA: U.S. Global Change Research Program), 1242–1308.

Keener, V., Marra, J. J., Finucane, M. L., Spooner, D., and Smith, M. H. (2012). Climate Change and Pacific Islands: Indicators and Impacts. Report for the 2012 Pacific Islands Regional Climate Assessment. Washington, DC: Island Press.

Lemos, M. C., Arnott, J. C., Ardoin, N. M., Baja, K., Bednarek, A. T., Dewulf, A., et al. (2018). To co-produce or not to co-produce. *Nat. Sustain.* 1, 722–724. doi: 10.1038/s41893-018-0191-0

Lemos, M. C., Kalafatis, S. E., Scavia, D., and Rood, R. B. (2014). Moving climate information off the shelf: Boundary chains and the role of RISAs as adaptive organizations. *Weather Clim. Soc.* 6, 273–285, doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-13-00044.1

Lemos, M. C., Kirchhoff, C. J., and Ramprasad, V. (2012). Narrowing the climate information usability gap. *Nat. Clim. Change* 2, 789–793. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1614

Lemos, M. C., and Morehouse, B. J. (2005). The co-production of science and policy in integrated climate assessments. *Glob. Environ. Change*, 15, 57–68, doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2004.09.004

Lett, E., Adekunle, D., McMurray, P., Asabor, E. N., Irie, W., Simon, M. A., et al. (2022). Health equity tourism: ravaging the justice landscape. J. Med. Syst. 46, 17. doi: 10.1007/s10916-022-01803-5

Leung, P. S., and Loke, M. (2008). Economic Impacts of Improving Hawaii's Food Self-sufficiency. EI-16. Economic Impacts, EI-16. University of Hawai'i at Manoa, College of Tropical Agriculture and Human Resources, Manoa, HI, 7. Abailable online at: http://hdl.handle.net/10125/12200 (accessed May 25, 2022).

Limtiaco, S. (2021). Task force discusses insurance for Tumon Bay reef. Pacific Daily News. Available online at: https://www.guampdn.com/story/news/2021/ 01/21/task-force-discusses-insurance-tumon-bay-reef/4240506001 (accessed May 11, 2022).

Marutani, M., Brown, J., Cruz, F., and Wall, J. (1997). Agricultural Crop Production on Guam during the 20th century. *Micronesica.* 30, 389–415. Available online at: https://micronesica.org/sites/default/files/6_-_ marutaniocr_1.pdf

MCC STS. (2020). Scientific Assessment of Climate Change and Its Effects in Maine. A Report by the Scientific and Technical Subcommittee (STS) of the Maine Climate Council (MCC). Augusta, Maine, 370. Available online at: https://climatecouncil.maine.gov/future/sites/maine.gov.future/files/inlinefiles/GOPIF_STS_REPORT_092320.pdf (accessed May 25, 2022).

McNie, E. C. (2008). Co-producing useful climate science for policy: Lessons from the RISA Program (Ph.D. dissertation). University of Colorado, Boulder, 276. https://www.proquest.com/docview/304639742/74FC053F24D94247PQ/ 1 (accessed May 25, 2022).

- McNie, E. C. (2013). Delivering climate services: Organizational strategies and approaches for producing useful climate-science information. *Weather Clim.* Soc. 5, 14–26, doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-11-00034.1
- Meadow, A. M. (2017). An Ethnohistory of the NOAA RISA Program. University of Arizona, Institute of the Environment. Tucson, AZ. Available online at: https://climas.arizona.edu/publication/report/ethnohistory-noaarisa-program (accessed May 25, 2022).
- Meadow, A. M., Ferguson, D. B., Guido, Z., Horangic, A., Owen, G., and Wall, T. (2015). Moving toward the deliberate coproduction of climate science knowledge. *Weather Clim.*, Soc. 7, 179–191. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-14-00050.1
- Meadow, A. M., and Owen, G. (2021). Planning and Evaluating the Societal Impacts of Climate Change Research Project: A Guidebook for Natural and Physical Scientists Looking to Make a Difference. The University of Arizona, Tuscon, AZ. https://repository.arizona.edu/handle/10150/658313 (accessed May 25, 2022).
- Miles, W., Grecni, Z., Matsutaro, P., Colin, P., Keener, V., and Golbuu, Y. (2020). *Climate Change in Palau: Indicators and Considerations for Key Sectors*. Report for the Pacific Islands Regional Climate Assessment. Honolulu, HI: East-West Center.
- Moser, S. (2016). Can science on transformation transform science? Lessons from co-design. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 20, 106–115, doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2016.10.007
- Moser, S. C. (2013). PIRCA Evaluation: Development, Delivery, and Traceable Impacts – with particular emphasis on the contributions of the Pacific RISA. Susanne Moser Research and Consulting, Santa Cruz CA. Available online at: https://www.pacificrisa.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/PIRCA-Evaluation_PRISA_Yr3_final.pdf (accessed May 6, 2022).
- Moser, S. C. (2022). Evaluation of the Second PIRCA: Development, Delivery, Traceable Impacts, and Role of the Pacific RISA. Hadley, MA: Susanne Moser Research and Consulting.
- Moss, R. H., Avery, S., Baja, K., Burkett, M., Chischilly, A. M., Dell, J., et al. (2019). Evaluating knowledge to support climate action: a framework for sustained assessment. report of an independent advisory committee on applied climate assessment. Weather Clim. Soc. 11, 465–487. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-18-0134.1
- National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine. (2021). Motivating Local Climate Adaptation and Strengthening Resilience: Making Local Data Trusted, Useful, and Used. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- New, M., Reckien, D., Viner, D., Adler, C., Cheon, S. M., Conde, C., et al. (2022). "Decision Making Options for Managing Risk," in *Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability*. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds Pörtner, H. O., Roberts, D.C., Tignor, M., Poloczanska, E.S., Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., et al. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. In Press.
- NOAA Climate Program Office (2020). Palau Faces Stronger Storms, Hotter Weather, and Threats to Ecosystems, Says New Pacific RISA-led Climate Change Report. NOAA Climate Program Office News. Available online at: https://cpo.noaa.gov/News/ArtMID/7875/ArticleID/2061/Palau-Faces-Stronger-Storms-Hotter-Weather-and-Threats-to-Ecosystems-Says-New-Pacific-RISA-led-Climate-Change-Report (accessed May 11, 2022).
- NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. (2020). *State of the Climate: Global Climate Report for Annual 2019.* Avaiable online at: https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/sotc/global/201913/supplemental/page-4 (accessed January 23, 2022).
- NOAA Regional Integrated Science and Assessments (RISA) Program. (2021). *The RISA Sustained Assessment Specialist Network*. Available online at: https://www. pacificrisa.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/sustained_assessment_handout_ oct21.pdf (accessed May 6, 2022).
- Nugent, A. D., Longman, R., Trauernicht, C., Lucas, M., Diaz, H. F., and Giambelluca, T. W. (2020). Fire and rain: The legacy of Hurricane Lane in Hawai'i. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 101, E954–E967. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-19-0104.1
- Overton, J., Murray, W. E., Prinsen, G., Ulu, A. J., and Wrighton, N. N. (2018). Aid, Ownership and Development: The inverse sovereignty effect in the Pacific Islands. London: Routledge.
- Pacific Daily News Staff. (2020). Guam faces host of issues due to climate change. *Pacific Daily News*. Available online at: https://www.guampdn.com/story/news/ local/2020/11/10/university-of-guam-climate-change-gov-leon-guerrero-usepa/6230863002/ (accessed May 11, 2022).

- Parris, A.S., Garfin, G.M., Dow, K., Meyer, R., and Close, S.L. (2016). Science and Society Partnering for Adaptation, 1st edition, Chichester: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd.
- Poyer, L. (1991). Micronesian Experiences of the War in the Pacific. Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/10125/15555 (accessed May 25, 2022).
- Prokopy, L. S., and Power, R. (2015). Envisioning new roles for land-grant university extension: Lessons learned from climate change in the Midwest. J. Ext. 53, 26. Available online at: https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/joe/vol53/iss6/ 26
- Public Law 35-107 (2020). (Guam). Available online at: https://www. guamlegislature.com/Public_Laws_35th/P.L.%20No.%2035-107.pdf (accessed May 6, 2022).
- Public Law 35-134 (2021). (Guam). Available online at: https://www. guamlegislature.com/Public_Laws_35th/P.L.%20No.%2035-134.pdf (accessed May 6, 2022).
- Public Law 35-141 (2021). (Guam). Available online at: https://www. guamlegislature.com/Public_Laws_35th/P.L.%20No.%2035-141.pdf (accessed May 6, 2022).
- Pulwarty, R. S., and Redmond, K. T. (1997). Climate and salmon restoration in the Columbia River basin: the role and usability of seasonal forecasts. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 78, 381–38. doi: 10.1175/1520-0477(1997)078<0381:CASRIT>2.0.CO;2
- Raes, F., and Swart, R. (2007). Climate Assessment: What's Next? Science 318, 1386. doi: 10.1126/science.1147873
- Raymond, C., Horton, R. M., Zscheischler, J., Martius, O., AghaKouchak, A., Balch, J., et al. (2020). Understanding and managing connected extreme events. *Nat. Clim. Change* 10, 611–621. https:// doi: 10.1038/s41558-020-0790-4
- Reed, M. S. (2008). Stakeholder participation for environmental management: a literature review. *Biol. Conserv.* 141, 2417–2431. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2008.07.014
- Seneviratne, S. I., Zhang, X., Adnan, M., Badi, W., Dereczynski, C., Di Luca, A., et al. (2021). "Weather and climate extreme events in a changing climate," in *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S.L., Péan, C., Berger, S., et al, (United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, Cambridge), 1513–1766.
- Shea, M. M., Painter, J., and Osaka, S. (2020). Representations of Pacific Islands and climate change in US, UK, and Australian newspaper reporting. *Clim. Change* 161:89–108. doi: 10.1007/s10584-020-02674-w
- Simon, S. L. (1997). A brief history of people and events related to atomic weapons testing in the Marshall Islands. *Health Phys.* 73, 5–20. doi: 10.1097/00004032-199707000-00001
- Taylor, M., McGregor, A., and Dawson, B. (2016). Vulnerability of Pacific Island Agriculture and Forestry to Climate Change. Pacific Community (SPC). Available online at: https://www.sprep.org/attachments/VirLib/Regional/ vulnerability-pacific-island-agriculture-forestry-climate-change.pdf (accessed May 25, 2022).
- The Office of Sen. Sabina Perez and Bureau of Statistics and Plans' Guam Coastal Management Program. (2020). Senator Introduces Bill to Combat Destructive Wildfires Spread by Arson. Pacific Daily News. Available online at: https:// www.guampdn.com/archives/senator-introduces-bill-to-combat-destructivewildfires-spread-by-arson/article_149f4d04-ce06-55b2-821b-0d7f76086650. html (accessed May 11, 2022).
- The World Bank. (2013). Acting on Climate Change and Disaster Risk for the Pacific, 16. Available online at: https://www.worldbank.org/content/dam/Worldbank/ document/EAP/Pacific%20Islands/climate-change-pacific.pdf (accessed May 25, 2022).
- U.S. Congress, House, Committee on Natural Resources. (2021). Full Committee Hearing: Discussion on the Insular Area Climate Change Act: Hearing before the U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Natural Resources. 117th Cong. Testimony of Zena Grecni. Available online at: https://docs.house. gov/meetings/II/II00/20210304/111268/HHRG-117-II00-Wstate-GrecniZ-20210304.pdf (accessed May 6, 2022).
- USGCRP. (2012). The National Global Change Research Plan 2012- 2021: A Strategic Plan for the U. S. Global Change Research Program (USGCRP). U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, USA, 152. Available online at: https://downloads.globalchange.gov/strategic-plan/2012/ usgcrp-strategic-plan-2012.pdf (accessed May 25, 2022).

- USGCRP. (2016). The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment, eds Crimmins, A., Balbus, J., Gamble, J.L., Beard, C.B., Bell, J.E., Dodgen, D., et al. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 312. Available online at: http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/ J0R49NQX doi: 10.7930/J0R49NQX (accessed May 6, 2022).
- USGCRP. (2017). Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume 1 I, eds Wuebbles, D.J., Fahey, D.W., Hibbard, K.A., Dokken, D.J., Stewart, B.C., and Maycock, T.K. (Washington, DC, USA: U.S. Global Change Research Program), 470.
- USGCRP. (2018). Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume II, eds Reidmiller, D.R., Avery, C.W., Easterling, D.R., Kunkel, K.E., Lewis, K.L.M., Maycock, T.K., and Stewart, B.C. (Washington, DC, USAP: U.S. Global Change Research Program), 1515.
- Vitousek, S., Barnard, P. L., Fletcher, C. H., Frazer, N., Erikson, L., and Storlazzi, C. D. (2017). Doubling of coastal flooding frequency within decades due to sea-level rise. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 1399. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01362-7
- Wall, T. U., Meadow, A. M., and Horganic, A. (2017). Developing evaluation indicators to improve the process of coproducing usable climate science. *Weather Clim. Soc.* 9, 95–107. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-16-0008.1
- Yamada, S., and Akiyama, M. (2013). "For the good of mankind": The legacy of nuclear testing in Micronesia. Soc. Med. 8, 83–92. Available online at: https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/266938236
- Ziaja, S. (2019). Role of knowledge networks and boundary organizations in coproduction: a short history of a decision-support tool and model for

adapting multiuse reservoir and water-energy governance to climate change in California. *Weather Clim. Soc.* 11, 823–49. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-19-0007.1

Conflict of Interest: SM was employed by Susanne Moser Research & Consulting.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Keener, Grecni and Moser. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Water AND Heat: Intervening in Adaptation Hazard Bias

Janice Barnes¹ and Kirstin Dow^{2*}

¹ Climate Adaptation Partners, New York, NY, United States, ² Department of Geography, College of Arts and Sciences, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States

After centuries of adapting to coastal living, increases in stormwater and tidal flooding events, along with projected sea level rise, led Charleston, South Carolina, USA to define flooding as an existential threat to the city. With billions of planned flood management projects underway, and additional billions of federal disaster flood recovery funds allocated to the State of South Carolina, the Governor's office established a South Carolina Office of Resilience in September 2020, with a focus on water management. The City of Charleston developed its own Flooding and Sea Level Rise Strategy. Simultaneously, the fourth National Climate Assessment pointed to heat health risks and projected costs of lost labor productivity concentrated in the Southeast, yet local recognition of heat as an equivalent threat to flooding was not apparent. Although Charleston's All Hazards Vulnerability Assessment included extreme heat as a significant hazard, without a group focused on heat, ongoing work in the city continued to prioritize water management as annual flood events rapidly escalated. This narrow adaptation framing was further solidified as funding focused on flood recovery and adaptation and technical experts worked within water-related boundaries. These interacting forces led to Hazard Bias, an inherent organizational process of reinforcing focus on a single hazard in the context of compound, complex hazard risks. To adapt to increasing heat, Charleston will need to raise compound risk awareness and adjust its capital investments in resilience to be inclusive of heat mitigation and adaptation as well as water. Yet in 2020 Charleston lacked basic urban heat data, technical expertise, and a strong source of motivation to develop a prioritization approach for recognizing multiple risks and complementary adaptation opportunities in those investments. Recognizing the inherent bias, a new coalition of heat researchers, practitioners, and health experts launched a tripartite heat-health research program and spurred the development of a new heat network in Charleston. The network reduced hazard bias by raising heat-health risk awareness and by intervening in adaptation planning to broaden water-only considerations to be inclusive of water AND heat. This paper provides a detailed case study how the intersections of multiple networks, messengers, and messages contributed to broadening the local resilience agenda from a "hazard bias" and how the lessons learned during this transformative process further reveal health inequities.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Scott Kalafatis, Chatham University, United States

Reviewed by:

Kripa Jagannathan, Berkeley Lab (DOE), United States David Eisenhauer, Bennington College, United States

> *Correspondence: Kirstin Dow kdow@sc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Predictions and Projections, a section of the journal Frontiers in Climate

Received: 01 February 2022 Accepted: 06 June 2022 Published: 29 June 2022

Citation:

Barnes J and Dow K (2022) Water AND Heat: Intervening in Adaptation Hazard Bias. Front. Clim. 4:868017. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2022.868017

Keywords: hazard bias, climate adaptation, extreme heat, health inequities, flood management

INTRODUCTION

Charleston, South Carolina, centered on a peninsula at the confluence where the Ashley and Cooper Rivers join the Atlantic Ocean, is one of the oldest cities in the USA. For its 300 plus years, the rivers and ocean have been obvious dominant physical influences in where and how the city developed. The battery walls were constructed to protect the lower part of the peninsula from the ocean waves; low-lying areas were filled to create more space to build, and a major port connected Charleston to global trade. The climate, with the exception of hurricanes, was a lesser factor. Years of drainage, pumping and piping enabled former swampland to become habitable while the wealthiest Charlestonians escaped summer heat by traveling inland to the cooler Blue Ridge mountains.

Fast forward to 2010 (or so) and after centuries of adapting to the coast, awareness of Charleston's relation to the sea was shifting to a focus on the threats posed by rising relative sea levels and the increasing frequency of tidal flooding. Tidal flooding events that had occurred an average of <1 time/year in 1920s were occurring an average of 42 times per year [National Weather Service (NWS), 2022b]. Globally, temperatures were also rising, but local temperature change did not elicit dramatic concerns. The sultry summer weather was normal. Rather, the increase in sunny day flooding and the prediction of further sea level rise motivated Mayor John Tecklenburg to consider flooding as an "existential threat to the city" and prompted the US Army Corps of Engineers to propose an estimated \$1.4 billion sea wall to provide additional protection to Charleston's peninsula, the heart of its economy. Paired with nearly \$2 billion of Federal Disaster Recovery funds allocated to the State of South Carolina from 2015 to 2021, much of which was directed to coastal counties, and nearly all of which focused on flood recovery, funding was clearly not the primary problem, but instead, it was recognition of heat as an significant threat.

Still, in other cities and many research fields, heat was receiving more attention with findings relevant to Charleston. The fourth National Climate Assessment [US Global Change Research Program (USGCRP), 2018] pointed to heat health risks and projected costs of lost labor productivity concentrated in the Southeast. Research in North Carolina highlighted the increased odds of pregestational births associated with days of high temperatures but less than heatwave conditions (Ward et al., 2019). Moreover, concern over energy insecurity as a dimension of poverty was rising in association with heating and with cooling (Hernández, 2016). The Union of Concerned Scientists (2019) projected that Charleston-North Charleston would go from a historical average (1971-2000) of 74 days above 90°F/year to 123 such days/year by midcentury (2016-2065) under current emissions trends. The COVID 19 pandemic was making the depth of racial health disparities associated with these hazards and exposures more visible (Phillips et al., 2021).

Situated in this context, this paper reflects our shared experiences in how the intersections of multiple networks, messengers, and messages contributed to broadening the local resilience agenda from a "hazard bias" toward flooding to be inclusive of heat and how the lessons learned during this transformative, focus widening process further reveal health inequities. Hazard bias is the inherent organizational problem of single hazard focus in the context of compound and connected hazard risks (Barnes and Temko, 2022). For Charleston, compound and connected hazard risks include the coincidence of hurricane/storm and heat seasons (Zscheischler et al., 2018; Raymond et al., 2020). Hazard bias appears to stem from the combination of (1) disparate lived experiences and their histories reinforced by (2) the focus of disaster declaration typologies and associated funding, and (3) the siloing and reinforcement of depth over breadth of technical expertise (Barnes and Temko, 2022). This paper offers an application of this new concept as a way of identifying an inherent challenge in climate adaptation planning.

While each of these factors has been identified individually as a barrier to adaptation, the reinforcing feedbacks among them have received less attention. A narrowly focused adaptation process has the potential to result in investments that neglect opportunities to address the risks to the historically underserved and socially vulnerable communities and miss chances to take advantage of complementarity and reduce competition among adaptation strategies.

In the Charleston context, being from an underserved and socially vulnerable community almost serves as a proxy to heat-health risks as census tracts with low canopy cover map closely to those with high values on the Center for Disease Control Social Vulnerability Index (City of Charleston, 2021a). Such environmental injustice amplifies inequities, including inequitable exposure to extreme heat and limited resources to deal with such exposures (Hoffman's, 2017; Hoffman et al., 2020; Hsu et al., 2021). While the body of literature on extreme heat and health continues to grow alongside global temperatures, there's more to do to raise awareness and to substantively adjust public investments to be more inclusive of heat mitigation and adaptation strategies (Keith et al., 2019).

Herein, we describe the intertwined efforts required to overcome hazard bias in Charleston, recognizing the escalating risks of heat alongside flooding, and the pathways taken to date. This case study offers concrete examples and lessons learned, including ways of seeing risks more fully, of understanding inequities as risk magnifiers, and the types of collaborations necessary to do so. While progress was made in increasing the awareness of heat threats and patterns of vulnerability, it is not yet clear if the actions taken to address the threats will focus on the needs of socially vulnerable and historically marginalized communities. Future efforts to design and implement adaptation strategies will still require distributive and procedural justice and equity as central guiding concepts.

CHARLESTON'S CLIMATE CONCERNS

Charleston's first major climate change planning effort was the "2015 Sea Level Rise Plan", followed by a second edition, titled "Flooding and Sea Level Rise" in 2019 with mentions of trees for flood and heat mitigation (City of Charleston, 2015, 2019b). In 2020, the City of Charleston completed its first City Vulnerability

Water AND Heat

Assessment (City of Charleston/Fernleaf Interactive, 2020) which identified extreme heat as a significant current and growing future climate risk consistent with the highest confidence level in IPCC Sixth Assessment Report [Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), 2021]. According to the US Climate Resilience Toolkit (USCRT), the City expects to have triple its current number of extreme heat days by the end of the century [US Climate Resilience Toolkit (USCRT), 2022], but has no designated financial resources for heat adaptation as compared to its flooding and sea level rise projects [City of Charleston, 2022a,b; US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE), 2022]. While the 2022 approved General Operations Budget acknowledges the need for warming shelters, specifies funding, and identifies non-profit collaborations to provide such shelters during winter months, there are no reciprocal budget items for cooling shelters in summer months (City of Charleston, 2022a, p. 215). In fact, there are no mentions of extreme heat management in the 2022 budget.

Compounding this financial challenge, many in the South assume heat is manageable as the presumption of "it's always been hot here" may undermine the ability to meaningfully address heat. Howe et al. (2019) found that on a scale of 0– 100 (low to high), residents of Charleston County, on average, reported ranking extreme heat event risks at 41, one point above the national average. At the national level, this research also reported that, consistent with differences in the vulnerability of residents, responses from poorer neighborhoods and those with larger minority populations generally have higher perception of extreme heat risks than wealthier neighborhoods with more white residents (Howe et al., 2019).

While daily heat exposures are distinct from heat waves, heat is the nation's deadliest weather-related risk (Figure 1). The NWS [National Centers for Environmental Information (NCEI), 2022] identified nine days with "excessive heat" events in Charleston between 1996 and 2020, defining excessive heat as a combination of high temperatures and high humidity (which together form a heat index) that can impact human health [National Weather Service (NWS), 2020]. An excessive heat event is recorded/reported when heat indices "meet or exceed locally/regionally established excessive heat warning thresholds" (Strassberg and Sowko, 2021). The recent and less publicized wet bulb globe temperature climatology for the Southeast indicates that Charleston averages between 10 and 15 days a year with at least 1 h of temperatures above the black flag level at which point, the US Army guidance indicates that heavy work be reduced to 15 min accompanied by 45 min rest.

Community members rely on air conditioning, the ability to afford it, and a stable power grid to cope. Unfortunately, those with less means struggle with energy security, including access to air conditioning or affordability of energy, increasing health disparities, and impacting heat-related co-morbidities among more vulnerable populations (Hernández, 2016; Jessel et al., 2019). Moreover, those who suffer most have the least visibility as evidenced in the documentation of energy poverty in Charleston County [CISA, Carolinas Integrated Sciences and Assessments, 2019b; Texas Energy Poverty Research Institute (TEPRI) and Southeast Energy Efficiency Alliance (SEEA), 2021]. While in recent years there have been efforts to provide some senior citizens with air conditioners, to better weatherize homes, and to help with energy bills, these short-term solutions lack comprehensiveness and do not solve Charleston's growing heat problems (City of Charleston/Fernleaf Interactive, 2020).

To stave off worsening conditions for those most vulnerable, Charleston should raise compound risk awareness and adjust its capital investments to be inclusive of heat mitigation and adaptation. Yet in 2020, Charleston lacked basic urban heat data, technical expertise, and a strong source of motivation to develop a prioritization approach recognizing multiple risks, differential susceptibility, and complementary adaptation opportunities in for those investments to serve those most vulnerable to extreme heat. Although Charleston's Vulnerability Assessment identified extreme heat as a hazard, including much of the city as medium to high impact areas, extreme heat was not the focal point of the assessment and deeper technical analyses were not included (City of Charleston/Fernleaf Interactive, 2020). The screening level GIS analysis overlaid the number of households with members over 65 and number of households living below the poverty line with percentage canopy cover at the census tract level (City of Charleston/Fernleaf Interactive, 2020). Charleston's flood-related issues were, and remain, priorities, given their growing incidences and the capital and operational costs associated with those incidences. In turn, there were no motivating programs, project proposals, or other incentives geared toward recognizing the parallel growing threat of extreme heat and the potential for co-beneficial solutions alongside water management. Without such support and incentives, there were no technical experts retained to address heat alongside flooding concerns nor inclusion of heat mitigation in proposals for water management. Instead of including heat risk considerations in ongoing discussions about water management, particularly where green infrastructure solutions might offer multi-benefit strategies and where consideration of heat vulnerability might include more socially vulnerable areas, water management was the hazard focus. Exploring the cultural, economic, and technical constructs that lead to Hazard Bias provides insights to the changes required for such prioritization to occur. Framing this exploration, Figure 2 illustrates how the interactions among Disparate Impacts, Funding Availability, and Technical Expertise, become filters that restrict which hazards become the resultant investment priorities in cities.

Disparate Impacts

The impacts of heat and flooding are distributed differently among entities in the Charleston area. While there is little specific documentation about heat impacts in Charleston, there is considerable relevant research documenting differences in vulnerability for individuals based on health and exposure. The impacts of recurrent flooding on individuals and the City itself are much better documented locally and nationally.

For those with the means to cool their homes and businesses through air conditioning and weatherization, for whom the cost of energy is not a burden, and for those with the choice and means to relocate away from risky areas should the need arise, heat risks are less apparent. In the city's 350+ year





history, that has always been the case. However, for those whose daily work exposes them to extreme heat (outdoor workers, un-air-conditioned warehouse workers), whose co-morbidities exacerbate their reactions to extreme heat exposure [Global Heat Health Information Network (GHHIN), 2022], whose personal decision-making lacks informed awareness of, or choice to avoid, heat risks, extreme heat represents material risks to life and livelihood.

Exposure to extreme heat impacts people in Charleston in differing ways. For example, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, Charleston welcomed over 7 million tourists annually (College of Charleston, 2019a). Tourists represent a vulnerable group as many are unacclimated to Charleston's warmer weather. Comparatively public transit riders are better acclimated as they are primarily local residents who rely on public transit due to limited access to personal vehicles or due to incentive programs by employers, such as the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC), or the College of Charleston which encourage public transit ridership given their focus on emissions reductions and due to parking constraints on Charleston's peninsula (College of Charleston, 2019b; Medical University of South Carolina, n.d.). While these local groups are relatively better off than tourists, waiting at transit stops still results in additional heat exposures.

Heat health impacts, such as those captured by emergency responder data or heat-related mortality, are not yet well tracked or discussed regionally although more recent research on the public health burden of extreme heat, and on energy insecurity as a proxy for heat-health risk, continues to improve shared understanding (Burkart et al., 2021). While some local groups help senior citizens to weatherize homes and obtain air conditioners (Sustainability Institute, 2022; Project Cool Breeze, n.d.) these efforts are relatively small compared to the scale of Charleston's need and receive scant attention compared to its risks. For example, in 2016, the Post and Courier, Charleston's local newspaper, interviewed an emergency medicine physician who described child athletes dying every year from exposure to extreme heat, arguably the most understandable heat-health risk in regional discussions Johnson (2016). Yet this same article referenced research from Fisher, Sheehan, and Colton (2017) noting South Carolina's low-income families spend up to ¼ of their household income on energy. However, to date, there has been no other structured research to reveal these challenges, such as the comparison of LIHEAP (Low-Income Home Energy Assistance) recipient locations, flood-prone areas, and public transit ridership, a key set of interrelated indicators and proxies that could shed light on the compound risk areas and the opportunities for greater integration of heat into water management planning. Thus far, the research team has relied on these reports alongside the described data collection, recognizing that to truly understand the impacts of living with extreme heat, the next phases of research must delve into communities directly and learn more through their stories.

Comparatively, with chronic flooding from cloudburst events that lead to flooding of inland streets, high tides, and King Tides, storm surge flooding at the coast, and increasing sea levels and groundwater, Charlestonians' experience several types of water hazards is well documented. The City's 2015 Sea Level

Strategy emphasized that "by 2045, the City is projected to face nearly 180 tidal floods a year" (City of Charleston, 2015, p. 1). The City of Charleston estimates that each flood event that affects the Hwy.17 Septima Clark Parkway-cross town highway costs \$12.4 million (in 2009 dollars). The City further projects \$1.53 billion in gross damages and lost wages taking into account impacts on long-term job creation; restricted access to commercial properties and medical centers; impacted tourism and business activity, lost productivity spent navigating flooded areas; and extensive police resources focused on damaged and "rescued" vehicles (City of Charleston, 2015). The report of the City of Charleston's Special Commission on Equity, Inclusion, and Racial Conciliation (2021:23b) includes a section on Health Disparities and Environmental Justice which includes multiple long-term goals to improve health and specifies, "Prioritize flood mitigation strategies that address racial equity and environmental justice" as a long-term goal but does not mention heat. These futures emphasize water priorities for the majority and the historically underserved even as a minority cannot afford to cool their homes and lack alternatives, such as cooling centers, for respite.

Unsurprisingly, as illustrated in the map comparison of Charleston's surface temperatures with life expectancy, social vulnerability, and income, Charlestonian's engrained inequities represent a chronic backdrop to the experience of extreme heat (**Figure 3**). Understanding the linkages between vulnerability and poverty, as well as individual and community capacities to cope, requires a deeper understanding of inherent societal inequities and their interrelatedness to disaster risk responses and to governance approaches lacking contextual, procedural, and distributional equity (Eriksen et al., 2007; Lavell et al., 2012; Marino and Ribot, 2012).

Disaster Declarations

As of January 2022, there have been no federally declared heat disasters anywhere in the United States or its territories even though, since 1991, heat-related fatalities far outpace those by any other disaster, sans COVID-19, in the United States [**Figure 1**; Federal Emergency Management Administration (FEMA), 2022]. Instead, drought is commonly designated, reinforcing the focus on capital loss [NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information (NCEI), 2022].

While the majority of recovery funding in the United States is federally appropriated, following the 1948 Midwest flood and the subsequent development of the Disaster Relief Fund, this is not the only source of disaster funding. States and Local governments also fund recovery. However, the Federal Disaster Declaration and associated appropriation is the modern funding mechanism for the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, passed in 1988, that, today, structures much of the Nation's disaster recovery and mitigation efforts (Painter, 2022). These emergency or disaster declarations, form the foundation of FEMA's disaster response programs and, as well, responses managed by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) (Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, 1988).



Since 1953, there have been 4,632 discrete emergency or major disaster declarations in the United States or its territories [Federal Emergency Management Administration (FEMA), 2022] and each is classified by the perceived threat causing an economic loss. Recovery and/or mitigation funds are then earmarked to address specific economic losses, typically biased toward capital asset losses, specific to the designated event. While this process makes sense in the context of Congress' role in managing the appropriation of public funds, the bias of disaster declarations toward capital loss associated with a discrete event does little to address other compounding, complex risks and their associated (not necessarily economic) costs. In the case of heat, the systemic issues here are substantive. As (Keith et al., 2019, p. 2) note, heat risks are "distinct than [sic] other climate risks for multiple reasons, including the historic lack of governance and legal regulatory structures."

In the state of South Carolina, storms, wildfires, and COVID-19 comprise all declarations in the last decade. Without a disaster declaration, there are no federal recovery funds [Federal Emergency Management Administration (FEMA), 2022]. Without recovery funds, the choice for capital project improvements relies on state and local government interests, and to date, those have not focused on heat.

The reason for alternative foci is clear as since 2015, \$1.8 billion in recovery funds followed the multiple disaster declarations for storm recovery alone in South Carolina (The Nature Conservancy Southern Environmental Law Center, 2022). In parallel, the Governor of South Carolina appointed a statewide Floodwater Commission to focus on storm-related flooding (State of South Carolina, 2021). The State of South Carolina Office of Resilience (SCOR) intends to emphasize flooding in its first statewide resilience plan as was specified in the authorizing legislation and South Carolina remains in recovery mode from 2015 storms as of January 2022 (Disaster Relief and Resilience Act, Title 48, Chapter 62, 2020, State of South Carolina, 2022). All subsequent disaster-declaration recovery works are also in process including those related to COVID-19 recovery. At this same time, the US Army Corps of Engineers is in the midst of a 3×3 (3 years and under \$3 million) study for a Storm Surge Barrier for Charleston [US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE), 2022]. In parallel, numerous ongoing county and city capital projects address chronic flooding. Still others are seeking grants or innovative financing to address flooding (City of Charleston, 2020b, 2022b). While these efforts are individually and collectively important for the State of South Carolina and for Charleston to manage growing flood risks, none of these efforts includes requirements to consider heat mitigation as a co-benefit, even as several encourage the use of nature-based solutions, which in turn serves to further deepen technical expertise on, and awareness of, flood management.

Technical Expertise Silos

Given these planned investments technical experts flock to flood-prone areas offering helpful contributions toward flood reduction and toward living more resiliently with water. These water experts focus on how to address inland and coastal flooding, bringing tools and frameworks to bear on the increasing problem of urban water management. The tools and trainings are frequently discipline-specific (floodplain managers, civil engineers, hydrologists, landscape architects, etc.). The deepening of such technical expertise in water management further isolates practitioners from more holistic thinking about climate change, as evidenced by the Dutch governmental priorities on flooding and their own challenges in developing a country-wide approach to extreme heat [Klok and Kluck, 2018; Amsterdam Institute of Advanced Metropolitan Solutions (AIAMS), 2020]. In Charleston this same framing reinforces a hazard bias toward water. For example, the 252-page Dutch Dialogues Charleston report (City of Charleston, 2019a) demonstrates the lesser interest in intersections between flooding and heat with only nine general mentions. Those instances are typically focused on co-benefits of water strategies, such as, "In addition to the work on slowing, storing, redirecting, and adapting to water, complementary solutions would help. Many solutions for water also help to reduce urban heat." (City of Charleston, 2019a, p. 234). Similarly, the USACE 3 \times 3 focuses solely on the storm surge barrier, and even as its critics offer more inclusive nature-based solutions, those proposals lack significant emphasis on heat mitigation or adaptation (Imagine the Wall, 2020). These solutions focus on water ONLY, creating the impression there is a necessary choice between addressing flooding OR other hazards. The hazard bias and associated siloing of expertise increase the propensity to focus on technical solutions over actions that are more intertwined with societal concerns and strategies to reduce vulnerability through sociopolitical interventions (Kehler et al., 2021).

The one spot where *AND* holds more power than *OR* is in the South Carolina 2020 State Act 163, which requires all municipalities to address water AND other hazards in each municipal comprehensive plan update (State of South Carolina, 2020). The Act intends to motivate a more complete understanding of risks, but it faces an uphill push given the lived experience in Charleston. However, its language, while more inclusive of other hazards, also prioritizes water.

Despite the implicit hazard bias toward flooding, fortunately, there is growing concern about heat warnings in general.

Under the Biden Administration, in 2021, OSHA implemented guidance for worker health as related to extreme heat (OSHA, 2021). The National Integrated Heat Health Information System (NIHHIS) team at NOAA ran its third HeatWatch campaign and hosted numerous events to generate a culture of heat research and awareness building (National Integrated Heat Health Information System (NIHHIS), 2022). The Lancet, a leading international medical journal, emphasized the importance of better heat-health risk awareness (The Lancet, 2021). Yet in Charleston, ahead of this research program, there were two public resources for heat warnings. One was the Charleston NWS Forecast Office (National Centers for Environmental Information (NCEI), 2022), which uses a heat index of 105 (well above the black flag of 92 Wet-bulb globe temperature (WBGT) (US Department of Commerce, NOAA, 2022). The second appears in Charleston's municipal code and focuses on heat risks to carriage horses used in tourism. It provides detailed practices for monitoring the heat exposure, stress, period of water availability between tours, and other working conditions (City of Charleston, 2020c, 2022b). It was within this context that our team began building its research and engagement program.

The effort to reach diverse audiences and engage the community at many levels relied on the efforts of many individual researchers, consultants, MUSC, the Charleston Medical District Advisory Group (CMDAG), Citadel, and city leadership and staff who participated in the research and promoted the importance of the research through their networks. These boundary spanners (Goodrich et al., 2020) collectively tackled, and continue to address, ways to raise heat-health awareness in Charleston. The authors, Barnes and Dow, facilitated this broad collaboration, but the emerging outcomes are a collective accomplishment. The core research team is recognized in the acknowledgments.

DETAIL TO UNDERSTAND THE KEY PROGRAMMATIC ELEMENTS

Coming to a deeper understanding of heat-health threats highlighted the significance of two processes. An established network of trusted relationships formed the core of an expanded research agenda and partnerships between the CMDAG, CISA, and the City of Charleston. At the same time, members of those networks leveraged other connections and interests, self-organizing to broaden dialogues, participants, and outreach communications. These processes drew on distinct information sources and operated at different spatial and temporal scales, with residents making daily decisions about personal exposures and the City and the CMDAG developing long-term capital investment plans intended to integrate resilience into the built environment. Figure 4 provides a timeline of events discussed in this section as they relate to the growth of Charleston's focus on water management since 2014 as compared to the 2021 introduction of an All Hazards approach, inclusive of extreme heat. Since 2021, the network has focused on developing a shared understanding of extreme heat risks and conducting further research heathealth impacts. Next steps include the development of practical

Fall Planting PowerPlant Event	- 2023 -	
MUSC Heat Month (July 2022)		Charleston CFRMS EIS Complete
Arbor Day Announcement		Charleston Integrated Water Plan Tender
Post & Courier Earth Day OpEd		Charleston integrated water Fian lender
Sierra Club Heat/Health Research Webinar		
Charleston NWS Conference Presentation		
Climate Extremes & Public Health in Rural		
Eastern N.C. Conference Presentation		
Outdoor Worker Participatory Sensing Study		
Charleston Tree Canopy Storyboard		
Charleston Tree Canopy Toolkit		
Charleston HeatWatch Website		
Int. Journal of Biometeorology Submittal		
Frontiers in Climate Journal Submittal		
Engineering Ed. Research Journal Submittal		
Southeast & Caribbean Disaster		
Resilience Partnership	- 2022 -	
NOAA NIHHIS Conference Presentation		Charleston Comprehensive Plan Update
NOAA SE Regional Conference Presentation		Charleston CFRMS EIS Start
CHS / CMD / NIHHIS / CISA Heat Research		
CISA Bi-Annual Carolinas Climate		
Resilience Conference		
CHS Healthy Business Challenge Conference		
CMD Resilience Guidance Issued		
National Academies of Science Resilient		
America Roundtable Presentation	- 2021 -	
CMD Heat Charrette		Charleston Climate Action Plan
CMD Transportation Charrette Charleston Medical District (CMD)		Charleston All Hazards Vulnerability Assessment
All Hazards Charrette		Charleston GHG Inventory
		Charleston CFRMS Draft FR/EIS
	2020 -	Charleston Stormwater Standards
	2020 -	Charleston Rainproof
		Charleston Sea Level Rise Strategy
		Charleston Dutch Dialogues
	2019 -	Charleston TideEye
	2013	Charleston Coastal Flood-Risk
	2018 -	Management Study (CFRMS)
	2018 -	Charleston Chief Resilience Officer
	2017 -	Charleston Healthy Bus. Challenge
	2010	Charleston SLR Strategy
	2015 -	Charleston Medical District Formation
	2013	National Academies of Science Resilient
		America Roundtable
		Charleston (CHS) Resilience Network

solutions, in concert with water management, to reduce extreme heat.

The process began from a small but significant core effort to develop an adaptation roadmap for the Charleston Medical District (CMD), a critical regional medical resource and the largest employment center in the region. Access to the CMD is frequently disrupted by flooding and given its role as a critical medical facility, securing the CMD is a priority in Charleston. With years of effort to develop near-term coping strategies, such as buying a boat to ferry patients on high tide days, and advocacy for mid-term and longer-term flood-related capital projects, extreme heat was not a priority.

Following the Charleston Dutch Dialogues in 2019, the CMDAG and Climate Adaptation Partners (CAP) began working on a district-specific resilience strategy, hosting charrettes on flooding, transportation, and funding for resilience. During early strategy meetings, initial heat risk conversations found little resonance even as the City of Charleston published its first Vulnerability Assessment, which emphasized the need for an all-hazards approach to resilience inclusive of heat, albeit not its priority (City of Charleston/Fernleaf Interactive, 2020). The everyday hazard of heat, situated across 350 years of warm, humid days, and limited heat warning systems, struggled to get attention when the direct experience of the threat was less impactful to decision-makers who lacked awareness of the relationships between heat, health, housing, and energy security, and whose daily work required immediate responses to flooding.

In the spring of 2020, one conversation became the transformative moment in heat risk perception. As part of a grant proposal development, the CAP/CDMAG team reached out to physicians who might partner on climate-related health research. During such a meeting a well-respected senior physician mentioned almost casually that several patients had passed out from heat while walking from their cars to their appointments. For those physicians in the meeting, heat-health was a known issue, but rarely were these same physicians in planning meetings for the campus. This realization of patient risk on hospital grounds moved heat from the background to become relevant to the CMD's healthcare mission. The CMDAG became more supportive of exploring heat health risks and implications for planned investments.

Next CAP prepared LandSat images of surface heat in the CMD to help illustrate the extent of the issues. The CMDAG then agreed to the conduct of a surface heat sampling pilot. Drawing from Hoffman's (2017) protocols, CAP used a FLIR ONE thermal imaging camera to capture skin surface temperatures on a typical summer day in Charleston (**Figure 5**). This sampling approach, relatively new with affordable access to thermal imaging cameras, generates useful visual representation of heat which enables community scientists and members to better understand heat in relation to various surfaces. The results showed multiple hot surfaces, including unexpected surface temperatures in areas intended for respite and in areas recently renovated to encourage greater public use. Many of these were areas where patients, faculty, staff, and visitors gather. After presenting these data to the CMDAG, the network connected CISA and CAP,

launching the collaboration (the team) for Charleston's larger heat research program.

The team shared the initial skin surface heat observations in meetings with CMD master planning and operations teams to build further interest in better characterizing heat risk as related to planned capital investments, or readiness of energy resources for greater heat exposures. In parallel, as part of a heat charrette, CISA team presentations highlighted the importance of advancing the understanding of initial surface heat images by investigating highly localized WBGT to better characterize human heat stress by considering temperature, humidity, and the impact of solar radiation and winds. The team also emphasized the need to better characterize the personal exposure and stress of outdoor workers through using wearable heat and humidity sensors together with GPS-enabled heart rate trackers as they moved around the campus during the day. With this growing collaboration, the CMDAG recognized the importance-the health emphasis-of better understanding CMD exposures to extreme heat and agreed to collaborate with CAP and CISA on a more fully developed heat research program for the summer of 2021. CISA funded the research for personal monitoring and for WBGT sampling while CAP volunteered time for the coming year. With these pieces in place, in December 2021 the team then secured a NIHISS HeatWatch grant to map the urban heat island of the greater Charleston area. Building on the growing concern and commitment of the CMD to addressing heat, as part of the application, the City of Charleston committed to use the heat maps and data to inform their future actions.

In this context, the Charleston Heat Research team effort was launched, a tripartite effort to capture outdoor worker exposure at the CMD and nearby Citadel Campus, WBGT sampling in the same areas, and a city-wide HeatWatch sampling that included these same areas. This effort garnered further support and broadened a coalition of collaborators. This led to heat health risks finding an institutional home in MUSC's Office of Health Promotion, Office of Sustainability, and Arboretum, to subsequent opportunities to present these issues to the City Wellness Committee, the City Resilience and Sustainability Committee, and to numerous local organizational meetings including the Charleston Resilience Network and Charleston Healthy Business Coalition.

Conducted in the summer of 2021, the research program data analysis is still underway, but multiple outcomes are already evident. Tangible organizational outcomes increase the attention and resilience to heat risks. The CMD integrated heat into their resilience plan and the City of Charleston explicitly incorporated heat into its new comprehensive plan, which will be overseen by the City's planning director, recently relocated from Las Vegas where the Guinn Center had emphasized similar challenges (Guinn Center, 2021).

The connection of heat to health reached into city committees with the Wellness committee reviewing proposals to assure health was considered in all policies. The City Sustainability and Resilience Committee supported heat risk inclusion in its future resilience planning. The Charleston Tours Association committed to providing water and training their tour guides about heat risks for unacclimated visitors. In collaboration



with the city and the MUSC Office of Health Promotion, this group intends to fundraise for hydration stations for tourists and guides alike, which the City Parks Department agreed to locate in key park areas. The research using wearable sensors for outdoor workers in MUSC's Arboretum Grounds and Office of Public Safety, and in the Citadel Grounds team offered lessons that can be applied more broadly and promoted by the MUSC Office of Health Promotion. The South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (SCDHEC) expressed interest in developing statewide programs on heat-health risks, coping resources and public health training, similar to the CISA Convergence of Climate-Health-Vulnerabilities web resource (CISA, Carolinas Integrated Sciences and Assessments, 2019a). Lastly, the City of Charleston is now paired with the City of Miami, the City of Phoenix, and the City of Las Vegas in a Bi-Regional Heat Research Initiative with pilot funding via NOAA/NIHHIS for the 2022 heat season.

Scaling up to a citywide effort fostered further connections among networks that reach around the state and connect to national efforts. These collaborations resulted in broader audiences hearing the message to consider water AND heat as the region considered climate adaptation. For example, the heat and health concerns resonated with South Carolina Interfaith Power and Light (SCIPL) already working on climate and energy poverty and brought their partners, South Carolina Chapter of Health Professionals for Climate Action (SCHPCA), into the conversation. CISA organizes the Carolinas Heat Health Coalition that includes representatives from CMD and multiple sectors and organizations around the Carolinas. The South Carolina Seven (SC7) program began addressing heat in its One Million Trees program, largely through the advocacy of the MUSC Office of Health Promotion. The MUSC Arboretum Board hosted a session to raise extreme heat awareness among its Board members and their networks. The Charleston Sierra Club invited the research team to present findings to the regional network of Sierra Club chapters. The Citadel presented the research at numerous conferences, including a student program on lessons learned about extreme heat in Charleston. The University of South Carolina in collaboration with the City of Columbia received funding for the 2022 NIHHIS Heat Watch cohort. Through targeted collaborations with the Consortium for Climate Risk in the Urban Northeast, Regional Integrated Sciences Assessment (RISA) team, the City of Philadelphia adopted similar protocols to those of the Charleston effort, applied for the NIHHIS program, and joins Columbia in the 2022 Heat Watch cohort [National Integrated Heat Health Information System (NIHHIS), 2022].

LESSONS LEARNED, OUTCOMES AND PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS

The work on heat and health in Charleston and in the region is still very much emergent as it continues to compete with flooding, the far more visible and growing hazard. However, it is now part of the local conversation, part of local planning, and grounded in locally relevant research and practical applications. For example, while Charleston hosted a tree ordinance for many years, that ordinance focused on protection of "grand trees," not on their role in heat mitigation. It was only recently that Charleston clearly linked its work on tree canopy protection and expansion with this recent work on extreme heat by adding heat and equity considerations to their StreetTrees Storymap and in their tree canopy resources for residents (City of Charleston, 2020a, 2021a,b). Key lessons learned during this transformational process provide valuable insights for other areas where unintended hazard bias makes it exceedingly difficult to consider an all-hazards approach. These lessons illustrate multiple points to intervene in the processes reforming hazard bias.

Water AND Instead of OR

Although flooding continues to demand attention and resources due to its visibility in, and impact on, communities, and due to the inertia of systems such as disaster declarations, funding pathways and technical expertise siloes, extreme heat now has resonance due to these types of collaborations (Keith et al., 2019). The efforts to date demonstrate that cities need not choose between addressing flooding and addressing extreme heat. Water AND heat deserve attention, and in some cases, the solutions to one benefit the other, which in turn allows cities to leverage federal or local funding more fully. Consideration of all hazards is an important criterion when determining capital spending priorities and so addressing multiple hazards with shared investments is simply a smart budgeting strategy.

Health Connections

The introduction of heat as a material risk only resonated once patient health risks were recognized. In the case of Charleston, patient wellbeing was the motivating factor for a transformative change. Engaging with health professionals who understand the epidemiological evidence of health risks associated with climate change, and the impacts of energy insecurity and its inequities on vulnerable populations, warrants greater effort from those working on climate change. For Charleston, this means examining community awareness of heat risk and reconsidering whether the heat warnings from the NWS are sufficient given community exposures, coping resources, and adaptive capacities. While Charleston adopted a Health in All Policies program, the operational approach to this as related to heat health inclusion is still to be determined.

Network Amplifiers

Individual efforts to heat-health risk extend the body of knowledge, but it is in the network amplification that true engagement resides. By starting with trusted relationships and working with various organizations and institutions, momentum built along the interest pathways of the various network actors. There is value in connecting multiple agendas while not attempting to corral those agendas into a singular pathway. The work in Charleston is not a project, but a system of mutually supportive connections that continues to evolve. Encouraging such evolution along interest-area pathways builds network diversity and robustness while drawing down boundaries and technical siloes. Diversity in turn invites in various new collaborations such as SCIPL outreach via its many ministries, MUSC outreach through physicians and patients, as well as through the Arboretum and the Sustainability office, which in turn connected to activities such as Heat Awareness Month, Earth Day, and tree planting events. Linking energy insecurity and the interests of SCDHEC expand the reach across the state.

Event Momentum

Heat Watch was an external validation of concerns and a community event that created new types of collaborators and conversations. Media outlets participated and a series of heatrelated articles made the local newspaper, a Pulitzer-recognized press that previously focused on flooding. Local meteorologists began seeking out the opinions of physicians to guide evening forecasts. Due to its tripartite research program, the team was invited to participate in a nationwide conference of heat researchers, sponsored by the NOAA NIHHIS program. Following that effort, multiple other organizers within NOAA as well as the Southeast and Caribbean Disaster Resilience Partnership connected the team to heat researchers in other parts of the world, building and deepening the network and the ability to share best practices. Most importantly, following a joint announcement by NOAA and US Department of Human Health and Services at United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 26th Conference of Parties (COP26), extreme heat has a national set of collaborations on similar trajectories of heat-health interface. *Via* this connection, the team encouraged NOAA and HHS to work more closely with FEMA and HUD to integrate heat risk planning in flood recovery where possible, and to explore the opportunity for federal recovery funds for heat waves.

These activities generated interest elsewhere. By presenting this work to SCOR and SCDHEC, these offices now intend to more fully engage and to integrate heat into the state resilience plan and into the statewide planning for health outreach. As mentioned earlier, the City of Columbia intends to somewhat replicate the program from Charleston, expanding impacts even further. For South Carolina, the opportunity to amplify this work statewide, engaging less resourced communities (which may act as proxies for energy insecure areas) into this growing collaboration is an obvious next step. In concert with recent NOAA satellite imagery improvements, the set of resources to do so is growing stronger.

Given the progress in such a short time period, it is clear that Charleston has the ability to overcome Hazard Bias, and to encourage its future investments to address heat mitigation and adaptation where possible. Drawing out discussions about heathealth risks alongside multi-benefit strategies with performance criteria tied to nature-based solutions is an obvious starting point. However, even with heat on Charleston's policy agenda, and with the additional resources provided by this research, addressing entrenched inequities in vulnerability requires more than just overcoming hazard bias, even if overcoming hazard bias is a necessary step.

CHALLENGES

There are certainly challenges to this work. For example, the network benefits from the dedication of a small group of constant participants who act as keystones while the overall web of actors grows stronger. Most of these keystones volunteer their time which is an inherent fragility, recognized by the network. The future of this coalition depends on these dedicated team members even as they seek to broaden participation and in turn network robustness. As this work is in the development of a system, and not a focus on a singular project, it remains critical for the team to not consider the work "done" once research findings are published, but to continue to engage and deepen community collaboration on the issue. Situating the work within state offices focused on resilience and health will be key to that growth, necessary, but not sufficient as heat is an inherently local hazard.

The limited funding for this research is dependent on federal dollars (*via* NOAA) even as federal recovery dollars (*via* FEMA/HUD) do not prioritize it. Moreover, federal disaster declarations have yet to introduce heat. And in the sultry South, even with South Carolina State Act 163 in place, flooding remains

a priority for funding, reinforcing technical siloes and sustaining hazard biases. Lastly while the SCOR intends to address heat, its legislatively mandated priorities, like its administrative oversight on recovery funding, are toward flooding.

Notably, none of these flood-related focal areas include health indicators, whether in the planning, implementation, or performance metrics. Without health as a criterion, the evaluation of success of any of these investments remains focused on capital assets, not people, and certainly not the most vulnerable.

Raising up heat health awareness and acting on it remains a challenge. While inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan is a notable step, the city lacks a Heat Adaptation Plan, offers limited awareness building and coping resources for near-term exposures (including providing no cooling centers), and struggles, like all small municipalities, with balancing budgets and needed investments. The coalition lacks the administrative powers to change this context and so continues to work at the margins, seeking collaborators with such powers to institute change.

Community members struggling the most with energy insecurity and with heat-health implications were not yet engaged in this research and so the reported disparate impacts herein lack the more nuanced understanding that a community engagement program could offer. Instead, the team reported on programs trying to provide relief services. While the patterns of vulnerability and need have become more apparent, it is not assured that resources will go to the historically marginalized and underserved communities. Achieving that goal will require design and implementation processes that focus on equity.

Lastly, while these research programs and deliberations continue, those who live with inherent risks due to energy insecurity need help now. The Southeast Energy Insecurity Stakeholder Initiative and various DHEC initiatives are seeking to address these issues (Duke University, 2022). The new federal emphasis on funding tied to heat health and environmental justice may offer the incentives to reduce/overcome hazard bias and pursue more inclusive (Water AND) strategies in adaptation (White House, 2021). Ultimately, addressing hazard bias requires those working on climate first acknowledge its pervasiveness and then act on rewiring the feedbacks that encourage such bias in pre-disaster mitigation, recovery spending, and adaptation planning.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB and KD made equal contributions to conceptualization and writing of this manuscript. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Regional Integrated Sciences and Assessments Program Award #NA16OAR4310163.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank our editor, Scott Kalafatis, and our reviewers for their valuable comments and suggestions. Our team includes: JB and Leo Temko of Climate Adaptation Partners, who conducted the initial skin surface sampling and advocated with the city and CMDAG for the development of a heat research agenda and who continue to host the heat research team convenings. CISA, including KD of University of South Carolina and Chip Konrad of University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and their masters and doctoral students, Stafford Mullin, Grant Farmer, and Jordan Clark, respectively, focused on heat-health research via geographically informed heat-health analyses as well as via WBGT monitoring inclusive of equity and broader issues of social vulnerability. These researchers committed CISA to this substantive research program and identified the opportunity for the NOAA NIHHIS collaboration as well as many other collaborators across the State of South Carolina. Dow also leads the Columbia HeatWatch program for 2022. Jennifer Runkle of North Carolina State University and Maggie Sugg of Appalachian State University, who study personal heat monitoring as part of the CISA effort and their institutional programs and whose analysis of personal heat monitoring data from the outdoor workers pilot study guided this research. Scott Curtis, Director, James B. Near Jr. Center for Climate Studies at The Citadel whose role deepens The Citadel focus on extreme heat, including engagement with other faculty, students, outdoor workers, and the broader Charleston Resilience Network. Susan Johnson, MUSC Office of Health Promotion, an advocate with the City Wellness Committee and SC7 as well as the City Comprehensive Plan update whose advocacy brought heathealth awareness to the local business community as well as to ongoing MUSC and city dialogues. Jerry Reves, Dean Emeritus, MUSC School of Medicine and current MUSC Arboretum Board Chair whose leadership voice echoes across the medical district and the city, and whose efforts characterize heat-health risks and advocate for extended research in Charleston. Christine von Kolnitz, MUSC Office of Sustainability, whose tireless efforts improved the integration of heat across the MUSC system and whose network of local environmentalists helped to conduct the research and advocate for the issues. Mark Wilbert, former Chief Resilience Officer, City of Charleston, a staunch supporter of broadening heat health awareness in Charleston, an advocate for bringing the research to the attention of City Council and the City Resilience and Sustainability Committee, and a partner in the HeatWatch research program. Robert Hauck and Casey Conrad, City of Charleston Geographic Information Systems team who helped to guide the develop of the HeatWatch research areas, who illustrated research outcomes, and who provided publicly accessible resources such as graphic storymaps to make the issues easier for the general public to understand.

REFERENCES

- Amsterdam Institute of Advanced Metropolitan Solutions (AIAMS) (2020). *City* of Amsterdam Launches Climate Adaptation Strategy. Amsterdam: Amsterdam Institute of Advanced Metropolitan Solutions. Available online at: https:// www.ams-institute.org/news/city-amsterdam-launches-climate-adaptationstrategy/ (accessed December 1, 2022).
- Barnes, J., and Temko, L. (2022). *Hazard Bias*. Available online at: https://Climateadaptationpartners.com (accessed January 31, 2022).
- Burkart, K. G., Brauer, M., Aravkin, A. Y., Godwin, W. W., Hay, S. I., He, J., et al. (2021). Estimating the cause-specific relative risks of nonoptimal temperature on daily mortality: a two-part modelling approach applied to the Global Burden of Disease Study. *The Lancet* 398, 685–697. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01700-1
- CISA, Carolinas Integrated Sciences and Assessments (2019a). *Convergence of Climate-Health-Vulnerabilities*. Available online at: https://convergence.unc. edu/ (accessed January 31, 2022).
- CISA, Carolinas Integrated Sciences and Assessments (2019b). *Energy Poverty Convergence of Climate-Health-Vulnerabilities*. Available online at: https:// convergence.unc.edu/vulnerabilities/energy-poverty/ (accessed January 29, 2022).
- City of Charleston (2015). 2015 Sea Level Rise Plan. Charleston, SC: City of Charleston.
- City of Charleston (2019a). Dutch Dialogues. Available online at: https://www.charleston-sc.gov/1974/Dutch-Dialogues (accessed April 29, 2022).
- City of Charleston (2019b). *Flooding and Sea Level Rise Strategy, 2nd Edn.* Charleston, SC: City of Charleston.
- City of Charleston (2020a). Planning, Preservation and Sustainability Department. Tree Canopy Program. Available online at: https://www.charleston-sc.gov/ 2677/Tree-Canopy (accessed April 29, 2022).
- City of Charleston (2020b). *Stormwater Management Department. Elevation Procedures*. Available online at: https://www.charleston-sc.gov/2333/Elevating-Your-Structure (accessed April 29, 2022).
- City of Charleston (2020c). ARTICLE V. Transportation by Animal-drawn Vehicles for Purposes of Touring. Code of Ordinances. Charleston, SC: Municode Library Library.municode.com. Available online at: https://library. municode.com/sc/charleston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CICO_ CH29TO_ARTVTRANAWVEPUTO_DIV1GE_S29-212GEHECAMARE (accessed January 29, 2022).
- City of Charleston (2021a). *GIS Department. Street Tree Storymap*. Available online at: https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/593cdef7583444949e70845a6bf1f8fd (accessed April 29, 2022).
- City of Charleston (2021b). Special Commission on Equity, Inclusion, and Racial Conciliation Report. Available online at: https://www.charlestonsc.gov/DocumentCenter/View/29874/Special-Commission-on-Equity-Inclusion-and-Racial-Conciliation-Report---August-2021 (accessed May 9, 2022).
- City of Charleston (2022a). *Official Budget Document*. Available online at: https:// www.charleston-sc.gov/799/General-Operating-Budget-Documents (accessed April 29, 2022).
- City of Charleston (2022b). *Department of Stormwater Projects*. Charleston, SC: Official Website Charleston_SC.gov. Available online at: https://www.charleston-sc.gov/586/Projects (accessed January 29, 2022).
- City of Charleston/Fernleaf Interactive (2020). All Hazards Vulnerability and Risk Assessment. Charleston, SC: Official Website Charleston_SC.gov. Available online at: https://www.charleston-sc.gov/1975/All-Hazards-Vulnerability-Risk-Assessmen (accessed January 29, 2022).
- College of Charleston (2019a). *Tourism Analysis Annual Report*. Available online at: https://sb.cofc.edu/centers/tourismanalysis/annualreports/ OTAAnnualReport20182019.pdf (accessed April 29, 2022).
- College of Charleston (2019b). Charleston Area Regional Transit Authority Bus Service. Available online at: https://parkingservices.cofc.edu/information-for/ carta-bus-service.php (accessed May 4, 2022).
- Duke University (2022). Southeast Energy Insecurity Stakeholder Initiative. Available online at: https://nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/project/southeastenergy-insecurity-stakeholder-initiative#:\$\sim\$:text=The%20Initiative

%20seeks%20various%20people,individuals%20who%20are%20directly %20impacted (accessed February 1, 2022).

- Eriksen, S., Siri, H., and O'Brien, K. (2007). Vulnerability, poverty and the need for sustainable adaptation measures. *Clim. Policy* 7, 337–352. doi: 10.3763/cpol.2007.0717
- Federal Emergency Management Administration (FEMA) (2022). Declared Disasters. FEMA.gov. Available online at: https://www.fema.gov/disaster/ declarations (accessed January 29, 2022).
- Fisher, Sheehan, and Colton (2017). *Home Energy Affordability Gap.* Available online at: http://www.homeenergyaffordabilitygap.com/index.html (accessed May 1, 2022).
- Global Heat Health Information Network (GHHIN) (2022). *Heat and Health*. GHHIN.org. Available online at: https://ghhin.org/heat-and-health/ (Accessed January 29, 2022).
- Goodrich, K. A., Sjostrom, K. D., Vaughan, C., Nichols, L., Bednarek, A., and Lemos, M. C. (2020). Who are boundary spanners and how can we support them in making knowledge more actionable in sustainability fields? *Adv. Sci. Action. Knowl. Sustain.* 42, 45–51. doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2020. 01.001
- Guinn Center (2021). Extreme Heat Exposes Critical Gaps in Nevada's Built Environment Guinn Center For Policy Priorities. Available online at: https:// guinncenter.org/extreme-heat-exposes-critical-gaps-in-nevadas-builtenvironment/ (accessed January 31, 2022).
- Hernández, D. (2016). Understanding "energy insecurity" and why it matters to health. Soc. Sci. Med. 167, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.(2016).08.029
- Hoffman, J. (2017). Throwing Shade in RVA. Available online at: http:// jeremyscotthoffman.com/throwing-shade (accessed January 29, 2022).
- Hoffman, J. S., Shandas, V., and Pendleton, N. (2020). The effects of historical housing policies on resident exposure to intra-urban heat: a study of 108 US urban areas. *Climate* 8, 12. doi: 10.3390/cli8010012
- Howe, P. D., Marlon, J. R., Wang, X., and Leiserowitz, A. (2019). Public perceptions of the health risks of extreme heat across US states, counties, and neighborhoods. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 116, 6743–6748. doi: 10.26078/yr9w-n861
- Hsu, A., Sheriff, G., Chakraborty, T., and Manya, D. (2021) Disproportionate exposure to urban heat island intensity across major US cities. *Nat. Commun.* 12, 2721. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22799-5
- Imagine the Wall (2020). #imaginethewall #imaginechs. Available online at: https:// imaginethewall.org (accessed February 1, 2022).
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2021). Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Geneva: IPCC.
- Jessel, S., Sawyer, S., and Hernández, D. (2019). Energy, poverty, and health in climate change: a comprehensive review of an emerging literature. *Front Public Health* 7:357. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.(2019).00357
- Johnson, C. (2016). Some Can't Afford Air Conditioning in Sultry Charleston. Available online at: https://www.postandcourier.com/news/some-cant-affordair-conditioning-in-sultry-charleston-its-a-public-health-problem/article_ fc7e6abe-9040-11e8-b1e5-d78636db6ed1.html (accessed April 29, 2022).
- Kehler, S., and Birchall, S. J. (2021). Social vulnerability and climate change adaptation: the critical importance of moving beyond technocratic policy approaches. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 124, 471–477. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2021.07.025
- Keith, L., Meerow, S., and Wagner, T. (2019). Planning for extreme heat: a review. *J. Extreme Events* 6, 2050003.
- Klok, E. J., and Kluck, J. (2018). Reasons to adapt to urban heat (in the Netherlands). Urban Climate 23, 342–351. doi: 10.1016/j.uclim.(2016).10.005
- Lavell, A., Oppenheimer, M., Diop, C., Hess, J., Lempert, R., Li, J., et al. (2012). "Climate change: new dimensions in disaster risk, exposure, vulnerability, and resilience," in *Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation: Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds C. B. Field, V. Barros, T. F. Stocker, and Q. Dahe (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 25–64. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139177245.004
- Marino, E., and Ribot, J. (2012). Special issue introduction: adding insult to injury: climate change and the inequities of climate intervention. *Glob. Environ. Change* 22, 323–328. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.03.001

- Medical University of South Carolina (n.d.). *Public Transit Incentive Program.* Available online at: https://web.musc.edu/about/facilities/sustainability/ transportation (accessed April 29, 2022).
- National Centers for Environmental Information (NCEI) (2022). *Storm Events Database*. Available online at: https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/stormevents/ (accessed January 31, 2022).
- National Integrated Heat Health Information System (NIHHIS) (2022). *NIHHIS* > *Home* nihhis.cop.noaa.gov. Available online at: https://nihhis.cpo.noaa.gov/ (accessed January 29, 2202).
- National Weather Service (NWS) (2020). *Glossary NOAA's National Weather Service* Weather.gov. Available online at: https://w1.weather.gov/glossary/ index.php?word=excessive\$+\$heat\$+\$warning (accessed January 29, 2022).
- National Weather Service (NWS) (2022a). 80-Year List of Severe Weather Fatalities. Available online at: https://www.weather.gov/media/hazstat/80years_2020.pdf (accessed May 6, 2022).
- National Weather Service (NWS) (2022b). *Past, Present, and Future High Tide Flooding in Charleston*, SC Coastalscience.noaa.gov. Available online at: https://coastalscience.noaa.gov/news/past-present-and-future-nuisance-tidal-flooding-in-charleston-sc/ (accessed January 29, 2022).
- OSHA (2021). Heat Overview: Working in Outdoor and Indoor Heat Environments. Occupational Safety and Health Administration OSHA.gov. Available online at: https://www.osha.gov/heat-exposure (accessed January 29, 2022).
- Painter, W. L. (2022). The Disaster Relief Fund: Overview and Issues. Congressional Research Service. Available online at: https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/ pdf/R/R45484 (accessed May 1, 2022).
- Phillips N., Park I. W., Robinson J. R., and Jones N. P. (2021). The perfect storm: COVID-19 health disparities in US blacks. J. Racial Ethnic Health Disparit. 8, 1153–1160. doi: 10.1007/s40615-020-00871-y
- Project Cool Breeze (n.d.). Available online at: https://projectcoolbreeze.com/ (accessed April 29, 2022).
- Raymond, C., Horton, R. M., Zscheischler, J., Martius, O., AghaKouchak, A., Balch, J., et al. (2020). Understanding and managing connected extreme events. *Nat. Clim. Change* 10, 611–621. doi: 10.1038/s41558-020-0790-4
- Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act of 1988, § [42 U.S.C. §5121 et seq.].
- State of South Carolina (2020). *Disaster Relief and Resilience Act. Title 48, Chapter 62.* Available online at: https://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t48c062.php#48-62-10 (accessed May 5, 2022).
- State of South Carolina (2021). South Carolina Floodwater Commission. Columbia, SC: S.C. Governor Henry McMaster Office of the Governor, South Carolina. Available online at: https://governor.sc.gov/executive-branch/south-carolinafloodwater-commission (accessed January 29, 2022).
- State of South Carolina (2022). *Resilience*. Office of Resilience scor.sc.gov. Available online at: https://scor.sc.gov/resilience (accessed January 29, 2022).
- Strassberg, G., and Sowko, M. (2021). National Weather Service Instruction 10-1605 July 26, 2021 Performance and Evaluation, NWSPD 10-16 Storm Data Preparation 110. Available online at: https://www.nws.noaa.gov/directives/ sym/pd01016005curr.pdf (accessed June 15, 2022).
- Sustainability Institute (2022). *Weatherization*. Available online at: http://sustainabilityinstitutesc.org/ecc/weatherization/ (accessed April 29, 2022).
- Texas Energy Poverty Research Institute (TEPRI) and Southeast Energy Efficiency Alliance (SEEA) (2021). *Energy Insecurity in the South ArcGIS StoryMaps.* Available online at: https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/ 4377299f586a493984222bfc6ee84e60 (accessed January 29, 2022).

- The Lancet (2021). Health in a world of extreme heat. *The Lancet* 398, 641. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01860-2
- The Nature Conservancy and Southern Environmental Law Center (2022). *Disaster Recovery and Mitigation in South Carolina* (forthcoming). Available online at: https://www.southernenvironment.org/
- Union of Concerned Scientists (2019). Killer Heat in the United States: Climate Choices and the Future of Dangerously Hot Days. Available online at: https:// www.ucsusa.org/resources/killer-heat-united-states-0/ (accessed May 6, 2022).
- US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) (2022). Charleston Peninsula Coastal Storm Risk Management Study. Available online at: https://www.sac.usace.army. mil/Missions/Civil-Works/Charleston-Peninsula-Study/ (accessed January 29, 2022).
- US Climate Resilience Toolkit (USCRT) (2022). US Climate Resilience Toolkit, Temperature. Charleston, SC: US Climate Resilience Toolkit. Available online at: https://crt-climate-explorer.nemac.org/ (accessed January 29, 2022).
- US Department of Commerce, NOAA (2022). *WetBulb Globe Temperature* Weather.gov. Available online at: https://www.weather.gov/tsa/wbgt (accessed January 29, 2022).
- US Global Change Research Program (USGCRP) (2018). Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate Assessment, eds D. R. Reidmiller, C. W. Avery, D. R. Easterling, K. E. Kunkel, K. L. M. Lewis, T. K. Maycock, et al. (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program), 4–9. Available online at: https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/downloads/NCA2018_ FullReport.pdf (accessed January 5, 2022).
- Ward, A., Clark, J., McLeod, J., Woodul, R., Moser, H., and Konrad, C. (2019). The impact of heat exposure on reduced gestational age in pregnant women in North Carolina, 2011–2015. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 63, 1611–1620. doi: 10.1007/s00484-019-01773-3
- White House (2021). Fact Sheet: President Biden Takes Executive Actions to Tackle the Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad, Create Jobs, and Restore Scientific Integrity Across Federal Government The White House. Available online at: https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/01/27/ fact-sheet-president-biden-takes-executive-actions-to-tackle-the-climatecrisis-at-home-and-abroad-create-jobs-and-restore-scientific-integrityacross-federal-government/ (accessed February 1, 2022).
- Zscheischler, J., Westra, S., van den Hurk, B. J. J. M., Seneviratne, S. I., Ward, P. J., Pitman, A., et al. (2018). Future climate risk from compound events. *Nat. Clim. Change* 8, 469–477. doi: 10.1038/s41558-018-0156-3

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Barnes and Dow. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



High-Resolution Decadal Drought Predictions for German Water Boards: A Case Study for the Wupper Catchment

Andreas Paxian^{1*}, Katja Reinhardt¹, Klaus Pankatz¹, Alexander Pasternack², Maria Paula Lorza-Villegas³, Marc Scheibel³, Amelie Hoff¹, Birgit Mannig¹, Philip Lorenz¹ and Barbara Früh¹

¹ Department Climate and Environmental Consultancy, Deutscher Wetterdienst, Offenbach am Main, Germany, ² Institute of Meteorology, Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³ Water Management and Flood Protection, Wupperverband, Wuppertal, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fai Fung, Met Office, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Subimal Ghosh, Indian Institute of Technology Bombay, India Dougal Squire, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO), Australia

> *Correspondence: Andreas Paxian andreas.paxian@dwd.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Predictions and Projections, a section of the journal Frontiers in Climate

Received: 01 February 2022 Accepted: 24 June 2022 Published: 19 July 2022

Citation:

Paxian A, Reinhardt K, Pankatz K, Pasternack A, Lorza-Villegas MP, Scheibel M, Hoff A, Mannig B, Lorenz P and Früh B (2022) High-Resolution Decadal Drought Predictions for German Water Boards: A Case Study for the Wupper Catchment. Front. Clim. 4:867814. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2022.867814 Water boards in Germany require decadal predictions to develop optimized management and adaptation strategies, especially within the claims of flood protection and water distribution management. Specifically, the Wupper catchment water board in western Germany is interested in decadal predictions of drought indices, which are correlated to dam water levels. For the management of small catchments, they need multi-year means and multi-year seasonal means of the hydrological seasons for forecast years 1-3 at high spatial resolution. Thus, the MPI-ESM-LR global decadal prediction system with 16 ensemble members at 200 km resolution was statistically downscaled with EPISODES to ~11 km in Germany. Simulated precipitation was recalibrated, correcting model errors and adjusting the ensemble spread. We tested different recalibration settings to optimize the skill. The 3-year mean and 3-year seasonal mean SPI (Standardized Precipitation Index), indicating excess or deficit of precipitation, was calculated. We evaluated the prediction skill with HYRAS observations, applying skill scores and correlation coefficients, and tested the significance of the skill at a 95% level via 1,000 bootstraps. We found that the high-resolution statistical downscaling is able to preserve the skill of the global decadal predictions and that the recalibration can clearly improve the precipitation skill in Germany. Multi-year annual and August-October mean SPI predictions are promising for several regions in Germany. Additionally, there is potential for skill improvement with increasing ensemble size for all temporal aggregations, except for November-January. A user-oriented product sheet was developed and published on the Copernicus Climate Change Service website (https://climate.copernicus.eu/decadalpredictions-infrastructure). It provides 3-year mean probabilistic SPI predictions for the Wupper catchment and north-western Germany. For 2021–2023, a high probability of negative SPI (dry conditions) is predicted in most of the area. The decadal prediction skill is higher than using the observed climatology as reference prediction in several parts of the area. This case study was developed in cooperation with the Wupper catchment water board and discussed with further German water managers: The skill of high-resolution decadal drought predictions is considered to be promising to fulfill their needs. The product sheet is understandable, well-structured and can be applied to their working routines.

Keywords: decadal prediction, drought, high resolution, statistical downscaling, recalibration, water management, user co-production, case study

INTRODUCTION

Water resources and food security are strongly impacted by largescale droughts (Benson and Clay, 1998). In spring and summer 2018, Central and Northern Europe were hit by strong drought conditions, resulting in reductions of crop yields up to 50%, which are projected to be a common occurrence in the mid of the 21st century (Toreti et al., 2019). This long-lasting and strong summer drought seems to be more extreme than the drought of 2003, resulting in larger influence on forest ecosystems in Central Europe (Schuldt et al., 2020). The combined drought and heat affected river navigation, impacting the transportation and tourism sectors (Wieland and Martinis, 2020). On the other hand, Central Europe experienced extreme rainfall and flooding in summer 2021, damaging local critical infrastructure systems, such as bridges, schools and hospitals (Koks et al., 2021). The observed heavy rainfall amounts strongly exceeded historical records in several parts of the affected area and caused over 200 fatalities (Kreienkamp et al., 2021). This catastrophe discloses the needs to decrease vulnerabilities and improve adaptive capacities in the context of future challenges of climate variations (Bosseler et al., 2021).

Such events raise the question which climate information on extreme events is needed by the German water management sector to implement appropriate actions to adapt to future climate variability (Changnon, 2003). Answers are found in intensive discussions with climate data users on workshops and individual meetings at the Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD) and Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S). To optimize management and adaptation plans mainly for water distribution and flood protection in the face of climate variations in the upcoming years, water boards require decadal predictions of atmospheric variables for hydrological impact modeling in Germany-since planning processes often take time. Additionally, the skill and uncertainties of the predictions need to be communicated. For instance, the Wupper catchment water board (Wupperverband) controls water level and quality of 14 dams in a catchment area of 813 km² in western Germany. It requires decadal predictions of the Standard Precipitation Index (SPI, McKee et al., 1993) or alternatively of the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI, Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010) for the coming 3 years, because drought indices are correlated to water levels of dams (Lorza-Villegas et al., 2021). To manage smaller dams and river catchments high spatial resolution is essential. Different temporal aggregations, such as multi-year means of the calendar year and the four hydrological seasons, are required to cover different water management and also natural processes, like the vegetation period.

These needed decadal climate predictions of the next 1-10 years lie between seasonal forecasts and climate projections and are of particular interest for mid-term water resource managers (Meehl et al., 2009). Multi-model decadal predictions were coordinated in the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 6 (CMIP6, Eyring et al., 2016), and the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) Lead Centre for Annual to Decadal Climate Predictions (ADCP) publishes a Global Annual to Decadal Climate Update (GADCU, Hermanson et al., 2022). Predictability arises from greenhouse gas and aerosol forcing (Van Oldenborgh et al., 2012) and the initialization of the ocean (Matei et al., 2012), land surface or sea ice (Bellucci et al., 2015) with observations. Thus, skill is found for ocean temperature in the North Atlantic subpolar gyre (Hermanson et al., 2014), surface temperature, precipitation and atmospheric circulation (Smith et al., 2019), such as the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO) impacting western Europe (Athanasiadis et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2020). Statistical postprocessing procedures like recalibration (Pasternack et al., 2018, 2021) can further improve skill by adjusting model bias, drift and ensemble spread toward observed statistics.

The drought indices required by water managers compare the available water amount with a long-term climatological value (Palmer, 1965). The SPI divides the anomaly of rainfall by its standard deviation (McKee et al., 1993) but works inappropriately in dry areas because rising temperature and evapotranspiration due to climate change are not regarded (Lloyd-Hughes and Saunders, 2002). The SPEI (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010) standardizes the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration (PET), i.e., the climate water balance. If the PET is parameterized following Thornthwaite (1948), the SPEI cannot be assessed for colder regions like Germany (Paxian et al., 2019). Several recent studies analyze the prediction skill of drought indices: Paxian et al. (2019) find high 4-year mean SPEI skill in the tropics, e.g., northern Africa, and smaller SPI skill hot spots at 5° resolution. Higher 2° resolution improves spatial structures mostly without reducing skill. Solaraju-Murali et al. (2021) investigate the SPEI skill for the months before the wheat harvest and find decadal prediction skill for several global regions. Decadal predictions are feasible for soil water storage in North America, given a correct soil initialization (Chikamoto et al., 2015), and skillful for Sahel summer rainfall (Sheen et al., 2017). In Europe, Solaraju-Murali et al. (2019) detect skill for the 5-year mean summer SPI in Scandinavia and neighboring areas and for the SPEI in Southern Europe. A C3S case study for the energy sector¹ finds skillful predictions of

¹https://climate.copernicus.eu/decadal-predictions-energy

the 10-year extended winter precipitation in Southern European river basins based on a multi-model NAO prediction.

To reach a higher resolution of climate predictions different downscaling approaches were analyzed in former studies: Dynamical downscaling has larger computational costs but reveals skill for annual and seasonal temperature means (Feldmann et al., 2019) and added values for temperature and precipitation in some European areas compared to the global model (Reyers et al., 2019). Regional prediction skill is stated for user-oriented quantities and extremes, such as frost, heat wave or growing degree days (Moemken et al., 2020). Costefficient statistical-dynamical downscaling reveals skill for annual mean wind speed and wind energy output, partly preserving and partly improving the global model skill (Moemken et al., 2016). For West African rainfall, dynamical downscaling of decadal predictions shows the ability to reduce bias (Paxian et al., 2016) and improve skill (Paeth et al., 2017). In the United States, statistical downscaling improves decadal rainfall predictions for impacts assessments at high resolution (Salvi et al., 2017). As to drought indices, downscaling of a multi-model seasonal SPEI prediction for 6 months in winter and spring for water management in South Korea improves skill (Sohn et al., 2013). Instead, global model skill is mostly preserved in statistical downscaling of seasonal predictions for hydropower production in Germany and Portugal (Ostermöller et al., 2021).

Given the skill of decadal predictions and their importance for society in terms of climate adaptation and resilience, first steps toward developing user-oriented decadal prediction products can be taken (Kushnir et al., 2019). The information should be tailored to user needs, paying attention to its format and its applicability in user working routines (Bruno Soares et al., 2018). The design of climate service prototypes based on seasonal forecasts in the EUPORIAS project highlights the importance of user interaction and involvement in the development of successful services (Buontempo et al., 2018). To address the needs of climate-sensitive sectors and inform decision-making in the context of climate risks the C3S offers climate datasets and sector-specific applications already (Buontempo et al., 2019). Its first step toward prototype climate services based on decadal predictions is the C3S_34c contract developing case studies for the insurance, agriculture, energy and infrastructure sectors (Dunstone et al., 2022). Both the user co-development and the exchange between scientific partners proved to be essential for developing sectoral applications for decadal predictions to be published on the C3S website².

Thus, this study analyzes high-resolution decadal drought predictions needed by German water boards to set up water management and flood protection plans. The Wupper catchment is chosen as case study, and its water board co-develops the C3S_34c climate service on decadal predictions for the infrastructure sector³. To achieve the necessary high resolution, the German decadal prediction system MPI-ESM is statistically downscaled to a resolution of ~11 km in Germany. We chose the cost-efficient statistical downscaling due to the large decadal

hindcast set. Simulated precipitation is statistically recalibrated to address model errors and standardized to calculate the SPI because it might be difficult to assess the PET for SPEI in colder regions such as Germany. The SPI prediction is estimated for 3-year means of the calendar year and four hydrological seasons, and skill is evaluated with observations. A user-oriented product sheet is developed and discussed with different German water managers. Thus, Section MATERIALS AND METHODS of the manuscript describes the model and observational data applied and the methods used: the statistical downscaling, the recalibration procedure, the calculation of the SPI, the skill assessment and the computation and display of the probabilistic prediction. Section RESULTS illustrates the impacts of downscaling and recalibration and shows the SPI skill and prediction for 2021-2023 for all temporal aggregations. In addition, the resulting product sheet is presented, and the user co-production and feedback is illuminated. Finally, Section DISCUSSION gives a summary of the major results, highlights relevant conclusions and draws a final outlook.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This section presents the global decadal prediction system, the statistical downscaling for Germany and the observational dataset used in this study. Furthermore, the post-processing including the statistical recalibration and the calculation of the SPI are described. Finally, the methods to calculate probabilistic predictions and to assess prediction skill scores are explained.

Global Decadal Climate Predictions

The global decadal predictions are taken from the Max Planck Institute for Meteorology Earth System Model Low Resolution Version 1.2 (MPI-ESM-LR) which consists of the coupled atmosphere-ocean model ECHAM6/MPIOM. The atmosphere reveals a horizontal resolution of \sim 200 km and 47 vertical levels, and the oceanic component features a GR15 ($\sim 1.5^{\circ}$) resolution and 40 levels (Jungclaus et al., 2013; Pohlmann et al., 2013; Stevens et al., 2013). The atmosphere is initialized nudging fullfields of ERA40 reanalyses (Uppala et al., 2005) before 1978 and ERA5 reanalyses (Hersbach et al., 2020) after. The ocean initialization is based on temperature and salinity anomalies from the EN4 observations (Good et al., 2013) assimilated in the ocean via an Ensemble Kalman filtering method (Brune et al., 2015). This MPI-ESM-LR assimilation run is the basis for the initialization of global decadal predictions on 1st November in every year from 1960 until 2020 for a 10-year simulation period. The prediction ensemble consists of 16 members which were started from different ocean states. The external forcing was taken from CMIP6, including observed states before 2015 and the SSP245 (Shared Socioeconomic Pathways, Fricko et al., 2017) scenario after. The global decadal prediction data of MPI-ESM-LR will soon in 2022 be available on the ESGF (Earth System Grid Federation) node at DWD^4 .

²https://climate.copernicus.eu/sectoral-applications-decadal-predictions ³https://climate.copernicus.eu/decadal-predictions-infrastructure

⁴https://esgf.dwd.de/projects/esgf-dwd/

Statistical Downscaling

To fulfill the needs of the German water management sector for high-resolution predictions the empirical-statistical downscaling method EPISODES (Kreienkamp et al., 2018, 2020) was applied to downscale the MPI-ESM-LR global predictions to ~11 km in Germany. The other global decadal prediction systems of the C3S_34c partners, i.e., CMCC-CM2-SR5, EC-Earth3 and DePreSys4, could not provide the necessary input data for statistical downscaling. In this method, statistical relationships are searched between local HYRAS observations (Rauthe et al., 2013; Frick et al., 2014) in Germany and the large-scale atmospheric state in NCEP/NCAR reanalyses (Kalnay et al., 1996) in greater Central Europe. These relationships are then transferred to the simulated MPI-ESM-LR large-scale predictions (Kreienkamp et al., 2018):

The first step includes the detection of analog days, selecting those 35 days of the reanalysis that are most similar to a certain model day ("perfect prognosis" approach, e.g., Klein et al., 1959; San-Martín et al., 2017). This selection is based on temperature, relative humidity and geopotential height fields at different vertical levels (500, 700, 850, and 1,000 hPa) interpolated to a reduced grid of 100 km resolution. For the selected 35 analog days, linear regressions are derived between the large-scale quantities and the small-scale observations (e.g., of near surface temperature or precipitation), and then applied to the value of the respective large-scale predictor from the global prediction. This first interim prediction for each day is, however, inconsistent for the downscaled variables and grid points of the reduced 100 km grid. In the second step, the short-term precipitation and temperature variation of the interim prediction is compared to the short-term variation of all days in the observational archive, and the most similar day is selected consistently for all output variables and the entire output grid. The final synthetic time series at high resolution results from summing up this selected short-term variation and the daily climatology of observations of that day in year to be forecasted. Thus, this statistical downscaling approach provides multi-variable and multi-site consistent time series. The operationally downscaled decadal prediction dataset will be available on the ESGF node at DWD⁴ during 2022 or on request before.

Observations

The precipitation observations for evaluating the skill of highresolution decadal predictions were taken from the HYRAS observations. They provide gridded daily precipitation data for Germany and corresponding river catchments in neighboring countries at 5 km spatial resolution. The gridded fields were derived from up to 6,200 precipitation stations applying the REGNIE procedure. This method combines inverse distance weighting and multiple linear regression including orographical conditions and thus, preserves the station values in their grid boxes (Rauthe et al., 2013). The time period was extended to 1951–2020 for precipitation. The dataset also includes daily grids for mean, minimum and maximum temperature and relative humidity (Razafimaharo et al., 2020). The HYRAS precipitation



dataset is available *via* the open data section of the DWD Climate Data Center $(CDC)^5$.

Hydrological Seasons and Wupper Catchment

The German water management sector is interested in decadal predictions of annual means and all four hydrological seasons for forecast years 1-3. Thus, the yearly averages of January-December, February-April (FMA), May-July (MJJ), August-October (ASO) and November-January (NDJ) were calculated for EPISODES and HYRAS precipitation data. Additionally, model and observational data were interpolated to a common regular 0.1° horizontal grid. The considered case study is located in the Wupper catchment in the German federal state North Rhine-Westphalia in western Germany. The location of this catchment in shown in Figure 1 and marked in each plot of the results chapter. In addition, all results are also shown for whole Germany (as a second focus) to fulfill similar needs of other German water managers gathered on a user workshop (see Section User Co-production and User Feedback on the Usability of the Product Sheet).

Recalibration

The statistical downscaling EPISODES was developed for climate projections and aims at selecting the large-scale input variables with strongest relationships to the local target variables to provide high-resolution data consistent for different variables in space and revealing hardly any systematic bias. However, EPISODES does not consider to choose the large-scale variables with highest skill in reproducing the observed variability in the past. Thus, skill is preserved at high resolution but hardly enhanced (Ostermöller et al., 2021).

⁵https://opendata.dwd.de/climate_environment/CDC/grids_germany/daily/ hyras_de/precipitation/

However, decadal prediction skill can be improved by postprocessing techniques addressing systematic model errors, model drifts, trends and ensemble spread, like the Decadal Forecast Recalibration Strategy (DeFoReSt, Pasternack et al., 2018). This procedure uses a parametric drift correction (Kruschke et al., 2015) which applies third order polynomial parameters to correct the model drift over forecast years (Gangstø et al., 2013). A linear trend along start years is used to consider non-stationary drifts (Kharin et al., 2012). The conditional bias and the ensemble spread are adjusted by a third order and second order polynomial approach over forecast years and a linear approach over start years. The training of the recalibration parameters of a certain decadal prediction of 10 years is performed in cross validation mode omitting those decadal predictions as training data which were initialized within this prediction period. The adjustment of bias, drift, conditional bias and ensemble spread was shown to improve the skill (Pasternack et al., 2018). A more flexible improvement of DeForReSt applies a systematic model selection via non-homogeneous boosting to asses model orders directly from the dataset without restricting them before as well as an additive term for the ensemble spread correction (Pasternack et al., 2021). This boosted recalibration procedure was used in this study in two different settings: the first version follows the maximum orders of DeFoReSt (denoted as "standard recalibration version") and the second version applies a third order polynomial as maximum order along start years to correct the ensemble mean (denoted as "optimized recalibration version") to consider a higher interannual variability of highresolution precipitation. In both settings, the boosting selects the best model orders of the fits only restricted by the maximum orders defined.

The annual precipitation means of January-December and the four hydrological seasons of EPISODES were recalibrated separately. All hindcast years were adjusted, whereas the training period was set to 1961-2020 (1961-2019 for NDJ) following the availability of HYRAS observations serving for both recalibration and skill assessment. This "unfair" procedure (Risbey et al., 2021) uses future data for recalibration of hindcasts in the past, which are not available for operational predictions and might include artificial skill. Thus, we performed a test of a "fair" recalibration applying only the preceding 30 years for the correction of a decadal prediction of a certain start date. The evaluation period was shortened to 1991-2020 since 1991 was the first start date of a decadal prediction to be recalibrated by 30 years from the past. However, we found major skill patterns to be robust between both approaches (not shown). Since long time periods are needed to achieve robust results when skill and recalibration vary in time, we decided to apply the original recalibration approach with cross validation (as described above).

For annual means and three of four hydrological seasons, the first year 1961 showed extremely dry conditions after optimized recalibration, identifying a clear outlier compared to the residual time series. Thus, this single year has been omitted in further SPI processing steps. Since the recalibration might destroy the standardization of the SPI (Paxian et al., 2019) it is executed before the SPI is calculated in this study [see Section Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI)]. This study applies the recalibration software tool (Pasternack et al., 2021) of the "Free Evaluation System Framework for Earth System Modeling" (FREVA, Kadow et al., 2021). Information on code availability can be found in these cited articles.

Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI)

The drought index SPI divides the anomaly of precipitation by its standard deviation (McKee et al., 1993). The parameter estimation for standardizing precipitation uses the Gamma distribution function. The resulting SPI values can be interpreted as follows (Lloyd-Hughes and Saunders, 2002): normal water availability is defined for values between -1 and 1, lower values describe dry and higher values wet conditions. The SPI calculation of this study uses the caeli package⁶ of the WARSA working group at the Institute of Technology and Resources Management in the Tropics and Subtropics of the Cologne University of Applied Sciences in Germany because it is used by the Wupper catchment water board for their routine work. This assures that the resulting SPI values are comparable to their former results.

To provide proper standardized prediction products, the SPI needs to be calculated for each dataset (EPISODES ensemble members and HYRAS for different temporal aggregations) separately. The data needs to be aggregated, including temporal smoothing, spatial interpolation and ensemble averaging, before calculating the SPI. Thus, the yearly precipitation means of January-December and the four hydrological seasons of the recalibrated EPISODES hindcast set and the HYRAS observations were averaged for forecast years 1-3. The EPISODES ensemble mean was computed to calculate the SPI for EPISODES separately for the individual ensemble members and the ensemble mean. Thus, both probabilistic and ensemble mean SPI predictions can be analyzed. Since the SPI cannot be calculated for negative precipitation means, those time steps and grid boxes revealing negative means after statistical recalibration were set to zero.

The chosen time period for the standardization of HYRAS data per grid box is the evaluation period 1962-2020 (1962-2019 for NDJ), including all 3-year means within this period. The EPISODES model period is the same one but extended by the current 3-year mean forecast, i.e., 2021-2023. This is done because the chosen SPI algorithm of the WARSA working group does not allow to use a different time period for parameter estimation (needs to be equal for observations and model) and application of parameters for computing standardized time series (needs to include the current 3-year mean forecast). Thus, the period of standardization for EPISODES is only one 3-year mean longer (denoting the current 3-year mean forecast 2021-2023) than that for HYRAS, which is a marginal difference given the considered total period of almost 60 3-year means. This standardization can also be classified as "unfair" (Risbey et al., 2021) because it applies future data for standardizing past hindcasts which might produce artificial skill (see Section Recalibration). Since the caeli package does not allow computing the SPI based on a subset of the input data, we could not test

⁶http://warsa.de/caeli/

the impact of this "unfair" approach on the skill. However, this algorithm is essential for this climate service being part of the routine working environment of the Wupper catchment water board. Thus, skill results need to be interpreted with caution.

Skill Assessment

The quality of the EPISODES predictions is assessed in comparing those initialized in the past with HYRAS observations in the evaluation period 1962–2020 (1962–2019 for NDJ). The skill of the ensemble mean is evaluated by means of the Pearson (or anomaly) correlation coefficient, and the probabilistic prediction skill of the full ensemble is estimated by the Ranked Probability Skill Score (RPSS) compared to the observed climatology in the evaluation period (describing a distribution of equal weights for all categories) chosen as reference prediction.

The strength of the linear relationship between the ensemble mean prediction (*X*) for the selected forecast years initialized in the past and the corresponding observation (*Y*) along all hindcast start years (*N*) is assessed by the Pearson (or anomaly) correlation coefficient (r_{xy}). Predictions and observations are considered as anomalies with respect to the corresponding long-term climatological mean (μ). A correlation coefficient of zero indicates no correlation between prediction and observation, whereas values of 1 and -1 define a high positive and negative correlation, respectively (see e.g., Ernste, 2011):

$$r_{xy} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (X_i - \mu_x) (Y_i - \mu_y)}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (X_i - \mu_x)^2 \sum_{i=1}^{N} (Y_i - \mu_y)^2}}$$

The RPSS compares the probabilistic skill of a decadal prediction in reproducing the past observed variability with the skill of a reference prediction which can be used alternatively, e.g., the observed climatology in the evaluation period (defining a distribution of equal weights for all categories). Anomalies of predictions initialized in the past and observations with respect to a long-term climatology are grouped in the three categories of equal frequency "below normal", "normal," and "above normal." The limits are based on the 33rd and 66th tercile values of the predicted and observed climate characteristics of a reference period (see Section Calculation and Display of Probabilistic Predictions). Computing this separately for model and observations results in an inherent bias correction. The squared error between the cumulative probabilities of predictions $P_{i,k}$ and observations $O_{i,k}$ for *n* start years and *K* categories (here: three) is defined as ranked probability score ($RPS_{P,O}$). The predicted probability of each category is assessed empirically (as described in Siegert, 2014), following the frequency of individual ensemble members per category. The observed probability of a category is zero if the observed value is located in a higher category than selected and one if not. The RPSS relates the RPS_{P,O} between predictions and observations to the $RPS_{R,O}$ between the alternative reference prediction and observations (Ferro et al., 2008; Wilks, 2011; Kruschke et al., 2014):

$$RPSS_{P,R,O} = 1 - \frac{RPS_{P,O}}{RPS_{R,O}}, \text{ with } RPS_{P,O} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{K} (P_{j,k} - O_{j,k})^2$$

If the decadal prediction is better than the reference prediction in reproducing past observations, the RPSS is larger than zero, if worse than smaller. If they perform equally well, it is zero. If the decadal prediction is in perfect agreement with the past observations, it is one.

However, the RPS is biased due to the finite prediction ensemble size. Thus, the ensemble-size adjusted FairRPS (Ferro, 2013; Richling et al., 2017) is estimated assuming the ensemble size grows to infinity to be able to compare predictions of different ensemble sizes. For the ensemble size M and the cumulative number of members of the prediction ensemble E corresponding to a certain category k, the *FairRPS*_t of one forecast-event pair t can be defined as follows. The FairRPSS can be estimated based on the *FairRPS*_{P,O} and the *FairRPS*_{R,O} following the equation before:

$$FairRPS_t = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left[\left(\frac{E_k}{M} - O_k \right)^2 - \frac{E_k(M - E_k)}{M^2(M - 1)} \right]$$

For the (anomaly) correlation coefficient, RPSS and FairRPSS, the significance is tested to analyze if small sample sizes cause random variations influencing the skill assessment. Since the distribution of the RPSS is not known, the test applies nonparametric bootstrapping choosing randomly 1,000 samples of equal sizes from the given time period with replacement. A block bootstrapping allows for autocorrelation in decadal predictions. The random samples are analyzed using a significance level of 95%. If correlation coefficient, RPSS or FairRPSS are significantly different from zero, the skill analysis has not been impacted by random variations. Please note that such assessments of significance are subject to issues with multiple testing and should include control of the False Discovery Rate (Wilks, 2016). However, for more than 5,000 grid boxes in Germany and a significance level of 90% we would need \sim 50,000 nonparametric bootstraps for this approach which is not possible due to restrictions in computing time and sample size (~60 start years). Some tests revealed that 1,000 bootstraps clearly preserve the robust overall spatial structure of significance, but some small details might vary slightly (not shown). Thus, we highlight that one should act with caution to not over-interpret the significance of skill of single grid boxes. Only regional clusters of significant grid boxes are considered to be robust.

The correlation coefficients and (Fair)RPSS of this study were assessed based on the FREVA (Kadow et al., 2021) software tools MurCSS (Murphy-Epstein decomposition and Continuous Ranked Probability Skill Score, Illing et al., 2014) and ProblEMS (PROBabiListic Ensemble verification for MiKlip using SpecsVerification, Richling et al., 2017, based on routines from Siegert, 2014), respectively. Code is available as described in these cited articles or on request.

Calculation and Display of Probabilistic Predictions

Based on the distribution of the decadal prediction ensemble probabilistic SPI predictions are calculated. The 16 individual ensemble predictions are divided into the three categories of

equal frequency "dry", "normal," and "wet," defined by low, medium and high SPI values. The groups are split by the 33rd and 66th tercile thresholds of the predicted climate characteristics of the WMO reference period 1981-2010. Finally, the predicted probability of occurrence [%] of each category is based on the frequency of ensemble members per category. However, since the number of ensemble members (16) is still restricted the estimated probability is adjusted considering the uncertainty of small sample sizes (Dirichlet-Multinomial Model, Agresti and Hitchcock, 2005). An inherent bias correction is included when the probabilistic model prediction is shown in conjunction with the tercile thresholds from observations in the reference period. The probabilistic predictions were estimated based on FREVA (Kadow et al., 2021) software tools. Original code can be accessed as pointed out in this article, and code adapted for this case study can be provided on request.

Following user needs collected on user workshops and individual user meetings prediction products should be displayed combing the prediction and its skill. Thus, the map of the final prediction product includes one dot per EPISODES grid box whose color describes the probabilistic prediction and whose size indicates the prediction skill, i.e., the RPSS compared to the reference prediction "observed climatology." Thus, a decadal prediction with a better, similar or worse skill than applying the observed climatology as prediction is represented by a dot of large, medium or small size. Many users are interested in predictions of all three levels of skill to compare the whole prediction map with real observations and understand the concept of skill. Impact modelers need the whole dataset to drive e.g., hydrological models. Both prediction and skill of the hydrological output can be compared to those of the atmospheric input to understand the connection between different variables.

RESULTS

In this chapter the impacts of statistical downscaling and recalibration on decadal prediction skill are analyzed, presenting (anomaly) correlation coefficients and the RPSS to investigate the skill of ensemble mean and probabilistic decadal predictions, respectively. Furthermore, we show the SPI prediction skill of annual means and all four hydrological seasons for forecast years 1–3 and the probabilistic prediction for 2021–2023. All results are presented for whole Germany first and then, the focus is set to the Wupper catchment area in western Germany marked in each plot. Please note that single grid boxes with significant skill should not be over-interpreted. Only regional clusters of significant grid boxes are considered to be robust (see Section Skill assessment). Finally, the product sheet of the case study published on the C3S website is presented, the user-cooperation is highlighted and the user feedback on its usability is evaluated.

Impacts of Statistical Downscaling and Recalibration

The decadal prediction skill for 3-year means of annual precipitation from MPI-ESM-LR is presented at \sim 200 km horizontal resolution in Germany. Some significantly positive

correlation coefficients of 0.2-0.4 can be found in northern and eastern parts and negative correlation in south-western parts (Figure 2A). The statistical downscaling EPISODES succeeds in preserving the prevailing skill of the global decadal prediction system at higher horizontal resolution of $\sim 11 \text{ km}$ (Figure 2B). More local details can be seen and significantly positive correlation coefficients in several northern and eastern areas. The RPSS reveals rather similar patterns to the correlation. For MPI-ESM-LR, it is slightly negative in most regions, achieving statistical significance in the far south-western parts, except for a few positive values in some northern areas (Figure 2C). EPISODES again preserves the skill at higher resolution (Figure 2D), but more significantly negative RPSS values are stated in the southern parts. For the Wupper catchment, correlation and RPSS show slightly negative values for MPI-ESM-LR and EPISODES.

In applying the standard recalibration version with a linear trend along start years, the correlation coefficients of EPISODES clearly improve in some southern, southwestern and far north-western areas (Figure 3A) compared to the unrecalibrated output (Figure 2B). However, some negative correlation remains in north-western parts and some significantly negative values in south-eastern parts. The usage of the optimized recalibration version applying a third order polynomial along start years is much more successful in adjusting the statistical properties of the high-resolution precipitation output to observations. It results in significantly positive correlation all over Germany, except for some small eastern areas (Figure 3B). In some regions correlations higher than 0.6 are calculated. Concerning the RPSS, the standard recalibration reveals some more significantly positive scores in the far northern parts but several more significantly negative scores in the western and south-eastern areas (Figure 3C) than the unrecalibrated model (Figure 2D). In contrast, the optimized recalibration version strongly improves RPSS values in north-western, western and southern Germany, achieving significantly positive scores in several regions (Figure 3D). In the Wupper catchment area, the standard recalibration degrades both scores but the optimized version results in strong improvements.

Some additional analyses showed that precipitation skill enhances from 1- to 3-up to 5-year means because smallscale unpredictable noise is reduced. Furthermore, skill remains rather constant from the beginning to the middle and then clearly drops until the end of the simulation period of the decadal prediction, denoting a clear leadtime dependency. The skill against the reference prediction "uninitialized climate projection," i.e., the same model system but without initialization, reveals that the impact of the initialization clearly remains until the mid of the predicted decade (not shown).

This analysis of precipitation is done in the full evaluation period 1961–2020 to be consistent for MPI-ESM-LR, EPISODES and both recalibration versions. Thus, the improvement of the optimized recalibration is found even when the outlier (year 1961) is included. However, in all following SPI analyses this outlier is omitted because the calculation of SPI is not possible.



coefficient between MPI-ESM-LR at ~200 km (A) or EPISODES at ~11 km (B) and HYRAS observations and RPSS of MPI-ESM-LR (C) or EPISODES (D) compared to the observed HYRAS climatology as reference prediction. Dots indicate significant skill (significance level of 95%).



coefficient between EPISODES at standard (A) or optimized recalibration (B) and HYRAS observations and RPSS of EPISODES at standard (C) or optimized recalibration (D) compared to the observed HYRAS climatology as reference prediction. Dots indicate significant skill (significance level of 95%).
SPI Prediction Skill

Frontiers in Climate | www.frontiersin.org



western, central and north-western Germany the correlation is clearly improved, showing widespread areas of values between 0.4 and 0.6 and several regions exceeding a correlation of 0.6. In eastern Germany, the area of negative values is also reduced. For RPSS, similar results can be stated. Enhanced positive scores in western Germany and less negative scores in eastern Germany are shown for SPI (**Figure 5A**) compared





observed HYRAS climatology as reference prediction. Dots indicate significant skill (significance level of 95%).

to precipitation (Figure 3D). This also holds for the Wupper catchment area.

Concerning the 3-year means of the four hydrological seasons, FMA reveals as well significantly positive correlation coefficients over most of Germany, achieving widespread maxima of 0.4–0.6 in western, central and southern parts and minima in the far north (**Figure 4B**). Significantly positive correlations in MMJ

(Figure 4C) and NDJ (Figure 4E) are restricted to some smaller regions, i.e., mainly in central-eastern and southern Germany, whereas NDJ shows even negative correlations in some western parts. Highest correlations of all seasons are found for ASO (Figure 4D), revealing widespread values of 0.4–0.6 in northern and western Germany and maxima of 0.6–0.8 north-east of the Wupper catchment and at the coastline of the North Sea.

Regarding the RPSS, FMA shows widespread positive scores, but significance is only found for single grid boxes in southern Germany which should not be over-interpreted (**Figure 5B**). MJJ also reveals only some significantly positive RPSS values in southern and central-eastern parts which might also be not robust (see Section Skill assessment) and even more negative scores (**Figure 5C**). As expected, worst skill results are found for NDJ with widespread negative scores and some significant ones in western parts (**Figure 5E**). Again, highest and widespread significantly positive scores are found for ASO in northern and western Germany (**Figure 5D**). However, significantly negative scores are seen in some eastern areas. The Wupper catchment area shows significantly positive correlations in ASO and partly in FMA. The RPSS is significantly positive as well in ASO but might be significantly negative in NDJ.

The FairRPSS can indicate which potential RPSS values could be achieved if the ensemble size grows further, e.g., in considering a larger multi-model ensemble. For the prevailing study, this was not possible since other decadal prediction systems did not provide necessary daily input data for statistical downscaling with EPISODES, but this might change in the future. For all temporal aggregations, the FairRPSS (Figure 6) shows more significantly positive scores and less significantly negative ones than the RPSS of the 16-member ensemble (Figure 5). Thus, a high potential for skill improvements due to a possible future enlargement of the ensemble size is found. For 3-year SPI of annual means, widespread skill over many German regions is found, except in eastern areas (Figure 6A). In FMA (Figure 6B) and MJJ (Figure 6C), significant skill is mainly discovered in southern and eastern parts, whereas ASO reveals widespread significantly positive scores in western and northern regions (Figure 6D). However, skill in NDJ remains limited to some small areas in the far north and south-west, even for larger ensemble sizes (Figure 6E). In the Wupper catchment area, significantly positive FairRPSS scores are computed for annual means, ASO and partly also for FMA (whereas the latter should not be over-interpreted).

Probabilistic SPI Prediction for 2021–2023

Following user needs the probabilistic SPI prediction for 2021-2023 (Figure 7), i.e., forecast years 1-3 initialized in November of 2020, is shown in combination with the corresponding RPSS prediction skill compared to the reference prediction "observed climatology" (cf., Figure 5). The color of the dots indicates the probabilistic prediction, and the size of the dots signifies the prediction skill. The 3-year SPI of annual means (Figure 7A) shows high probabilities of occurrence (larger than 85%) for dry conditions (negative SPI) in comparison to the characteristics of 1981-2010 in most of the area. The prediction skill is better than applying the observed climatology in several parts of northwestern, central and south-eastern Germany (large dots). Again, caution needs to be taken to not over-interpret single grid boxes. The skill and the probability for dry conditions are smaller in the eastern areas and in the far south. In the far north some probability for wet conditions prevails. Dry conditions are predicted for the whole Wupper catchment area, and there might be some significantly positive skill in its eastern parts.

A widespread drying for most of Germany is also predicted for FMA, but the probability of occurrence is often smaller, and skill is rarely better than the observed climatology (Figure 7B). Normal conditions are forecasted for the northern parts. In MJJ, the prediction of dry conditions focusses on the north-western, eastern and south-western areas, whereas normal conditions prevail in between (Figure 7C). Skill is found in some centraleastern and southern regions but needs to be interpreted with caution. A stronger drying is again predicted for the whole western part of Germany in ASO with widespread significant skill in north-western areas (Figure 7D). The eastern and the far northern parts show normal or wet conditions but some negative skill scores prevail in the eastern areas (small dots). Finally, the predicted dry conditions are mostly limited to central Germany in NDJ (Figure 7E). Wet conditions are forecasted in the northern and the south-western parts and normal values in between. However, the prediction skill is worse than the observed climatology in some western regions. For the Wupper catchment area, dry conditions are predicted in FMA, MJJ and especially in ASO and rather mixed conditions in NDJ, though, robust skill is only found in ASO.

Product Sheet of the Case Study

The 3-year SPI of annual means was selected for the C3S product sheet (Figure 8) showing widespread high prediction skill. To comply with the limited space given in the product sheet and keep the readability of the user-oriented combined prediction and skill plot, the spatial focus of the product sheet was set on north-western Germany (50.5-53.5°N, 6.5-11°E). This area reveals highest and most significant prediction skill, includes the Wupper catchment area and further addresses similar needs of neighboring water managers as stated on a C3S_34c showcasing event (see Section User Co-production and User Feedback on the Usability of the Product Sheet). The format of the product sheet was developed in cooperation with the scientists of all four C3S_34c case studies considering intensive user feedback (see Section User Co-production and User Feedback on the Usability of the Product Sheet). The first page includes a short description of the goal of the case study and the main prediction message within a prominent red box. Below that main information the combined prediction and skill plot and a corresponding text describe the probabilistic prediction in more detail. Further background information on the needs of the Wupper catchment water board and the data and methods used to compute the prediction is given on the second page. It also includes the RPSS prediction skill, applied to define the dot sizes of the combined prediction and skill plot, and the correlation coefficients. However, please note that the C3S product sheet was published in 2021 (see below) based on 500 bootstraps, whereas the figures of this manuscript use 1,000 bootstraps which might lead to slight differences in the significance of skill.

The product sheet was published in the Section "Decadal predictions for infrastructure" (see text footnote 3) on the C3S website on "Sectoral applications of decadal predictions" together with the three other C3S_34c case studies on agriculture, energy and insurance. This website is at a pre-operational



observed HYRAS climatology as reference prediction. Dots indicate significant skill (significance level of 95%).

state, offering the predictions initialized in November 2019 and 2020. This manuscript describes the case study initialized in 2020 only because that initialized in 2019 covers a shorter evaluation time period, a smaller area (only the Wupper catchment) and a different drought index (the SPEI) based on the old DWD prediction system and is less robust (see Section Conclusions). Further detailed information on model

and observational data, post-processing and evaluation methods and the analysis protocol for all four case studies was published in a common technical appendix⁷.

⁷https://climate.copernicus.eu/sites/default/files/2021-09/ Technical_appendix_2020.pdf



FIGURE 7 | Decadal probabilistic prediction for 3-year SPI of January–December (A), February–April (B), May–July (C), August–October (D) and November–January means (E) for forecast years 1–3: The color represents the most probable category (dry/normal/wet) in comparison to the climate characteristics for 1981–2010. The brightness describes the predicted probability of occurrence of this category. The size of the dots shows the RPSS prediction skill in the evaluation period 1962–2020 (cf., Figure 5).

User Co-production and User Feedback on the Usability of the Product Sheet

The 3-year SPI product sheet and corresponding analyses of hydrological seasons were generated in close co-production with

the Wupper catchment water board. They computed the SPI following their usual workflow based on the downscaled and recalibrated decadal predictions of DWD. After standardization, the skill analysis, computation of the probabilistic prediction



and design of the product sheet was done by DWD. The development of the climate service included several feedback loops, but the close co-development guarantees that the resulting climate service matches the needs of the Wupper catchment water board in terms of content and format to be applied in their working routine. They consider the skill of the high-resolution SPI predictions for annual means and ASO to be promising and would be interested in receiving similar skillful products for the other seasons (to cover the whole annual water management cycle: water storage in winter with regard to flood protection and water usage in dryer seasons) and the SPEI as well. The latter describes also the possible losses from the water surface of greater reservoirs than the SPI. Thus, it correlates better to water levels of dams of bigger sizes (Lorza-Villegas et al., 2021), and would further improve the applicability of this climate service. Analyses of SPEI predictions were also performed in co-production and were part of the product sheet initialized in November 2019. However, they proved to be less robust and skillful after a model update for the predictions initialized in 2020 (see Section Conclusions). Nevertheless, first user needs of the Wupper catchment water board could be clearly fulfilled.

In addition, a common C3S_34c event was organized to showcase the four case studies on sectoral decadal predictions. Several German water managers were present to discuss the developed product sheet (the old version initialized in November 2019). They found it well-structured and understandable and could use it in their work. It shouldn't include any technical terms but the technical appendix could do so. The combined plot of prediction and skill is very interesting but probably needs some further explanation, e.g., more information on the thresholds of the categories of the probabilistic prediction (see below). Overall, the product sheet is important for water managers in communicating the probabilistic prediction and its skill. In addition, hydrological modelers would be interested in information on further atmospheric variables relevant for impact modeling for different German regions or temporal aggregations and would also need the downscaled data for modeling. An operational product sheet could be accessible via the C3S website or even sent per e-mail.

Some feedback could be considered already within the project and some is part of the outlook (see Section Outlook): we modified the product sheet with respect to technical terms and



FIGURE 9 | Thresholds between the three categories of the decadal probabilistic prediction for 3-year SPI of January–December for forecast years 1–3, based on the 33% (A) and the 66% (B) terciles of observations in the reference period 1981–2010 (published on https://climate.copernicus.eu/sites/default/files/2021-09/ Technical_appendix_2020.pdf, modified).

explanations of the combined plot and enlarged the study area of the (old) product sheet from the Wupper catchment area to whole north-western Germany (as shown in this paper) to fulfill similar needs of neighboring water managers. A map of the 33 and 66% terciles of observations in the reference period 1981-2010, defining the thresholds between low and normal SPI as well as normal and high SPI, respectively, was added to the technical appendix (Figure 9). In the north-eastern and southeastern part of the study area the lower SPI threshold is below zero and the upper threshold above zero as expected. However, in the north-western, south-western and central parts both thresholds are above zero, indicating that the reference period reveals higher SPI values, i.e., wetter conditions, than the longterm evaluation period 1962-2020 chosen for standardization. This is especially true for the Wupper catchment area. Thus, the probabilistic SPI prediction for 2021-2023 in the product sheet showing widespread drying conditions for north-western Germany needs to be interpreted in the context that the reference period was clearly wetter than the long-term standardization period in several parts of the study area.

DISCUSSION

This final section provides a summary of the key findings of this study, discusses the major conclusions drawn from the results and gives a final outlook for future research.

Summary

In this study we present user-oriented high-resolution decadal drought predictions for German water boards, with focus on the Wupper catchment. To reach the desired horizontal resolution of ~11 km the global decadal climate predictions of MPI-ESM-LR are statistically downscaled by EPISODES. This procedure succeeds in preserving the prevailing MPI-ESM-LR prediction skill at higher resolution. The skill assessment is performed applying (anomaly) correlation coefficients and the RPSS against the reference prediction "observed climatology." For the downscaled predictions, the standard recalibration version with a linear trend along start years does not produce the expected skill improvements as achieved with global predictions. However, an optimized recalibration version using a third order polynomial along start years is able to clearly enhance correlation and RPSS in many German regions. After standardizing precipitation predictions, the SPI drought index reveals similar or higher skill than unstandardized precipitation.

The 3-year SPI of annual means for forecast years 1–3 shows widespread positive RPSS skill in many parts of Germany, achieving significance in several north-western, central and south-eastern regions. Concerning 3-year means of hydrological seasons, the skill of ASO predictions is significantly positive in many northern and western areas. However, the positive skill in FMA and MJJ achieves significance only in some limited areas (which should not be over-interpreted), whereas significantly negative skill is found in western Germany in NDJ. The FairRPSS shows higher scores, thus indicating that there is a clear potential of further skill improvement with increasing ensemble size. Widespread significantly positive scores are found in all temporal aggregations, except for NDJ where skill remains limited to some smaller areas.

A user-oriented plot combining prediction and skill is applied for the probabilistic SPI prediction for 2021–2023, initialized in November 2020. The 3-year SPI of annual means results in dry conditions compared to 1981–2010 in most of Germany.

High-Resolution Decadal Drought Predictions

The predicted drying is similarly widespread in FMA but less extensive in MJJ and ASO, leaving some smaller areas for which wet and normal conditions are forecasted. In NDJ, the prediction of dry conditions is limited to central Germany, and wet conditions are computed for the northern and south-western parts. However, significantly positive skill is mainly found for annual means and ASO. The Wupper catchment area is a typical example in western Germany: Mixed conditions are predicted in NDJ and dry conditions in all other temporal aggregations, but skill might only be prominent for ASO and partly for annual means (which should be interpreted with caution).

A 2-page product sheet was designed including the main message, information on the probabilistic prediction and background information on data and methods used and resulting skills. The 3-year SPI of annual means was selected showing widespread high skill. Due to the limited space of the product sheet, the study area is focused on north-western Germany including the Wupper catchment area (instead of showing whole Germany). The product sheet based on predictions initialized in November 2020 is published on the C3S website (see text footnote 3), together with three other sectoral case studies. Detailed additional information on data and methods can be found in the C3S technical appendix (see text footnote 7).

Co-production of the product sheet with the Wupper catchment water board guarantees its usability. Their feedback and that of further German water managers was gathered at a C3S_34c showcasing event. They stated that the product sheet can be used in their work and considered the skill to be promising. Further product sheets and data for hydrological modeling would be useful. Following their needs, the study area in the product sheet was enlarged from the Wupper catchment area (old version) to north-western Germany, and a map of the observed tercile-based thresholds of the categories of the probabilistic prediction was included in the technical appendix. It shows that the reference period 1981–2010 was wetter than the long-term SPI standardization period in several regions. This needs to be considered in interpreting the widespread drying in north-western Germany in the product sheet.

Conclusions

- (1) High spatial resolution of decadal predictions is needed by many users, especially water managers of small river catchments, such as the Wupper catchment water board. We find that the cost-efficient empirical-statistical downscaling procedure EPISODES is able to preserve the skill of the global prediction system at higher resolution of \sim 11 km. This observed conservation of skill at higher resolution confirms also former findings of applying EPISODES to seasonal predictions of hydropower production in Germany and Portugal (Ostermöller et al., 2021).
- (2) The optimized recalibration version applying third order polynomial parameters along start years can adjust highresolution EPISODES precipitation to observed statistics and clearly improve correlation and RPSS in most of Germany. The standard recalibration version using a linear trend along start years (cf., Pasternack et al., 2018, 2021) is sufficient for global predictions at coarser resolution, e.g., for global drought indices at 5° or 2° resolution (Paxian et al., 2019).

However, the variability of high-resolution precipitation in Germany makes the use of higher order polynomials, e.g., of the third order, necessary. This study reveals that statistical approaches can improve dynamical models which has also been shown by Sahastrabuddha and Ghosh (2021) applying multi-variate singular spectrum analysis, a computationally inexpensive data-driven model addressing oscillations and trends. The choice of approaches depends on variable, time and space under consideration and needs to be carefully considered in product development.

- (3) Overall, skillful high-resolution decadal predictions for 3year SPI of annual means are possible for several northwestern, central and south-eastern parts of Germany, exceeding correlation coefficients of 0.6 and/or revealing significantly positive RPSS against the reference prediction "observed climatology." This also holds for 3-year mean ASO predictions in northern and western Germany. The skill of these high-resolution results is mostly similar to decadal drought predictions of former studies: Paxian et al. (2019) find similar skill for 4-year mean SPI predictions in different areas of the globe. Four-year mean SPEI predictions based on the Thornthwaite (1948) parametrization for PET achieve higher skills in the tropics due to large temperature trends but cannot be applied to colder seasons in Germany. Solaraju-Murali et al. (2021) find as well positive RPSS for 5-year mean SPEI predictions for the 6 months preceding the wheat harvest month in several regions worldwide, based on a multi-model. For northern Germany and Scandinavia, Solaraju-Murali et al. (2019) detect multi-model skill of fiveyear mean summer SPI. Finally, similar correlations and probabilistic scores are found for a NAO-based multi-model prediction of the 10-year mean winter precipitation for regional means of Spanish and Italian river catchments (see text footnote 1).
- (4)The close co-production with the Wupper catchment water board in developing the product sheet is essential to guarantee that it is understandable, matches user needs and that format and content can be used in their working routine. They computed the drought index following their standard procedure because they use statistical relationships between drought index values and dam water levels based on this method. In addition, feedback of the Wupper catchment water board and further German water managers at the C3S_34c showcasing event was gathered. The usability of the product sheet in their work was confirmed, first feedback could be considered within the project, and we aim at developing further required products to consider the residual feedback in the future. This confirms similar experiences in the development of the DWD climate predictions website⁸. Users are involved in the product development via individual meetings, surveys and workshops, and such feedback loops strongly improve the understandability and applicability of the final climate service.
- (5) This case study was part of the C3S_34c contract developing sector-specific applications. A close scientific exchange between the developers took place improving the prevailing

⁸www.dwd.de/climatepredictions

product sheet. The first case study using the decadal predictions initialized in November 2019 applied the downscaling of the old MPI-ESM version. The focus was set on the 3-year mean high-resolution SPEI of the FMA season, closely following the user need and applying the Penman-Monteith parametrization (Allen et al., 1998) for PET. Unfortunately, high-resolution observations for wind and radiation in Germany are only available for a short evaluation period of 1995-2012. However, after a model update to the new MPI-ESM-LR version the first case study was not skillful any more. The developers of the other case studies recommended to use a longer evaluation period to be more robust, more ensemble members from different models to be more resilient against model updates and to improve skill in Europe considering the signal-tonoise paradox of weak predictable model signals (Scaife and Smith, 2018) and skillful large-scale teleconnections to improve the skill (see text footnote 1)⁹. In the second case study based on the downscaling of the new model version initialized in November 2020 (and presented now in this paper) the 3-year mean high-resolution SPI is chosen, allowing for a long evaluation period and robust statistical recalibration due to available high-resolution precipitation observations. The FairRPSS results (cf., Figure 6) indicate a potential skill improvement with increasing ensemble size. However, a multi-model cannot be downscaled because the daily input data for EPISODES is not (yet) available (see Section Outlook). In addition, large-scale teleconnections between a multi-model NAO prediction (based on the four global models of the scientific partners) and high-resolution SPI and SPEI observations in Germany were analyzed but the link is not strong enough to improve skill (see Section Outlook). Nevertheless, a skillful high-resolution SPI prediction is found, highlighting the benefit of close scientific exchange in product development.

(6) The final conclusion is the most important one and directly results from the experiences described in conclusion (5). User needs and scientific capabilities need to be weighed against each other. Users often ask for very specific products, considering complex variables, high spatial resolution and short time periods. However, decadal prediction skill is mostly found for large-scale variables over large regions and time periods. Thus, if no skill is detected for a certain user need, a "compromise solution" might be found in analyzing other variables, but of a similar kind, larger areas or longer time periods as described in conclusion (5). Within the co-production of a climate service such alternative products need to be defined in cooperation with the user, of course.

Outlook

This study motivates further research to improve decadal prediction skill of high-resolution drought predictions for German water boards: first, the statistical downscaling EPISODES should be applied to more ensemble members of a multi-model ensemble. To reach this goal daily temperature, relative humidity and geopotential height fields at different levels need to be available from decadal prediction systems. In addition, EPISODES was developed to downscale climate projections and is thus, optimized to reduce bias but not to enhance skill. Thus, the downscaling should not only consider the best relationship between a large-scale input variable and a high-resolution output variable but also the best skill of the largescale input. More skillful large-scale teleconnection patterns in a larger region of the North Atlantic/European sector need to be considered in statistical downscaling. A first analysis shows that the teleconnection of the NAO to Germany is not strong enough, but further teleconnections need to be investigated.

Second, the C3S_34c showcasing event revealed that German water boards are interested in decadal predictions of highresolution droughts and further atmospheric variables relevant for water management and hydrological impact modeling. Concerning more robust SPEI predictions, high-resolution observations for radiation and wind with long time periods would be needed for the Penman-Monteith parameterization (Allen et al., 1998) of PET. In this context, it would be interesting to test the parameterization of Hargreaves and Samani (1985), requiring less input data than Penman-Monteith and thus, simplifying the search for high-resolution observations in Germany. Instead, the parameterization of Thornthwaite (1948) cannot be computed for cold seasons in Germany. Overall, DWD plans to publish operational predictions for high-resolution drought conditions in Germany for the next weeks, months and years based on sub-seasonal, seasonal and decadal climate predictions on the DWD climate predictions website (see text footnote 8). Further relevant variables such as wind, humidity or radiation might be added as well to cover the needs of German water boards and hydrological modelers. In addition, the access to the downscaled prediction data should be enabled. Regular exchange in user workshops, surveys and individual user meetings supports the development of this climate service to ensure that the presented operational prediction products are understandable and can be applied in the working routines of the users.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

APax designed the methodological concept of the case study assisted by BF, KP, and MS. KP generated the global model data. AH and PL generated the downscaled data. APas and BM conducted the recalibration. ML-V, KR, and KP conducted the calculation of the SPI (and the SPEI in the first case study). KR and APax assessed the prediction skill, estimated probabilistic predictions, designed the product sheet, and considered the user feedback. APas executed a SPI (and SPEI) prediction based on a multi-model NAO prediction. APax wrote the manuscript and considered revisions of all coauthors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

⁹https://climate.copernicus.eu/decadal-predictions-insurance

FUNDING

The authors acknowledge funding from the C3S_34c contract on the development of prototype climate services based on decadal predictions (contract number: ECMWF/COPERNICUS/2019/C3S_34c_DWD) of the Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) operated by the European Centre of Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF). In addition, several authors were funded by the Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD) and the Wupper catchment water board (Wupperverband).

REFERENCES

- Agresti, A., and Hitchcock, D. B. (2005). Bayesian inference for categorical data analysis. *Statist. Meth. Applicat.* 14, 297–330. doi: 10.1007/s10260-005-0 121-y
- Allen, R., Pereira, L., Raes, D., and Smith, M. (1998). Crop Evapotranspiration – Guidelines for Computing Crop Water Requirements. FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Available online at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/ X0490E/x0490e00.htm#Contents (accessed January 26, 2022)
- Athanasiadis, P. J., Yeager, S., Kwon, Y. O., Bellucci, A., Smith, D. W., and Tibaldi, S. (2020). Decadal predictability of North Atlantic blocking and the NAO. NPJ Clim. Atmos. Sci. 3, 20. doi: 10.1038/s41612-020-0120-6
- Bellucci, A., Haarsma, R., Bellouin, N., Booth, B., Cagnazzo, C., van den Hurk, B., et al. (2015). Advancements in decadal climate predictability: the role of nonoceanic drivers. *Rev. Geophys.* 53, 165–202. doi: 10.1002/2014RG0 00473
- Benson, C., and E. J., Clay (1998). The Impact of Drought on Sub-Saharan Economies. World Bank Tech. Paper No. 401. London: Overseas Development Institute, Regent's College. doi: 10.1596/0-8213-4180-4
- Bosseler, B., Salomon, M., Schlüter, M., and Rubinato, M. (2021). Living with urban flooding: a continuous learning process for local municipalities and lessons learnt from the 2021 events in Germany. *Water* 13, 2769. doi: 10.3390/w13192769
- Brune, S., Nerger, L., and Baehr, J. (2015). Assimilation of oceanic observations in a global coupled Earth system model with the SEIK filter. *Ocean Modell*. 96, 254–264. doi: 10.1016/j.ocemod.2015.09.011
- Bruno Soares, M., Alexander, M., and Dessai, S. (2018). Sectoral use of climate information in Europe: a synoptic overview. *Clim. Serv.* 9, 5–20. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2017.06.001
- Buontempo, C., Hanlon, H. M., Bruno Soares, M., Christel, I., Soubeyroux, J. M., Viel, C., et al. (2018). What have we learnt from EUPORIAS climate service prototypes? *Clim. Serv.* 9, 21–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2017.06.003
- Buontempo, C., Hutjes, R., Beavis, P., Berckmans, J., Cagnazzo, C., Vamborg, F., et al. (2019). Fostering the development of climate services through Copernicus climate change service (C3S) for agricultural applications. *Weath. Clim. Extr.* 27, 100226. doi: 10.1016/j.wace. 2019.100226
- Changnon, S. D. (2003). Measure of economic impacts of weather extremes. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc. 84, 1231–1235. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-84-9-1231
- Chikamoto, Y., A., Timmermann, S., Stevenson, P., Dinezio, S., and Langford (2015). Decadal predictability of soil water, vegetation, and wildfire frequency over North America. *Clim. Dyn.* 45, 2213–2235. doi: 10.1007/s00382-015-2469-5
- Dunstone, N., Lockwood, J., Solaraju-Murali, B., Reinhardt, K., Tsartsali, E., et al. (2022). Towards useful decadal climate services. *Bull. Amer. Met. Soc.* (in press). doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-21-0190.1
- Ernste, H. (2011). Angewandte Statistik in Geographie und Umweltwissenschaften. Zurich: vdf, UTB.
- Eyring, V., Bony, S., Meehl, G. A., Senior, C. A., Stevens, B., Stouffer, R. J., et al. (2016). Overview of the coupled model Intercomparison project phase 6 (CMIP6) experimental design and organization. *Geosc. Model Develop.* 9, 1937–1958. doi: 10.5194/gmd-9-1937-2016

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Wupper catchment water board for providing the algorithm for SPI calculation, and we are grateful to the MiKlip project for providing the FREVA software tools including recalibration, skill assessment and probabilistic prediction tools. We especially acknowledge the developers of the other C3S_34c case studies, Jens Grieger (Freie Universität Berlin), Clementine Dalelane and Markus Ziese (DWD) for discussions to improve the methodological concept of this study.

- Feldmann, H., Pinto, J. G., Laube, N., Uhlig, M., Moemken, J., Früh, B., et al. (2019). Skill and added value of the MiKlip regional decadal prediction system for temperature over Europe. *Tellus A* 71, 1618678. doi: 10.1080/16000870.2019.1618678
- Ferro, C. A. T. (2013). Fair scores for ensemble forecasts. Q. R. J. Meteorol. Soc. 140, 1917–1923. doi: 10.1002/qj.2270
- Ferro, C. A. T., Richardson, D. S., and Weigel, A. P. (2008). On the effect of ensemble size on the discrete and continuous ranked probability scores. *Meteor. Appl.* 15, 19–24. doi: 10.1002/met.45
- Frick, C., Steiner, H., Mazurkiewicz, A., Riediger, U., Rauthe, M., Reich, T., et al. (2014). Central European high-resolution gridded daily data sets (HYRAS): mean temperature and relative humidity. *Meteorol. Z.* 23, 15–32. doi: 10.1127/0941-2948/2014/0560
- Fricko, O., Havlik, P., Rogelj, J., Klimont, Z., Gusti, M., and Johnson, N. (2017). The marker quantification of the Shared Socioeconomic Pathway 2: a middleof-the-road scenario for the 21st century. *Glob. Env. Change.* 42, 251–267, doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.06.004
- Gangstø, R., Weigel, A. P., Liniger, M. A., and Appenzeller, C. (2013). Methodological aspects of the validation of decadal predictions. *Clim. Res.* 55, 181–200. doi: 10.3354/cr01135
- Good, S. A., Martin, M. J., and Rayner, N. A. (2013). EN4: Quality controlled ocean temperature and salinity profiles and monthly objective analyses with uncertainty estimates. *J. Geophys. Res. Oceans.* 118, 6704–6716. doi: 10.1002/2013JC009067
- Hargreaves, G. H., and Samani, Z. A. (1985). Reference crop evapotranspiration from temperature. Appl. Engin. Agricult. 1, 96–99. doi: 10.13031/2013.26773
- Hermanson, L., Eade, R., Robinson, N. H., Dunstone, N. J., Andrews, M. B., Knight, J. R., et al. (2014). Forecast cooling of the Atlantic subpolar gyre and associated impacts. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 41, 5167–5174. doi: 10.1002/2014GL060420
- Hermanson, L., Smith, D., Seabrook, M., Bilbao, R., Doblas-Reyes, F., Tourigny, E., et al. (2022). WMO global annual to decadal climate update: a prediction for 2021–2025. *Bull. Am. Met. Soc.* 103, E1117–E1129. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-20-0311.1
- Hersbach, H., Bell, B., Berrisford, P., Hirahara, S., Horányi, A., Muñoz-Sabater, J., et al. (2020). The ERA5 global reanalysis. Q. J. R. Meteorol. Soc. 146, 1999–2049. doi: 10.1002/qj.3803
- Illing, S., Kadow, C., Kunst, O., and Cubasch, U. (2014). MurCSS: a tool for standardized evaluation of decadal hindcast systems. *J. Open Res. Softw.* 2, e24. doi: 10.5334/jors.bf
- Jungclaus, J. H., Fischer, N., Haak, H., Lohmann, K., Marotzke, J., Matei, D., et al. (2013). Characteristics of the ocean simulations in MPIOM, the ocean component of the MPI-Earth system model. J. Adv. Model. Earth Syst. 5, 422–446. doi: 10.1002/jame.20023
- Kadow, C., Illing, S., Lucio-Eceiza, E. E., Bergemann, M., Ramadoss, M., Sommer, P. S., et al. (2021). Introduction to Freva – a free evaluation system framework for Earth system modeling. *J. Open Res. Softw.* 9, 13. doi: 10.5334/jors.253
- Kalnay, E., Kanamitsu, M., Kistler, R., Collins, W., Deaven, D., Gandin, L., et al. (1996). The NCEP/NCAR 40-year reanalysis project. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 77, 437–471. doi: 10.1175/1520-0477(1996)077<0437:TNYRP>2.0.CO;2
- Kharin, V. V., Boer, G. J., Merryfield, W. J., Scinocca, J. F., and Lee, W.-S. (2012). Statistical adjustment of decadal predictions in a changing climate. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 39, L19705. doi: 10.1029/2012GL052647

- Klein, W., Lewis, B., and Enger, I. (1959). Objective prediction of fiveday mean temperatures during winter. J. Meteorol. 16, 672–682. doi: 10.1175/1520-0469(1959)016<0672:OPOFDM>2.0.CO;2
- Koks, E., Van Ginkel, K., Van Marle, M., and Lemnitzer, A. (2021). Brief Communication: critical infrastructure impacts of the 2021 mid-July western European flood event. *Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci. Discuss.* (Preprint, in review). doi: 10.5194/nhess-2021-394. Available online at: https://nhess. copernicus.org/preprints/nhess-2021-394/
- Kreienkamp, F., Lorenz, P., and Geiger, T. (2020). Statistically downscaled CMIP6 projections show stronger warming for Germany. *Atmosphere* 11, 1245. doi: 10.3390/atmos11111245
- Kreienkamp, F., Paxian, A., Früh, B., Lorenz, P., and Matulla, C. (2018). Evaluation of the empirical-statistical downscaling method EPISODES. *Clim. Dyn.* 52, 991–1026 (2019). doi: 10.1007/s00382-018-4276-2
- Kreienkamp, F., Philip, S. Y., Tradowsky, J. S., Kew, S. F., Lorenz, P., Arrighi, J., et al. (2021). Rapid Attribution of Heavy Rainfall Events Leading to the Severe Flooding in Western Europe During July 2021. Available online at: https://www. worldweatherattribution.org/wp-content/uploads/Scientific-report-Western-Europe-floods-2021-attribution.pdf (accessed January 26, 2022)
- Kruschke, T., Rust, H. W., Kadow, C., Leckebusch, G. C., and Ulbrich, U. (2014). Evaluating decadal predictions of northern hemispheric cyclone frequencies. *Tellus A* 66, 22830. doi: 10.3402/tellusa.v66.22830
- Kruschke, T., Rust, H. W., Kadow, C., Müller, W. A., Pohlmann, H., Leckebusch, G. C., et al. (2015). Probabilistic evaluation of decadal prediction skill regarding Northern Hemisphere winter storms. *Meteorol. Z.* 25, 721–738. doi: 10.1127/metz/2015/0641
- Kushnir, Y., Scaife, A. A., Arritt, R., Balsamo, G., Boer, G., Doblas-Reyes, F., et al. (2019). Towards operational predictions of the near-term climate. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 9, 94–101. 10.1038/s41558-018-0359-7
- Lloyd-Hughes, B., and M. A., Saunders (2002). A drought climatology for Europe. *Int. J. Climatol.* 22, 1571–1592. doi: 10.1002/joc.846
- Lorza-Villegas, M. P., Becker, R., Scheibel, M., aus der Beek, T., and Roehrig, J. (2021). Assessing short-term climate change impacts on water supply at the Wupper catchment area, Germany. *Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci.* (Preprint, in review). doi: 10.5194/nhess-2020-429. Available online at: https://nhess. copernicus.org/preprints/nhess-2020-429/
- Matei, D., Pohlmann, H., Jungclaus, J., Müller, W., Haak, H., and Marotzke, J. (2012). Two tales of initializing decadal climate prediction experiments with the ECHAM5/MPI-OMmodel. J. Climate. 25, 8502–8523. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-11-00633.1
- McKee, T. B., Doesken, N. J., and Kliest, J. (1993). "The relationship of drought frequency and duration to time scales", in *Proceedings of the 8th Conference* of Applied Climatology, 17–22 January (Anaheim, CA: Boston, MA: Am. Met. Soc.), 179–184.
- Meehl, G. A., Goddard, L., Murphy, J., Stouffer, R. J., Boer, G., Danabasoglu, G., et al. (2009). Decadal prediction – can it be skilful? *Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc.* 90, 1467–1485. doi: 10.1175/2009BAMS2778.1
- Moemken, J., Feldmann, H., Pinto, J. G., Buldmann, B., Laube, N., Kadow, C., et al. (2020). The regional MiKlip decadal prediction system for Europe: hindcast skill for extremes and user-oriented variables. *Int. J. Climatol.* 2020, 1–14. doi: 10.1002/joc.6824
- Moemken, J., Reyers, M., Buldmann, B., and Pinto, J. G. (2016). Decadal predictability of regional scale wind speed and wind energy potentials over Central Europe. *Tellus A* 68, 29199. doi: 10.3402/tellusa.v68.29199
- Ostermöller, J., Lorenz, P., Fröhlich, K., Kreienkamp, F., and Früh, B. (2021). Downscaling and evaluation of seasonal climate data for the european power sector. *Atmosphere* 12, 304. doi: 10.3390/atmos12030304
- Paeth, H., Paxian, A., Sein, D., Jacob, D., Panitz, H.-J., Warscher, M., et al. (2017). Decadal and multi-year predictability of the West African monsoon and the role of dynamical downscaling. *Meteorol. Z.* 26, 363–377. doi: 10.1127/metz/2017/0811
- Palmer, W. C. (1965). Meteorological Drought. Research paper no. 45. Washington, DC: U.S. Weather Bureau. Available online at: http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/ temp-and-precip/drought/docs/palmer.pdf (accessed January 26, 2022).
- Pasternack, A., Bhend, J., Liniger, M. A., Rust, H. W., Müller, W. A., and Ulbrich, U. (2018). Parametric decadal climate forecast recalibration (DeFoReSt 1.0). *Geosci. Model Dev.* 11, 351–368. doi: 10.5194/gmd-2017-162

- Pasternack, A., Grieger, J., Rust, H. W., and Ulbrich, U. (2021). Recalibrating decadal climate predictions – what is an adequate model for the drift? *Geosci. Model Dev.* 14, 4335–4355. doi: 10.5194/gmd-14-4335-2021
- Paxian, A., Sein, D., Panitz, H.-J., Warscher, M., Breil, M., Engel, T., et al. (2016). Bias reduction in decadal predictions of West African monsoon rainfall using regional climate models. *J. Geophys. Res. Atmos.* 121, 1715–1735. doi: 10.1002/2015JD024143
- Paxian, A., Ziese, M., Kreienkamp, F., Pankatz, K., Brand, S., and Pasternack, A. (2019). User-oriented global predictions of the GPCC drought index for the next decade. *Meteorol. Z.* 28, 3–21. doi: 10.1127/metz/2018/0912
- Pohlmann, H., Müller, W. A., Kulkarni, K., Kameswarrao, M., Matei, D., Vamborg, F. S. E., et al. (2013). Improved forecast skill in the tropics in the new MiKlip decadal climate predictions. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 40, 5798–5802. doi: 10.1002/2013GL058051
- Rauthe, M., Steiner, H., Riediger, U., Mazurkiewicz, A., and Gratzki, A. (2013). A Central European precipitation climatology – part I: generation and validation of a high-resolution gridded daily data set (HYRAS). *Meteorol. Z.* 22, 235–256. doi: 10.1127/0941-2948/2013/0436
- Razafimaharo, C., Krähenmann, S., Höpp, S., Rauthe, M., and Deutschländer, T. (2020). New high-resolution gridded dataset of daily mean, minimum, and maximum temperature and relative humidity for Central Europe (HYRAS). *Theor. Appl. Climatol.* 142, 1531–1553. doi: 10.1007/s00704-020-03388-w
- Reyers, M., Feldmann, H., Mieruch, S., Pinto, J. G., Uhlig, M., Ahrens, B., et al. (2019). Development and prospects of the regional MiKlip decadal prediction system over Europe: predictive skill, added value of regionalization, and ensemble size dependency. *Earth Syst. Dyn.* 10, 171–187. doi: 10.5194/esd-10-171-2019
- Richling, A., Kadow, C., and Illing, S. (2017). *Problems*. Version from March 10, 2017. Available online at: https://www.xces.dkrz.de/about/problems/ (accessed January 26, 2022).
- Risbey, J. S., Squire, D. T., Black, A. S., et al. (2021). Standard assessments of climate forecast skill can be misleading. *Nat. Commun.* 12, 4346. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-23771-z
- Sahastrabuddha, R., and Ghosh, S. (2021). Does statistical model perform at par with computationally expensive general circulation model for decadal prediction? *Environ. Res. Lett.* 16, 064028. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/ abfeed
- Salvi, K., Villarini, G., and Vecchi, G. A. (2017). High resolution decadal precipitation predictions over the continental United States for impacts assessment. J. Hydrol. 553, 559–573. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2017.07.043
- San-Martín, D., Manzanas, R., Brands, S., Herrera, S., and Gutiérrez, J. M. (2017). Reassessing model uncertainty for regional projections of precipitation with an ensemble of statistical downscaling methods. *J. Clim.* 30, 203–223. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-16-0366.1
- Scaife, A. A., and Smith, D. (2018). A signal-to-noise paradox in climate science. NPJ Clim. Atmos. Sci. 1, 28. doi: 10.1038/s41612-018-0038-4
- Schuldt, B., Buras, A., Arend, M., Vitasse, Y., Beierkuhnlein, C., Damm, A., et al. (2020). A first assessment of the impact of the extreme 2018 summer drought on Central European forests. *Basic Appl. Ecol.* 45, 86–103. doi: 10.1016/j.baae.2020.04.003
- Sheen, K. L., Smith, D. M., Dunstone, N. J., Eade, R., Rowell, D. P., and Vellinga, M. (2017). Skilful prediction of Sahel summer rainfall on interannual and multi-year timescales. *Nat. Comm.* 8, 14966. doi: 10.1038/ncomms 14966
- Siegert, S. (2014). SpecsVerification: Forecast Verification Routines for Ensemble Forecasts of Weather and Climate. Available online at: http://CRAN.R-project. org/package=SpecsVerification (accessed January 28, 2022).
- Smith, D. M., Eade, R., Scaife, A. A., Caron, L.-P., Danabasoglu, G., DelSole, T. M., et al. (2019). Robust skill of decadal climate predictions. *NPJ Clim. Atmos. Sci.* 2, 1–10. doi: 10.1038/s41612-019-0071-y
- Smith, D. M., Scaife, A. A., Eade, R., Athanasiadis, P., Bellucci, A., Bethke, I., et al. (2020). North Atlantic climate far more predictable than models imply. *Nature* 583, 796–800. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2525-0
- Sohn, S.-J., Ahn, J.-B., and Tam, C.-Y. (2013). Six month-lead downscaling prediction of winter to spring drought in South Korea based on a multimodel ensemble. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 40, 579–583. doi: 10.1002/grl. 50133

- Solaraju-Murali, B., Caron, L.-P., Gonzalez-Reviriego, N., and Doblas-Reyes, F. J. (2019). Multi-year prediction of European summer drought conditions for the agricultural sector. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 14, 124014. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/ab5043
- Solaraju-Murali, B., Gonzalez-Reviriego, N., Caron, L.-P., Ceglar, A., Toreti, A., Zampieri, M., et al. (2021). Multi-annual prediction of drought and heat stress to support decision making in the wheat sector. *NPJ Clim. Atmos. Sci.* 4, 34. doi: 10.1038/s41612-021-00189-4
- Stevens, B., Giorgetta, M., Esch, M., Mauritsen, T., Crueger, T., Rast, S., et al. (2013). Atmospheric component of the MPI-M Earth system model: ECHAM6. J. Adv. Model. Earth Sys. 5, 146–172. doi: 10.1002/jame. 20015
- Thornthwaite, C. (1948). An approach towards a rational classification of climate. *Geogr. Rev.* 38, 55–94. doi: 10.2307/210739
- Toreti, A., Belward, A., Perez-Dominguez, I., Naumann, G., Luterbacher, J., Cronie, O., et al. (2019). The exceptional 2018 European water seesaw calls for action on adaptation. *Earth's Future* 7, 652–663. doi: 10.1029/2019EF 001170
- Uppala, S. M., KÅllberg, P. W., Simmons, A. J., Andrae, U., Da Costa Bechtold, V., Fiorino, M., et al. (2005). The ERA-40 re-analysis. Q. J. R. Meteorol. Soc. 131, 2961–3012. doi: 10.1256/qj.04.176
- Van Oldenborgh, G. J., Doblas-Reyes, F. J., Wouters, B., and Hazeleger, W. (2012). Decadal prediction skill in a multi-model ensemble. *Clim. Dyn.* 38, 1263–1280. doi: 10.1007/s00382-012-1313-4
- Vicente-Serrano, S. M., Begueria, S. A. S., and Lopez-Moreno, J. I. (2010). A multiscalar Drought Index sensitive to global warming: the standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index. J. Clim. 23, 1696–1718. doi: 10.1175/2009JCLI2909.1

- Wieland, M., and Martinis, S. (2020). Large-scale surface water change observed by Sentinel-2 during the 2018 drought in Germany. *Int. J. Rem. Sens.* 41, 4742–4756. doi: 10.1080/01431161.2020.1723817
- Wilks, D. (2011). *Statistical Methods in the Atmospheric Sciences*. Oxford; Amsterdam: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Wilks, D. (2016). "The Stippling Shows Statistically Significant Grid Points": How research results are routinely overstated and overinterpreted, and what to do about it. *Bull. Amer. Met. Soc.* 97, 2263–2273. doi:10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00267.1

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Paxian, Reinhardt, Pankatz, Pasternack, Lorza-Villegas, Scheibel, Hoff, Mannig, Lorenz and Früh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Designing Climate Information Services to Enhance Resilient Farming Activities: Lessons From Papua New Guinea

Rachel S. Friedman^{1*}, Ellis Mackenzie², Ruth Baiga³, Kasis Inape⁴, Steven J. Crimp^{1,5†} and Mark Howden^{1†}

¹ Institute for Climate, Energy, and Disaster Solutions, College of Science, The Australian National University, Acton, ACT, Australia, ² Sustineo Pty Ltd., Canberra, ACT, Australia, ³ Momase Regional Centre, National Agricultural Research Institute of Papua New Guinea, Bubia, Papua New Guinea, ⁴ Climate and Special Services Division, PNG National Weather Service, Boroko, Papua New Guinea, ⁵ Fenner School of Environment and Society, The Australian National University, Acton, ACT, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Janette Bessembinder, Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Gilbert Ouma, University of Nairobi, Kenya Jeetendra Prakash Aryal, International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center, Mexico

*Correspondence:

Rachel S. Friedman rachel.friedman@anu.edu.au

> [†]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Predictions and Projections, a section of the journal Frontiers in Climate

Received: 09 February 2022 Accepted: 01 June 2022 Published: 20 July 2022

Citation:

Friedman RS, Mackenzie E, Baiga R, Inape K, Crimp SJ and Howden M (2022) Designing Climate Information Services to Enhance Resilient Farming Activities: Lessons From Papua New Guinea. Front. Clim. 4:871987. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2022.871987

Anthropogenically-driven changes in seasonal climate patterns are already jeopardizing traditional farming practices all around the world. These climatic changes increasingly expose farmers to challenging conditions, reducing the efficacy of existing farm practices and productivity. There is a plethora of information, tools, and practices that could be useful for farmers trying to respond to climate variability and change, including climate projections, horticultural advances, and agricultural management best practices. Whilst these tools and knowledge exist, they are often not contextualized in ways that equitably facilitate decision-making and action. To ensure weather and climate information services are accessible and useful to farmers, it is critical to understand and integrate considerations for the desired types, timing, and uses of the information. The one-size-fits-all information services that are often available don't account for regional or social differences, local physical conditions, or the needs of different populations. In order to improve our understanding of how weather and climate information services can better cater to farmers' needs when modifying and adapting their goals, risk management, and farm practices, we carried out a household survey in communities across three provinces in Papua New Guinea. The survey was developed to draw out key design considerations for seasonal climate forecasts in terms of timing, type of information, and applications. Based on the clustering and associations of these variables, this study identifies different profiles of information services content. It then examines whether specific profiles are associated with demographic groups or geographic locations. The findings demonstrate gender and geographic differences in the desired bundles of weather and climate information, and therefore can help to pinpoint specific components that would be beneficial to incorporate into extension and outreach programmes in different contexts within Papua New Guinea. This study highlights the value of tailoring weather and climate information services with specific groups of farmers, thereby enabling more equitable access to and use of critical knowledge for smallholders to build the capacity, knowledge, and systems to strategically adapt to climate change. At the same time, this study illustrates areas to gain efficiency and potentially scale up the provision of climate information services.

Keywords: climate information services, Papua New Guinea, smallholder farming, gender, cluster analysis

INTRODUCTION

The Climate Challenge for Agriculture

Island nations are expected to be increasingly and severely vulnerable to adverse impacts of climate change (Mycoo et al., 2021). The residents of Pacific Island nations are likely to face particularly detrimental effects from climate change, including major impacts related to sea level rise and shifts in rainfall leading to freshwater challenges (Nurse et al., 2014). The Sixth Assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) found that the Pacific will experience increasingly extreme weather, in terms of elevated temperatures, periods of heavy rainfall, flooding, and drought, and progressively more intense tropical cyclones (Ranasinghe et al., 2021).

Communities reliant on agriculture-based livelihood systems have been identified as particularly at risk from climate change, due to likely increases in crop failure, new patterns of pests and diseases, lack of appropriate seed and plant material, and loss of livestock (Taylor et al., 2016; Iese et al., 2020). These types of impacts are already reducing the growth in productivity of agriculture across most of the globe (Ortiz-Bobea et al., 2021). In the South Pacific region, recent shortfalls in agricultural production resulting from climatic variations and changes, in addition to changing export markets, commodity prices, population growth, and urbanization, have meant a greater reliance on imported foods, thus contributing further to regional food insecurity concerns for the future (Taylor et al., 2016).

In Papua New Guinea (PNG), the largest Pacific Island nation, around 80% of the food consumed is grown domestically (Iese et al., 2020). Historical analyses have shown that the variability of food production is strongly correlated with climate variability. For instance, a strong El Niño event typically reduces rainfall significantly below the mean in otherwise wet regions for extended periods, prolonging dry seasons, generating drought conditions, and reducing cloud cover (Smith et al., 2013). A decrease in rainfall can contribute to water stress and reduced crop productivity. Furthermore, the reduction in cloud cover and drier atmospheric conditions that promote radiative cooling in the highlands of PNG can also increase the probability of frost damage to crops (Smith et al., 2013). While there is still uncertainty around the extent to which elevated greenhouse gas concentrations will affect El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO), increasing rainfall variability associated with ENSO-like conditions in the Pacific is highly likely and will further stress agriculture production in PNG (Cai et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2021). Current and historical impacts are a portent of what can be expected to occur under projected climate changes.

The observed and projected climatic changes expose farmers increasingly to conditions outside of those they regularly experience, requiring new knowledge and adapted practices to respond. Farmers have begun to respond to stresses by altering planting times, shifting to better-adapted varieties of crops and livestock, improving soil organic matter, adopting agroforestry and low-carbon farming, and relocating farms (Iese et al., 2020). However, farmers will need to make the sufficient and efficient adjustments and potentially transformative changes in the face of This study aims to understand the information needs of farmers in order to assist the design of knowledge, tools, and practices to enable effective adaptation to climate variability and change. While there is a plethora of tools and knowledge that could be useful to farmers trying to adapt to climate variability and change, barriers related to accessibility, context, and use continue to persist (Hewitt et al., 2020). It is therefore critical to identify what factors influence adoption and adaptation of farm practices, and how to design fit-for-purpose information systems (Shepherd, 2019).

Informing Farm Adaptation

Access to extension and weather and climate information services has been shown to increase the abilities of farmers to adopt better management practices and adapt to climate variability (e.g., Belay et al., 2017; Juan, 2018). Such information services translate weather and climate information into advisories that can aid decision-making, such as supporting farm management choices (Tall et al., 2018). In the farm-level management context, weather and short-term climate information at timescales of days, weeks, months, and seasons are of greatest interest and use (Nkiaka et al., 2019). While weather and climate information can be produced through a variety of sources and methods (Singh et al., 2018), packaging it as an information service requires tailoring content and delivery so that it is salient for end users (Tall et al., 2018; Nkiaka et al., 2019).

Previous research has shown that access to weather and climate information can improve farmers' awareness of climate change, including what climate change is, the impacts it can have, and constraints to adapting (Roco et al., 2015; Habtemariam et al., 2016; Ng'ombe et al., 2020). Studies have also shown that smallholder farmers who have access to weather and climate information—particularly seasonal and sub-seasonal scale forecasts—are more likely to implement climate adaptation strategies, including late or early plantings, use of early maturing crops, agroforestry practices, and soil and water conservation measures (Belay et al., 2017; Dewi and Whitbread, 2017). Such climate and weather information is especially valuable where farming is vulnerable to climate variability, such as in smallholder rainfed systems (Meza et al., 2008), like those in PNG.

The form and content of weather and climate information can vary based on available resources, as well as the intended purpose or use of this information. Seasonal climate forecasts, one family of products that can guide choices farmers make, can reduce uncertainty for farmers when implemented systematically, by enabling them to differentially weight the possible outcomes in a season (Meza et al., 2008). Studies have shown that seasonal climate forecasts should be produced and have relevance at different levels—from national or regional, down to the local—in order to be context relevant and action orientated (Bouroncle et al., 2019). For example, in Colombia and Guatemala, Bouroncle et al. (2019) identified monthly and seasonal climate and agro-climatic bulletins and daily (agrometeorological) forecasts as available to farmers. Broadly, this information was used to advise on agricultural activity planning, provide early warning of extreme climate events or food security alerts, and for organizational planning. Conversely, a study in the Pacific Island nations of Vanuatu, Niue, Solomon Islands, and Tonga examining the types of information local communities used, found that most people preferred to use traditional knowledge-based forecasts, except during extreme events like cyclones, when contemporary forecasting systems were used (Chambers et al., 2019). In PNG, agricultural extension services encompass communication and learning activities for agrarian communities ranging from agronomy and cultivation, to business and marketing, to engineering and technology (Sitapai, 2012). However, current agricultural extension services do not explicitly integrate weather and climate forecasting.

What Affects Information Access and Use?

Often, the one-size-fits-all model for available information products doesn't account for regional cultural discrepancies, local physical conditions, or the needs of different populations. There is evidence from studies in Africa that broadly similar needs may exist across the continent, but information must be tailored for different socially-constructed user groups (Nkiaka et al., 2019). Gender has been highlighted as a critical factor in dictating the necessary content, form, and dissemination of weather and climate information services (Farnworth and Colverson, 2015; Chanana et al., 2018). In many cases these divergent information needs are attributed to established gender roles and unequal participation in decision-making (Jost et al., 2016; Mehar et al., 2016). As an example, in a study in Bangladesh, men were responsible for on-the-ground agricultural activities, marketing, and managing farm proceeds, while women undertook postharvest work and livestock production (Jost et al., 2016). These roles meant men sought out climate information relevant to land preparation, cultivation, and crop varieties, while women sought information relevant to new income-generating activities, credit schemes, and coping mechanisms for times of food insecurity. Similarly, information needs varied in Ghana, where men reported accessing and using weather information to plan cropping areas and varieties, as well as household protections from storms (Jost et al., 2016). Conversely, women accessed information suited for planning their household chores, like firewood and water collection, milling, cooking, and washing. Research in Africa and Asia has argued that differences in access to assets (e.g., land, financial, natural, social) between men and women underpin adaptation strategies and consequently the types of weather and climate information required (Aryal et al., 2020, 2021; Islam et al., 2021). Following an intersectional approach, other socio-demographic factors, such as education, age, social status, and income have also been shown as influencing adaptation strategies in smallholder farming (Belay et al., 2017; Friedman et al., 2018; Tall et al., 2018; Carr et al., 2020; Lawson et al., 2020).

While a range of forecast tools and knowledge exist, they are often not contextualized or translated in ways that encourage or facilitate decision-making and adaptation (Lemos et al., 2012; Hansen et al., 2019). Review articles have identified and elaborated on a number of broad constraints and facilitating

factors that influence access and use of climate information products, particularly climate forecasts. The relevance and credibility of the information and the legitimacy of processes are critical predisposing factors to adoption (Cash and Buizer, 2005). In sub-Saharan Africa, constraints relate to the information content, access to forecasts, and availability of resources to act on information (Hansen et al., 2011). Another global review outlined the issues of fit, interaction, and interplay as three areas of barriers and opportunities for using climate information services (Lemos et al., 2012). For this study, we examine aspects of fit, including the salience, timeliness, and utility of the information. To ensure weather and climate information products are accessible and of use to farmers, it is critical to understand and integrate considerations for what types of information are actually desired and applied, what they are used for, and at what points in the year, in addition to how information services can be best delivered.

With limited resources, and imminent climate threats, it is important to design weather and climate information services in the most efficient manner possible, while also ensuring that the needs of key potential users are addressed. Identifying clusters of information requirements within and between communities can facilitate the development of information products in a way that both captures the range of information and limits the amount of redundancy between products. This study aims to improve our understanding of how weather and climate information services can be developed to better fit farmers' needs in order to modify and adapt their goals, manage risks, and strategically implement management practices in the face of climate change. Specifically, we asked:

- 1. What are the information types and timings that smallholder farmers require to address the risks associated with weather extremes and variability in a changing climate? And for whom?
- 2. How is this weather and climate information applied to farm management decisions? And by whom?
- 3. How could these information needs translate into specific weather and climate information products?

Much of the work on this topic in relation to smallholder farmers has taken place in Africa (Hansen et al., 2011; Nkiaka et al., 2019; Born, 2021), Asia (Sivakumar et al., 2014; Tall et al., 2014; An-Vo et al., 2021; Hossain et al., 2021), and Latin America (e.g., Miralles-Wilhelm and Muñoz Castillo, 2014; Loboguerrero et al., 2018), while little examination of differential weather and climate information needs has occurred in Pacific Island nations. As such, this study helps to fill a critical geographical gap in research on the topic.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data Collection and Preparation

In this study, we carried out a household survey in communities across three provinces in PNG: Eastern Highlands; Morobe; and East New Britain (**Figure 1**). Eastern Highlands is one of the coldest regions in PNG, with a temperature range of $15-28^{\circ}$ C (mean minimum to mean maximum), and a distinct dry



season from June through September (McAlpine et al., 1983; WorldData.info). Morobe province has a warm, relatively stable temperature annually (ranging between 25 and 35°C), with a season of greater rainfall from December through March. However, the Markham Valley in Morobe, where the survey was administered, is the driest area in the province. East New Britain also has a tropical climate, with average temperatures ranging from a minimum 24°C to a maximum of 29°C, and comparatively wetter months between December and April. The country is largely agrarian, with at least 80% of the population reliant on the agricultural sector (Bourke and Harwood, 2009). Food for domestic consumption is primarily produced within the country in low-intensity, rainfed smallholder systems. Although diets vary considerably across PNG, staple foods such as root crops (e.g., sweet potato), sago, and banana, as well as coconut, nuts, and green vegetables are broadly consumed. Many farmers also earn income from domestic and export cash crops. Main export crops are coffee, cacao, oil palm, copra, vanilla, tea, and rubber, while fresh produce is sold at local and urban markets.

Overall, 1,281 respondents were engaged through data collection activities, conducted across two iterations of fieldwork, in October 2018 (Morobe and Eastern Highlands) and October 2019 (East New Britain). Study areas were identified in consultation with the National Agriculture Research Institute

(NARI) in PNG to ensure relevance and feasibility, and then villages in each study area were randomly identified.

Survey teams, made up of local Papua New Guinean researchers from NARI and Anglo Pacific Research (APR), followed a stratified random sampling approach to identify respondents, while also filling sampling quotas to ensure a representative spread of the population by gender and age (18– 25, 26–40, 41+) in target areas. The survey targeted participants who identified as farmers, were over 18 years old, engaged in crop-based agriculture, and who resided in the study areas. In all surveys conducted, female interviewers interviewed female respondents, and male interviewers interviewed males. All data were collected using the Akvo tablet-based data collection platform. The Human Research Ethics Committee at the Australian National University approved this study (2018/831) before commencing data collection, and all participants gave their informed consent.

The survey was developed to draw out key design considerations for seasonal climate forecasts in terms of timing, content, and use of information, as well as the social networks of information exchange (reported on in a different study). Because participants could provide multiple responses to some of the survey questions, the data was reformatted as binary response variables. TABLE 1 | Variables used for the study analysis.

Clustering Variables	Description
Receipt of information from others	Binary variable: Yes; No
Important months for weather information and forecasts	Categorical variable: January; February; March April; May; June; July; August; September; October; November; December
Important types of information	Categorical variable: rain-seasonal; rain-three monthly; rain-monthly; rain-weekly; rain-daily; temperature-weekly; temperature-daily; drought-season; frost-daily; tidal-daily; wind-daily; flooding; other
Information uses	Categorical variable: land preparation; crop type; planting times; transplanting seeds/seedlings; fertilizer application; application of insecticide/herbicide; harvest timing; taking produce to market; collection of produce from the farmer.
Predictor variables	Description
Weather impacts on farming activities	Categorical variable: land preparation; crop type; planting times; transplanting seeds/seedlings; fertilizer application; application of insecticide/herbicide; harvest timing; taking produce to market; collection of produce from the farmer.
Biggest challenges in accessing and using weather information	Categorical variable: not frequent; not locally relevant; not understable; not good quality; not trustworthy; no access
Socio-Demographics	Categorical variable: province
	Categorical variable: age (range)
	Binary variable: male; not male
	Categorical variable: education level (block)
	Categorical variable: occupation
	Categorical variable: garden purpose

Data Analysis

In the first instance, we used descriptive measures and statistics to understand how information needs were distributed across groups. Chi-Square analyses (with contingency tables) were carried out using the "gmodels" package (Warnes et al., 2005), to identify whether differences in the clustering variables existed based on the gender of farmers or their geographic locations.

Cluster analysis provides a useful method to examine the intersection and groups of multiple variables simultaneously. The variables related to timing, types, and uses of information were used to examine how climate and weather information could be bundled to form discrete information products (**Table 1**). To delineate particular profiles of information, we performed k-medoids cluster analysis using the "cluster" package (Maechler et al., 2021). Gower distance was used in the computation of pairwise dissimilarities. The number of clusters (k = 5) was determined using the silhouette method, an internal validation approach that compares silhouette measures indicating similarity of a data point to its own cluster compared to other clusters, for different numbers of clusters.

Once clusters were defined, the dominant information needs for each were summarized and described. Individual respondents

were assigned a cluster number based on the fit of their responses. To better understand what characteristics could influence cluster membership, we used chi-square analyses between cluster number and socio-demographic variables. We also included perceived challenges to accessing and using information in the analysis in order to highlight potential barriers to rolling out the different cluster information products. All visualizations were created using ggplot2 (Wickham, 2016).

RESULTS

Information Types and Timing

The majority of farmers have similar needs in terms of information type and timing. However, patterns of divergence begin to emerge when broken down by gender and province (see **Supplementary Table 1**).

Seasonal rainfall is the most broadly desired information, followed closely by weekly and daily rainfall forecasts, drought warnings, and daily and weekly temperature forecasts. Men and women have distinct information needs ($\chi^2 = 309.46$, df = 11, p < 0.001). Men primarily want seasonal rainfall and drought information, while women relatively consistently cite seasonal and daily rainfall and daily temperature forecasts. The biggest discrepancies by province ($\chi^2 = 609.58$, df = 22, p < 0.001) are in East New Britain, where men cite daily wind information as important. Women favor rainfall and temperature as weekly forecasts in East New Britain, but on a daily timescale in Morobe. Rainfall is generally more important than temperature for women in the Eastern Highlands.

June is the most frequently-cited month for receiving information, followed by September and January. However, gender ($\chi^2 = 69.671$, df = 11, p < 0.001) and provincial ($\chi^2 = 244.56$, df = 22, p < 0.001) differences in key months are pronounced. September is more important for women, while July and January are for men. In Morobe, June is clearly the most important month to receive information, but September is relatively more important in Eastern Highlands Province and East New Britain for women, and January is for men in East New Britain and women in Morobe.

Information Uses

While some uses of climate and weather information dominated (Supplementary Table 1), these also varied by gender (χ^2 = 60.78, df = 11, p < 0.001) and province ($\chi^2 = 155.07$, df = 16, p < 0.001). Women more often than men cited the use of weather and climate information as being important to inform planting and harvest times, while men cited using information to inform crop choice and market-related activities more than women. Both noted the importance of rainfall forecasts to inform land preparation, but this varied by gender and province; men more often cited this use in East New Britain and women in the Eastern Highlands and Morobe. The other main divergence of this type was women using information to transplant seedlings in East New Britain, while men were more likely in the Eastern Highlands. Weather and climate information guided fertilizer and insecticide application essentially only in the Eastern Highlands, and primarily for women.



Clusters-Information Needs Profiles

Five clusters of information needs were identified through the cluster analysis. The distribution and composition of the clusters reflect the skewed nature of the data itself. Membership of clusters ranged from 155 individuals to nearly 500 (**Supplementary Table 2**), highlighting groups that may have more specialized information needs to meet. The profiles of the identified clusters are found in **Figure 2**.

Most respondents fall into the first (n = 470) or second (n = 294) clusters. The majority of members in those clusters do not currently receive information (69% and 75%, respectively). Nearly one-third of members in cluster 1—"**The Generalists**"— identify all months as being equally important for receiving information. Daily temperature, and daily, weekly, and seasonal rainfall forecasts are the most important types of information. It is also the only cluster where frost forecasts are desired. Information is used primarily for determining when to plant, and then preparing the land and optimal time for transplanting seedlings or cuttings. Cluster 2—"**Drought Conscious**"—focuses mostly on the dry months of June and July, and seasonal forecasts of rainfall and drought. This information is used primarily to determine land preparation and planting, but to some extent the choice of crops and when to harvest.

Most members in Cluster 3 (n = 155)—"A Daily Dose" do not currently receive climate or weather information (70%). Members of this cluster primarily desire daily temperature and rainfall forecasts, with some wind and flooding information. January (wet season) is seen as the most important time to receive information. Members of this cluster use information to plant, prepare land, and harvest crops. Members of the fourth cluster—"Weekly Readers"—already receive information (75%), and use it for land preparation, planting, and harvests. Weekly temperature and rainfall forecasts form the basis of this cluster, primarily for the dry months (June, July, and September). Finally, the fifth cluster—"Seasonal Planner"—is characterized by a majority of members currently receiving information (75%) for a broad range of uses. While still low, application of fertilizer and pesticides is most prominent in this cluster. The end of the dry season (September and August) is considered most important for receiving information, particularly seasonal and daily rainfall forecasts.

Targeting Information Products Gender

There are significant differences in cluster membership based on gender ($\chi^2 = 68.63$, df = 4, p < 0.001). While Cluster 1 is nearly gender-equitable, Cluster 2 is composed of about two-thirds (66.7%) male, and Clusters 3–5 have predominantly female membership (60–65%). See **Figure 3** for breakdown of clusters by gender and province.

Province

Cluster membership is also tied to province ($\chi^2 = 289.72$, df = 8, p < 0.001). Around half of Cluster 1 membership is from East New Britain. Clusters 2 (46.6%) and 3 (63.9%) have greater membership from residents of Morobe province. Eastern



Highlands (43.6%) and East New Britain (41.5%) share their prominence in Cluster 4. Eastern Highlands residents are most prevalent in Cluster 5 (68.9%).

Education

There are no significant variations in cluster membership based on education ($\chi^2 = 17.37$, df = 12, p = 0.13). Most respondents have completed primary or secondary education, thus those education levels dominate by sheer numbers, contributing to the lack of significant variation between clusters (**Supplemental Figure 2**). Percentage-wise, compared to other clusters, secondary school is most prominent in Cluster 1 (43.0%) and 4 (46.2%). Similarly, as a product of percentages within clusters, primary schooling is most prominent in Cluster 2 (35.0%) and Cluster 5 (37.1%). The highest rates of no formal schooling are in Clusters 3 (22.6%) and 5 (17.4%). And while only a small proportion of respondents have a tertiary or vocational education, they are comparatively more likely to be found in Cluster 1 (11.7%), with the most well-educated women in Cluster 2.

Occupation and Scale of Operation

While the majority of respondents state that farming is their primary occupation (60%), there are still significant differences between clusters ($\chi^2 = 206.81$, df = 24, p < 0.001). For instance, those in "other" occupations—self-employed, unemployed, and retired—are most apparent in Cluster 1 (16.4%). Those working at home or in a domestic capacity are prevalent in Cluster 3 (18.7%), and respondents employed as market operators, either at markets or selling to third parties, are most often found in Cluster 5 (21.6%). Students, government employees, and other wage earners are in the minority, and did not demonstrate any particular patterns. In terms of scale of operation, there were minor differences between cluster ($\chi^2 = 29.88$, df =



12, p = 0.003), although producing crops for both sale and subsistence dominated across clusters. The only major divergence was in Cluster 1, which had more subsistence-only farmers than expected.

Barriers

Perceived barriers also correspond to certain clusters ($\chi^2 = 213.37$, df = 32, p < 0.001) (**Figure 4**). The frequency of information is seen as the dominant barrier for Clusters 1 (42.8%), 4 (39.7%), and 5 (40.6%). Lack of access to information is clearly the most critical barrier for Cluster 2 (47.8%), and also important for Cluster 3 (38.6%). Information not being relevant to the local context is perceived as a barrier most in Cluster 5 (17.6%). Poor quality of information is mostly seen as a barrier by members of Cluster 1 (16.2%). Information considered not trustworthy is seen as a major barrier primarily by those in Cluster 4 (12.3%). And finally, difficulty understanding information is perceived as a barrier most by members in Cluster 3 (10.7%).

DISCUSSION

Through this study, we examined how climate and weather information needs differed amongst farmers, in order to guide improved climate information services that are able to enhance adaptation to climate change. We employed a clustering approach to illustrate relationships emerging between multiple climate information variables, demonstrating how desired information content is not consistent across regions or demographic groups. While it is useful to identify broad information needs, these clusters helped pinpoint groups who may otherwise find their interests under represented or marginalized.

Failing to consider how the needs and desires related to climate information services vary runs the risk of overlooking or even undermining the needs of some groups of farmers, and disempowering others to undertake adaptation activities. The distinct profiles of information needs depicted in this study map to social and geographic factors, such as gender,

province, and occupation, and provide insights for developing products and advisories aimed at supporting adaptation for specific subsets of the farming population. While clustering algorithms seek to minimize within-cluster differences and maximize differences between clusters, the results of our analysis also show areas of similarities between clusters. This suggests the possibility for core messages and efficiencies to be gained when developing and scaling information services. Finally, it is critical to successfully connect clusters of information content to end users. An understanding of perceived barriers and how information flows in farming communities can facilitate successful integration of information services. Balancing efficient development of climate information services and the specificity of farmers' needs is essential both to rapidly build the capacity, knowledge, and systems to strategically adapt to climate change, and to facilitate more equitable access to and use of critical knowledge for smallholders.

Tailoring for Different Perceived Needs

Appropriately tailoring climate information services may have implications for building farmers' capacity to adapt to climate change, both in terms of ensuring farmers have the information they want, and whether that information supports or informs the sorts of decisions they may need to undertake to address climate stresses. There is evidence from other studies on weather and climate information services, largely in Sub-Saharan Africa, that the use of timely and well-tailored services can in fact prompt such necessary changes in farming practices and improve yields (Hansen et al., 2011, 2019; Nkiaka et al., 2019). However, considering factors such as salience-or the relevance and associated tailoring of information-and equity-inclusion of women, poor, and other socially marginalized groups-are critical for the success of climate information services (Hansen et al., 2011; Tall et al., 2014). Previous studies have demonstrated how the uptake and use of climate information depends on its local relevance (to biophysical, crop, and farmer characteristics) and how well it connects to livelihood or economic impacts for end users (Singh et al., 2018). Our study illustrates how factors, particularly gender and province, in combination can result in distinct information needs that would need to be accounted for in such tailoring.

The information content associated with clusters has implications for how effective information services might be at supporting the capacity to adapt to climate variability, extremes, and shifts. Clusters primarily diverged based on when information was desired and the type of information. In particular, preferences seemed to emerge related to seasonality (focus on wet season or dry season), and forecast length (ranging from a day to the whole season). While both shorter and longer term outlooks have utility when making decisions, the latter are critical for moving beyond coping mechanisms and instituting strategic foresight into farm management (Rickards and Howden, 2012). Clusters 3 and 4 in particular have shortterm outlooks, which are crucial for operational management, but could potentially overlook long-term planning or adaptation needs. Whereas, Clusters 2 and 5 are more in-line with what we'd assume to be beneficial to farmers making plans in the face of climate change, such as early warnings for extreme events and seasonal forecasts. Seasonal forecasts are often used to make more tactical decisions around what seed varieties to choose, purchase of inputs, and spatial planning; whereas shorter-term daily and weekly forecasts are used to make calculated microadjustments to planting, applications, harvesting, and other operations (Nkiaka et al., 2019). Furthermore, repeated use of seasonal forecasts may help farmers to distinguish shifts over time and adjust to longer-term changes (Singh et al., 2018). While climate information that extends beyond the seasonal time-frame is considered valuable to achieving more transformative changes in response to novel climatic conditions, it is however often poorly suited to the types of decisions farmers need or are able to make at local levels (Singh et al., 2018).

The results of the cluster analysis show that prominent information needs vary by region and gender. In PNG, research has shown that while men are considered to be the heads of households and as such dominate decision-making particularly for cash crops (Eves and Titus, 2020), women are still involved in most aspects of agricultural production and tend to have greatest input into planting and harvesting of food crops and general maintenance tasks (Bourke and Harwood, 2009; Curry et al., 2019). It is therefore understandable that information needs might diverge based in some part on gender. Clusters 3, and 4 have majority female membership and tend to focus on shorter temporal windows (i.e., daily, weekly), which may support their primary farming roles but not be as conducive to adapting to climate change in the long-term. While both the majority female Cluster 5 and the majority male Cluster 2 prioritize information and timing that helps address periods of seasonal water scarcity, men claim they need information early in the dry season (June/July) and women toward the end (September). This highlights potentially distinct uses for the information, or constraints dictating optimal timing. Previous research corroborates these patterns, showing how the information needs, access, and uses for men and women may diverge in agricultural systems (Archer, 2003; Tall et al., 2014; Farnworth and Colverson, 2015; Carr and Owusu-Daaku, 2016; Diouf et al., 2019; Partey et al., 2020). For instance, in a case study in Senegal, researchers found that women farmers preferred to know about the cessation of seasonal rainfall, rather than onset (Tall et al., 2014). A study in Ethiopia showed that although women household heads were less likely to access quality extension services, receiving advice was positively related to adoption of improved varieties and inputs (Ragasa et al., 2013). As such, ensuring the timing and type of information matches users' needs is crucial to producing useful information products.

There are also geographic influences on the information needs of farmers, which could be both biophysically driven or underpinned by cultural differences or existing *in situ* information networks (Vogel and O'Brien, 2006; World Meteorological Organization, 2015). However, for Papua New Guinea, the nature of these connections is still speculative, as research on the topic is limited, and more research is needed to develop an understanding about cultural and social underpinnings of regional information needs. The survey region in Morobe is exceptionally dry, which aligns with the focus of

Cluster 2 on drought information early in the dry season (June). Eastern Highlands had a strong representation in Cluster 5, which favors rainfall information at the end of the dry season (September). This is a prominent transition month in the region, and could therefore be an important period of preparation for the wetter season. East New Britain was best represented in the General Cluster 1, which notably showed little temporal preference, probably reflecting the more stable, tropical climate there and hence smaller fluctuations in information needs across the year. Clusters 3 and 4 were less straight-forward, which may reflect farmers' perceptions around uncertainty and the interannual variability related to such forces as ENSO. For instance, Cluster 3 (Morobe dominant) centers on daily rainfall and temperature forecasts during the wet season (January), which is the peak of the wet season. The cluster comprises more women, those working in domestic occupations, and with the highest levels of no education, who all may perceive their information needs differently from the other clusters.

Practicalities and Efficiencies

While there are apparent distinctions in the information needs within the study area, the commonalities between clusters suggest there are also opportunities to gain efficiencies even when aiming to develop tailored forecasts. The process of translating broad climate information into context-specific products is resource intensive (Kalafatis et al., 2015), and there are trade-offs between individual user specificity and the practicalities associated with the timeliness and feasibility of information services (Dunn et al., 2015; Carr et al., 2020). As such, it is critical to achieve a balance between customization and universality in climate information services. While "scaling up and out" is a common refrain in the literature on climate and agricultural information services, there are considerable knowledge gaps, particularly in relation to the trade-offs between scale and local efficacy (Carr et al., 2020).

Results from this study provide initial insight into balancing efficiency and tailoring, which could be beneficial to achieving scalable climate information services. About one-third of respondents were members of Cluster 1—"The Generalist" which has broad information needs in terms of timing, type, and uses. This demonstrates there is a perceived need for a more generalized information service, which could form the base in developing targeted advisories. All five clusters also overlapped considerably in terms of information uses, especially land preparation and planting time, suggesting a common suite of advice "types." However, the actual recommendations for farm management would vary depending on the local forecast conditions.

These findings support an approach to farm advisory development that incorporates a foundation of general information to satisfy the needs of most farmers, with additional tailored information for particular groups depending on the context. Our approach to developing a tailored "Seasonal Farm Advisory" in PNG first involves establishing a robust and relatively comprehensive table of farm management recommendations for a range of crops—particularly staples ones like banana, cassava, sweet potato, and taro—based on the available seasonal forecasts and creating a composite "base" document (see **Supplemental Figure 3** for crops in the survey). Targeted advisories can then be compiled from this composite document to reflect the needs of specific farmers, as demonstrated through the cluster analysis. This aligns with the modular design principles outlined by Koerner et al. (2021), which increase the diversity of options for users by enabling the use, reconfiguration, or repurposing of different components of the service. The authors argue that this mixing-and-matching can accelerate the process of scaling, multiplying the possible uses or contexts in which climate information services are relevant.

While the approach outlined in this paper can help guide the development of climate information services that meet needs of regional groups of farmers, and tracking these needs over time, there are still challenges to effective scaling that go beyond information services content (Tran et al., 2020). This requires institutions to work with farmers on the communication and use of climate services, and for information providers to be responsive and accountable to the evolving needs of farmers.

Implications for Communicating Information

While the clusters depict distinctions in information content, it is also essential to consider how to connect the information services with users. To overcome the barriers to scaling effective and equitable climate information services, studies like this one must be considered in tandem with complementary studies on information flows and communication strategies. These areas have decades of experience testing different models for producing and disseminating seasonal climate forecasts in Sub-Saharan Africa. In a review of these models, Jost (2013) identified radio, demand-driven extension, and mobile technology as key channels available for movement of climate information to farmers. Interpersonal and information networks within communities can also be critically important (Nkiaka et al., 2019). For example, a study in Ghana looked at the influence of mobile phone delivery of climate information, finding that the adoption of some adaptive practices improved (water management, multicropping), while others did not significantly change (e.g., erosion control, IPM, and resistant crops), suggesting the role of different communications channels in adoption (Djido et al., 2021). Because there are differences in access to, and use of, climate information communication channels between groups of farmers (e.g., McOmber et al., 2013; Djido et al., 2021), targeting information has relevance for both content and communication. As such, overcoming communications hurdles and other barriers is crucial to actually informing adaptation.

In this study, the discrepancy between respondents who currently receive information and those who don't highlights how communications strategies may need to differ between clusters. The majority of members in Clusters 1, 2, and 3 said they currently receive no climate or weather information, which adds the challenge of establishing appropriate channels to enable access to information to support adaptation. This raises an important question of when is it possible to tap into existing effective communication channels, and when new ones need to be created and cultivated in order to ensure desired

information is accessible. There are likely opportunities to build on existing information exchange networks in PNG, particularly informal and community-based ones (Friedman et al., 2022), but in some cases building communication channels from scratch may be necessary. Furthermore, choice of information channel may also dictate the content, and so relying solely on existing networks may be limiting. Research on climate information and support services demonstrated how the choice of channel can influence what type of information is conveyed, particularly to marginal or vulnerable groups (Cherotich et al., 2012). Finally, a study in Ghana highlighted how the choice of communication channel impacts the successful adoption of climate adaptation measures. Membership in a farmer-based organization and access to extension services were both significantly positive influences on adopting adaptation measures (Owusu et al., 2021). This highlights how interwoven the content and communications sides of climate information services are to achieving outcomes.

Tailoring both content and communication can address barriers related to relevance, accessibility, and uneven distributional impacts (Vaughan and Dessai, 2014; Hansen et al., 2019). Barriers to information use, including the quality of information, local relevance, trustworthiness, and understandability, map more directly onto some clusters over others, suggesting possible challenges that need to be addressed for certain types of information, regions, or groups of farmers. For example, local relevance and understandability are relatively major challenges for Cluster 3, which had the greatest number of members without formal education and from a unique region in Morobe. While education levels were not significantly related to membership in a climate information cluster (i.e., desired content), they could have substantial impact on the feasible means of communicating this information, due to differences in literacy and familiarity with scientific concepts and uncertainty. Furthermore, research has highlighted how confidence in one's awareness and understanding of climate change can influence use of such information and adoption of adaptation measures (Ng'ombe et al., 2020; Nguyen and Drakou, 2021). As such, efforts could be focused on translating information into easily understandable and actionable formats. Trust and quality were relatively important for Clusters 4 and 5, which were also dominated by women, who tend to face greater barriers to accessing information. Here, taking an interactive approach to the design and dissemination of climate information, and improving institutional communication, could help overcome trust and related barriers (Lemos et al., 2012; Kumar et al., 2021; Belay and Fekadu, 2021). Accessibility was the overwhelming barrier for Cluster 2, hinting at the existing challenge of obtaining drought warnings in PNG. Overall, accounting for the perceived barriers hindering integration of climate information should be an integral part of the strategy for developing climate information services.

Caveats and Future Research

The survey and clustering results from the study present a useful starting point to develop more refined and user-oriented climate forecasts and advisories, yet there are also a number of considerations when examining the data. For one, the survey is taken at one point in time, but information needs do change throughout the year and over time. While this study provides a snapshot of how information needs may cluster at a given time, only longitudinal data will give us a sense of whether clusters and membership are stable or shift over the course of a year or between years. Further analysis should include data collected during both wet and dry seasons, and ideally over multiple years (including both El Niño and La Niña years).

This analysis demonstrated how different information needs manifest within and between communities. For instance, clear differences in the information needs of men and women emerged in this study. Additional research could provide nuance on what drives these differences, such as specific gendered roles and cultural norms, as well as decision-making responsibilities. Qualitative methods, such as focus groups and interviews can provide a stronger narrative behind why these gendered and other differences exist. They can also complement the cluster analysis in fleshing out how individual information products could be best tailored for specific groups. Additional quantitative information, such as size of farm and amount of crops produced for consumption and sale, could also improve understanding of what drives differentiated information needs.

Integrating this understanding into the development of climate information services for agriculture requires additional considerations in practice. Unlike in Sub-Saharan Africa, research has shown that in the Pacific Islands farmers tend to have limited reliance on contemporary weather forecasting, instead relying on knowledge of traditional forecasting to reduce negative impacts from extreme events (Chambers et al., 2019). There is thus an opportunity in the region for better integration of contemporary scientific forecasting with existing traditional knowledge to improve interpretation of technical information and ultimately achieve adaptation outcomes. While often discussed as an effective approach to both achieve scale and to ensure local relevance, very little work has been done on co-production of climate information services as a means of integrating traditional knowledge and other social or cultural interests (Carr et al., 2020). More research in this area may be key for facilitating the uptake of reliable forecasting in a manner that is contextually appropriate and locally relevant. However, development of guidelines for coproduction principles is still emerging (Bremer and Meisch, 2017), and empirical evidence of the scalability of such strategies remains a gap.

Finally, this study focused on the content and timing of weather and climate information services, but not the dissemination. While the barriers to access and use of information included in the analysis provide some clues about what hinders communication, more research is needed to understand how farmers can actually obtain this information. In the particular context of PNG, it would be valuable to elucidate how farmers who currently use weather and climate information access it, and conversely what information is actually available that farmers are unaware of or are unable to access. This baseline research is foundational for setting up weather and climate information services that not only reach farmers but also cater to their needs.

CONCLUSION

Ultimately, the results of this study have shown the value in identifying how weather and climate information needs vary within and among farming communities, while also highlighting the complexity of accounting for multiple intersecting population traits when designing information services. Through this study, we aimed to identify how different types, timing, and uses of weather and climate information intersected, and who most desired these bundles of information to inform their farm management practices under climate variability and change. We found that gender and variables associated with geography played a role in shaping information needs, and could be used to help tailor specific climate information services. With limited time and resources, it is also necessary to find efficiencies in the development of these services. We proposed capitalizing on common uses of information across clusters, and using a modular approach to create specific tailored products. Finally, this study focused on the content of weather and climate information services, and how that may need to vary for different groups of farmers. However, the results of this study must be used in conjunction with developing appropriate communication channels to overcome perceived barriers to accessing and using information. Accommodating different needs in the design and delivery of weather and climate forecast services could substantially enhance their relevance, credibility, and legitimacy amongst smallholder farmers, with resultant improvements in lives and livelihoods across the Pacific.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: "Open Science Framework: https://osf.io/dfnr6/?view_only=1f41000fd5284b5a9d8119aa7ead2c6f".

REFERENCES

- An-Vo, D-. A., Radanielson, A. M., Mushtaq, S., Reardon-Smith, K., and Hewitt, C. (2021). A framework for assessing the value of seasonal climate forecasting in key agricultural decisions. *Clim. Serv.* 22, 100234. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100234
- Archer, E. R. M. (2003). Identifying underserved end-user groups in the provision of climate information. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 84, 1525–1532. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-84-11-1525
- Aryal, J. P., Sapkota, T. B., Rahut, D. B., Krupnik, T. J., Shahrin, S., Jat, M. L., et al. (2020). Major climate risks and adaptation strategies of smallholder farmers in Coastal Bangladesh. *Environ. Manag.* 66, 105–120. doi: 10.1007/s00267-020-01291-8
- Aryal, J. P., Sapkota, T. B., Rahut, D. B., Marenya, P., and Stirling, C. M. (2021). Climate risks and adaptation strategies of farmers in East Africa and South Asia. *Sci. Rep.* 11, 10489.1 doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-89391-1
- Belay, A., Recha, J. W., Woldeamanuel, T., and Morton, J. F. (2017). Smallholder farmers' adaptation to climate change and determinants of their adaptation decisions in the Central Rift Valley of Ethiopia. *Agric. Food Secur.* 6, 24. doi: 10.1186/s40066-017-0100-1

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study involving human participants was reviewed and approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee at the Australian National University (2018/831). The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SC and RF conceptualized the study. RF carried out the analysis. RF, SC, RB, KI, and EM interpreted the results of the analysis. RF, SC, and EM wrote the paper with content and editorial input from RB, KI, and MH. All authors have read and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was carried out with funding from the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) and under the project Climate Smart Agriculture opportunities for enhanced food production in Papua New Guinea (ASEM-2017-026).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the staff of Anglo-Pacific Research (APR), the PNG National Agricultural Research Institute (NARI), and Fresh Produce Development Agency (FPDA) for collecting the data.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fclim. 2022.871987/full#supplementary-material

- Belay, D., and Fekadu, G. (2021). Influence of social capital in adopting climate change adaptation strategies: empirical evidence from rural areas of Ambo district in Ethiopia. *Clim. Dev.* 13, 857–868. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2020.1862741
- Born, L. (2021). Recommendations for Climate Services Good Practice. CCAFS Working Paper No. 396. Wageningen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Bourke, R. M., and Harwood, T. (eds.). (2009). Food and Agriculture in Papua New Guinea. Canberra, ACT: ANU E Press, The Australian National University. doi: 10.22459/FAPNG.08.2009
- Bouroncle, C., Müller, A., Giraldo, D., Rios, D., Imbach, P., Girón, E., et al. (2019). A systematic approach to assess climate information products applied to agriculture and food security in Guatemala and Colombia. *Clim. Serv.* 16, 100137. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100137
- Bremer, S., and Meisch, S. (2017). Co-production in climate change research: reviewing different perspectives. WIREs Clim. Change 8, e482. doi: 10.1002/wcc.482
- Cai, W., Borlace, S., Lengaigne, M., van Rensch, P., Collins, M., and Vecchi, G. (2014). Increasing frequency of extreme El Niño events due to greenhouse warming. *Nat. Clim. Change* 4, 111–116. doi: 10.1038/nclimate 2100

- Carr, E. R., Goble, R., Rosko, H. M., Vaughan, C., and Hansen, J. (2020). Identifying climate information services users and their needs in Sub-Saharan Africa: a review and learning agenda. *Clim. Dev.* 12, 23–41. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2019.1596061
- Carr, E. R., and Owusu-Daaku, K. N. (2016). The shifting epistemologies of vulnerability in climate services for development: the case of Mali's agrometeorological advisory programme: shifting epistemologies of vulnerability in climate services for development. Area 48, 7–17. doi: 10.1111/area.12179
- Cash, D. W., and Buizer, J. (2005). Knowledge-Action Systems for Seasonal to Interannual Climate Forecasting: Summary of a Workshop. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Chambers, L., Lui, S., Plotz, R., Hiriasia, D., Malsale, P., Pulehetoa-Mitiepo, R., et al. (2019). Traditional or contemporary weather and climate forecasts: reaching Pacific communities. *Reg. Environ. Change* 19, 1521–1528. doi: 10.1007/s10113-019-01487-7
- Chanana, N. Khatri-chhetri, A., Pande, K., and Joshi, R. (2018). Integrating Gender into the Climate-Smart Village Approach of Scaling out Adaptation Options in Agriculture. CCAFS Info Note. New Delhi: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Cherotich, V. K., Saidu, O., and Bebe, B. O. (2012). Access to climate change information and support services by the vulnerable groups in semi-arid Kenya for adaptive capacity development. *Afr. Crop Sci. J.* 20, 169–180. Available online at: https://www.ajol.info/index.php/acsj/article/view/81711
- Curry, G. N., Koczberski, G., and Inu, S. M. (2019). Women's and men's work: the production and marketing of fresh food and export crops in Papua New Guinea. Oceania 89, 237–254. doi: 10.1002/ocea.5222
- Dewi, E. R., and Whitbread, A. M. (2017). Use of climate forecast information to manage lowland rice-based cropping systems in Jakenan, Central Java, Indonesia. Asian J. Agric. Res. 11, 66–77. doi: 10.3923/ajar.2017.66.77
- Diouf, N. S., Ouedraogo, I., Zougmoré, R. B., Ouedraogo, M., Partey, S. T., and Gumucio, T. (2019). Factors influencing gendered access to climate information services for farming in Senegal. *Gend. Technol. Dev.* 23, 93–110. doi: 10.1080/09718524.2019.1649790
- Djido, A., Zougmoré, R. B., Houessionon, P., Ouédraogo, M., Ouédraogo, I., and Seynabou Diouf, N. (2021). To what extent do weather and climate information services drive the adoption of climate-smart agriculture practices in Ghana? *Clim. Risk Manag.* 32, 100309. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2021.100309
- Dunn, M. R., Lindesay, J. A., and Howden, M. (2015). Spatial and temporal scales of future climate information for climate change adaptation in viticulture: a case study of user needs in the Australian winegrape sector: future climate information scales for viticulture. *Aust. J. Grape Wine Res.* 21, 226–239. doi: 10.1111/ajgw.12138
- Eves, R., and Titus, A. (2020). Women's Economic Empowerment Among Coffee Smallholders in Papua New Guinea. Canberra, ACT: Department of Pacific Affairs, Australian National University. Available online at: https://dpa. bellschool.anu.edu.au/experts-publications/publications/7746/womenseconomic-empowerment-among-coffee-smallholders-papua
- Farnworth, C., and Colverson, K. E. (2015). Building a gender-transformative extension and advisory facilitation system in Africa. J. Gend. Agric. Food Secur. 1, 20–39. doi: 10.19268/JGAFS.112015.2
- Friedman, R. S., Mackenzie, E., Sloan, T., and Sweaney, N. (2022). Networking for gender equitable climate-smart agriculture. *Clim. Dev.* doi: 10.1080/17565529.2022.2076645
- Friedman, R., Hirons, M. A., and Boyd, E. (2018). Vulnerability of Ghanaian women cocoa farmers to climate change: a typology. *Clim. Dev.* 11, 446–458. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2018.1442806
- Habtemariam, L. T., Gandorfer, M., Kassa, G. A., and Heissenhuber, A. (2016). Factors influencing smallholder farmers' climate change perceptions: a study from farmers in Ethiopia. *Environ. Manag.* 58, 343–358. doi: 10.1007/s00267-016-0708-0
- Hansen, J. W., Mason, S. J., Sun, L., and Tall, A. (2011). Review of seasonal climate forecasting for agriculture in sub-Saharan Africa. *Exp. Agric.* 47, 205–240. doi: 10.1017/S0014479710000876
- Hansen, J. W., Vaughan, C., Kagabo, D. M., Dinku, T., Carr, E. R., Körner, J., et al. (2019). Climate services can support african farmers' context-specific adaptation needs at scale. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 3:21. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2019.00021

- Hewitt, C. D., Allis, E., Mason, S. J., Muth, M., Pulwarty, R., Shumake-Guillemot, J., et al. (2020). Making society climate resilient: international progress under the global framework for climate services. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 101, E237–E252. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-18-0211.A
- Hossain, P. R., Amjath-Babu, T. S., Krupnik, T. J., Braun, M., Mohammed, E. Y., and Phillips, M. (2021). Developing climate information services for aquaculture in bangladesh: a decision framework for managing temperature and rainfall variability-induced risks. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 5:677069. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2021.677069
- Iese, V., Halavatau, S., N'Yeurt, A. D. R., Wairiu, M., Holland, E., Dean, A., et al. (2020). "Agriculture under a changing climate," in *Climate Change and Impacts in the Pacific, Springer Climate*, ed L. Kumar (Cham: Springer International Publishing), 323–357. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-32878-8_9
- Islam, Md. M., Sarker, Md. A., Al Mamun, Md. A., Mamun-ur-Rashid, Md., and Roy, D. (2021). Stepping up versus stepping out: on the outcomes and drivers of two alternative climate change adaptation strategies of smallholders. *World Dev.* 148, 105671. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105671
- Jost, C. (2013). Delivery Models for Climate Information in East and West Africa. CCAFS Working Paper No. 41. Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Jost, C., Kyazze, F., Naab, J., Neelormi, S., Kinyangi, J., Zougmore, R., et al. (2016). Understanding gender dimensions of agriculture and climate change in smallholder farming communities. *Clim. Dev.* 8, 133–144. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2015.1050978
- Juan, L. N. (2018). Implementation of the Climate-Smart Village Approach (MSC CCAFS Research Project Thesis). National University of Ireland Galway and CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security. Available online at: https://hdl.handle.net/10568/100238
- Kalafatis, S. E., Lemos, M. C., Lo, Y-. J., and Frank, K. A. (2015). Increasing information usability for climate adaptation: the role of knowledge networks and communities of practice. *Glob. Environ. Change* 32, 30–39. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.02.007
- Koerner, J., Imbach, P., Simelton, E., Nguyen, Y. T., Barlis, A., and Swaans, K. (2021). *Designing a Modular Approach Towards Innovation*. CCAFS Info Note. Wageningen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Kumar, U., Werners, S. E., Paparrizos, S., Datta, D. K., Ludwig, F. (2021). Coproducing climate information services with smallholder farmers in the Lower Bengal Delta: How forecast visualization and communication support farmers' decision-making. *Clim. Risk Manag.* 33:100346. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2021.100346
- Lawson, E. T., Alare, R. S., Salifu, A. R. Z., and Thompson-Hall, M. (2020). Dealing with climate change in semi-arid Ghana: understanding intersectional perceptions and adaptation strategies of women farmers. *GeoJournal* 85, 439–452. doi: 10.1007/s10708-019-09974-4
- Lee, J.- Y., Marotzke, J., Bala, G., Cao, L., Corti, S., and Dunne, J. P. (2021). "Future global climate: scenario based projections and near-term information," in *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds V., Masson-Delmotte, P., Zhai, A., Pirani, S. L., Connors, C., Pean, S., Berger, et al. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 553–672.
- Lemos, M. C., Kirchhoff, C. J., and Ramprasad, V. (2012). Narrowing the climate information usability gap. Nat. Clim Change 2, 789–794. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1614
- Loboguerrero, A. M., Boshell, F., León, G., Martinez-Baron, D., Giraldo, D., Recaman Mejía, L., et al. (2018). Bridging the gap between climate science and farmers in Colombia. *Clim. Risk Manag.* 22, 67–81. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2018.08.001
- Maechler, M., Rousseeuw, P., Struyf, A., Hubert, M., and Hornik, K. (2021). *cluster: Cluster Analysis Basics and Extensions*. R package version 2.1.3. Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=cluster.
- McAlpine, J.R., Keig, G., and Falls, R. (1983). *Climate of Papua New Guinea*. Canberra, ACT: Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization (CSIRO) in Association with Australian National University Press.
- McOmber, C., Panikowski, A., McKune, S., Bartels, W.-L., and Russo, S. (2013). *Investigating Climate Information Services through a Gendered Lens*. CCAFS Working Paper no. 42. Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).

- Mehar, M., Mittal, S., and Prasad, N. (2016). Farmers coping strategies for climate shock: is it differentiated by gender? J. Rural Stud. 44, 123–131. doi: 10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.01.001
- Meza, F. J., Hanzen, J. W., and Osgood, D. (2008). Economic value of seasonal climate forecasts for agriculture: review of ex-ante assessments and recommendations for future research. J. Appl. Meteorol. Climatol. 47, 1269–1286. doi: 10.1175/2007JAMC1540.1
- Miralles-Wilhelm, F., and Muñoz Castillo, R. (2014). *Climate Services: A Tool for Adaptation to Climate Change in Latin America and the Caribbean: Action Plan and Case Study Applications.* IDB Technical Note No. 531. Washington, D.C.: Inter-American Development Bank (IDB).
- Mycoo, M., Wairiu, M., Campbell, D., Duvat, V., Golbuu, Y., Maharaj, S., et al. (2021). "Small Islands," in *Climate Change 2021: Impacts, Adapatation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds H.-O., Pörtner, D. C., Roberts, M., Tignor, E. S., Poloczanska, K., Mintenbeck, A., Alegría, et al. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 107.
- Ng'ombe, J. N., Tembo, M. C., and Masasi, B. (2020). "Are They Aware, and Why?" Bayesian analysis of predictors of smallholder farmers' awareness of climate change and its risks to agriculture. *Agronomy* 10, 376. doi: 10.3390/agronomy10030376
- Nguyen, N., and Drakou, E. G. (2021). Farmers intention to adopt sustainable agriculture hinges on climate awareness: the case of Vietnamese coffee. *J. Clean. Prod.* 303, 126828. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126828
- Nkiaka, E., Taylor, A., Dougill, A. J., Antwi-Agyei, P., Fournier, N., Bosire, E. N., et al. (2019). Identifying user needs for weather and climate services to enhance resilience to climate shocks in sub-Saharan Africa. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 14, 13. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/ab4dfe
- Nurse, L. A., McLean, R. F., Agard, J., Briguglio, L. P., Duvat-Magnan, V., Pelesikoti, N., et al. (eds.) (2014). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Part B: Regional Aspects: Working Group II Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge and New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 1613–1654.
- Ortiz-Bobea, A., Ault, T. R., Carrillo, C. M., Chambers, R. G., and Lobell, D. B. (2021). Anthropogenic climate change has slowed global agricultural productivity growth. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 11, 306–312. doi: 10.1038/s41558-021-01000-1
- Owusu, V., Ma, W., Renwick, A., and Emuah, D. (2021). Does the use of climate information contribute to climate change adaptation? Evidence from Ghana. *Clim. Dev.* 13, 616–629. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2020.1844612
- Partey, S. T., Dakorah, A. D., Zougmoré, R. B., Ouédraogo, M., Nyasimi, M., Nikoi, G. K., et al. (2020). Gender and climate risk management: evidence of climate information use in Ghana. *Clim. Change* 158, 61–75. doi: 10.1007/s10584-018-2239-6
- Ragasa, C., Berhane, G., Tadesse, F., and Taffesse, A. S. (2013). Gender differences in access to extension services and agricultural productivity. J. Agric. Educ. Ext. 19, 437–468. doi: 10.1080/1389224X.2013.817343
- Ranasinghe, R., Ruane, A. C., Vautard, R., Arnell, N., Coppola, E., Cruz, F. A., et al. (2021). "Climate change information for regional impact and for risk assessment," in *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, A. Pirani, L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, et al. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 1767–1926.
- Rickards, L., and Howden, S. M. (2012). Transformational adaptation: agriculture and climate change. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 63, 240. doi: 10.1071/CP11172
- Roco, L., Engler, A., Bravo-Ureta, B. E., and Jara-Rojas, R. (2015). Farmers' perception of climate change in mediterranean Chile. *Reg. Environ. Change* 15, 867–879. doi: 10.1007/s10113-014-0669-x
- Shepherd, T. G. (2019). Storyline approach to the construction of regional climate change information. Proc. R. Soc. A 475, 20190013. doi: 10.1098/rspa.2019.0013
- Singh, C., Daron, J., Bazaz, A., Ziervogel, G., Spear, D., Krishnaswamy, J., et al. (2018). The utility of weather and climate information for adaptation decisionmaking: current uses and future prospects in Africa and India. *Clim. Dev.* 10, 389–405. doi: 10.1080/17565529.2017.1318744
- Sitapai, E. C. (2012). A Critical Analysis of Agriculture Extension Services in Papua New Guinea: Past, Present and Future, Paper presented at CIMC National Agriculture Conference, 24–25 May 2012 (Bubia, Lae, PNG).

- Sivakumar, M. V. K., Collins, C., Jay, A., and Hansen, J. (2014). Regional Priorities for Strengthening Climate Services for Farmers in Africa and South Asia. CCAFS Working Paper No. 71. Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Smith, P., Haberl, H., Popp, A., Erb, K.-H., Lauk, C., Harper, R., et al. (2013). How much land-based greenhouse gas mitigation can be achieved without compromising food security and environmental goals? *Glob. Change Biol.* 19, 2285–302. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12160
- Tall, A., Coulibaly, J. Y., and Diop, M. (2018). Do climate services make a difference? A review of evaluation methodologies and practices to assess the value of climate information services for farmers: implications for Africa. *Clim. Serv.* 11, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2018.06.001
- Tall, A., Hansen, J., Jay, A., Campbell, B., Aggarwal, P. K., and Zougmoré, R. (2014). Scaling up climate services for farmers: Mission Possible. Learning from good practice in Africa and South Asia. CCAFS Report No. 13. Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Taylor, M., McGregor, A., and Dawson, B. (eds.) (2016). Vulnerability of Pacific Island Agriculture and Forestry to Climate Change. Noumea: Secretariat of the Pacific Community.
- Tran, Q. Q., Swaans, C., Simelton, E., Imbach, P., Pham, T., Le, T. T., et al. (2020). Scaling Climate Services for Agriculture in the Global South: An Assessment of Practitioners' Needs (Technical Report), Technical Report for CCAFS Project on Climate Services Menu for Southeast Asia (CliSM): Tackling Scaling with a Diversity of End Users in the Climate Services Value Chain. Hanoir: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Vaughan, C., and Dessai, S. (2014). Climate services for society: origins, institutional arrangements, and design elements for an evaluation framework: climate services for society. WIREs Clim Change 5, 587–603. doi: 10.1002/wcc.290
- Vogel, C., and O'Brien, K. (2006). Who can eat information? Examining the effectiveness of seasonal climate forecasts and regional climate-risk management strategies. *Clim. Res.* 33, 111–122. doi: 10.3354/cr033111
- Warnes, G. R., Bolker, B., Lumley, T., and Johnson, R. C. (2005). gmodels: Various R Programming Tools for Model Fitting, R package version 1.9.0. SAIC-Frederick, Inc. Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=gmodels
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag. ISBN 978-3-319-24277-4. Available online at: https://ggplot2. tidyverse.org. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4
- World Meteorological Organization (2015). WMO Guidelines on Multi-hazard Impact-based Forecast and Warning Services. Geneva: World Meteorological Organization (WMO).
- WorldData.info. The Climate in Papua New Guinea. Oldenberg: Eglitis-Media. Available online at: https://www.worlddata.info/oceania/papua-new-guinea/ climate.php (accessed April 1, 2022).

Conflict of Interest: EM is employed by Sustineo Pty Ltd.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Friedman, Mackenzie, Baiga, Inape, Crimp and Howden. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Andreas Marc Fischer, Federal Office of Meteorology and Climatology, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Anuszka Mosurska, University of Leeds, United Kingdom Alicia Azpeleta Tarancon, Northern Arizona University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Elizabeth Figus ecfigus@alaska.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Predictions and Projections, a section of the journal Frontiers in Climate

RECEIVED 28 February 2022 ACCEPTED 07 July 2022 PUBLISHED 17 August 2022

CITATION

Figus E, Ki'yee Jackson B and Trainor SF (2022) The Kake Climate Partnership: Implementing a knowledge co-production framework to provide climate services in Southeast Alaska. *Front. Clim.* 4:885494. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2022.885494

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Figus, Ki'yee Jackson and Trainor. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The Kake Climate Partnership: Implementing a knowledge co-production framework to provide climate services in Southeast Alaska

Elizabeth Figus^{1*}, Burt Ki'yee Jackson² and Sarah F. Trainor¹

¹Alaska Center for Climate Assessment and Policy, International Arctic Research Center, University of Alaska Fairbanks, Fairbanks, AK, United States, ²Department of Natural Resources, Organized Village of Kake, Kake, AK, United States

This paper provides a case study analysis of knowledge co-production with an Indigenous community and Tribe in Southeast Alaska. The 24-month study provided climate services and information in support of climate adaptation and mitigation with community identified priorities of food sovereignty and food security. Our objectives are to (1) describe an application of a theoretical framework that is specific to co-production among Indigenous and non-Indigenous partners, and (2) reflect on the ways in which this application supports relevance and use of climate services in an Indigenous community. Methods included text analysis of written research logs, review of monthly project briefings and structured discussions among a diverse author team. We found that co-production can be used to explicitly define a collective vision among partners that is a transformative way of doing applied climate and environmental science. As such, the role of the university researcher shifted from focusing on personal research interests to a focus on supporting local needs and priorities. When the climate services process is centered on Tribal and community priorities and locally identified science needs, the climate science aspect becomes just one element in the implementation of a larger local vision and goals. Challenges our team encountered during the study were related to logistics, communication, juggling priorities of multiple partners, capacity, and conducting community-based research during a global pandemic. We recommend that future efforts to co-produce climate services through research, adaptation planning, and mitigation be institutionalized and maintained over decadal, not annual, timescales.

KEYWORDS

co-production, Southeast Alaska, research partnerships, Indigenous Knowledge, Traditional Knowledge, learning network, climate services, climate change

Introduction

The field of climate services emerged to better equip decision-makers with tools to manage the risks and opportunities arising from climate variability and climate change (National Research Council, 2001; Solomon et al., 2009; Hewitt et al., 2012; Brasseur and Gallardo, 2016; Daly and Dilling, 2019). Climate services are science approaches that focus on the usefulness, usability, and practical applications for climate change adaptation planning and mitigation (Brooks, 2013). Increasingly, co-production is acknowledged as a valuable mechanism for providing climate services (Vincent et al., 2018, 2020; Steynor et al., 2020; Vollstedt et al., 2021). Coproduction can support the generation of climate services that are contextually credible, salient, legitimate (Buontempo et al., 2014; Bremer et al., 2019), and which go beyond the provision of climate information to support procedural benefits, including local empowerment (Baztan et al., 2020).

Co-production approaches are increasingly acknowledged as beneficial to actionable science in support of climate adaptation (Homsy and Warner, 2013; Meadow et al., 2015; Lavorel et al., 2020), and offer the opportunity to carry out climate research that uses meaningful methods to produce useful results for the public (Inukalik et al., 2020; Latulippe and Klenk, 2020; Yua et al., 2022). While there is a growing body of literature that describes characteristics of meaningful co-production (Beier et al., 2017; Wall et al., 2017b; Yua et al., 2022), processes of implementing (Djenontin and Meadow, 2018; Austin et al., 2019; Sikuaq Erickson, 2020) and evaluating (Wall et al., 2017b) co-production are not as prevalent.

Climate change is impacting the land and resources that Indigenous communities and Tribes in Alaska rely on for food security, food sovereignty, resource management, and cultural continuity, all of which are important Tribal and community priorities (ICC, 2012; Inukalik et al., 2020). Concurrently, Indigenous leaders are speaking out against the inequities in scientific research that have benefitted the scientific enterprise but left communities without tangible solutions to the challenges they face (Bahnke et al., 2020; Early, 2021). When climate science and adaptation planning are led by communities and Tribes, research and adaptation outcomes have the potential to be locally relevant (Kipp et al., 2019). Indigenous-led research can enable prioritization of Indigenous connections between the environment and wellbeing (Kipp et al., 2019). Indigenous peoples may be well positioned to use Traditional Knowledge in climate science and to inform adaptation planning, given historical and lived experience with adaptation and worldviews that promote holistic problem-solving (Vogel and Bullock, 2021). Conducting science with Indigenous methodologies and worldviews is a growing field (CTKW et al., 2014; TallBear, 2014; Johnson et al., 2016; Maldonado et al., 2016; Daniel, 2019; David-Chavez et al., 2020) and a model of knowledge co-production has been presented by Indigenous leaders in Alaska (Yua et al., 2022).

While co-production is widely put forward as a desired process for creating use-inspired science (Beier et al., 2017; Wall et al., 2017a; Wyborn et al., 2019; Norström et al., 2020), coproduction among non-Indigenous researchers and Indigenous communities requires special considerations (David-Chavez and Gavin, 2018; Carlo, 2020; Sikuaq Erickson, 2020). Meadow et al. (2015) note a need "to refine our understanding...of what specific actions and activities most effectively produce the trusting, long-term relationships necessary to the coproduction of usable science" (p. 189). In this paper, we present the specific actions and activities our team carried out while forming effective relationships to co-produce meaningful climate science among Indigenous and non-Indigenous partners in Southeast Alaska.

This paper presents an instrumental case study (Stake, 1995) of knowledge co-production with an Indigenous community and Tribe in Kake, Southeast Alaska, aimed at providing climate services (Brooks, 2013) in support of climate adaptation and mitigation. Our **objectives** are to (1) describe an application of the Yua et al. (2022) co-production framework (hereafter, Ellam Yua co-production) in the Kake Climate Partnership, and (2) reflect on the ways in which our application of Ellam Yua co-production is linked to the relevance and use of climate services in an Indigenous community.

For Objective (1), we documented our experiences over the first 24 months of our research partnership through tracking:

(1a) Accomplishments and financial spending over 24 months, to better understand the potential repeatability of implementing Ellam Yua co-production in climate change research.

(1b) How the Ellam Yua co-production elements manifested in our work, to compare our work with the ideal type of Ellam Yua co-production.

(1c) Challenges faced during the 24-month period of study, to inform others who may choose to implement Ellam Yua co-production and provide a balanced analysis of our application of the framework.

For Objective (2), we present details about key features of the Kake Climate Partnership. We use the term 'study' throughout this paper to refer to our case study research of the co-production process.

Materials and methods

Co-production of knowledge

Jasanoff (2004) and others (e.g., Miller, 2004) use the term co-production broadly to mean how, "the ways in which we know and represent the world (both nature and society) are inseparable from the ways in which we choose to live in it" (p. 13). In a review of publications using co-production, Bremer and Meisch (2017) found no "common view of co-production" in climate research, and instead classify co-production in climate research across eight different lenses, or approaches. However, in climate and environmental sustainability research, it is common to encounter an outcomes-based understanding of co-production (Dilling and Lemos, 2011; Meadow et al., 2015; Lemos et al., 2018; Kettle, 2019). For example, Lemos et al. (2018) discuss co-production as, "a focus of research and...practice among scientists, stakeholders, and funders" (p. 722), situated in terms of how well it can lead to sustainability outcomes for society. Daly and Dilling (2019) describe a focus on outcomes as a normative approach to co-production.

Although co-production practices are increasingly popular, Daly and Dilling (2019) found that normative co-production practices do not necessarily lead to transformational or usable climate services. Treating co-production as a means to an end, rather than a meaningfully reflexive process, can reinforce existing power imbalances and inequities without producing relevant or applicable climate services. In contrast to normative co-production, the Ellam Yua co-production framework we employed for this study is process-based (Figure 1).

Selecting a framework: Ellam yua co-production

We use the Ellam Yua definition of knowledge coproduction, which is a "process that brings together Indigenous Peoples' knowledge systems and science to generate new knowledge and understandings of the world that would likely not be achieved through the application of only one knowledge system" (p. 2). Ellam Yua co-production involves 21 elements depicted in Figure 1.

Ellam Yua co-production was selected for this study because this framework was developed by Indigenous scholars in Alaska, for work among Indigenous and non-Indigenous Alaskans, and explicitly engages a holistic, Indigenous worldview (Daniel, 2019; Yua et al., 2022; Figure 1).

Tribal sovereignty—the authority to self-govern (NCAI, 2022)—is a central concept in Ellam Yua co-production. Following Ellam Yua, meaningful co-production takes place when Indigenous and non-Indigenous partners lead a project together from the beginning stages of developing a research idea through project design, data collection and analysis, and sharing of project outcomes, while upholding Tribal and data sovereignty (NCAI, 2018; Latulippe and Klenk, 2020). Creating and nurturing an equitable and meaningful process among partners is as important—and sometimes more important—than specific research or sustainability outcomes. It is expected that by focusing on an equitable process, outcomes will be relevant to and useful for Tribal and community partners.

Ellam Yua co-production aligns with epistemologies aimed at centering equity, ethics, and decolonization—disrupting legacies of imperalism and exploitation (Tuhiwai Smith, 2012; Marino et al., 2020)—across fields of study and policy (Bartlett et al., 2012; Tuck and Yang, 2012; Fryberg and Eason, 2017; Latulippe and Klenk, 2020; Reid et al., 2021), as well as specifically in climate change research (Mihlar, 2008; Whyte, 2013, 2017). Ellam Yua co-production shares characteristics with "Two-Eyed Seeing", as described by Bartlett et al. (2012) and Reid et al. (2021), in that both aim to weave together Indigenous and non-Indigenous knowledge systems. Ellam Yua co-production has similarities with some work in the realm of participatory action research (Peterson, 2011), political economy focused on climate vulnerability (Barnett, 2020), "transformative" worldview approaches to social science (Creswell, 2014), and other co-production approaches (Turnhout et al., 2020; Hauser et al., 2021), which are similarly centered in power- and justice-oriented scientific research.

Geographic area, research partners, and related activities

Land acknowledgment

As authors of this paper, everywhere we live and work is Native land. We recognize, appreciate, and honor Indigenous peoples and their past, present, and future land stewardship. The work we present in this paper has taken place on the unceded territories of many Indigenous peoples within the boundaries currently recognized by the United States Federal government as the State of Alaska. Most of our field research work has taken place on Tlingit Aani, in the unceded territories of the Keex' Kwaan Tlingit people in Southeast Alaska (Figure 2).

Geographic area: Kake, Alaska (Keex' Kwaan)

Kake is in the heart of Southeast Alaska, at the confluence of three major bodies of water: Frederick Sound, Chatham Strait, and Keku Strait (Figure 3). Kake is a Tlingit Alaska Native community in Southeast Alaska with a population of around 570 people (US Census 2018) and is accessible by boat or small plane. Kake is not accessible by road from other communities in Alaska, the contiguous United States, or Canada. The State of Alaska designates the community of Kake as encompassing 12.85 square miles of land on the northwest shoreline of Kupreanof Island (DCRA, 1988; Supplementary file A). The Organized Village of Kake Federally recognized Tribe recognizes an overlapping but much larger area of land and water as the traditional Kake Community Use Area for people in Kake (Figure 2).

Like other areas of Southeast Alaska, the coastal rainforest area surrounding the Kake Community Use Area is comprised of steep walled valleys and deep, narrow bays characteristic of glaciated terrain (CEC, 2015). Southeast Alaska has the mildest temperatures in Alaska, and typically experiences large amounts of precipitation year-round. Historically (1925–2021), monthly average temperatures have ranged between 16.6 and 59.6 degrees Fahrenheit and monthly precipitation has ranged between 0.41 and 27.97 inches in the area surrounding Kake (NOAA, 2022a,b). The forests are dominated by western hemlock and Sitka spruce and the coastal ocean waters are heavily influenced by glacial runoff (Gallant et al., 1995).



Climate change impacts in Kake and throughout Southeast Alaska include increasing variability and extremes in weather events. For example, while annual precipitation in the region is increasing over long timescales, year to year fluctuations have led to extreme drought periods in recent years (e.g., 2017–2019; Thoman et al., 2019). Increasingly unstable weather patterns, including seasonal drought conditions, have led to large variations in stream depth and temperature and concerns about the potential for increasing harmful algal bloom incidence in ocean waters near Kake (Leffler, 2019). The long-term health of ocean water, creeks, and streams around Kake directly affect Tribal and community health, food sovereignty (Inukalik et al., 2020), and food security (Carlo, 2020; Inukalik et al., 2020) of local residents through impacts on foods like seaweeds, shellfish, and fish, including salmon. Linkages among climate change, the environment, and pollution are locally relevant, as they have potential to impact food sovereignty and food security through impacts to accessing healthy customary and traditional foods throughout the Kake Community Use Area.

Research partners and related activities

The Kake Climate Partnership (the Partnership) was formed in 2020 between a Federally recognized Tribe, a local Tribal corporation, a rural municipal government, and a research and boundary spanning (Kettle and Trainor, 2015) organization at a



public university: the Organized Village of Kake (OVK), Kake Tribal Corporation (KTC), the City of Kake (the City), and the Alaska Center for Climate Assessment and Policy (ACCAP) at the University of Alaska Fairbanks (Table 1). The Tribal, Tribal corporation, and municipal partners are based in the community of Kake, while the university partners are based in Juneau, AK, (E. Figus) and Fairbanks, AK (S. Trainor). All research projects carried out by the Partnership take place in and around Kake.

The Climate Partnership was modeled after the existing Keex' Kwaan Community Forest Partnership (Nix, 2019) and is aligned with broader work to strengthen food sovereignty and security and manage natural resources in the Kake Community Use Area. There are existing initiatives in Kake for a Tribal



Conservation District and an Indigenous Coastal Guardian Network. In 2018, OVK began pursuing status for the Kake Community Use Area to become a Federally recognized Tribal Conservation District (TCD; NRCS, 2020)¹. Status as a TCD provides eligibility to apply for funding support from 22 departments within the United States Department of Agriculture to monitor and protect the TCD area. OVK and KTC agreed to sign an MOU with the USDA to form the Keex' Kwaan Tribal Conservation District. In November of 2021, the MOU forming the Keex' Kwaan Tribal Conservation District was signed by the United States Secretary of Agriculture (USDA, 2021). The Tribal Conservation District is described in greater detail in Table 2.

OVK is part of a growing movement aimed at creating an Indigenous Coastal Guardian Network in Southeast Alaska, modeled after an existing Guardian Watchmen program across the North Pacific Coast, to "uphold and enforce traditional and contemporary Indigenous laws...in protecting and managing coastal territories" (CFNGBI, 2022a). The Coastal Guardian Network is described in more detail in Table 2. Creation of the Keex' Kwaan Tribal Conservation District and a Coastal Guardian Network program in Southeast Alaska have the potential to support greater local and Tribal sovereignty to manage natural resources and exercise authority over climate change adaptation planning and mitigation in the Kake Community Use Area.

Instrumental case study

We use an instrumental case study (Stake, 1995) analytical approach in this paper to address both Objective (1) and Objective (2). In this application, the Kake Climate Partnership is treated as a "program" (Stake, 1995) studied to learn about the "process" of Ellam Yua co-production. Co-authors on this paper brought three different perspectives to this work. During the study, E. Figus was a university research center postdoctoral fellow with full-time work capacity devoted to the Partnership. E. Figus was a non-objective (see Stake, 1995, p. 8) participant observer in the study, who simultaneously recorded and examined meaning of Kake Climate Partnership activities during the study period. B. Ki'yee Jackson was a Kake resident, an enrolled member of OVK Tribe, a shareholder in KTC, and was a full-time staff member at OVK with part-time work capacity devoted to the Partnership throughout the 24-month period of this study. S. Trainor was a co-Director of the ACCAP

¹ B. Ki'yee Jackson personal observation, 2021.

TABLE 1 Description of each entity in the Kake Climate Partnership, including their primary role in the Partnership.

Description of Kake climate partnership member entities

Partner member	Member information	Participation in the co-production process
Organized Village	OVK is one of 229 Tribes	OVK IRA Council
of Kake (OVK)	within the State of Alaska	members, members of
	recognized by the	OVK staff, and enrolled
	United States Federal	members of the OVK
	government (BIA, 2022).	Tribe all participate in
	and makes decisions via its	designing and carrying out
	Indian Reorganization Act	the partnership field
	(IRA) Council. OVK had	projects. Updates on the
	1,002 enrolled tribal	Kake Climate Partnership
	members as of February	are presented monthly at
	2022.	OVK meetings.
Kake Tribal	KTC is the for-profit	KTC makes decisions via a
Corporation	Alaska Native village	Board of Directors. KTC
(KTC)	corporation in Kake.	Board members, members
	Created by the Alaska	of KTC staff, and KTC
	Native Claims Settlement	shareholders all participate
	Act (ANCSA) of 1971,	in designing and carrying
	KTC owns land in the	out the partnership field
	vicinity of Kake	projects.
	(Supplementary file A).	
	KTC had 748 shareholders	
	as of March 2022.	
City of Kake (the	The City of Kake is a	The City Council votes on
City)	First-Class City in the	key aspects of the Kake
	unorganized	Climate Partnership and
	Wrangell/Petersburg	individual members of the
	Borough (ADCCED,	City Council and City staff
	2015). It functions as the	participate in designing
	municipal authority for the	and carrying out the Kake
	community and makes	Climate Partnership field
	decisions via regularly held	projects.
	meetings of their City	* '
	Council.	
Alaska Center for	ACCAP is a Regional	ACCAP serves as a
Climate	Integrated Sciences and	boundary spanning
Assessment and	Assessments (RISA)	organization for the Kake
Policy (ACCAP)	program funded by the	Climate Partnership,
/、 /	Climate Program Office at	providing organizational,
	the National Oceanic and	logistical, and scientific
	Atmospheric	support.
	Administration (NOAA;	
	NOAA, 2022c). ACCAP is	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

Partner member	Member information	Participation in the co-production process
	housed in the International	
	Arctic Research Center at	
	the University of Alaska	
	Fairbanks and conducts	
	innovative and	
	collaborative research and	
	engagement to inform	
	climate policy,	
	decision-making, and	
	action for a just and	
	sustainable future.	

RISA program in Alaska with connection to the Partnership *via* her role as E. Figus supervisor throughout the 24-month period of this study.

Building a partnership through written and agreed upon principles and expectations

In December 2019, E. Figus contacted OVK, KTC, and the City of Kake to propose a climate research partnership using the Ellam Yua co-production approach. In January of 2020, the OVK Council passed a resolution to partner with E. Figus and ACCAP, and to extend a partnership invitation to KTC and the City. In May of 2020, all four potential partners held a joint meeting virtually via Zoom video conferencing software (Banyai, 1995) to discuss whether and how to finalize a broader partnership. At the meeting, ACCAP, OVK, KTC, and the City created a set of explicit Principles and Expectations (following Naquin et al., 2019; Supplementary file B) to guide the work of the Partnership. The Principles and Expectations document stipulates broad ideas (e.g., shared values among partners) and narrowly defined responsibilities (e.g., who is responsible for record-keeping). The KTC Board of Directors and the City Council subsequently passed resolutions to formalize the Kake Climate Partnership during the summer of 2020.

Travel

Following Ellam Yua co-production elements in the 'Conceptual Tools' and 'Action Circle' rings of the model (Figure 1), E. Figus traveled to Kake in person early and often in this process, spending a total of 10.5 weeks in Kake during this study. E. Figus made four short trips to Kake between December 2019 and March 2020, before needing to

TABLE 2 Detailed descriptions of two ongoing activities in Kake related to the Kake Climate Partnership.

Descriptions of two activities in Kake related to the Kake climate partnership

Related activity	Description
Keex' Kwaan	A Tribal Conservation District (TCD) is an area of
Tribal	traditionally Tribal land that is managed through a
Conservation	Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between a
District	Federally recognized Tribe and the United States
	Department of Agriculture (USDA; See text footnote 1).
	"The goal of tribal conservation districts is to set local
	priorities for conservation and ensure sustainable use of
	natural resources for subsistence, economic opportunity,
	resource development, and cultural preservation" (NRCS,
	2020). "[A] TCD has the Traditional Knowledge; [the] USDA
	has the assistance, funds, [and] experience to help with
	technical needs" (ATCA).
	A Tribal Conservation District MOU may include the local
	ANCSA corporation with lands overlapping a traditional
	Tribal area. In Oct 2021, OVK and KTC created an MOU
	with the USDA to create a TCD in Kake.
	The Board of Directors for the Keex' Kwaan Tribal
	Conservation District will include members from both OVK
	and KTC.
Southeast	Modeled after an existing Guardian Watchmen program
Alaska Coastal	across the North Pacific Coast, the Indigenous Coastal
Guardian	Guardian Network in Southeast Alaska, is a growing
Network	movement focused on: <i>ensuring resources are sustainably</i>
	managed, that rules and regulations are followed, and that
	land and marine use agreements are implemented
	effectively They uphold and enforce traditional and
	contemporary Indigenous laws and continue the work of their
	ancestors in protecting and managing coastal territories
	(CFNGBI, 2022a).
	The Nature Conservancy describes Coastal Guardians in
	Alaska as a network to: <i>support community land and resource</i>
	stewardship by connecting existing local programs, aspiring
	community leaders and natural resource managers. The
	network provides technical and social support to strengthen
	community-based stewardship region-wide (Woll, 2018).
	The Coastal First Nations Great Bear Initiative explains that:
	as Indigenous peoples we derive our authority and jurisdiction
	from our traditional laws to manage and safeguard the lands
	and waters of our territories for the health of future
	generations (CFNGBI, 2022b). Work to implement the
	Indigenous Coastal Guardians Network in Southeast Alaska
	has been led by the Sustainable Southeast Partnership, of

which OVK is a leading member (Woll, 2018).

pause travel for 6 months due to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. During those first four trips to Kake, E. Figus was able to present in person at meetings of the OVK IRA Council, the Kake City Council, and at the Annual Meeting of the OVK Tribe, as well as meet individual members of the KTC Board in person. In addition, E. Figus and OVK staff worked with the teachers and administrators at the Kake City Schools to provide guest lectures and an intertidal field trip for middle and high school students in Kake in January and March of 2020, respectively. E. Figus subsequently made two three-week trips to Kake (to allow for quarantine periods), in October 2020 and March 2021, and made three short trips to Kake (when quarantine was not needed) in May and September 2021.

Determining field projects

Field research topics were determined by partners from Kake using consensus to choose a set of projects to work on together. During the spring of 2020, OVK, KTC, and the City held informal meetings to discuss ideas for climate change field projects and ACCAP partner E. Figus documented the various ideas (Supplementary file C). At the formal joint meeting in May of 2020, E. Figus presented the lists of potential projects, and all partners agreed on which of the ideas to prioritize.

Funding for field projects

Because the field projects were determined through the co-production process, leveraging existing funds and securing new funds to support project costs took place during the study. Members of the Kake Climate Partnership carefully tracked their spending related to their co-production process as well as to individual field projects. We provide a general overview of the financial spending associated with the Partnership in later sections of this paper.

Documenting the partnership and process

Co-author (and ACCAP employee) E. Figus was the only partner with full-time work capacity devoted to the Partnership. Therefore, the bulk of the documentation responsibilities were placed on her. We documented our partnership and our coproduction processes in three ways:

1. Written Logs: Co-author E. Figus kept written logs between November 2019 and October 2021, to document Partnership activities and specific reflections about the coproduction of knowledge process (Supplementary file D). Li (2018) notes, "reflexivity is an important research device for the social construction of new knowledge and production of competent research identities" (p. 17). In

10.3389/fclim.2022.885494

line with Li (2018), the written logs allowed for *self-reflexivity* (Alvesson and Skoldberg, 2009) and a process of *self-questioning* about methodological, theoretical, and practical issues (Silverman, 2010; Li, 2018) by the primary university partner throughout the study.

2. Written monthly updates: E. Figus prepared monthly update briefings between May 2020 and October 2021, which were emailed to all project partners.

3. Reflective conversations among co-authors: Co-authors met four times for a period of 1 h each during the Fall of 2021 to discuss our observations and experiences over the 24-month period. Co-authors E. Figus and B. Ki'yee Jackson further met weekly during the Fall of 2021 for 30– 60 min each, to discuss the study. Reflective conversations added *collaborative reflexivity* (Alvesson and Skoldberg, 2009) to this work. These conversations were important because they provided a diversity of perspectives as well as important space for all co-authors to share observations and perspectives and ensure those were documented in this paper. Co-author E. Figus documented these conversations in written notes, and all three co-authors used those notes to reach consensus about key outcomes from the study.

Analysis

Objective 1: describe an application of the Yua et al. (2022) co-production framework.

In documenting our partnership and processes we tracked items (1a), (1b), and (1c). Analyses for each item are described below.

(1a) Accomplishments and financial spending over 24 months.

Co-authors reviewed monthly project updates and the Principles and Expectations document and used reflective conversations to summarize accomplishments of the Kake Climate Partnership. Accomplishments during the study are organized in relation to our shared set of Principles and Expectations.

We summarized our approximate spending across each of 3 broad categories: Travel, Salary/Direct Payments, and Field Project Costs. The category "Travel" includes only travel by E. Figus to Kake, as other travel was canceled during the 24month period of the study, due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The category "Salary/Direct Payments" refers to E. Figus's salary, partner staff time, and payments to local residents in Kake for work related to the Partnership. The category "Field Project Costs" includes purchase of supplies, shipping, sample processing, and any direct payments to people not residing in Kake who assisted with Partnership work during the 24month period.

(1b) How the Ellam Yua co-production elements manifested in our work.

(1c) Challenges faced during the 24-month period of study.

Responses to items (1b) and (1c) were determined through analysis of written logs and reflective conversations among coauthors. Monthly logs were written and analyzed by project facilitator, E. Figus, and were coded based on intentions and outcomes. For example, use of the code 'Equity', could refer to an intent to create equity or an outcome of equity. Coding was not split between these two perspectives. This approach to coding was made possible because the coder was the same person who had written the log entries. The dual role of researcher and practitioner played by E. Figus may have caused added 'strain' for her lived experience during the study (Arber, 2006), but this reflexive activity enabled us to gain awareness of how the study and relationships developed within it shaped both the researcher (E. Figus) and the research (the Kake Climate Partnership).

Written logs were analyzed in the NVivo text analysis software program (QSR International Pty Ltd., 2020) using both deductive and inductive coding (Bernard, 2011). Deductive codes are determined prior to analysis and are used to test a hypothesis or seek out predetermined themes in a text. Inductive codes are identified during the coding process and are used to allow themes and understanding to emerge from a text without predetermined ideas. Individual logs for each of the 24 months from November 2019 through October 2021 were uploaded to a single NVivo file. A total of 22 deductive codes were created at the beginning of the text analysis process. Twenty-one of the codes correspond to elements in the Ellam Yua co-production framework (Figure 1), and one code was created for "Challenge", specifically to capture information relevant to item (1c). We use the term "elements" throughout this paper to refer to the 21 pieces of the Ellam Yua co-production framework (Figure 1) as defined by those authors. The code for "Challenge" was defined as difficult tasks or problems our team encountered, including caveats and deviations from Ellam Yua co-production. The code for "Challenge" was analyzed alongside the Ellam Yua elements and is described with them in the section titled, "Results from coding monthly logs."

Additional codes were created inductively during the coding process, which were not part of the Ellam Yua framework. Deductive codes were subsequently analyzed in the NVivo software program for incidence, clustering using Pearson's and Jaccard's correlation coefficients (Egghe and Leydesdorff, 2009), and qualitative characteristics. Qualitative themes were explored in the inductive codes and correlation analyses were not run on them. The content of the codes was summarized to respond to (1b) and (1c). Coding results were visualized using NVivo software. Selected quotes were also chosen from the logs to aid in descriptions throughout the paper.

Objective 2: reflect on the ways in which our application of Ellam Yua co-production is linked to the relevance and use of climate services in an Indigenous community.

We used collaborative reflexivity (Alvesson and Skoldberg, 2009) in the form of reflective conversations among co-authors to build upon findings from our analysis of items (1a), (1b),

TABLE 3 Abbreviated list of principles and expectations of kake llimate partnership with examples of how each one was accomplished during the 24-month period of this study.

Abbreviated list of principles and expectations of Kake climate partnership with examples of how each one was accomplished

Principle	Meaning	Example during this study
Southeast	Members acknowledge and	The Southeast Traditional
traditional	respect the values established	Tribal Values are at the
tribal values	by the regional tribal	forefront of all actions in the
	government in Southeast	Kake Climate Partnership.
	Alaska (Central Council;	
	CCTHITA, 2019).	
Respect and	This work should set an	Building a partnership
equity	example of respectful,	centered around respect and
	equitable research between a	equity was an iterative and
	Tribe, a City, a Tribal	ongoing process throughout
	Corporation, and a university.	the 24-month period of this
		study.
Food	All parties acknowledge that	All research projects
sovereignty	food security and food	characterize impacts of
	sovereignty is a key value and	climate variability and
	should play a role in all	pollutants on traditional
	aspects of this work.	foods.
Knowledge and	This work aims to learn from	Partners planned a
wisdom of	elders through respectful	Traditional Knowledge
elders	documentation of their	documentation project with
	knowledge.	Elders in Kake.
Data	Data sovereignty for the Tribe	Through use of a
sovereignty	and individuals in Kake	Memorandum of Agreement
	should be upheld at every	non-disclosure agreements,
	stage of this work and in	and the Tribal archives, the
	perpetuity.	team upholds local and Triba
		authority over data collected.
Baseline data	All parties acknowledge the	During the 24-month period
collection	importance of strengthening a	of this study, partners
	local database about the	completed two seasons of
	changing environment to	baseline climate data
	support future resilience.	collection (project 1 in
	**	Table 4).
Workforce	Importance of creating	More than 30 local residents
development	meaningful learning	worked as paid members of
*	experiences, training, and	the research team during the
	economic opportunities for	study (Table 4).
	local residents and Tribal	
	members.	

TABLE 3 Continued

Principle	Meaning	Example during this study
Publication values	All parties agree to publish about this work in ways that are respectful.	The team generated zero peer-reviewed publications, but successfully planned three potential manuscripts with equitable co-authorship.
Expectation	Meaning	Example during this study
Data/information ownership	Data sovereignty is a key value of this work. All parties agree to negotiate agreements about data & information ownership, including memoranda of understandings, as necessary.	OVK, KTC, and the City negotiated a MOA for all data collection for the ocean monitoring project.
Project	Staff from each partner entity	Partners maintained a core
facilitation	are primary facilitators for this work.	group of facilitators defined for all partners.
Regular updates	Regular updates will be provided by E. Figus so parties can provide feedback and recommendations to project facilitators about ongoing work.	E. Figus provided updates each month from May 2020 through October 2021.
Project	Project assessment will take	During May 2021,
assessment	place at regular intervals.	representatives from each partner entity participated in an evaluation in the form of a facilitated Talking Circle.
Outcomes	Preserving stories/knowledge from elders in Kake; local collection of climate data; professional development experiences for locals who participate.	Two seasons ocean monitoring data archived locally; presentations at science conferences; field trip with local high school students.
Follow up	Results will be presented to the community.	Team members presented results at an Annual Meeting of the Tribe during 2021.

Refer to Supplementary file B for the complete principles and expectations document.

and (1c) to identify and understand the relevance and usefulness of climate services generated through Ellam Yua co-production to Kake.

(Continued)
Results

Objective (1a) accomplishments and financial spending over 24 months

Our entire study was based around relationship building. As a process that does not end, relationship building was both a key accomplishment of this work and an ongoing process. As such, it is noted in multiple parts of this section.

Alignment of accomplishments with mutually agreed upon principles and expectations

Project partners agreed on a shared set of Principles and Expectations (following Naquin et al., 2019; Supplementary file B) 6 months into the 24-month study. Partners agreed to uphold eight principles and six expectations for the life of the Partnership (Table 3, Supplementary file B). Much of the content in the Principles and Expectations document is typical of best practices for any research partnership following Yua et al. (2022) and similar methods (Naquin et al., 2019; e.g., "Respect & Equity"). Partners additionally included items specific to the context of Kake such as Southeast Traditional Tribal Values and workforce development (Supplementary file B).

The document stipulates that all partners have agreed to work together to benefit the community of Kake. The document also details that the Partnership and all projects within it address local needs and priorities for youth training and workforce development related to climate adaptation. However, it stops short of stipulating research project topics or outlines in detail. In line with Ellam Yua co-production, research priorities were set by the partners in Kake and were carried out within timeframes amenable to community and Tribal needs. The Principles and Expectations document functions as both a guide for Kake Climate Partnership work and a measuring stick, against which to gauge successes over time. Table 3 presents a list of accomplishments in relation to the eight principles and six expectations, and accomplishments are described in detail below.

Building a partnership centered around respect and equity was an iterative and ongoing process throughout this study. The "respect and equity" principle is closely aligned with the Ellam Yua elements for "Equity" and "Trust and Respect," which are explained in greater detail in the section titled, "Results from coding monthly logs."

The term, "sovereignty," in the Principles and Expectations was used to refer to Tribal sovereignty of OVK as well as supporting KTC and the City in exercising their local authority over decisions and information related to the Partnership. Concerns about food sovereignty and food security were the local drivers for interest in climate and environmental research in Kake.

Field projects

During the 24-month period of this study, partners designed five field projects aimed at characterizing local impacts of climate variability and pollutants on customary and traditional foods (Table 4).

Ocean monitoring (begun June 2020)

All three partners from Kake identified ocean monitoring as their top priority for the Partnership's first climate research project. In 2020 and 2021, a team of more than thirty local residents collected baseline climate and pollutant indicator data in seawater and shellfish tissues (including pH, salinity, conductivity, temperature, ammonia, nitrogen, fecal coliform, saxitoxin, metals, and mercury). Local partners determined project goals and outlined potential analytes of interest for data collection. E. Figus then connected with experts in the field of ocean monitoring in Alaska to advise local partners about how to design and implement the ocean monitoring program to achieve their goals. E. Figus assisted in all stages of ocean monitoring design and implementation, including: obtaining necessary permits; distributing leveraged funding; organizing training for locals on the sampling team; mentoring high school and college students on the sampling team; acting as field coordinator from her office in Juneau throughout the field seasons (assisting with supplies purchasing, creation of field log templates, sample shipments, sampling event scheduling, communications with outside labs, etc.); working with outside experts to review and summarize sampling data under non-disclosure agreements (NDAs); complying with permit reporting requirements; and prepping all project records to be stored in the OVK Archives.

Evaluation (meeting held May 2021)

During May 2021, representatives from each organization participated in a facilitated Talking Circle (based on FNPO, 2009; OVK, 2013) to reflect and tell the story of the Partnership. Analysis of this meeting and additional evaluation activities were planned for future years.

Research film (filmed summer 2021)

Three undergraduate interns (all Kake High School graduates) and one local videographer in Kake wrote, directed, filmed, and edited a science communication film about the Partnership, with the objective of sharing information about the Partnership with a broad audience. Film editing was ongoing at the end of the study period.

TABLE 4 Field projects in order of priority and timing.

Kake Climate Partnership Field Projects Nov 2019-Oct 2021

Project	Method(s)	Amount completed	% Team time*	# Kake residents paid to work on project
1. Ocean Monitoring	Western science sample and data collections	2 seasons data collected	50%	30
2. Evaluation**	Facilitated Talking Circle	Meeting held in May 2021	5%	4
3. Research Film	Led by local student interns	Filming complete, editing begun	5%	3
4. Stream Monitoring	A) Traditional Knowledge interviews B) Western science sample and data collections	Planning completed	25%	3
5. Climate Change Adaptation Plan for Kake	Mixed	Planning begun	5%	1

Priorities have been set by all partners using consensus during biannual meetings. *Adds to 90%, because about 10% of team time is spent on administrative, outreach, and other activities not directly related to any field project. **Project aligns with Assessment item from Principles and Expectations document (see Supplementary file B and Table 3).

Stream monitoring (planned spring/summer 2021)

Partners planned a project to combine Traditional Knowledge with western science for monitoring water quality in local salmon streams. Salmon is an important local and traditional food to Kake residents. Methods included plans to A) train local residents to conduct interviews (Bernard, 2011) documenting Traditional Knowledge of changes in local salmon and streams over time, including observed changes in temperature, water levels and salmon runs in local creeks and streams through interviews with Elders and experts in Kake; and B) install temperature loggers and passive sampling instruments in stream locations near Kake documenting climate and pollutant indicators that may affect the ability of salmon to thrive in those streams.

Climate change adaptation plan for Kake (planning begun in January 2021)

Partners began creating an Adaptation Plan based on the Traditional Knowledge and scientific data collected by the Kake Climate Partnership, in line with CCTHITA (2019).

The two baseline data collection projects—ocean monitoring and stream monitoring—took up most of the Partnership team's work time (Table 4) during the study. Stream monitoring was planned but not begun during the 24 months of this study. Ocean monitoring data collections were completed during both years of this study, across a total of ten sample sites in the Kake Community Use Area (Supplementary file E).

E. Figus spent up to 25% of her time mentoring local youth and students during the study. Field projects emphasized mentorship, training, and paid work opportunities for local

residents and Tribal members. In addition to providing parttime work opportunities for local adults, co-authors E. Figus and B. Ki'yee Jackson supervised nine students from Kake High School, who worked as paid research assistants during the study. For more than half of these students, working on the Partnership team was their first professional job. E. Figus, B. Ki'yee Jackson, and other team members also guest lectured at the Kake High School and hosted local students on two field trips. E. Figus further mentored one undergraduate research assistant/senior thesis project (Davis, 2021) and three undergraduate student interns—all of whom received living wage compensation for their work.

Understanding that ideas of 'open data' and 'open science' do not fully align with Indigenous Peoples' rights and interests (GIDA, 2019) or the rights and interests of non-academic entities, partners have supported Tribal and local control over all data and information gathered under the Partnership. During this study, partners used a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) and multiple NDAs as tools to formalize this local control. As an example, the local undergraduate who used ocean monitoring data in her senior thesis signed an NDA for the duration of her use of the data. Her academic adviser, mentor E. Figus, and outside reviewer signed NDAs as well.

Defining the key facilitators for this work early in the Principles and Expectations document (Supplementary file B) provided clarity for the team. Assessment was made possible through consistent creation of monthly updates and holding a formal evaluation for all partners in May of 2021. Ocean monitoring (and planned stream monitoring projects) documented critical information to support local climate adaptation and mitigation. In the 24-month period of this study, partners produced numerous reports and presentations, including for Tribal and university meetings, and regional and national science conferences. The Partnership supported one undergraduate senior thesis project by an enrolled member of OVK Tribe (Davis, 2021), and received recognition from local, regional, and national media (Adapt Alaska and Figus, 2020; McKinstry, 2020; NOAA and Figus, 2021; Sea Grant and Figus, 2021). At the close of the 24-month period of this study, all partners agreed to continue and expand the Kake Climate Partnership and were engaged in negotiations to lengthen the existing MOA and expand the terms to include other planned projects.

Financial spending

The Partnership was formed knowing that university partners had 24 months of funding to cover co-author E. Figus's salary and travel from two different funding sources (NOAA and USDA). University funding also covered: travel for E. Figus and partners to attend science conferences (virtually); travel for E. Figus to visit colleagues throughout Alaska; and supported some parts of field research data collection in Kake. In addition to the university funding that was available at the project outset, OVK in Kake had existing grants from the Bureau of Indian Affairs and the Environmental Protection Agency to support field project costs and local salaries/direct payments. During this study, the Partnership secured (in new funds) or leveraged (pre-existing funds listed above) over \$50,000 for directly paying local residents, including the nine paid high school research assistants, one paid undergraduate research assistant, and three paid undergraduate summer interns. Sources of new funds for paying residents came from successful applications for the Partnership to host paid interns (from NOAA and Alaska Sea Grant) and for a paid undergraduate research stipend during the academic year (from the University of Alaska Fairbanks).

Field projects were designed to fit within existing funding as appropriate. Table 5 summarizes spending in the 24-month period across each of three broad categories: Travel, Salary/Direct Payments, and Field Project Costs, and provides a basic overview of spending related to this type of co-produced research, without focusing on the specifics of our budget. Partners spent over half a million dollars, not including indirect/overhead costs, to carry out co-production in Kake over 24 months.

While not able to anticipate all potential salary/direct payment costs prior to forming the Partnership, the university partner anticipated a need for funds to hire and train local research assistants or provide honoraria to local partners who volunteered time. Once the Partnership was formed, partners worked together to secure new funding to support summer internships and research stipends for local undergraduate students (through NOAA, Sea Grant, and UAF). TABLE 5 Total approximate financial spending during the 24-month period of this study including all leveraged funds across three basic categories: Travel, Salary/Direct Payments, and Field Project Costs.

Approximate financial spending during study

Expense	Amount (approximate values)	
Travel	\$35,000.00	
Salary/direct payments	\$350,000.00	
Field project costs	\$175,000.00	
Total	\$560,000.00	

The category "Travel" includes travel of co-author Figus, as other travel was canceled during the 24-month period of the study, due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The category "Salary/Direct Payments" refers to costs of Figus's salary, partner staff time, and payments to residents in Kake for work related to the Kake Climate Partnership. The category "Field Project Costs" includes costs of supplies, shipping, sample processing, and any direct payments to people not residents of Kake who assisted with Kake Climate Partnership work during the 24-month period. All values refer to funds used, and do not include indirect/overhead costs.

Results from coding monthly logs

All the text in each of the monthly log files was coded with at least one of the deductive or inductive codes. In some cases, multiple codes were assigned to the same portion of text. One additional code—"Flex-Pivot"—was created inductively during the coding process, yielding a total of 23 codes (Table 6).

Objective (1b) how the ellam yua co-production elements manifested in our work

In the review of E. Figus' logs, the most prominent elements from the Ellam Yua framework (Figure 1) were "Relationships", "Capacity", "Means & Ability", and "Communications" (Table 6). Elements "Deliberate & Intentional", "Empowerment", and "Gather Information" also had high incidence in the text analysis. Five of the seven most referenced Ellam Yua elements in written logs were from the "Conceptual Tools" of the Ellam Yua framework, with two elements from the "Action Circle"—"Communications" and "Gather Information." We also report results from analysis of the "Challenge" code here as it had the second highest incidence overall.

Other elements—including "Trust & Respect", "Decolonization", and "Practice Reciprocity"—had a lower incidence of occurrence in E. Figus' log notes. "Knowledge Systems" and "Equity" had the fifth and seventh lowest incidence in coding from the logs overall. The Ellam Yua elements with lowest incidence in the review of logs were "Ethical", "Problem Definition", "Identify Question", and "Sovereignty".

The highest incidence codes were encountered >10 times more often in the monthly logs than the lowest incidence codes. TABLE 6 Type of code (Deductive or Inductive); Code Name (either an element from the Ellam Yua co-production framework or an inductive code); which part of the Ellam Yua co-production framework each code belongs to (see Figure 1; not applicable for the 'Challenge' and 'Flex-Pivot' codes); and # References (absolute incidence) of each code used in our analysis.

Туре	Code name	Part of Ellam Yua	# References
		Co-Production Framework	
Codes used in tex	t analysis of monthly logs		
Deductive	Equity	Outer Ring	27
Deductive	Trust and Respect	Conceptual Tools	66
Deductive	Relationships	Conceptual Tools	281
Deductive	Empowerment	Conceptual Tools	148
Deductive	Means and Ability	Conceptual Tools	213
Deductive	Capacity	Conceptual Tools	234
Deductive	Deliberate and Intentional	Conceptual Tools	165
Deductive	Ethical	Conceptual Tools	15
Deductive	Decolonization	Conceptual Tools	45
Deductive	Sovereignty	Conceptual Tools	22
Deductive	Problem Definition	Action Circle	16
Deductive	Identify Question	Action Circle	17
Deductive	Develop Methods	Action Circle	64
Deductive	Gather Information	Action Circle	123
Deductive	Information Analysis	Action Circle	26
Deductive	Communications	Action Circle	201
Deductive	Review Results	Action Circle	34
Deductive	Control of Information	Action Circle	53
Deductive	Practice Reciprocity	Action Circle	40
Deductive	Knowledge Systems	Converging Through the Process	23
Deductive	Co-Production of Knowledge	Goal	70
Deductive	Challenge	N/A	249
Inductive	Flex-Pivot	N/A	17*

*Absolute incidence of this code is not meaningful, as it was inductively added partway through the coding process, without returning to re-coding earlier texts.

Figure 4 shows a visual representation of this relative incidence across all deductive codes.

Elements of "Sovereignty", "Ethical", "Problem Definition", and "Identify Question" had low incidence of coding from log notes but were nevertheless prominent in the 24-month study period, as evidenced in the jointly agreed upon Principles and Expectations document (Supplementary file B) and research processes.

We ran queries for Pearson's and Jaccard's correlation coefficients across the 22 deductive codes, to seek meaningful clusters of codes and to attempt to capture codes that were prominent in the Principles and Expectations but did not have high incidence in the coding. Results from a query using Pearson's correlation coefficient across the 22 deductive codes did not yield any obviously meaningful groupings of codes. Results from a query using Jaccard's correlation coefficient across the 22 deductive codes in the E. Figus logs showed how the elements were clustered in *project activities* during the study (Figure 5). The six Jaccard's correlation clusters displayed how the 21 Ellam Yua elements and the deductive code for 'Challenge' were correlated in the monthly logs. We found the six clusters represented five meaningful groups in the context of the Kake Climate Partnership project activities during this study: Action Circle Basics; Human Interactions; Field Projects; Partnership Operations; and Big Ideas.

Action circle basics

This group includes two clusters of basic research steps from the "Action Circle" that had low incidence in coding. The first cluster includes the codes 'Identify Question' and "Problem Definition" in a single cluster. These codes had low incidence in the logs but were successfully achieved during the study. Partners in Kake had clearly defined problems and research questions from the beginning of our partnership, thus, the team did not spend a lot of time on these Ellam Yua elements, beyond achieving consensus about prioritizing an order of project completion (see Supplementary file C). In contrast, the



second cluster including "Information Analysis" and "Review Results" had low incidence in the logs because these elements were not completed in the 24-month period.

Rhodes-Reese in Adobe Illustrator, using NVivo software output.

Human interactions

This group includes codes "Trust & Respect", "Deliberate & Intentional", "Communications", and "Relationships." "Relationships" had the highest coding incidence in the E. Figus logs. The other three codes in this cluster were not in the top four for incidence but were correlated with 'Relationships,' as they were a key part of relationship-building. Partners communicated regularly *via* emails, phone and video calls, and face-to-face meetings, and E. Figus traveled to Kake nine times during the study period (see section titled, "Building a partnership through written and agreed upon principles and expectations").

Field projects

This group includes five high incidence codes: "Gather Information", "Empowerment", "Means & Ability", "Capacity", and "Challenge." This group demonstrates how the field projects were more than simply data collection. Field data collection was the cornerstone of "Empowerment" in the form of employing and mentoring local undergraduate and high school students. Partners also had to secure and maintain necessary "Capacity," in the form of local people available/able to do the work, and "Means & Ability," in the form of funding and supplies for the work. The code for "Challenge" was strongly correlated with elements in this field project theme.

Partnership operations

This group includes three low incidence codes from the "Action Circle:" "Practice Reciprocity", "Control of Information", and "Develop Methods." These three codes formed a key part of day-to-day operations for the Kake Climate Partnership during the study. For example, how partners chose to "Develop Methods" was related to how information gathered during field projects was stored and shared (i.e., "Control of Information"). As with two of the codes in the "Action Circle Basics" group, these elements were coded with low incidence, not because they were unimportant, but rather because they were fully established during the first few months of the Partnership. Processes of meetings and decision-making involved "Practice Reciprocity"—often in the form of sharing stories and sharing food—and all these actions were guided by broader concepts in the "Big Ideas" group (see below).

Big ideas

A final group for six big ideas from the Ellam Yua framework includes: the "Outer Ring" code for "Equity"; "Conceptual Tools" codes "Ethical", "Decolonization", and "Sovereignty"; the code for converging "Knowledge Systems"; and the goal of achieving "Co-Production of Knowledge." These "Big Ideas" codes had lower incidence as they were not closely related to the day-to-day operations of the Partnership, which constituted the core content of the written logs.

Objective (1c) challenges faced during the 24-month period of study

The "Challenge" code had the second highest incidence of any code in our analysis. We identified five themes in the "Challenge" code: Logistics, Priorities, Communication, Capacity, and a Global Pandemic.

Logistics

Logistics (coordinating people, supplies, funding, projects, etc.) are a challenge in any type of research. In the geographic context of Alaska, and the context of Kake as a rural community not connected to other communities by road, it is common for projects to have unexpected delays due to weather or shipments of supplies. We anticipated added costs for all aspects of our field projects and in-person meetings, as compared with projects in the contiguous United States. Other challenges during the study included: balancing logistics across four different partners with team members in multiple communities across Alaska; leveraging, securing, and administering multiple sources of funding; achieving multiple goals on a limited timeline; and maintaining the focus needed to pay careful attention to the Ellam Yua co-production elements at every stage of our work.



Kake Climate Partnership project activities during this study. The clusters are displayed as branches in the above tree diagram, while the five meaningful themes are displayed using rounded transparent boxes, numbered 1-5. Each number corresponds to a meaningful group as follows: 1. Action Circle Basics; 2. Human Interactions; 3. Field Projects; 4. Partnership Operations; and 5. Big Ideas. Colors are used to differentiate clusters. Created by M. Rhodes-Reese in Adobe Illustrator, using NVivo software output.

Priorities

Juggling the priorities of multiple partners and multiple projects was a challenge throughout this study. Partners had diverse goals for how to prioritize their time and efforts. For example, ACCAP had priorities related to attending conferences and compiling peer-reviewed papers, while OVK, KTC, and the City shared priorities related to balancing research schedules with the schedules of Tribal and community events and customary and traditional food harvests. The team also experienced occasions of needing to shift priorities—often in the form of slowing down field projects—to uphold elements of "Trust & Respect", "Empowerment", "Decolonization", "Practice Reciprocity", and "Sovereignty".

Communication

Some partners preferred to communicate *via* email, others *via* phone, and some preferred face-to-face meetings. Some partners worked on typical weekday 9am–5pm schedules, but most did not. Additionally, the community of Kake had limited bandwidth capabilities for Wi-Fi and intermittent blackouts of

cellular service during this study—as is typical of many rural communities in Alaska.

Capacity

The Partnership experienced *capacity limitations* and *capacity imbalance* throughout the study. The primary capacity limitation was that only one team member had full-time work dedicated to the Partnership.

In my role as... the one person who is full-time committed to the Partnership, I must find balance across the three types of interests: my boss (or the larger entity I represent in academia), myself, and my partners. This is not an easy task, and it is one that feels like burnout at times. Because there is always something more that needs to be done for one of the 3 spheres.-E. Figus log notes June 2021

The primary capacity imbalances were (a) this was a universityinitiated partnership with full-time capacity coming solely from the university partner; and (b) the university and Tribal partners were the most active in terms of time and funding dedicated to the Partnership during the study period, with the City and KTC dedicating less capacity.

I feel like a lot of this work is turning into ACCAP and OVK, with a side of everything else. I hope that is not a weakness that will turn into a fissure for the Partnership...–E. Figus log notes April 2021

Global pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic interacted with the four other "Challenge" code themes through rapid and unexpected changes to our research goals, project design(s), timelines, travel, and funding structures. The pandemic exacerbated typical logistical challenges, caused a shift in our project priorities, improved our remote communications, and had mixed impacts on our capacity.

Flexibility in responding to challenges

The "Flex-Pivot" code emerged inductively during the coding process of E. Figus' logs. 'Flex-Pivot' is not part of the Ellam Yua framework and was added partway through the coding process to highlight a need for flexibility/to pivot that was central to the study. As it was added partway through the coding process, 'Flex-Pivot' is not fully represented in the final set of codes and the absolute incidence (n = 17) of this code listed in Table 6 is not meaningful.

The "Flex-Pivot" code content includes ways partners pivoted in response to challenges that occurred during the study. While not an exhaustive list of responses to challenges, the 'Flex-Pivot' code sheds light on both the need for flexibility in any co-production process, as well as ways that E. Figus and other partners chose to pivot in response to various challenges. We identified five themes in the 'Flex-Pivot' code, each of which represents an applied example or a set of examples from the first 24 months of the Partnership (Table 7).

Use of language

In Kake, this work was defined as a 'partnership' because terms like 'co-production' and 'actionable science' did not have clear meanings in the non-academic spaces of Tribal and community partners.

Rethink the role of scientific research and researchers

Typical academic research may include 5–10% outreach or engagement of some kind. The Partnership work done during this study was at minimum 50% Tribal and community engagement, youth mentorship, and administrative support for Tribal and community partners.

Flexibility in communication styles

Some partner entities wanted to be in constant communication, while others preferred to communicate

only when there were specific decisions to be made. Over the study period, E. Figus provided monthly presentations to one partner entity, while the other three partners chose to receive written updates via email each month. Tailoring communications to fit individual needs took extra time in the beginning of the Partnership but saved time and effort once a rhythm was established.

Flexibility in process with dedication to core principles

In the face of unexpected events, short- and mediumterm goals must shift. Major events, like a global pandemic, or minor events, like a mechanical breakdown of a sampling boat, can impact project timing and funding. Partners made alterations to almost every aspect of their work over the course of the 24-month study period, including changes to: funding sources; the order in which partners carried out projects; who were lead contacts from some partner entities; the way(s) each partner chose to participate and communicate with larger group; and the way(s) partners were able to meet with one another. However, partners did not change the core principles and expectations from the written and agreed upon document created in May of 2020 (Supplementary file B). Knowing when to be willing to flex and pivot was just as important as understanding when to stick to core long-term goals. In this study, having a document that clearly stipulated a shared longterm vision and day-to-day expectations meant no partner had to guess about whether a near-term activity was aligned with long-term goals.

Transparency in acknowledging successes and challenges

The Kake Climate Partnership enjoyed many successes in the 24 months of this study. Partners were also transparent with one another from the beginning about challenges. Through open discussions, partners were able to identify and respond to the key challenges presented in this paper.

Discussion

In this study, we found that creating the Declaration of Principles and Expectations (as recommended in Naquin et al., 2019; Supplementary file B) was key for success. By intentionally situating the Traditional Tribal Values (CCTHITA, 2022) in the Principles and Expectations, partners were able to use the document as an implicit and explicit tool for decolonization throughout their work. We also found that carrying out regular check-ins between individual partners and as a group was key to ensuring expectations were met over time in a transparent fashion. It was important for partners from outside the community to measure the time spent in Kake in weeks or months, not days, each year. This work was also expensive, and some costs were not possible to anticipate. While some costs of this work were known at the beginning, such as TABLE 7 Example quotes from the monthly logs across the five themes that emerged from the 'Flex-Pivot' inductive code.

Examples of the	'Flex-Pivot'	code across five themes
-----------------	--------------	-------------------------

'Flex-Pivot' theme	Example Quote(s) from monthly logs
1	the jargon creates a smokescreen that does not always make sense in communities [Research Colleague pers. comms, 2020]. In the context of Kake, we have defined ourselves as a 'Climate Partnership' and more generally as a 'Research Partnership' rooted in climate and environmental projects—September 2020
2	I think I [typically] unconsciously focus 75% [of my time] on scientific research, including [Indigenous Knowledge] as part of scientific research, with about 25% community engagement. I have not thought about this fully yet. How much of my current [co-production] work should be scientific research research—September 2020
	- [Knowledge Bearer from Kake] recommend[ed] that I let my voice be quiet while doing the work to support the capacity of my research partners, my Indigenous partners, to lead our projects in a way that satisfies their goals. So, I can run around and get project materials and help design methods for water
	sampling, but I need to step aside and back when it comes to leadership and big decisions, as well as how we present our work to the outside—September 2020
3	It feels like a huge weight has been lifted. I felt uncomfortable with worry for a week, but I am glad I simply thanked the [partner] for their time and got off their call. They are happy with the Partnership (or at least not disappointed) and just [did not] want me [presenting at] their monthly meetings—January 2021
4	Every few days, I have drafted a new potential sampling schedule, just in case things are ready to go. But no sampling took place due to [boat] mechanical and COVID issues COVID is spreading in Kake. We had a plan to get calibrations completed and potentially two sampling events completed, but one of our lead samplers is hunkering down due to a positive case of COVID in the family, and the case count in Kake continues to rise. Another 'hurry up and wait' week for ocean monitoring, while we deal with the stress and worry of everyone's safety—August 2020
	The [Declaration of Principles and Expectations] has become part of everything that we do, and it is the strongest glue holding us all together throughout this pandemic. The [Declaration of Principles and Expectations] is a work product, a deliverable in itself because it reciprocally defines us as we define it The [Declaration of Principles and Expectations] is meant to be our application of the [co-production] model [from Ellam Yua et al. (2022)]. The [Declaration of Principles and Expectations] ensures that we are all at the Kake Climate Partnership 'table' for the same reasons. We all understand that this partnership is much bigger and more meaningful than any of the individual pieces or people involved. We agree explicitly to uphold the principles of the [Declaration of Principles and Expectations] in all that we do—November 2020
5	I [am] struck by how quickly 12 months has gone by We have had great success, but also great challenges and potentially upcoming failureI am losing faith in the idea that meaningful [co-production], partnership work can be conducted in a 24-month window. Certainly, it could not be done in 12 months—October 2020 During the last week of February, I was informed by [university funding staff] that paying for Covid testing prior to and during travel to Kake will not be an 'allowable expense' on the [Federal] grant [we are using to cover my travel]. My travel plan was not reviewed by anyone other than [my supervisor], to my
	knowledge. This trip planning is very different from the trip in October. I made an appointment at [the regional Tribal health consortium] in Juneau for a pre-departure test and prepaid the \$145 charges. I wonder if there is a more flexible fund that we can pull money from to pay this cost—February 2021 There are many different balls in the air that require my attention at the moment This is the month where [co-production] turns into [a] choice of who gets the money from the emptying pot—January 2021
	A nice outcome of this month (and the trip to Kake) was that I walked away with confidence that our partners want to carry on past November 2021, so we have a bit more time to complete our goals together—March 2021
	OVK and everyone in Kake have adeptly and gracefully molded the [Kake Climate Partnership] into their other ongoing initiatives. In this way, I am confident that [Kake Climate Partnership] has constructively contributed to long-term projects and planning in Kake in a positive way. But I do hope we can find a way to make this a more lasting program—October 2021

The numbers 1-5 in the table correspond to five types of 'Flex-Pivot' themes as follows: 1. Use of language; 2. Rethink the role of scientific research and researchers; 3. Flexibility in communication styles; 4. Flexibility in process with dedication to core principles; and 5. Transparency in acknowledging successes and challenges.

travel for in-person meetings, many other costs could not be foreseen, for example, costs of projects or field research that were only developed after the Partnership was formed. Funding uncertainties were exacerbated in our study by the COVID-19 pandemic. Flexibility was key for all partners—for everything from defining research objectives to managing time. Our inductive 'Flex-Pivot' code demonstrates the importance of adaptability in implementing Ellam Yua co-production. We also found that this type of co-production work takes much more than 24 months of time. While individual projects can be designed, implemented, and completed over shorter timescales (e.g., a few months), the process of building any meaningful partnership takes years, and may be expected by a community to last much longer.

The Kake Climate Partnership used many of the elements of co-production during this study, but did not employ a 'wholly' co-productive approach as described in Yua et al. (2022):

The use of some of the conceptual tools of co-production should not be—though increasingly is—confused with employing a wholly co-productive approach. That is not to say that we discourage the use of a subset of the conceptual tools presented here, but rather that a true CPK [co-production of knowledge] approach requires equity through the entire research process, from the very beginning. Additionally, it is far more important to do co-production than it is to talk about it or label things as it (p. 27).

We found that in the 24-month period of this study, it was not feasible to fulfill the elements of 'Review Results' or 'Information Analysis' in a meaningful way. Similarly, many elements were less prominent than they might be over a longer time period. 'Decolonization' was a shared goal among partners but was not commonly identified in coding. Kake Climate Partnership field projects included both Western science (e.g., ocean monitoring) and Indigenous Knowledge (e.g., Talking Circle Evaluation), but during the 24 months of the study, partners did not achieve the bringing together of two different 'Knowledge Systems' as described by Yua et al. (2022) (Table 8) in a concrete way.

Partners engaged in actions for the elements 'Trust & Respect' and 'Practice Reciprocity', but in just 24 months of time and starting from scratch (no prior relationship between ACCAP and the other partners), partners did not completely fulfill these elements (Table 8). Partners seeded strong roots for the less prominent elements to be fulfilled in the future, but these less prominent elements would likely require more than 24 months of time to fulfill in any co-production partnership.

Geographical context of Kake

Delivering salient climate services hinges on understanding and responding to specific characteristics of user needs, including local knowledge and geographic context (McNie, 2013; Clifford et al., 2020). The Partnership research priorities were community-driven and field research was grounded in the landscape, geography, and Tribal context of the Kake Community Use Area. While Ellam Yua co-production may be applied in many different regions, there may be features of the Partnership that are unique to its geographic context.

The work presented in this paper is based around four entities cooperating to come up with a group plan to best study climate change impacts and plan for adaptation throughout the Kake Community Use Area (Figure 2). The food sovereignty and food security project priorities in Kake may or may not align with those of other regions, and financial spending in Kake may not align with costs in other regions. Kake is also a community where the leadership entities have a strong track record of working together for the betterment of their community (See text footnote 1). Not every Alaska Native community has cooperation between the municipal government, Tribal corporation, and Federally recognized Tribe. In communities that lack this level of coordination, the complex, tripartite, colonial-imposed system of governance in Alaska Native communities (Carlo, 2020) can create obstacles to climate adaptation.

We found that the Ellam Yua co-production framework developed for use in the Arctic was applicable in Kake, even though Kake is not located in the Arctic. We expect Ellam Yua co-production could be useful for other research partnerships among Indigenous and non-Indigenous entities, regardless of geographic context. Similarly, some characteristics of Kake's geographic context may be relevant in other settings. For example, non-Indigenous academic researchers seeking to partner with Indigenous Tribes and/or rural or remote communities in other regions may find some key parallels in our descriptions of travel, time, funding, and capacity needs for their work.

Reflections about challenges during this study

COVID-19

Challenges related to the COVID-19 pandemic heavily impacted this study by influencing how co-production activities were able to take place. Interestingly, however, while the pandemic created some challenges for day-to-day work-especially due to limitations on in-person gatheringsthe Partnership was especially well-positioned to continue functioning throughout the pandemic with limited risk. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic unexpectedly improved our team's remote communications abilities, through increased affordability of Wi-Fi, cellular service, and increased access to laptops and computers purchased through Federal relief funding. The pandemic also normalized the use of and access to online video conferencing software² like Zoom, which made it easier for our team to communicate with one another remotely. This allowed our locally led ocean monitoring work to proceed with limited interruptions. Writing about COVID-19, Marino et al. (2020) ask researchers to, "pause and reflect on the ethics of research in times of acute risk exposure." Marino et al. (2020) also correctly urge researchers to question whether their work is "beneficial, collaborative, or necessary." By using Ellam Yua co-production methods-including centering local priorities,

² E. Figus and B. Ki'yee Jackson personal observations, 2021.

TABLE 8 Example quotes from monthly logs of elements from the Yua et al. (2022) framework that were not fully achieved (fulfilled) during this study.

Type of limitation	Example quote from monthly logs
'Trust and respect' element	[The] biggest hurdle is trust; I like the term 'moving at the speed of trust' because that is what I do…it is a reality for myself and the
	Indigenous people of Alaska and probably around the world; we cannot go into things trusting because it has just been proven, years og
	oppression of our people by a system that was created not for people of color; it was created for the people of European descent; nothing
	that is on the books, whether it is policy, law, whatever; that wasn't written for people of color. We came as an afterthought there is
	always something else behind what is being asked us. I don't know how to explain that, but there is always an underlying issue I am
	leery of people that want to come and help our community. Not that I'm not appreciative of their efforts; it is that we have to keep our
	guard up; always, as Indigenous people I think mainly it comes down to trust. It is sad that that's always there for me, but I'm not
	going to go into something without mentioning that. And I won't ever hide that from anybody. Trust is earned, and it won't come
	easyOVK President Joel Jackson (excerpt from log notes, October 2020)
'Practice reciprocity' element	What is in it for them? This is the key to the whole [co-production of knowledge] process. What purpose does it serve an over-extended
	tribe and small community to get lip service and paperwork from the university? Without financial and temporal investment, the
	Partnership is meaningless. When I proposed designing climate research with the aim of providing tangible benefits to Kake, our
	partners at the tribe and city and corporation all said emphatically that workforce development HAD to be part of what we did. And
	field work ideas came pouring out of the tribal staff and leadership. The implication from early on was that I needed to find or bring
	money to the table to support those endeavors. Otherwise, what am I doing here in this 'partnership' space—January 2021

training, and mentoring local residents to carry out fieldwork, and supporting the outside researcher E. Figus in coordinating fieldwork activities from her home office—the Partnership was able to thrive despite the pandemic.

Other challenges

We found that challenges related to 'Logistics,' 'Priorities,' and 'Communication' were inevitable and likely would be ubiquitous across any similar partnership, while challenges related to 'Capacity' were contextual.

Capacity imbalance has the potential to be a positive aspect of co-production, for example when an entity with ample funding assists an entity with less funding capacity. However, when a capacity imbalance is sustained throughout a co-production partnership it has the potential to perpetuate inequitable power differentials that impede local and tribal sovereignty in the research.

During this study, the Partnership leaned heavily on the efforts of a few members (including co-authors E. Figus and B. Ki'yee Jackson) and workload was not balanced across all four partner entities. Challenges with 'Capacity' were strongly influenced by a *constricted timeline* and *directional formation* (as interpreted from the monthly logs and reflective conversations among co-authors).

<u>Constricted Timeline</u>: This paper reports experiences in the first 24 months of the Kake Climate Partnership. While the Ellam Yua model is nonlinear, field projects had strict linear timelines,

and the Partnership depended on full-time work capacity from co-author E. Figus. E. Figus' position as a postdoctoral researcher (and coordinator/facilitator of the Partnership) was limited to a 36-month period, after which the future of the Partnership was unclear.

<u>Directional Formation</u>: ACCAP initiated the Partnership with the goal of attempting to carry out co-production within a 24-month timeframe. In this approach, the work in this study deviates from the Ellam Yua framework, which recommends that Indigenous partners play a role in initiating partnerships for their benefit. Some challenges faced by the Partnership, including concerns about balanced input and participation from all partners, stem from this one-sided approach to forming a partnership (David-Chavez and Gavin, 2018).

The 'Capacity' challenges of a constricted timeline and directional formation were specific to this project and could be eliminated from future work through careful and deliberate planning. If the project had been planned on a longer timeline from the beginning (5 or more years), both types of capacity issues could have been resolved. With a longer timeline for work, it is likely that: (a) the Partnership would have been able to fulfill all the Ellam Yua elements to achieve a wholly co-productive approach (see beginning of section titled, "Discussion"); (b) there would have been less of a focus on linear scheduling during the first two years; and (c) there could have been more time devoted to planning, with the opportunity to deliberately structure balanced input and participation from all partners.

A note about potential limitations of this study

While the Partnership provided tangible benefits to the community of Kake, the constricted timeline of 24 months and directional formation (described above) limited the ability of partners to employ a wholly co-productive approach to this work.

The written logbook notes and monthly update documents were analyzed by the same individual who authored them; however, results of the analysis were discussed by the author team in our reflective conversations. While only two of our four research partner entities were participants in the reflective discussions and are co-authors on this paper, drafts and the final version were reviewed and approved by all partner entities prior to publication. More formal evaluation of the Partnership that engages all project partners was ongoing at the time of this writing and will be reported elsewhere.

Key features that made Kake Climate Partnership climate services relevant and useful for tribal and community partners

The field of climate services is broadly aimed at producing climate data, information, products, or knowledge that is/are usable in decision-making, planning, or policy (Brasseur and Gallardo, 2016; Daly and Dilling, 2019). Co-production has been put forward as a process that yields a greater likelihood of usefulness and usability in climate services (Lemos and Morehouse, 2005; Dilling and Lemos, 2011; McNie, 2013; Kruk et al., 2017). In the Kake Climate Partnership, several features have been significant in creating climate services and products that are relevant and useful for the Tribe and community partners.

Workforce development

One of the most important priorities for local members of the Partnership during this study was building local climate capacity through workforce development. Indigenous communities and Tribes around the United States face barriers to successful workforce development, including: low selfconfidence; a lack of professional role models; a paucity of 'living wage' job opportunities; or little room for professional advancement (NCAI, 2020b). All these barriers commonly lead to a 'brain drain' dynamic, where young people leave Indigenous communities to look for jobs elsewhere (NCAI, 2020a,b). There is a critical need to build capacity in the form of appropriate education, training, and job opportunities necessary for locals to take the lead in climate change research, adaptation planning, and mitigation.

We acknowledge barriers to workforce development faced by Indigenous communities around the United States (NCAI, 2020b), while recognizing the local talents and capabilities of people in Kake. In Kake, it is challenging to grow local research and management programs because there is a lack of people to fill jobs (See text footnote 1). But it is critical to create job openings to provide for local college graduates upon completion of their degree programs. While it is common for a university to harness scientific expertise in a research partnership, it is less common for university partners to seek guidance from Indigenous experts, to trust and follow community and Tribal lead, and center research efforts around local workforce development. Providing local workforce development opportunities in rural Alaska is especially relevant for the young people (NCAI, 2020a) who will comprise the next generation of climate change adaptation leaders.

One element in the larger local vision

We found that when the climate services process is centered on Tribal and community priorities and locally identified science needs, the climate science aspect becomes just one element in the implementation of a larger local vision and goals. In contrast to climate service models that provide downscaled scenarios to end-users for use in planning, the Partnership started with local needs and priorities. Projects were aimed at increasing adaptive capacity to climate change in Kake, based on local priorities of food security/sovereignty and data sovereignty. With an emphasis on process, Ellam Yua co-production goes beyond the provision of climate information by generating procedural benefits for local partners such as local empowerment. Our case study in Kake supports findings from Dilling et al. (2019), that the most critical adaptation-related needs may not directly relate to climate and instead relate to empowering communities in the face of climate change. The Partnership did not attempt to carry out climate services co-production as described in Baztan et al. (2020). However, we similarly found that processrelated benefits of co-production have the potential to generate local capacity that may be mobilized to face climate change. Through providing workforce development opportunities in Kake, bounded research projects contributed to strengthening long-term local capacity for climate adaptation.

During this study, the Partnership provided climate services and information through field project scoping, design, implementation, and archiving of data for use by local leaders and future generations in Kake. The Partnership provided tangible benefits for individual residents of Kake in the form of compensating local members of our field teams and mentoring youth in every project. Tangible benefits for the Tribe and community of Kake were realized by meeting local information needs and conducting climate research to directly support local adaptation planning, through building two local climate monitoring programs (ocean and stream monitoring) and focusing on archiving the resulting data locally in Kake for future use.

The two climate monitoring projects addressed high priority food resource issues that were identified on both local and regional levels. For example, the regional Central Council of the Tlingit and Haida Tribes of Alaska Climate Change Adaptation Plan (CCTHITA, 2019) lists salmon as a species in the category of "very high priority" area of concern, due to, "cultural, social, and economic value and the limited tribal control over their adaptive capacity" (p. 25). The ocean monitoring project in Kake collected information necessary to carry out the 'Resilience Strategies' for salmon stocks, listed on p. 28 of the Adaptation Plan. Local partners led the ocean monitoring field project during 2020 and 2021, while outside experts (including E. Figus) provided additional capacity as needed to achieve a program that produced data that was relevant, salient, and useful for the Tribe and community in Kake.

Collection and storage of ocean monitoring data in Kake laid the groundwork for local leaders to carry out successful adaptation planning in the face of continued climate change, specifically about the management of customary and traditional food resources. During this study, OVK, KTC, and the City used the data generated to educate the community about climate impacts on customary and traditional foods (Davis, 2021). In the future, local partners plan to use data and information from ocean and stream monitoring to compare with regional data to inform decisions including whether and how to: expand stream and coastal restoration projects near Kake; introduce legislation limiting what ships are allowed to discard or discharge into State and Federal waters around Kake; alter storage practices at the local dump; and shift the time and location of customary and traditional food harvests.

Transformative climate and environmental science

The field of climate services is increasingly focused on holistic, integrated, and 'next generation' approaches (Jacobs and Street, 2020; Irumva et al., 2021; Tudose et al., 2021), including transdisciplinary co-production (Steynor et al., 2020). Vogel and Bullock (2021) note that Indigenous worldviews that "promote holistic problem-solving through social capital, collaboration and capacity-building" lend themselves well to climate change adaptation. In the Kake Climate Partnership, we found that co-production can be used to explicitly define a collective vision among partners that is a transformative way of doing applied climate and environmental science. Partnership members have a shared vision to deliberately shift away from colonialism in research and resource management (Tuhiwai Smith, 2012), and toward Tribal and local control over research and management of resources. In line with Dilling and Lemos (2021), we found that successful research co-production for climate services requires a commitment on the part of outside



possible through the two hands of Traditional Knowledge and Western science working together. Artist credit: B. Ki'yee Jackson; digitized by Lori Styczynski at Roy's Embroidery, in Juneau, Alaska.

researchers to understand what Tribal and community members view as equitable and desirable outcomes. Creating a shared vision makes it possible to avoid harming communities (Dilling et al., 2019) and conduct climate research that provides tangible benefits for Tribal and community partners. This was especially relevant, as our study took place during the COVID-19 pandemic. Funding to accomplish the community designed and led research during this study was leveraged from a range of sources and multiple partners contributed funds approximately equally (OVK and ACCAP).

The Partnership was formed as a deliberate attempt to implement Ellam Yua co-production. Partners worked as a team to define challenges, identify strategies, collect data, and use findings from climate change research in support of adaptation planning. As such, all partners were both consumers and producers of climate information. Figure 6 shows a visual depiction of Partnership Principles and Expectations and connection among partners. Created by co-author Ki'yee Jackson, this image underscores the significance of holistic approaches to climate adaptation. Including artistic and culturally relevant elements in addition to scientific elements in the delivery of climate services constructs more enduring adaptive actions to climate change than are otherwise possible (Benson et al., 2020).

Boundary spanning

To use climate services to support truly transformational adaptation Boon et al. (2021) argue that climate service providers need to widen their scope and skills. In this study, the role of the university researcher shifted from focusing on personal research interests to focusing on supporting local needs and priorities. Respecting and engaging with Indigenous methodologies necessitates focusing climate services work on process, relationality, and service to community (Wilson, 2008). Postdoctoral researcher E. Figus from a NOAA RISA program acted as a boundary spanner (Bednarek et al., 2018; Posner and Cvitanovic, 2019) to connect community and Tribal leaders with capacity and support to achieve their climate research and adaptation goals. The Partnership team emphasized Tribal and community driven priorities and decentered the academic university perspective. ACCAP's role was primarily to provide training and mentorship, while respecting the sovereignty, intellectual property rights, and values of Tribal and community partners. Partners in Kake had a shared interest in collecting the scientific data that they needed to manage the Kake Community Use Area and the university partner mentored local partners in going after that scientific data.

Kake Climate Partnership supports a co-production learning network

Throughout the United States, NOAA RISA programs like ACCAP have been designed as human learning networks, prioritizing wide participation in learning to support transformational climate services (Combest-Friedman et al., 2019). In learning networks, the development and application of knowledge is multifaceted and individual team members must play multiple roles in the climate services process (Kettle et al., 2017). As boundary spanning organizations, the RISA programs can serve multiple roles to link science and decision-making in support of regional learning networks (Kettle and Trainor, 2015).

The Kake Climate Partnership was made possible in part because of the existing local initiatives for a Tribal Conservation District and a Guardian Watchmen Network, and by an existing regional learning network—the Sustainable Southeast Partnership. In turn, the work of the Partnership during this study was able to seed potential future learning networks, by creating trust relationships and collecting data necessary to support the Guardian Watchmen and Tribal Conservation District initiatives. The first 24 months of the Partnership was a seed for all three programs-the Kake Climate Partnership, Guardian Watchmen, and a Tribal Conservation Districtto work together in unison, as 'one hand helping the other' (Figure 6). For example, developing the ocean monitoring program provided the Tribal and community leadership in Kake with some of the experience and capacity necessary to embark on a Guardian Watchmen program in the future. In this way, the Partnership became a co-produced learning network that brought together not only climate service professionals, but also a Tribe and community to support each other's work and increase potential positive impacts of climate change adaptation planning and mitigation in the context of the local vision of sustainability across a broad geographic and temporal scope. Figure 7 shows actions and processes that lead to a co-produced learning network.

Conclusions

In this paper, we have presented an instrumental case study (Stake, 1995) analysis of a research partnership among Indigenous and non-Indigenous partners in a rural community in Southeast Alaska. In line with Stake (1995), our aim was to learn about the Ellam Yua co-production process by thoroughly understanding the particulars of the Kake Climate Partnership. Co-authors carefully recorded and interpreted the co-production process over 2 years in the context of a single research program. While our aim was not to generalize about co-production based on our single case study, we have described the context and key features of our work that may be applicable to other co-produced climate services programs.

Stakeholders and practitioners in Alaska are calling for climate science that is more inclusive, transparent, collaborative, and accessible (Knapp and Trainor, 2013). In this paper, we have demonstrated how co-production explicitly designed for application in partnership with Indigenous communities is a transformative way of conducting science which holds great promise. When projects are meaningfully co-produced among academics, Tribes, communities, tribal corporations, schools, and other organizations, it is possible to: focus research and adaptation planning on topics that are most relevant for local people (Kipp et al., 2019); pursue multiple objectives simultaneously³ leverage funding sources and capacity from multiple entities³ and produce more usable science (Dilling and Lemos, 2011; Lemos et al., 2012) to maximize actionable outcomes.

120

³ E. Figus personal observations, 2021.



Traditional Tlingit formline drawing techniques to display actions and processes that lead to a co-production learning network. The large ovoid in the center of the figure represents the center of the eye. The Kake Climate Partnership forms the base of this central ovoid, and acts as a seed for the future Coastal Guardian Network (see Table 2). The Coastal Guardian Network is situated across the top of the central ovoid, as a goal for the future. The 'TCD' stands for the Tribal Conservation District (see Table 2), which has a root connection to the ovoid in the eye and supports everything above it. The Kake Community Use Area is in the innermost ovoid, as the central point of all efforts. Each small ovoid with a tail on it is unique and symbolizes a main event from the first 24 months of the Kake Climate Partnership—actions partners have taken as a team to build the Partnership and support the long-term vision in Kake. Each small ovoid with a tail is numbered. The numbers correspond to a key underneath the spiral that displays descriptions of each major accomplishment of the Kake Climate Partnership during the 2 years of this study. Artist credit: B. Ki'yee Jackson; digitized by M. Rhodes-Reese.

We found co-produced climate services work conducted in authentic partnership with an Indigenous community and Tribe involved:

- establishing and abiding by shared principles and expectations;
- focusing on local priorities, local values, workforce development (NCAI, 2020a), and local leadership in research;
- upholding data sovereignty and intellectual property for all partners; and
- allowing academic and agency partners to play a supportive, boundary spanning role rather than a

leadership role (Bartlett et al., 2012; Bednarek et al., 2018; Reid et al., 2021).

This work required expanding interpretations of research to include centering local workforce development while harnessing scientific expertise and seeking guidance from Indigenous experts. To achieve success, outside partners trusted and followed Tribal and community leadership. The outside partner (ACCAP) also acknowledged that climate change and climate services are just one part of larger Tribal and community visions and needs.

Using a case study of the Kake Climate Partnership, we have shown how co-production can be used to provide climate

services through facilitation, support, and boundary spanning. OVK, KTC, the City of Kake, and ACCAP built a deliberate and equitable partnership, blending cultural and scientific elements of climate services (Benson et al., 2020) and blurring the distinction between producers and consumers of climate information (Dilling and Lemos, 2011). We have described our application of co-production over a 24-month period and reflected on linkages between the Ellam Yua framework and climate services in Kake. Deliberate and reflective application of this model through partnerships achieved relevant and useful climate services in Kake and could likely do the same elsewhere. Most of the challenges faced during this study were typical of any collaborative research, and we believe those that were atypical could be resolved by lengthening the timeline to be 5-10 years, instead of two. Aligned with Sikuaq Erickson (2020), we recommend that future efforts to co-produce climate services through research, adaptation planning, and mitigation be institutionalized and maintained over decadal, not annual, timescales. Research programs with five or more years of funding are well-situated to develop such longer-term plans for co-production of climate change research and adaptation with Tribes and communities.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

BKJ and EF led the field projects described in the manuscript. EF created the monthly updates and monthly logs used in the manuscript, conducted reviews of monthly updates, text analysis of monthly logs, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. ST supervised the research, contributed to the framing, organization, and writing of the manuscript. BKJ created all artistic contributions (Figures 6, 7). BKJ, EF, and ST revised and approved the final draft, contributed to the objectives put forth in the manuscript, jointly wrote the outline, and contributed background literature to inform the findings described in the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work has been supported by funding from: The Alaska Center for Climate Assessment and Policy (ACCAP), a NOAA Regional Integrated Sciences and Assessments program, award NA16OAR4310162, the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture, Hatch project 1018914, the EPA Indian General Assistance Program (IGAP; CFDA 66.926) at the Organized Village of Kake (OVK), a Bureau of Indian Affairs Tribal Resilience Ocean and Coastal Management Planning Grant (#A20AP00144, held by OVK), the NOAA Sea Grant Community Engaged Internship program; the NOAA Hollings Preparation Program, and the UAF Undergraduate Research and Scholarly Activity program. The University of Alaska is an AA/EO employer and educational institution and prohibits illegal discrimination against any individual: www.alaska.edu/nondiscrimination. This work has been supported by donations of time from: the Organized Village of Kake, the Kake Tribal Corporation; the City of Kake, the Alaska Youth Stewards program [funded through the United States Forest Service (USFS), the Sustainable Southeast Partnership, OVK, and SEALASKA].

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all members of the Kake Climate Partnership at OVK, KTC, the City, and ACCAP, as well as Ellam Yua co-production authors Carolina Behe, Raychelle Daniel, and Julie Raymond-Yakoubian, for their guidance and contributions to this work. Sincere thanks to the 2020 and 2021 Kake ocean monitoring sampling teams for their time and hard work and to undergraduate interns and research assistants Talia Davis, Simon Friday, Willow Jackson, Courtney James, Shawaan Gamble-Jackson, and Shawn Merry, for their contributions to our field projects and data analysis. Special thanks to Kake High School research assistants Mamie Crookes, Joss Jackson, Taylor Vantrease, Sid Austin, Dominic Ross, and Aiden Clark, for their many hours of field project assistance during 2021. Many thanks to Guy Archibald, Miakah Nix, Carson Viles, Andrew Cyr, and Clay Good, for key logistical assistance during fieldwork; BKJ, Lori Styczinski, Melissa Rhodes-Reese, Mike Ka.oosh Jackson, and Bob Christensen, for their artistic and graphical contributions to this paper; Anthony Gastalum, for facilitating the May 2021 evaluation Talking Circle; Adelheid Herrmann, Margaret Rudolf, Eva Burk, and all members of the Trainor Research Seminar group at UAF, for guidance throughout the study; and Wilson Justin and the First People's Conservation Council, for their mentorship and for sharing their wisdom. We are also thankful to Rick Thoman and everyone at IARC/ACCAP, for providing guidance and feedback regarding climate science in and around Kake, Alaska; the team at SEATOR labs in Sitka, for their logistical support and guidance during ocean monitoring fieldwork, and to two reviewers, who helped refine the paper and clarify important elements. gunalchéesh!

Conflict of interest

This study was conducted in partnership with Kake Tribal Corporation, a for-profit entity. Kake Tribal Corporation

donated time and guidance to this work but did not provide direct funding.

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made

References

Adapt Alaska, and Figus, E. (2020). Ocean Monitoring in Kake, Alaska. Available online at: https://adaptalaska.org/case-study/ocean-monitoring-in-kake-alaska/

ADCCED (2015). Local Government in Alaska LOCAL GOVERNMENT IN ALASKA Section 1-Alaska Has Just Two Types of Municipal Government-Cities and Organized Boroughs. Available online at: https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/ Portals/4/pub/2015%20%20LOCAL%20GOVERNMENT%20IN%20ALASKA.pdf (accessed February 25, 2022).

Alvesson, M., and Skoldberg, K. (2009). *Reflexive Methodology*. New Vistas for Qualitative Research: London, Sage.

Arber, A. (2006). Reflexivity: a challenge for the researcher as practitioner? J. Res. Nursing 11, 147–157. doi: 10.1177/1744987106056956

ATCA. Tribal Conservation District. Memo.

Austin, B. J., Robinson, C. J., Mathews, D., Oades, D., Wiggin, A., Dobbs, R. J., et al. (2019). An indigenous-led approach for regional knowledge partnerships in the kimberley region of Australia. *Human Ecol.* 47, 577-588. doi: 10.1007/s10745-019-00085-9

Bahnke, M., Korthuis, V., Philemonoff, A., and Johnson, M. (2020). Letter to National Science Foundation Regarding Navigating the New Arctic Program. Available online at: https://kawerak.org/download/navigating-the-new-arcticprogram-comment-letter/ (accessed January 19, 2022).

Banyai, I. (1995). Zoom [video conference software]. New York: Viking.

Barnett, J. (2020). Global environmental change II: political economies of vulnerability to climate change. *Prog. Hum. Geogr.* 44, 1172–1184. doi: 10.1177/0309132519898254

Bartlett, C., Marshall, M., and Marshall, A. (2012). Two-eyed seeing and other lessons learned within a co-learning journey of bringing together indigenous and mainstream knowledges and ways of knowing. *J. Environ. Stud. Sci.* 2, 331–340. doi: 10.1007/s13412-012-0086-8

Baztan, J., Vanderlinden, J. P., Jaffrès, L., Jorgensen, B., and Zhu, Z. (2020). Facing climate injustices: community trust-building for climate services through arts and sciences narrative co-production. *Climate Risk Manage.* 30, 10023. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2020.100253

Bednarek, A. T., Wyborn, C., Cvitanovic, C., Meyer, R., Colvin, R. M., Addison, P. F. E., et al. (2018). Boundary spanning at the sciencepolicy interface: the practitioners' perspectives. *Sustain. Sci.* 13, 1175–1183. doi: 10.1007/s11625-018-0550-9

Beier, P., Hansen, L. J., Helbrecht, L., and Behar, D. (2017). A howto guide for coproduction of actionable science. *Conserv. Lett.* 10, 288–296. doi: 10.1111/conl.12300

Benson, T., Joachim, L., Smith, H., Allan, P., Bryant, M., Suaalii-Sauni, T., et al. (2020). "Indigenous Art, Resilience, and Climate Change," in *Environment and Belief Systems. (India:* Routledge). doi: 10.4324/978036781 4274-5

by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Author disclaimer

Contents of this paper are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of NOAA, the USDA, the USFS, the EPA, UAF, or any other funder.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fclim.2022.885494/full#supplementary-material

Bernard, H. R. (2011). Research Methods in Anthropology: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. 5th ed. New York, NY: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.

BIA (2022). Indian Entities Recognized by and Eligible to Receive Services from the United States Bureau of Indian Affairs. USA. Available online at: https://www. govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2022-01-28/pdf/2022-01789.pdf (accessed January 19, 2022).

Boon, E., Goosen, H., van Veldhoven, F., and Swart, R. (2021). Does transformational adaptation require a transformation of climate services? *Front. Climate.* 3, 615291. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2021.615291

Brasseur, G. P., and Gallardo, L. (2016). Climate services: lessons learned and future prospects. *Earth's Future.* 4, 79–89. doi: 10.1002/2015EF 000338

Bremer, S., and Meisch, S. (2017). Co-production in climate change research: reviewing different perspectives. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Climate Change.* 8, e482. doi: 10.1002/wcc.482

Bremer, S., Wardekker, A., Dessai, S., Sobolowski, S., Slaattelid, R., van der Sluijs, J., et al. (2019). *Toward a multi-faceted conception of co-production of climate services. Climate Serv.* 13, 42–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2019. 01.003

Brooks, M. S. (2013). Accelerating innovation in climate services: the 3 e's for climate service providers. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 94, 807–819. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-12-00087.1

Buontempo, C., Hewitt, C. D., Doblas-Reyes, F. J., and Dessai, S. (2014). Climate service development, delivery and use in Europe at monthly to inter-annual timescales. Climate Risk Manage. 6, 1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2014.10.002

Carlo, N. (2020). Arctic Observing: Indigenous Peoples' History, Perspectives, and Approaches for Partnership. Fairbanks. Available online at: https://uaf.edu/ caps/our-work/Carlo_Arctic-Observing_Indigenous-Peoples-History_CAPS_ 5MAR2020.pdf (accessed February 25, 2022).

CCTHITA (2019). Central Council of the Tlingit and Haida Indian Tribes of Alaska Climate Change Adaptation Plan. Available online at: www.ccthita-nsn.gov (accessed January 19, 2022).

CCTHITA (2022). Southeast Traditional Tribal Values: Our Way of Life. Available online at: http://www.ccthita.org/about/values/index.html

CEC (2015). Ecological Regions of North America. Commission for Environmental Cooperation. Available online at: https://gaftp.epa.gov/EPADataCommons/ORD/ Ecoregions/cec_na/NA_LEVEL_I.pdf (accessed February 25, 2022).

CFNGBI (2022a). *Coastal Guardian Watchmen*. Available online at: https:// coastalfirstnations.ca/our-stewardship/coastal-guardian-watchmen/ January 19, 2022). (accessed

CFNGBI (2022b). Coastal Guardian Watchmen Vision. Available online at: https://coastalfirstnations.ca/coastal-guardian-watchmen-vision/ (accessed January 19, 2022). Clifford, K. R., Travis, W. R., and Nordgren, L. T. (2020). A climate knowledges approach to climate services. *Climate Serv.* 18, 100155. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2020.100155

Combest-Friedman, C., Nierenberg, C., and Simpson, C. (2019). Building a learning network: reflections from the RISA program. Current Opin. Environ. Sustain. 39, 160–166. doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2019.10.006

Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. 4th ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Incorporated.

CTKW, Chief, K., Chischilly, A. M., Cochran, P., Durglo, M., Hardison, P., et al. (2014). *Guidelines for Considering Traditional Knowledges in Climate Change Initiatives*. Available online at: https://climatetkw.wordpress.com/ (accessed February 24, 2022).

Daly, M., and Dilling, L. (2019). The politics of "usable" knowledge: examining the development of climate services in Tanzania. *Clim. Change* 157, 61–80. doi: 10.1007/s10584-019-02510-w

Daniel, R. (2019). Understanding Our Environment Requires an Indigenous Worldview. Available online at: https://eos.org/opinions/understanding-ourenvironment-requires-an-indigenous-worldview (accessed May 19, 2022). doi:10.1029/2019EO137482

David-Chavez, D. M., and Gavin, M. C. (2018). A global assessment of Indigenous community engagement in climate research. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 13, 123005. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/aaf300

David-Chavez, D. M., Valdez, S., Estevez, J. B., Meléndez Martínez, C., Garcia, A. A., Josephs, K., et al. (2020). Community-based (rooted) research for regeneration: understanding benefits, barriers, and resources for Indigenous education and research. *AlterNative* 16, 220–232. doi: 10.1177/1177180120952896

Davis, T. (2021). Heavy metal, fecal coliform, and paralytic shellfish toxin concentrations in ocean water and blue mussel (Mytilus edulis; yaak*) samples around kake, alaska, during the summer of 2020 (Unpublished Thesis). University of Alaska Fairbanks, Fairbanks, AK, United States.

DCRA (1988). Certificate: Boundaries of the City of Kake, Alaska. State of Alaska. Available online at: https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/Portals/4/pub/ LBC/Municipal_Certificates/Cities/Kake.pdf (accessed February 25, 2022).

Dilling, L., and Lemos, M. C. (2011). Creating usable science: opportunities and constraints for climate knowledge use and their implications for science policy. Global Environ. Change 21, 680–689. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2010.11.006

Dilling, L., and Lemos, M. C. (2021). Commentary: first, do no harm: scaling usable knowledge for just and equitable outcomes. *Global Environ. Change.* 71, 102404. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2021.102404

Dilling, L., Prakash, A., Zommers, Z., Ahmad, F., Singh, N., de Wit, S., et al. (2019). Is adaptation success a flawed concept? *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 9, 572–574. doi: 10.1038/s41558-019-0539-0

Djenontin, I. N. S., and Meadow, A. M. (2018). The art of co-production of knowledge in environmental sciences and management: lessons from international practice. *Environ. Manage.* 61, 885–903. doi: 10.1007/s00267-018-1028-3

Early, W. (2021). Researchers ask for more Indigenous input in Arctic science initiative. Fairbanks, AK: Fairbanks Daily News Miner.

Egghe, L., and Leydesdorff, L. (2009). Relation between pearson's correlation coefficient r and salton's cosine measure. J. Am. Soc. Inform. Sci. Technol. 60, 1027–1036. doi: 10.1002/asi.21009

FNPO (2009). *Talking Circles*. Available online at: https://firstnationspedagogy. ca/circletalks.html (accessed May 21, 2022).

Fryberg, S. A., and Eason, A. E. (2017). Making the invisible visible: acts of commission and omission. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 26, 554–559. doi: 10.1177/0963721417720959

Gallant, A. L., Binnian, E. F., Omernik, J. M., and Shasby, M. B. (1995). *Level III Ecoregions of Alaska. Environmental Protection Agency*. Available online at: https://gaftp.epa.gov/EPADataCommons/ORD/Ecoregions/ak/ak_eco. pdf (accessed February 25, 2022).

GIDA (2019). *CARE Principles for Indigenous Data Governance*. Available online at: https://www.gida-global.org/care (accessed May 21, 2022).

Hauser, D. D. W., and Whiting, A. V., Mahoney, A. R., Goodwin, J., Harris, C., Schaeffer, R. J., et al. (2021). Co-production of knowledge reveals loss of Indigenous hunting opportunities in the face of accelerating Arctic climate change. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 16, 095003. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/ac1a36

Hewitt, C., Mason, S., and Walland, D. (2012). The global framework for climate services. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 2, 831–832. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1745

Homsy, G. C., and Warner, M. (2013). Climate change and the co-production of knowledge and policy climate change and the co-production of knowledge

and policy in rural US communities in rural US communities. Sociol. Ruralis 53, 291-310. doi: 10.1111/soru.12013

ICC (2012). Declining Food Security for Inuit. Alaska White Paper. Available at: https://iccalaska.org/wp-icc/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/ICC-Alaska-White-Paper-Declining-Food-Security-for-Inuit.pdf (accessed May 19, 2022).

Inukalik, A., Lennie, U. A., Julius, A. G., Seetook, A. S., Pokiak, A., Ashenfelter, A., et al. (2020). Food Sovereignty and Self Governance-Inuit Role in Managing Arctic Marine Resources. Available online at: https://www.inuitcircumpolar.com/ project/food-sovereignty-and-self-governance-inuit-role-in-managing-arcticmarine-resources/ (accessed May 19, 2022).

Irumva, O., Twagirayezu, G., and Nizeyimana, J. C. (2021). The need of incorporating indigenous knowledge systems into modern weather forecasting methods. *J. Geosci. Environ. Protect.* 09, 55–70. doi: 10.4236/gep.2021.92004

Jacobs, K. L., and Street, R. B. (2020). The next generation of climate services. Climate Serv. 20, 100199. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2020.100199

Jasanoff, S. (2004). *The Idiom of Co-Production*. Available online at: https://www.ebsco.com/terms-of-use

Johnson, J. T., Howitt, R., Cajete, G., Berkes, F., Louis, R. P., Kliskey, A., et al. (2016). Weaving Indigenous and sustainability sciences to diversify our methods. *Sustain. Sci.* 11, 1–11. doi: 10.1007/s11625-015-0349-x

Kettle, N. P. (2019). Knowledge co-production in contested spaces: an evaluation of the north slope borough-shell baseline studies program. *Arctic* 72, 43–57. doi: 10.14430/arctic67804

Kettle, N. P., and Trainor, S. F. (2015). The role of remote engagement in supporting boundary chain networks across Alaska. Climate Risk Manage. 9, 6–19. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2015.06.006

Kettle, N. P., Trainor, S. F., and Loring, P. A. (2017). Conceptualizing the sciencepractice interface: lessons from a collaborative network on the front-line of climate change. *Front. Environ. Sci.* 5, 33. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00033

Kipp, A., Cunsolo, A., Gillis, D., Sawatzky, A., and Harper, S. L. (2019). The need for community-led, integrated and innovative monitoring programmes when responding to the health impacts of climate change. *Int. J. Circumpolar Health.* 78, 1517581. doi: 10.1080/22423982.2018.1517581

Knapp, C. N., and Trainor, S. F. (2013). Adapting science to a warming world. Global Environ. Change 23, 1296–1306. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013. 07.007

Kruk, M. C., Parker, B., Marra, J. J., Werner, K., Heim, R., Vose, R., et al. (2017). Engaging with users of climate information and the coproduction of knowledge. *Weather Climate Soc.* 9, 839–849. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-16-0127.1

Latulippe, N., and Klenk, N. (2020). Making room and moving over: knowledge co-production, Indigenous knowledge sovereignty and the politics of global environmental change decision-making. Current Opin. Environ. Sustain. 42, 7–14. doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2019.10.010

Lavorel, S., Locatelli, B., Colloff, M. J., and Bruley, E. (2020). Co-producing ecosystem services for adapting to climate change. *Philos. Trans. Royal Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 375, 20190119. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0119

Leffler, J. (2019). In a rainforest, Southeast Alaska towns face extreme drought. Available online at: https://www.ktoo.org/2019/06/09/in-a-rainforest-southeastalaska-towns-face-extreme-drought/

Lemos, M. C., Arnott, J. C., Ardoin, N. M., Baja, K., Bednarek, A. T., Dewulf, A., et al. (2018). To co-produce or not to co-produce. *Nat. Sustain.* 1, 722–724. doi: 10.1038/s41893-018-0191-0

Lemos, M. C., Kirchhoff, C. J., and Ramprasad, V. (2012). Narrowing the climate information usability gap. Nat. Clim. Chang. 2, 789-794. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1614

Lemos, M. C., and Morehouse, B. J. (2005). The co-production of science and policy in integrated climate assessments. Global Environ. Change 15, 57-68. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2004.09.004

Li, S. (2018). "The Natural History of a Doctoral Research: the role of research diary and reflexivity," in *Emotions and Reflexivity in Health and Social Care Field Research (Chapter 2), Allan,* H. T., and *Arber, A.* doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-65503-1_2

Maldonado, J., Bennett, T. M. B., Chief, K., Cochran, P., Cozzetto, K., Gough, B., et al. (2016). Engagement with indigenous peoples and honoring traditional knowledge systems. *Clim. Change* 135, 111–126. doi: 10.1007/s10584-015-1535-7

Marino, E., Rivera-Gonzalez, J., Benadusi, M., Dietrich, A., Hamza, M., Jerolleman, A., et al. (2020). COVID-19 and all the things that kill us: research ethics in the time of pandemic. *Practicing Anthropol.* 42, 36–40. doi: 10.17730/0888-4552.42.4.36

McKinstry, E. (2020). Kake ocean monitoring effort takes advantage of quiet waters this summer (Sitka, AK). Available online at: https://www.kcaw.org/2020/ 07/17/kake-ocean-monitoring-effort-takes-advantage-of-quiet-waters-thissummer/ (accessed January 19, 2022).

McNie, E. C. (2013). Delivering climate services: organizational strategies and approaches for producing useful climate-science information. *Weather Climate Soc.* 5, 14–26. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-11-00034.1

Meadow, A. M., Ferguson, D. B., Guido, Z., Horangic, A., Owen, G., Wall, T., et al. (2015). Moving toward the deliberate coproduction of climate science knowledge. *Weather Climate Soc.* 7, 179–191. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-14-00050.1

Mihlar, F. (2008). Voices That Must be Heard: Minorities and Indigenous People Combating Climate Change. London: Minority Rights Group International.

Miller, C. A. (2004). *Climate Science and the Making of a Global Political Order*. Available online at: https://www.ebsco.com/terms-of-use (accessed January 19, 2022).

Naquin, A., Comardelle, C., Jerolleman, A., Lesen, A. E., Peterson, K., Evans, J., et al. (2019). A Community Field Guide to Engagement, Resilience, and Resettlement: Community Regeneration in the Face of Environmental and Developmental Pressures (Louisiana).

National Research Council (2001). A Climate Services Vision. First Steps toward the Future. National Academies Press.

NCAI (2018). Resolution # KAN - 18 - 011 Support of US Indigenous Data Sovereignty and Inclusion of Tribes in the Development of Tribal Data. Available online at: https://www.ncai.org/attachments/Resolution_ gbuJbEHWpkOgcwCICRtgMJHMsUNofqYvuMSnzLFzOdxBlMlRjij_KAN-18-011%20Final.pdf (accessed January 19, 2022).

NCAI (2020a). Tribal Workforce Development: A Decision-Framing Toolkit. Available at: http://www.ncai.org/ptg/workforce-development/toolkit (accessed January 19, 2022).

NCAI (2020b). Workforce Development in Indian Country: The Challenges. Available online at: https://www.ncai.org/ptg/WDEV_TOOLKIT_-_Challenges_ Expanded.pdf (accessed February 25, 2022).

NCAI (2022). *Tribal Governance*. Available online at: https://www.ncai.org/policy-issues/tribal-governance (accessed May 21, 2022).

Nix, M. (2019). The beginning of a partnership in the lands of Keex' Kwaan. Available online at: https://ecotrust.org/keex-kwaan/ (accessed May 19, 2022).

NOAA (2022a). *Climate at a Glance: County Time Series, Average Temperature.* Available online at: https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/county/time-series/AK-198/tavg/all/1/1895-2022?base_prd=trueandbegbaseyear=1901andendbaseyear= 2000andfilter=trueandfilterType=binomial (accessed January 19, 2022).

NOAA (2022b). *Climate at a Glance: County Time Series, Precipitation*. Available online at: https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/county/time-series/AK-198/pcp/all/1/ 1925-2022?base_prd=trueandbegbaseyear=nullandendbaseyear=2000andfilter= trueandfilterType=binomial (accessed January 19, 2022).

NOAA (2022c). About the Regional Integrated Sciences and Assessments Program. Available online at: https://cpo.noaa.gov/Divisions-Programs/Climateand-Societal-Interactions/RISA/About-RISA#739056-about-risa (accessed January 19, 2022).

NOAA and Figus, E. (2021). Tribal Community Partners with Researchers to Monitor Food and Climate. Available online at: https://toolkit.climate.gov/ case-studies/tribal-community-partners-researchers-monitor-food-and-climate (accessed January 19, 2022).

Norström, A. V., Cvitanovic, C., Löf, M. F., West, S., Wyborn, C., Balvanera, P., et al. (2020). Principles for knowledge co-production in sustainability research. *Nat. Sustain.* 3, 182–190. doi: 10.1038/s41893-019-0448-2

NRCS (2020). Tribal Conservation Districts. Available online at: https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/ak/newsroom/stories/9677ff24-b5ad-456e-a8d2-3021f2a23e8c/

OVK (2013). Kake Circle Peacemaking. Kake.

Peterson, K. (2011). Transforming researchers and practitioners: The unanticipated consequences (significance) of Participatory Action Research (PAR). Available online at: https://scholarworks.uno.edu/td/129.

Posner, S. M., and Cvitanovic, C. (2019). Evaluating the impacts of boundaryspanning activities at the interface of environmental science and policy: a review of progress and future research needs. Environ. Sci. Policy 92, 141–151. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2018.11.006

QSR International Pty Ltd. (2020). *NVivo Software*. (Burlington, MA, USA). Available online at: https://www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo-qualitative-dataanalysis-software/home (accessed July 22, 2022).

Reid, A. J., Eckert, L. E., Lane, J. F., Young, N., Hinch, S. G., Darimont, C. T., et al. (2021). "Two-Eyed Seeing": an indigenous framework to transform fisheries research and management. *Fish Fisheries* 22, 243–261. doi: 10.1111/faf.12516

Sea Grant, A., and Figus, E. (2021). Student interns from Kake contribute to local climate change studies. Available online at: https://alaskaseagrant.org/2021/

10/25/student-interns-from-kake-contribute-to-local-climate-change-studies/ (accessed January 19, 2022).

Sikuaq Erickson, K. R. (2020). Successful engagement between Iñupiat and scientists in Utqiagvik, Alaska: A sociocultural perspective. Thesis at University of Alaska Anchorage. Available online at: https://www.proquest.com/ openview/c91ae5765867876fe688692de89421ef/1?pq-origsite=gscholarandcbl= 18750anddiss=y (accessed May 19, 2022).

Silverman, D. (2010). Doing Qualitative Research. London: Sage.

Solomon, S., Dole, R., Feely, R., Held, I., Higgins, W., Payne, J., et al. (2009). A *Vision for Climate Services in NOAA*. Available online at: https://d32ogoqmya1dw8. cloudfront.net/files/cln/vision_climate_services_noaa.pdf (accessed February 24, 2022).

Stake, R. E. (1995). The Art of Case Study Research. Sage: Thousand Oaks.

Steynor, A., Lee, J., and Davison, A. (2020). Transdisciplinary coproduction of climate services: a focus on process. *Soc. Dyn.* 46, 414–433. doi: 10.1080/02533952.2020.1853961

TallBear, K. (2014). Standing With and Speaking as Faith: A Feminist-Indigenous Approach to Inquiry. AU Press. Available online at: http://jrp.icaap.org/index.php/ jrp/article/view/405/371 (accessed January 19, 2022).

Thoman, R., Walsh, J., and McFarland, H. (2019). Alaska's Changing Environment: Documenting Alaska's Physical and Biological Changes Through Observations. Fairbanks, AK: International Arctic Research Center.

Tuck, E., and Yang, K. W. (2012). Decolonization is Not a Metaphor. New York: Paltz.

Tudose, N. C., Cremades, R., Broekman, A., Sanchez-Plaza, A., Mitter, H., Marin, M., et al. (2021). Mainstreaming the nexus approach in climate services will enable coherent local and regional climate policies. Adv. Climate Change Res. 12, 752–755. doi: 10.1016/j.accre.2021.08.005

Tuhiwai Smith, L. (2012). Decolonizing Methodologies: Research and Indigenous Peoples. 2nd ed. London: Zed Books.

Turnhout, E., Metze, T., Wyborn, C., Klenk, N., and Louder, E. (2020). The politics of co-production: participation, power, and transformation. Current Opin. Environ. Sustain. 42, 15–21. doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2019.11.009

USDA, United States Department of Agriculture. (2021). MOU Keex' Kwaan Tribal Conservation District. Mutual Agreement Between USDA, OVK, and KTC.

Vincent, K., Archer, E., Henriksson, R., Pardoe, J., and Mittal, N. (2020). Reflections on a key component of co-producing climate services: defining climate metrics from user needs. *Climate Serv.* 20, 100204. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2020.100204

Vincent, K., Daly, M., Scannell, C., and Leathes, B. (2018). (2018). What can climate services learn from theory and practice of co-production? Climate Serv. 12, 48–58. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2018.11.001

Vogel, B., and Bullock, R. C. L. (2021). Institutions, indigenous peoples, and climate change adaptation in the Canadian Arctic. *GeoJournal* 86, 2555–2572. doi: 10.1007/s10708-020-10212-5

Vollstedt, B., Koerth, J., Tsakiris, M., Nieskens, N., and Vafeidis, A. T. (2021). Coproduction of climate services: a story map for future coastal flooding for the city of Flensburg. *Climate Serv.* 22, 100225. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100225

Wall, T. U., McNie, E., and Garfin, G. M. (2017a). Use-inspired science: making science usable by and useful to decision makers. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 15, 551–559. doi: 10.1002/fee.1735

Wall, T. U., Meadow, A. M., and Horganic, A. (2017b). Developing evaluation indicators to improve the process of coproducing usable climate science. *Weather Climate Soc.* 9, 95–107. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-16-0008.1

Whyte, K. (2017). Indigenous climate change studies: indigenizing futures, decolonizing the anthropocene. *Engl. Lang. Notes* 55, 153–162. doi: 10.1215/00138282-55.1-2.153

Whyte, K. P. (2013). Justice forward: tribes, climate adaptation and responsibility. *Clim. Change* 120, 517–530. doi: 10.1007/s10584-013-0743-2

Wilson, S. (2008). Research is Ceremony. Fernwood Publishing.

Woll, C. (2018). Building an Indigenous Guardians Network. Available online at: https://myemail.constantcontact.com/Sustainable-Southeast-Partnership--Spring-Newsletter.html?soid=1120384323566andaid=5qZixyyh2js

Wyborn, C., Datta, A., Montana, J., Ryan, M., Leith, P., Chaffin, B., et al. (2019). Co-producing sustainability: reordering the governance of science, policy, and *practice. Ann. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 44, 319–346. doi: 10.1146/annurev-environ-101718-033103

Yua, E., Raymond-Yakoubian, J., Daniel, R., and Behe, C. (2022). Negeqlikacaarni kangingnaulriani ayuqenrilnguut piyaraitgun kangingnauryararkat: a framework for co-production of knowledge in the context of Arctic research. *Ecol. Soc.* 27, 34. doi: 10.5751/ES-12960-27 0134

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Andreas Marc Fischer, Federal Office of Meteorology and Climatology, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Mercy J. Borbor-Cordova, ESPOL Polytechnic University, Ecuador Joanna Wibig, University of Łódz, Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE Heike Huebener Heike.Huebener@hlnug.hessen.de

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Predictions and Projections, a section of the journal Frontiers in Climate

RECEIVED 11 July 2022 ACCEPTED 17 August 2022 PUBLISHED 09 September 2022

CITATION

Huebener H, Gelhardt U and Lang J (2022) Improved representativeness of simulated climate using natural units and monthly resolution. *Front. Clim.* 4:991082. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2022.991082

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Huebener, Gelhardt and Lang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is

permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Improved representativeness of simulated climate using natural units and monthly resolution

Heike Huebener^{1*}, Ulrike Gelhardt² and Jürgen Lang²

¹Hessian Agency for Nature Conservation, Environment and Geology, Wiesbaden, Germany, ²MeteoSolutions GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany

There is a considerable discrepancy between the temporal and spatial resolution required by climate impact researchers, policy makers, and adaptation planners on the one hand and climate data providers on the other hand. While the spatial and temporal aggregation of climate data is necessary to increase the reliability and robustness of climate information, this often counteracts or even prohibits their use in adaptation planning. The problem is twofold (i.e., space and time) and needs to be approached accordingly. Climate impact research and adaptation planning are the domain of impact experts, politicians, and planners, rather than climate experts. Thus, besides the spatial and temporal resolution, information also needs to be provided on platforms and in data formats that are easily accessible, easy to handle, and easy to understand. We discuss possible steps toward bridging the gap using an example from the federal state Hesse (Germany) as illustration. We aggregate the climate data at a level of "natural units" and provide them as monthly data. We discuss the pros and cons of this kind of processed data for impact research and decision making. The spatial aggregation to "natural units" delivers suitable spatial aggregation, while maintaining physical geographic structures and their climatic characteristics. Within these "natural units," single grid cell values are usable for climate impact analyses or decision making. The temporal resolution is monthly values, i.e., deviations of single month values for the scenario period from climatological monthly values in the (simulated) reference period. This resolution allows analyzing compound events or consecutive events on a monthly scale within a climatological (30-year) period.

KEYWORDS

climate model data, spatial resolution, natural units, user-tailored, impact research

Introduction

Climate modeling communities share their data for impact research, adaptation planning, and other uses. With the knowledge about the pros and cons of climate models and their results comes a responsibility to advise the best uses of the data and to warn against (unintended) misuse of the data. Climate model output does not have the same characteristics as observed (station) data. For example, while measurements at stations provide point data, climate model output is grid-box area average data. Therefore, the statistics of observed station data and simulated grid-box data don't match: typically,

model data shows less extremes and generally smoother distributions of simulated parameters in space and time. With increasing model resolution, finer details become available in model data, but some processes remain unresolved. Additionally, all models have errors. They may stem from simplified model equations or parameterizations, which are necessary to make the models computationally feasible. They may also result from the assumptions within the scenarios used or from unknown or not represented interactions in the climate system, particularly interactions with human actions. However, mostly the errors are not systematically in all models, but statistically distributed between the models. It is therefore common practice to use ensembles of models (either multi-model-ensembles, e.g., Johns et al., 2011; Eyring et al., 2016, or single-model ensembles, e.g., Allen et al., 2000; Kay et al., 2015; Deser et al., 2020) to provide a more reliable bandwidth of climate simulation results (e.g., Kreienkamp et al., 2013). Additionally, climate modelers warn against taking single cell and/or single time-step information as input for impact modeling or other uses since areal and temporal averaging improves the reliability of the model output data and avoids over-interpretation.

Regarding spatial resolution, it is typically advised to use averages over at least nine grid cells surrounding the location of interest to smooth out unrealistic spatial effects. Regarding temporal resolution, the use of long-term averages, preferably 30-year-averages, is advised.

However, compliance with these principles is often a challenge for impact research (e.g., Kreienkamp and Huebener, 2021, and references therein). Typically, impact models are trained using station data. Consequently, for running impact models with climate model data, the climate model output is expected to display the same characteristics (no bias, time series statistics like variability and extremes, etc.) as observations. This is, however, typically not the case and the aforementioned averaging requirement even further smooths the distributions and it is thus often deemed unsuitable for impact research. This is particularly true for research areas located in small valleys or near steep gradients in topography. Here, the rectangular averaging area often mixes the properties of quite different climatological regions (e.g., river valley and adjacent mountains).

A step toward bridging this gap is the development of gridded observation data sets (e.g., Uppala, 2001; Dee et al., 2011; Bollmeyer et al., 2015). These data sets provide the spatial aggregation from point measurements to grid-box averages. Using gridded observations for the training of impact models is a step toward bridging the gap between observations and climate model results. However, still a large gap between gridded observations and climate model simulations of the past remains. Climate models usually display a (more or less pronounced) bias and generally don't exactly reproduce the observed climate. Besides model errors, this is also due

to the fact, that climate models represent only one possible realization of the climate system under recent conditions. Due to internal climate variability, simulated recent climate might not match observed recent climate without the climate model being "wrong" (Marotzke and Forster, 2015; Deser et al., 2016; Hawkins et al., 2016). Furthermore, climate data users and climate information users (in the definition of Rössler et al., 2017) often need much finer grained information in time and space than 30-year-averages over large areas (e.g., Van den Hurk et al., 2018, and references therein for crop modeling or flood assessments; e.g., Sutmöller et al., 2021, for forestry).

There is considerable ongoing activity to improve the communication between climate modeling communities and climate impact or other user communities (e.g., Lemos et al., 2012; Huebener et al., 2017b; Rössler et al., 2017; Chimani et al., 2020; Tart et al., 2020; Hewitt et al., 2021; Suhari et al., 2022). There are also numerous activities to provide suitable user-tailored climate simulation information and climate services (e.g., Goddard, 2016; Buontempo et al., 2018; Bülow et al., 2017; Pérez-Zanón et al., 2021).

Besides the aspects of data retrieval (e.g., Chimani et al., 2020; Pérez-Zanón et al., 2021), simulation evaluation (e.g., Kotlarski, 2014; Vautard et al., 2020; Zier et al., 2021), bias correction (e.g., Cannon, 2018; Casanueva Herrera et al., 2020), ensemble selection (see e.g., Dalelane et al., 2018, for an ensemble reduction method), and visualization (e.g., Christel et al., 2017; Pérez-Zanón et al., 2021) the question remains how to improve the spatial and temporal representativeness of the climate simulation data for further use.

In this paper, we describe a climate data set which is a compromise between the scientific demand of the climate modeling community for averaging large regions and climatological time-steps and the practical demand of the (multiple and different) user communities for specific information in space and time. Therefore, we present an example from the German federal state Hesse in post-processing climate model output on "natural units" (i.e., landscape units defined for joint geographic and climatological characteristics) and monthly resolution. We then discuss the pros and cons of this approach in general.

Section Methods and Results explains the methods of the aggregation to "natural units" and presents the results. Section Summary and Conclusion provides lessons learned and discusses the practice presented in the context of general development toward providing actionable, user-tailored climate information.

Methods and results

Hesse is a federal state in central Germany, consisting of some mid-range mountain areas, some lowlands along the Rhine



FIGURE 1

Topographic map of Hesse (top, https://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hessen#/media/Datei:Hessen_topografisch_Relief_Karte.png) and map of "natural units" in the second refinement layer (Haupteinheiten) from the original Klausing-classification (bottom left) and resulting adapted natural units for spatial aggregation of climate model output (bottom right). Numbers correspond to: 14, Hessen-Franconian Mountains; 22, Upper-Rhine Lowland; 23, Rhine-Main Lowland; 29, Mittelrhein; 30, Taunus mountains; 31, Gießen-Koblenz-Lahn valley; 32, Westerwald mountains; 33, Bergisch-Sauerland mountains; 34, West Hesse mountain and valley Area; 35, East Hesse mountain area; 36, Weser mountain area; 37, Weser-Leine mountain area; 47/48, Thuringia basin (Klausing, 1988). VB, Vogelsberg; Rh, Rhön; "a", adjustment of units by changing the boundary of the original unit; "+", merging of original units. river, and some mild-climate areas in the middle (Figure 1, top). Hesse also contains some larger cities (e.g., Frankfurt/Main) and an urban sprawl in the Rhein-Main-Area. The cities are not well-resolved in climate models, thus we cannot expect to find the full urban climate effects (in particular the urban heat island) in the simulation results. But, to some degree the urban effects become visible in high resolution model results.

Several sophisticated methods exist for creating spatial climate patterns, like cluster analysis (e.g., Mahmud et al., 2022) or PCA (e.g., Pineda-Martínez et al., 2007). Alternatively, we started from a well-known and established pattern: the "natural units" (or "landscape units") as defined by Klausing (Klausing, 1988) (Figure 1, bottom left). The main reason was to use a concept that is readily understandable for many users, not only in climate impact research, but also outside science: in policy and society.

According to climate modeling advice, we aimed for creating spatial units that comprised at least nine grid cells (of the 5 km resolution) for any spatial unit. The Klausing natural units are defined for all of Germany, but we used only the Hesse-part of them. The natural units are based on a large-scale climatological mapping (within central Europe). Finer scale differentiation (i.e., in Hesse) draws on geological information. We thus started our exercise with testing the representativeness of the finer scale (second order) natural units for climatological values. The natural units have the advantage of well-defined physical, geographic, and geologic areas. These areas correspond well with characteristic and well-known regions in Hesse (e.g., lowlying "Wetterau" for apple orchards, Rhine plain "Hessisches Ried" for vegetables growing or the viticultural area "Rheingau" along the "Mittelrhein" in the Rhineland slate mountains), but they do not match administrative units. They neither match hydrological units, which typically span areas from source regions in mountainous terrain to the river mouth in a lowland region, even though in some areas borders of hydrological units match borders of the natural units.

Natural units from HYRAS data

To identify climatological units based on Klausing's natural units, we used HYRAS data, a high-resolution (5 × 5 km) gridded dataset of daily mean (T_{mean}), minimum (T_{min}) and maximum (T_{max}) temperature, precipitation (PR), and relative humidity (RelHum) (Rauthe et al., 2013; Frick et al., 2014; Razafimaharo et al., 2020). Based on these daily data, we calculated long-term seasonal means (sums for precipitation, respectively) for the time period 1951–2010. Additionally, we determined the following meteorological parameters per calendar year: ice days ($T_{max} < 0^{\circ}$ C), frost days ($T_{min} < 0^{\circ}$ C), summer days ($T_{max} > 25^{\circ}$ C), hot days ($T_{max} > 30^{\circ}$ C), very hot days ($T_{max} > 35^{\circ}$ C), and tropical nights ($T_{min} > 20^{\circ}$ C).

When selecting the parameters to be considered in the study with HYRAS data, it was ensured that the parameters

are available in the high-resolution data of the regional climate models to which the methodology will eventually be applied. In this way, a consistent data set aggregated to natural units can be provided for Hesse.

First, the natural area means based on Klausing's natural units (second order) were calculated for the listed parameters by weighting the individual cell values according to their area percentage in the respective natural area of Hesse:

$$X^n = \frac{\sum w_{ij}^n X_{ij}}{\sum w_{ij}^n}$$

with

 w_{ij}^n : Area percentage of the grid cell (i,j) in the natural unit n,

 X_{ij} : Calculated parameter in grid cell (*i*,*j*).

In the next step, the deviation from the natural area mean X^n for each parameter was investigated in each grid cell. For reducing the residual deviations, the natural units were adapted.

The decision-structure for adapting the natural units used seasonal and half-yearly mean temperature fields in the first step and aimed for reducing the residual deviations. The decision of redistributing grid-cells from one natural unit to another was made under the following premises (in this order):

- 1. Keep the alterations as small as possible, to preserve the structure of the original units as well as possible;
- for units with only a few grid-boxes in Hesse, check if they can be matched with neighboring units to fulfill the area size criterion (at least nine grid boxes of the 5 km resolution fields);
- check, if distributing the grid cell to a neighboring unit reduces the residual error field;
- 4. check, if a higher order natural unit (third order) exists, that matches the error pattern and is still large enough to fulfill the area size criterion;
- 5. if necessary, combine third order units or add an appropriate single grid cells to fulfill the size criterion.

We processed these steps using the seasonal and half-yearly mean temperature field and thereafter checked if the resulting units reduced the residual errors in the other parameter fields, too. This was the case, so we kept the units as determined from mean temperature. Examples of the resulting error fields for mean temperature and summer precipitation are given in Figure 3.

As an example, Figure 2 shows the spatial distribution of the long-term mean air temperature over the winter period from October to March for Hesse. The original classification of the Hessian natural units according to Klausing already corresponds well with the spatial structure of the temperature field. This is due to the fact, that Klausing's natural classification is not based on administrative units, but on scientific data, which in particular takes into account the geography and thus also the climatological differences in



Hesse. For example, the lower temperatures in the Hessen-Franconian Mountains are well-distinguished from the northern Upper-Rhine Lowland and the Rhine-Main lowlands. The slightly higher temperatures in the Giessen-Koblenz Lahn Valley are also mapped in a separate natural unit, separated from the Taunus in the south and the Westerwald in the north.

On the other hand, it can also be seen that smallerscale structures are missing from the original classification by Klausing. For example, the Rhön and the Vogelsberg stand out with lower temperatures and thus also fewer summer days and higher precipitation than in the assigned rest of the East Hesse mountain area.

By looking at the grid point-specific deviation from the respective assigned natural area mean, the local differences become clearer and by adjusting the natural unit classification, improvements in the subdivision can be made visible in the form of smaller deviations. This approach is illustrated in Figure 3. Whereas, with an underlying subdivision according to Klausing, deviations of -2 to -2.5 K were recorded for the Vogelsberg and the Rhön (Figure 3, top right), after separating these two regions the deviations in temperature could be reduced to -1 K (Figure 3, bottom right).

That these separations lead to an improvement is also confirmed in the other selected parameters such as precipitation (Figure 4). When using Klausing's original subdivision, the higher summer precipitation in the Vogelsberg and the Rhön compared to the rest of the East Hesse mountain area of 15–25 mm can be clearly seen. After separating these two areas, the deviations here can be reduced to <10 mm.

This procedure was carried out taking into account all the selected meteorological variables, so that finally an adapted classification of the natural units was obtained with the following maximum deviations in the individual meteorological variables: T (-1.7 K/+1.6 K), T_{min} (-1.1 K/+1.4 K), T_{max} (-2.5 K/+1.7 K), PR (-18 mm/+34 mm), and RelHum (-3%/+4%).

In the end, the following alterations were made to the Klausing units for further use of the climate spatial units:

- The Rhön and the Vogelsberg as low mountain ranges, which belong to the East Hesse mountain area (No. 35), should be considered as separate natural units. Here, due to the blocking effect of the mountains and their altitude, precipitation is significantly higher and temperatures lower than in the rest of the East Hesse mountain area.
- 2. In the transition from the Rhine-Main Lowland (No. 23) to the East Hesse mountain area (No. 35), the southwestern part of the western lower Vogelsberg should be assigned to the Rhine-Main Lowland, since here the long-term seasonal monthly mean temperature is higher than the area mean of the East Hesse mountain area.
- 3. The Rhine valley, which according to Klausing is assigned to the Upper-Rhine Lowland (No. 22) and the Rhine-Main Lowland (No. 23), was completely integrated into the Upper-Rhine Lowland (No. 22) and merged with the very small natural unit of the Mittelrhein (No. 29), which is covered by only three grid cells.
- 4. The Weser mountain area (No. 36) was integrated into the West Hesse mountain and valley Area (No. 34).
- 5. The Thuringia basin (No. 47/48) and the Weser-Leine mountain area (No. 37) was merged with the East Hesse mountain area (No. 35).
- 6. The Giessen Lahn valley, which according to Klausing is assigned to the West Hesse mountain and valley Area (No. 34), was instead merged with the Giessen-Koblenz Lahn valley (No. 31), because the long-term seasonal monthly mean temperature is higher and the long-term seasonal monthly mean relative humidity is lower than the area mean of the West Hesse mountain and valley Area (No 34).

Figure 1 (bottom right) shows the map of the newly adapted natural units.

Subsequently, these adjusted natural units were used for post-processing of climate model outputs in natural units.

Regional climate model data in natural units

We used regional climate model data from the projects ReKliEs-De (Huebener et al., 2017a) and EURO-CORDEX



(Jacob et al., 2013) in a 0.11° resolution (approximately 12 km). The data was then bias corrected (Cannon, 2018) and disaggregated to a 5 km resolution by the German Weather Service (DWD) (Krähenmann et al., 2021). The disaggregation process included high-resolution

spatial and climatological information and is therefore of sufficiently high spatial quality to be used on this scale.

We provided the following data spatially aggregated at a level of natural units as described above:



• for the reference period 1971–2000 (control run) and for the period 2071–2100 (RCP2.6 and RCP8.5):

0	single	values	for	each	month
	from	January	2071	to	December
	2100				

- \circ climatological monthly values (averaged for 2071–2100)
- difference between single month values for the period 2071–2100 and climatological monthly values simulated by the respective model for the reference period (1971–2000).

- daily mean temperature (T_{mean}) as monthly mean
- minimum temperature (T_{min}) as monthly mean
- maximum temperature (T_{max}) as monthly mean
- precipitation (PR) as monthly sum
- relative humidity (RelHum) as monthly mean
- number of days per calendar year:
 - ice days ($T_{\text{max}} < 0^{\circ}$ C)
 - frost days ($T_{\min} < 0^{\circ}$ C)
 - \circ summer days ($T_{\text{max}} > 25 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$)
 - hot days ($T_{\text{max}} > 30$ °C)
 - very hot days ($T_{\text{max}} > 35 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$)
 - \circ tropical nights ($T_{\min} > 20 \ ^{\circ}C$)

The cartographical projection of the data is Lambert conformal conic (LCC) and the data format is NetCDF, readable and processable in standard GIS programs.

Lessons learned

The aggregation method presented here aims at improving the spatial representativeness of gridded model output while maintaining the averaging process for insuring robustness of the results (i.e., eliminating spurious single grid cell values or systematic shifts within a natural unit). We applied only relatively minor, albeit essential alterations to minimize the relative errors of the mean values compared to the single cell values. The procedure thus seems a viable path for other regions, too, for improving spatial representativeness of climate model data.

Additionally, the provision of monthly values for the future period (single month values for each year from 2071 to 2100, each as deviation from the simulated climatological monthly value of the reference period 1971–2000) now allows to analyze consecutive or combined events in the future on monthly time scales, even without the knowledge and capacity to handle the direct climate model output.

Such events might include consecutive dry summers or combinations of hot and dry spring months. Possible applications could be in fields like hydrology (e.g., filling of reservoirs, groundwater recharge), agriculture (e.g., irrigation needs), forestry (e.g., conditions for bark beetle infestation or fire weather), health (e.g., habitat for invasive mosquitos), or ecosystem services (e.g., evaporative cooling from urban green spaces during dry summers).

A large number of impact research methods require daily data, particularly when considering extreme heat or heavy precipitation events. These events cannot be resolved by the monthly data. We don't expect the method to work equally well for daily data. On the daily time-scale spatial variability is much larger (particularly for rainfall) and events like temperature inversions defy their expression in the simple spatial methods used here. Thus, a number of impact relevant extremes occurring on the daily time-scale cannot be assessed with these data.

Assessing the study results, on the "pro" side, we were positive surprised how well the original natural units fit with a number of relevant quantities for climate and climate impact analyses. The good fit of mean temperature with the adjusted natural units was expected, since the topography—particularly height above sea level—strongly controls mean temperatures. However, minimum and maximum temperatures, precipitation, and relative humidity are not as clearly controlled by this parameter. This is an added value of the results presented here.

The provision of data aggregated to the adjusted natural units presented here results in a much higher plausibility of local climate data compared to aggregation over rectangular areas. With this product, downstream users can now select a natural unit as surrogate for a local grid-box and use the data for their further analyses.

On the "con" side, spatial variations within the natural units are not resolved and the monthly resolution will still be insufficient for some impact assessments. This limits the use of the data for certain impact research questions. For some impact research questions, however, it might be possible to use monthly data even though current impact models use daily data as input. In these cases, the impact researchers might further develop their methods or models to cope with monthly data, and might in some cases even improve the robustness of the results. Here, we need further developments to bridge the remaining gap between the requirements of the impact research community and the climate modeling community.

Summary and conclusion

There is still a considerable gap between climate data, particularly climate model results, and the user needs for climate information to derive climate adaptation measures. The gap has many dimensions: from the nature of climate simulations as only one possible realization of the climate system, different future scenarios, model deficiencies, biases, spatial and temporal resolution, to unwieldy data-formats.

There are numerous ongoing efforts to improve the usability and user-orientation of climate information and climate services (e.g., Alexander and Bruno Soares, 2017; Buontempo et al., 2018; Le et al., 2020; Williams and Jacob, 2021), particularly within the Global Framework on Climate Services (Hewitt et al., 2012). We particularly welcome and support the efforts of transdisciplinary research, of co-production of climate knowledge and of integration of local knowledge to understanding climate change and its impacts (e.g., Buontempo et al., 2018; Hewitt et al., 2021; Neset et al., 2021; Williams and Jacob, 2021). The example presented here may be considered as a small contribution within the field of spatial integration of climate data and information for use in climate impact research (as discussed in the review paper, Giuliani et al., 2017). Our effort is part of the information transfer chain, insofar as it purposefully uses a well-known, if simple, concept (the natural units or landscape units) instead of more sophisticated methods like cluster analysis or PCA. Thus, we take a step toward making the data easier to integrate with data from other disciplines or from outside science. It may also be considered part of the information chain, that the work presented here was incentivized and commissioned by a local environmental agency, so in fact as a transdisciplinary effort.

In this paper, we focus on the resolution of climate model output in space and time. We propose a compromise between the positions of the climate modeling community and of the user community (or communities). The impetus to this effort resulted from discussions with climate impact modelers, presenting their challenges in using climate model data.

The German federal state Rhineland-Palatinate also uses natural units as analysis units for the display of climate and climate change facts (see RLPKK, 2022). Here, the original natural units—as derived from the geological properties—are used to calculate area mean values without prior changes to the areas. This leads to a few natural units, which combine different climatological regimes, like the unit "Taunus mit Lahntal" (which covers areas in both federal states, Hesse and Rhineland-Palatinate), which contains part of a mountain range (Taunus) as well as a river valley (Lahn-Valley); for Hesse we used a subdivision between the two parts of this unit. Additionally, for Rhineland-Palatinate only climatological 30-year averages are on display.

Solutions to improve the usability of climate model data differ according to the intended use. There is no one method to satisfy all user demands. The compromise solutions for improving spatial and temporal resolution presented in this paper only bridge part of the gap between climate simulation data and impact research needs. While this might suffice for some analyses, clearly further steps are needed to bridge this gap to the satisfaction of climate modelers as well as impact researchers. However, this bridging process needs to come from both sides: from the climate modeling community in improving their products as well as from the impact modeling community (Kreienkamp and Huebener, 2021; Sutmöller et al., 2021). Some climate model limitations cannot be overcome by improving the models or post-processing the output data. They stem e.g., from scenario uncertainty or internal climate variability. Thus, a dialog between climate data providers and users should always be part of climate data provision (Van den Hurk et al., 2018). It will need further model and method development within the impact research community to facilitate optimal use of climate model output and data.

We are confident, that the use of (possibly adjusted) natural units increases the spatial representativeness of gridbox data and thus the applicability for impact research. We are also confident, that the provision of monthly projection data (as anomaly to monthly climatological means of the reference period) are scientifically sound enough to allow impact analyses of consecutive or combined events. We encourage other climate data providers to test these methods and to evaluate their applicability to further data sets.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

HH contributed the general project idea and the concept of this work, JL and UG provided the actual calculation and data provision. All authors contributed to discussing the results and writing the paper.

Funding

This work was funded by the Hessian Agency for Nature Conservation, Environment and Geology under grant number 4501177980.

Acknowledgments

We thank the German Weather Service for data postprocessing (bias correction and downscaling to 5 km resolution) and for data provision. We also thank the reviewers and the editor for their comments, which helped improving the paper.

Conflict of interest

Authors JL and UG are employed by MeteoSolutions GmbH. Author HH works at the funding agency HLNUG.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or

claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Alexander, M., and Bruno Soares, M. (2017). Multi-sector requirements of climate information and impact indicators across Europe: Findings from the SECTEUR European-wide survey. *Copernicus Climate Change Service*. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.2.18132.81282

Allen, M. R., Stott, P., Mitchell, J., Schnur, R., and Delworth, T. (2000). Quantifying the uncertainty in forecasts of anthropogenic climate change. *Nature* 407, 617–620. doi: 10.1038/35036559

Bollmeyer, C., Keller, J. D., Ohlwein, C., Wahl, S., Crewell, S., Friederichs, P., et al. (2015). Towards a high-resolution regional reanalysis for the European CORDEX domain. *Quart. J. Roy. Meteor. Soc.* 141, 1–15. doi: 10.1002/qj.2486

Bülow, K., Hübener, H., Keuler, K., Menz, C., Pfeifer, S., Ramthun, H., et al. (2019). User tailored results of a regional climate model ensemble to plan adaption to the changing climate in Germany. *Adv. Sci. Res.* 16, 241–249. doi: 10.5194/asr-16-241-2019

Buontempo, C., Hanlon, H. M., Bruno Soares, M., Christel, I., Soubeyroux, J. M., Viel, C., et al. (2018). What have we learnt from EUPORIAS climate service prototypes? *Clim. Serv.* 9, 21–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2017.06.003

Cannon, A. J. (2018). Multivariate quantile mapping bias correction: an Ndimensional probability density function transform for climate model simulations of multiple variables. *Clim. Dyn.* 50, 31–49. doi: 10.1007/s00382-017-3580-6

Casanueva Herrera, S., Iturbide, M., Lange, S., Jury, M., Dosio, A., Maraun, D., et al. (2020). Testing bias adjustment methods for regional climate change applications under observational uncertainty and resolution mismatch. *Atmos. Sci. Lett.* 21:e978. doi: 10.1002./asl.978

Chimani, B., Matulla, C., Hiebl, J., Schellander-Gorgas, T., Maraun, D., Mendlik, T., et al. (2020). Compilation of a guideline providing comprehensive information on freely available climate change data and facilitating their efficient retrieval. *Clim. Serv.* 19, 100179. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2020.100179

Christel, I., Hemment, D., Bojovic, D., Cucchietti, F., Calvo, L., Stefaner, M., et al. (2017). Introducing design in the development of effective climate services. *Clim. Serv.* 9, 111–121. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.06, 002

Dalelane, C., Früh, B., Steger, C., and Walter, A. (2018). A Pragmatic approach to build a reduced regional climate projection ensemble for Germany using the EURO-CORDEX 8.5 ensemble. *J. Appl. Meteorol. Climatol.* 57, 477–491. doi:10.1175/JAMC-D-17-0141.1

Dee, D., Uppala, S., Simmons, A., Berrisford, P., Poli, P., Kobayashi, S., et al. (2011). The era-interim reanalysis: configuration and performance of the data assimilation system. *Quart. J. Roy. Meteor. Soc.* 137, 553–597. doi: 10.1002/qj.828

Deser, C., Lehner, F., Rodgers, K. B., Ault, T., Delworth, T. L., DiNezio, P. N., et al. (2020). Insights from Earth system model initial-condition large ensembles and future prospects. *Nat. Clim. Change* 10, 277–286. doi: 10.1038/s41558-020-0731-2

Deser, C., Terray, L., and Phillips, A. S. (2016). Forced and internal components of winter air temperature trends over North America during the past 50 years: mechanisms and implications. *J. Clim.* 29, 2237–2258. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-15-0304.1

Eyring, V., Bony, S., Meehl, G. A., Senior, C. A., Stevens, B., Stouffer, R. J., et al. (2016). Overview of the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 6 (CMIP6) experimental design and organization. *Geosci. Model Dev.* 9, 1937–1958. doi: 10.5194/gmd-9-1937-2016

Frick, C., Steiner, H., Mazurkiewicz, A., Riediger, U., Rauthe, M., Reich, T., et al. (2014). Central European high-resolution gridded daily data sets (HYRAS): mean temperature and relative humidity. *Meteorol. Z.* 23, 15–32. doi: 10.1127/0941-2948/2014/0560

Giuliani, G., Nativi, S., Obregon, A., Beniston, M., and Lehmann, A. (2017). Spatially enabling the global framework for climate services: reviewing geospatial solutions to efficiently share and integrate climate data and information. *Clim. Serv.* 8, 44–58. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.08,003

Goddard, L. (2016). From science to service. Science 353, 1366-1367. doi: 10.1126/science.aag3087

Hawkins, E., Smith, R. S., Gregory, J. M., and Stainforth, D. A. (2016). Irreducible uncertainty in near-term climate projections. *Clim. Dyn.* 46, 3807–3819. doi: 10.1007/s00382-015-2806-8

Hewitt, C., Bessembinder, J., Buonocore, M., Dunbar, T., Garrett, N., Kotova, L., et al. (2021). Coordination of Europe's climate-related knowledge base: networking and collaborating through interactive events, social media and focussed groups. *Clim. Serv.* 24:100264. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100264

Hewitt, C., and Mason, S., Walland, D. (2012). The global framework for climate services. *Nat. Clim. Change* 2, 831–832. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1745

Huebener, H., Bülow, K., Fooken, C., Früh, B., Hoffmann, P., Höpp, S., et al. (2017a). ReKliEs-De Ergebnisbericht (in German). *Universitat Hohenheim*.

Huebener, H., Keuler, K., Pfeifer, S., Ramthun, H., Spekat, A., Steger, C., et al. (2017b). Deriving user-informed climate information from climate model ensemble results. *Adv. Sci. Res.* 14, 261–269. doi: 10.5194/asr-14-261-2017

Jacob, D., Petersen, J., Eggert, B., Alias, A., Bøssing Christensen, O., Bouwer, L., et al. (2013). EURO-CORDEX: new high-resolution climate change projections for European impact research. *Reg. Environ. Change* 14, 563–578. doi: 10.1007/s10113-013-0499-2

Johns, T. C., Royer, J.-F., Höschel, I., Huebener, H., Roeckner, E., May, M. W., et al. (2011). Climate change under aggressive mitigation: the ENSEMBLES multimodel experiment. *Clim. Dyn.* 37, 1975–2003. doi: 10.1007/s00382-011-1005-5

Kay, J. E., Deser, C., Phillips, A., Mai, A., Hannay, C., Strand, G., et al. (2015). The Community Earth System Model (CESM) large ensemble project: a community resource 44 for studying climate change in the presence of internal climate variability. *Bull. Amer. Meteorol. Soc.* 96, 1333–1349. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-13-00255.1

Klausing, O. (1988). Die Naturräume Hessens. Umweltatlas Hessen des Hessischen Landesamtes für Umwelt und Geologie. Karte zu den Naturräumen Hessens. Available online at: https://web.archive.org/web/20141010022448/http://atlas. umwelt.hessen.de/atlas/naturschutz/naturraum/karten/m_3_2_1.htm (accessed January 26, 2022); Legende zu den Naturräumen Hessens: https://web.archive.org/ web/20201009172346/http://atlas.umwelt.hessen.de/atlas/naturschutz/naturraum/ texte/ngl-sy.htm (Accessed January 26 2022).

Kotlarski, S. (2014). Regional climate modelling on European scales: a joint standard evaluation of the EURO-CORDEX RCM ensemble. *Geosci. Model Dev. Discuss.* 7, 217–293. doi: 10.5194/gmdd-7-217-2014

Krähenmann, S., Walter, A., and Klippel, L. (2021). Statistische aufbereitung von klimaprojektionen: downscaling und multivariate bias-adjustierung (in German). Berichte des Deutschen Wetterdienstes 2021:254.

Kreienkamp, F., and Huebener, H. (2021). Aspekte der Nutzung von regionale Klimaprojektionsdatensätzen (in German with English abstract). *Promet* 104, 5–8. doi: 10.5676/DWD_pub/promet_104_01

Kreienkamp, F., Huebener, H., Linke, C., and Spekat, A. (2013). Good practice for the usage of climate model simulation results – a discussion paper. *Environ. Syst. Res.* 1:9. doi: 10.1186/2193-2697-1-9

Le, T., Perrels, A., and Cortekar, J. (2020). European climate services markets – conditions, challenges, prospects, and examples. *Clim. Serv.* 17:100149. doi: 10.1016./j.cliser.2020.100149

Lemos, M. C., Kirchhoff, C. J., and Ramprasad, V. (2012). Narrowing the climate information usability gap. *Nat. Clim. Change* 2, 789–794. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1614

Mahmud, S., Sumana, F. M., Mohsin, M., and Khan, M. H. R. (2022). Redefining homogenous climate regions in Bangladesh using multivariate clustering approaches. *Nat. Hazards* 111, 1863–1884. doi: 10.1007/s11069-021-05120-x

Marotzke, J., and Forster, P. M. (2015). Forcing, feedback and internal variability in global temperature trends. *Nature* 517, 565–570. doi: 10.1038/nature14117

Neset, T., S., Wilk, J., Cruz, S., Graça, M., Rød, J. K., et al. (2021). Co-designing a citizen science climate service. *Clim. Serv.* 24, 100273. doi:10.1016./j.cliser.2021.100273 Pérez-Zanón, N., Caron, L. P., Terzago, S., Van Schaeybroeck, B., Lledó, L., Manubens, N., et al. (2021). The CSTools (v4.0) Toolbox: from climate forecasts to climate forecast information. *Geosci. Model Dev.* doi: 10.5194/gmd-2021-368

Pineda-Martínez, L. F., Carbajal, N., and Medina-Roldán, E. (2007). Regionalization and classification of bioclimatic zones in the central-northeastern region of México using principal component analysis (PCA). *Atmósfera* 20.

Raoult, B., Bergeron, C., López Alós, A., Thépaut, J.-., N., and Dee, D. (2017). Climate service develops user-friendly data store. *ECMWF Newslett.* 151, 1–9. doi: 10.21957/p3c285

Rauthe, M., Steiner, H., Riediger, U., Mazurkiewicz, A., and Gratzki, A. A. (2013). Central European precipitation climatology – Part I: generation and validation of a high-resolution gridded daily data set (HYRAS). *Meteorol. Z.* 22, 235–256. doi: 10.1127/0941-2948/2013/0436

Razafimaharo, C., Krähenmann, S., Höpp, S., Rauthe, M., and Deutschländer, T. (2020). New heigh-resolution gridded dataset of daily mean, minimum and maximum temperature and relative humidity for Central Europe (HYRAS). *Ther. Appl. Climatol.* 142, 1531–1553. doi: 10.1007/s00704-020-03388-w

RLPKK. (2022). Rheinland-Pfalz Kompetenzzentrum für Klimawandelfolgen. Available online at: https://www.kwis-rlp.de/daten-und-fakten/klimawandelzukunft/ (accessed January 26, 2022).

Rössler, O., Fischer, A. M., Huebener, H., Benestad, R., Christodoulides, P., Maraun, D., et al. (2017). Challenges to link climate change data provision and user needs - perspective from the COST-VALUE initiative. *Int. J. Climatol.* 39, 3704–3716. doi: 10.1002/joc.5060

Suhari, M., Dressel, M., and Schuck-Zöller, S. (2022). Challenges and best practices of co-creation: a qualitative interview study in the field

of climate services. *Clim. Serv.* 25:100282. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2021.1 00282

Sutmöller, J., Schönfelder, E., and Meesenburg, H. (2021). Perspektiven der Anwendung von Klimaprojektionen in der Forstwirtschaft (in German with English abstract). *Promet* 104, 47–53. doi: 10.5676/DWD_pub/promet_104_07

Tart, S., Groth, M., and Seipold, P. (2020). Market demand for climate services: an assessment of users' needs. *Clim. Serv.* 17, 100109. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100109

Uppala, S. (2001). ECMWF ReAnalysis 1957-2001 ERA-40. European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF). Available online at: https://www. ecmwf.int/sites/default/files/elibrary/2001/12879-ecmwf-reanalysis-1957-2001era-40.pdf

Van den Hurk, B., Hewitt, C., Jacob, D., Bessembinder, J., Doblas-Reyes, F., Döscher, R., et al. (2018). The match between climate service demands and earth system models supplies. *Clim. Serv.* 12, 59–63. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2018. 11.002

Vautard, R., Kadygrov, N., Iles, C., Bülow, K., Jacob, D., Teichmann, C., et al. (2020). Evaluation of the large EURO-CORDEX regional climate model ensemble. *J. Geophys. Res. Atmos.* 126:e2019JD032344. doi: 10.1029./2019JD032344

Williams, D. S., and Jacob, D. (2021). From participatory to inclusive climate services for enhancing societal uptake. *Clim. Serv.* 24:100266. doi: 10.1016./j.cliser.2021.100266

Zier, C. H., Bäse, F., and Komischke, H. (2021). Ein Verfahren zur Plausibilisierung und Bewertung regionaler Klimaprojektionen (An assessment of regional climate projections, in German with English abstract). *Promet* 104, 9–18. doi: 10.5676/DWD_pub/promet_104_02

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Andreas Marc Fischer, Federal Office of Meteorology and Climatology, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY

Anita Verpe Dyrrdal, Norwegian Meteorological Institute, Norway Jan Rajczak, Federal Office of Meteorology and Climatology, Switzerland

*CORRESPONDENCE Enda O'Brien ⊠ enda.obrien@ichec.ie

RECEIVED 15 February 2023 ACCEPTED 13 April 2023 PUBLISHED 04 May 2023

CITATION

O'Brien E and Nolan P (2023) TRANSLATE: standardized climate projections for Ireland. *Front. Clim.* 5:1166828. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2023.1166828

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 O'Brien and Nolan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

TRANSLATE: standardized climate projections for Ireland

Enda O'Brien* and Paul Nolan

Irish Centre for High-End Computing, University of Galway, Galway, Ireland

The TRANSLATE project was established in 2021 by Met Éireann, the Irish national meteorological service, to provide standardized future climate projections for Ireland. This paper outlines the principles and main methods that were used to generate the first set of such projections and presents selected results to the end of the 21st century. Two separate ensembles of dynamically downscaled CMIP5 projections were analyzed. These produce very consistent results, increasing confidence in both, and in the methods used. Future projected fields show plenty of detail (depending on local geography), but the change maps relative to the base period are much smoother, reflecting the global climate change signal. Future forcing uncertainty is represented by 3 different emission scenarios, while model response uncertainty is represented by sub-ensembles corresponding to different climate sensitivities. The resulting matrix of distinct climate ensembles is complemented by ensembles of temperature threshold-based projections, drawn from the same underlying simulations.

KEYWORDS

CMIP5, CORDEX, downscaling, future projections, bias-correction, quantile mapping, uncertainty

1. Introduction

Within government and private-sector institutions, and among the general public, there is growing awareness of the risks of future climate change—partly due to climate model predictions, and partly to increasingly robust observational evidence of recent and current climate change [The Royal Society (UK), National Academy of Sciences (USA), 2020]. In Ireland, the development of climate resilience is channeled through the National Adaptation Frameworks (NAFs) (Department of Communications, Climate Action and Environment, Government of Ireland, 2018). The NAF focusses on ensuring that adaptation measures are taken at all levels of government to prepare Ireland for the impacts of climate change. As mandated by the NAF, each of the 31 Local Authority administrations in Ireland has their own Climate Change Adaptation Strategy.¹ These documents report that the main hazards of concern are heavy rainfall and associated flooding, heatwaves, drought, and storm events, all of which can affect the provision of local government and other utility services. Local Authorities and utility service providers need to understand how climate change will affect their activities, and so there is increasing demand for reliable climate projections in order to plan and implement suitable adaptation and mitigation measures.

Given this context, the TRANSLATE project² was established by the Irish national meteorological service, Met Éireann, in 2021 to produce standardized climate projections for Ireland, as a basis for the provision of other more wide-ranging climate services, and to support activities such as hydrological modeling. This paper describes the

¹ E.g., the climate adaptation strategy for Co. Cork is available at https://www.corkcoco.ie/sites/default/

files/2021-11/cork-county-council-climate-adaptation-strategy-2019-2024-pdf.pdf.

² https://www.met.ie/science/translate

main principles and methods used to produce the first set of such projections and shows a small but indicative sample of the results obtained. Our work was guided to some extent by similar projects undertaken by other geographically small countries, such as UKCP18 in the UK (Lowe et al., 2018; Murphy et al., 2018), KNMI'14 in the Netherlands (Van den Hurk et al., 2014; Lenderink et al., 2015), and CH2018 in Switzerland (CH2018, 2018).

Many other countries or regions have also developed their own national climate scenarios based on CMIP global simulations, and some of these are listed in Supplementary Table S1. Ruosteenoja et al. (2016) describe downscaling CMIP5 GCM projections for Finland as an experimental extension of the more operationally oriented ACCLIM project, which derived climate projections for Finland from earlier CMIP3 simulations. These projections were updated by Ruosteenoja and Jylhä (2021) to use the latest CMIP6 shared socioeconomic pathway (SSP) scenarios, but without any downscaling. In Austria, the ÖKS15 project (Chimani et al., 2016) used 13 EURO-CORDEX regional models to downscale global simulations from two CMIP5 scenarios to the end of the 21st century. Technical aspects of the Norwegian climate projections are described by Hanssen-Bauer et al. (2017), while the utility and value of such projections is demonstrated by how they are disseminated and used to develop a "chain" of climate services, as reported by Nilsen et al. (2022). Similar projects undertaken by other nations are not cited in the interest of space, while no doubt there are others that we are unaware of, especially those that remain at the level of research projects, or where the information generated is available only in the local languages or simply not converted into publicly accessible products. Given the variety of approaches even among those few countries mentioned above, however, it is clear that the generation of standardized national climate projections does not have a "one size fits all" solution.

Most localized climate projections depend on a chain of future climate simulations that starts with ensembles of relatively coarse-resolution global climate models (GCMs). These may be dynamically downscaled to smaller, regional domains by ensembles of higher-resolution regional climate models (RCMs) each nested within one or more of the GCMs. High-resolution RCMs can also be nested within coarser ones, as done by Nolan (2015) and Nolan et al. (2017) for domains centered on Ireland (see, e.g., Figure 1.2 and related text in Nolan, 2015). Further statistical post-processing (e.g., detrending, bias-correction, and further downscaling), leads to a distilled reference set of climate data and spatial maps representing annual, seasonal, monthly, or even daily statistics for a range of variables at different time-periods or thresholds in the future, under different external forcing scenarios. The reference set typically encompasses alternative climates from both the lower and higher climate sensitivity ranges, as determined by the spread of the underlying ensembles.

The resulting set of climate scenarios described in this document could be viewed as spanning a small 3-dimensional matrix, as shown in Figure 1, which is adapted from Figure 10.9 of the latest Swiss climate scenario report (CH2018, 2018). In this view, future time-periods (specifically 2021–2050, 2041–2070, and 2071–2100) lie along one dimension. A few external forcing scenarios form a second dimension. For the first TRANSLATE implementation, these are Representative Concentration Pathways



(RCPs) 2.6, 4.5 and 8.5, as used for the Coupled Model Intercomparison project Phase 5 (CMIP5; Taylor et al., 2012). These three scenarios can be viewed as a measure of future forcing uncertainty. The third dimension in Figure 1 spans a set of three different "climate sensitivity" levels among the ensemble of RCMs, where climate sensitivity is measured by the mean surface temperature change over Ireland during 2071–2100 under RCP4.5 and RCP8.5, as simulated by each ensemble member. These low, medium and high-sensitivity sub-ensembles provide a measure, however crude, of model response uncertainty. All changes are measured relative to the reference period 1976–2005, which was chosen to correspond with the last 30 years of the CMIP5 "historical" period.

The different climates corresponding to each of the 27 subcubes in Figure 1 were supplemented by a further time-slicing approach, which aggregated the forcing scenarios and future time periods into three new "warming level" scenarios, centered on the years when each underlying GCM crossed global surface temperature change thresholds of 1.5, 2.0 and 2.5° C, resp. A template for constructing such threshold-based climate scenarios is provided by Vautard et al. (2014), and Supplementary Figure S1 shows a sample case of how it was done for TRANSLATE. In practice, in almost all RCP scenarios, global temperature crosses at least the 1.5°C threshold, while the 2.5°C threshold is crossed in all the RCP8.5 simulations and most of the RCP4.5 ones.

The rest of this paper describes how the 27 different climates of Figure 1 (along with the 3 temperature threshold climates) were constructed by de-trending, bias-correcting, and further statistically downscaling the raw RCM output from two



Nolan and Flanagan (2020), the red bars represent models used for RCM downscaling by EURO-CORDEX, while the orange bars represent models used by both. The blue bars represent models not used by TRANSLATE because no high-resolution RCM-downscaling of them was available over Ireland. (*) EC-EARTH model sensitivity was estimated separately.

separate sets of simulations. Some sample results are provided for illustrative purposes.

2. Methods

2.1. Two different RCM ensembles

The first effort to produce standardized future climate projections for Ireland begins with the separate sets of downscaled ensemble-RCM simulations from Nolan and Flanagan (2020; henceforth N&F), and the EURO-CORDEX project.³ Both sets of simulations were embedded in CMIP5 GCMs (see Figure 2), with four GCMs used in common. However, both projects used completely different RCMs, different grid spacing, and had different numbers of ensemble members (see Table 1 for a summary of some key differences). Note that we used the EURO-CORDEX simulations with ~12 km grid spacing; those EURO-CORDEX runs with ~50 km grid spacing had too few points to capture adequate detail over Ireland. In contrast, the N&F simulations were

at 4 km grid-spacing. Thus, both sets of simulations produced what could be viewed as independent versions of the 27 sub-climates depicted in Figure 1.

Regarding the N&F RCMs, the choice of model physics and parameterization schemes was informed by short-term validation experiments and the recommendations of the respective RCM development team. For example, the N&F WRF simulations did not include a convection parameterization scheme (convection resolving) while the COSMO-CLM5 simulations utilized the Mass Flux Tiedtke parameterization scheme (Tiedtke, 1989). An overview of the N&F RCM configurations is provided by Nolan et al. (2017) and Nolan and Flanagan (2020). The N&F RCM configurations were validated by downscaling European Center for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF) ERA-Interim reanalyzes for multi-decadal time periods and comparing the output with observational data. For an in-depth validation of the RCMs, see Nolan et al. (2017), Flanagan et al. (2019), Werner et al. (2019), Flanagan and Nolan (2020), and Nolan and Flanagan (2020), whose results confirm that the output of the RCMs exhibit reasonable and realistic features, as documented in the historical data record, and consistently demonstrate improved skill over the GCMs and low-resolution RCMs in the simulation of

³ https://www.euro-cordex.net/

TABLE 1 Comparison of how the Nolan and Flanagan (2020) and EURO-CORDEX downscaled ensembles of RCMs are different, and handled differently by TRANSLATE.

	Nolan and Flanagan (2020)	EURO-CORDEX
Native grid-spacing	4 km	12 km
Ensemble size	4–6 members per RCP scenario	19–29 members per RCP scenario
Interpolate to (1.0 km) observational grid?	Yes: interpolate to observational grid from start.	No: Work at native 12 km grid spacing as much as possible before downscaling final fields to observational grid.
	With relatively few ensemble members and grid-spacing not too different, this did not consume excessive compute time or data storage.	Interpolating to fine grid at start would require 144 x more compute time and data storage, which would be both wasteful and prohibitive.
Detrending	On 1.0 km grid	On native 12 km grid—using observations interpolated to this grid.
Bias correction	QDM on 1.0 km grid	QDM on 12 km grid
Downscaling to 1.0 km grid	QDM (effectively done along with bias correction above).	Use degraded observations (interpolated from 1.0 to 12 km grid and back again) subtracted from original observational fields to downscale 12 km fields directly, or with 2nd pass through quantile mapping (Section 2.4.3).
Climate statistics	On 1.0 km grid	On 1.0 km grid
Reconstructed 30-yr daily timeseries (for computing extreme indices, etc.)	On 1.0 km grid	On 12 km grid

multiple fields (e.g., precipitation and near-surface temperature, wind, humidity and radiation). Nolan et al. (2017) analyzed a larger ensemble of RCMs (both COSMO-CLM and WRF) with different grid spacings (18, 7, 6, 4, 2, and 1.5 km) and found that the RCMs demonstrated a general stepwise increase in skill with increased model resolution. Furthermore, it was shown that heavy precipitation events are more accurately resolved by the higher spatial resolution RCM data. However, it was found that although the RCM accuracy increased with higher spatial resolution, reducing the horizontal grid spacing below 4 km provided relatively little added value (Nolan et al., 2017). These results, and the requirement for a large RCM ensemble for analysis of climate projection uncertainty, informed the N&F RCM 4 km experiment setup.

2.2. Historical observations

High-resolution (\sim 1.0 km grid-spacing) gridded observations of daily mean, minimum, and maximum surface air temperature (at 2 m height) for the Republic of Ireland, and daily precipitation over all Ireland were provided by Met Éireann spanning the reference historical period 1976–2005. The production of these datasets is described by Walsh (2016, 2017), while the time-period available has expanded from 1981–2010 to span 1961–2014. The temperature fields were supplemented by temperature observations at 5 km grid spacing over Northern Ireland (the northeastern part of the island and part of the UK) from the UK Met. Office's CEDA archive (Hollis et al., 2018). Standard bilinear interpolation was used to patch the temperature data across the border between the Republic of Ireland and Northern Ireland.

Those 30-year high-resolution gridded observations of daily minimum, maximum and mean air surface temperature and daily precipitation were used to validate the corresponding variables in RCM output for the same historical period (1976–2005), and to facilitate downscaling and bias-correction of all future projections, as described below. Ensembles of reconstructed (i.e., detrended and bias-corrected) 30-year daily timeseries of those four variables provide the basis for each of the 27 representative climates shown in Figure 1.

Note that while all model output included gridded values over both land and sea, the observational temperature data were provided over land only. The discontinuities across the coastline introduced some difficulties when using simple interpolation, since offshore grid-points with "missing data" could then contaminate neighboring onshore points by treating them as "missing" too. The interpolation algorithm was modified to work around this issue by interpolating from available land points only.

2.3. Climate sensitivity decomposition

For any given RCP forcing scenario and for any future time-period, the decomposition of the "climate sensitivity" axis in Figure 1 can be done in different ways. Prior to making a final choice, it is worth considering the "equilibrium climate sensitivity" (ECS) of the different CMIP5 global models, as shown in Figure 2. ECS is the equilibrium global-mean surface temperature change that occurs in response to instantaneous doubling of CO2 concentrations. The green, red, and orange bars represent models that were used for high-resolution dynamical downscaling with RCMs over Ireland by N&F, EURO-CORDEX, or both, and so are incorporated into TRANSLATE. The models available for use by TRANSLATE are reasonably welldistributed among the different ECS values, although the models with lowest ECS (e.g., the GISS and GFDL models) are not available, since they were not downscaled over Ireland by any RCM with adequate grid spacing. This "low-sensitivity" gap should be remembered when analyzing the distribution of TRANSLATE results.

For the purposes of TRANSLATE, however, the climate sensitivity of each model over Ireland is more relevant than the global ECS. Figure 3 shows the mean surface temperature changes over Ireland from the RCM ensemble means from 3 different future scenarios and time-periods, all relative to 1976–2005. Figure 3A is for the N&F ensemble; Figure 3B is for the EURO-CORDEX ensemble. For all 3 metrics in both ensembles, the HadGEM2-ES model is clearly the most sensitive, while the MPI-ESM-LR model



is the least sensitive—even though MPI-ESL-LR is among the *more* sensitive models as measured by the global ECS metric (Figure 2). The difference in the projected mean temperature changes over Ireland under RCP8.5 by the end of the century between the most (HadGEM2-ES) and the least (MPI-ESM-LR) sensitive models is almost 1.7° C (3.63° vs. 1.94° C).

The sensitivity over Ireland of the other global CMIP5 models (those in the 4 middle rows of Figures 3A, B) is somewhere in between, but more mixed. However, if all of these models are combined as the "mid-range" ensemble on the climate sensitivity axis of Figure 1, then the ordering among them doesn't matter. Figures 3A, B are consistent in showing HadGEM2-ES to be the most sensitive model when downscaled over Ireland; MPI-ESM-LR is the least sensitive, while the other 3 (N&F ensemble) or 4 (EURO-CORDEX ensemble) or 5 (combined ensembles) are somewhere in between.

Decomposition along the climate sensitivity axis of Figure 1 is then relatively straightforward: all RCMs nested in the HadGEM2-ES global model make up the "high-sensitivity" ensemble; all RCMs nested in the MPI-ESM-LR model make up the "lowsensitivity" ensemble, and all RCMs nested in any of the other GCMs constitute the "medium-sensitivity" ensemble. Thus, the low- and high-sensitivity ensembles are each based on just one GCM simulation (as downscaled by several different RCMs). This means that the uncertainties due to differences among GCMs are not well-sampled in these sub-ensembles. The low and highsensitivity sub-ensembles are really just the tails of the full ensemble comprising all GCM simulations.

Note that this measure of climate sensitivity is based on the mean surface temperature over Ireland; other variables may not display the same relative sensitivities. Note too that this leads to \sim 70% of all simulations being placed in the mid-sensitivity ensembles of Figure 1, and about 15% in each of the low and high-sensitivity ensembles. Thus, the three sensitivity ensembles shown in Figure 1 should not be considered as equally likely, but as a rudimentary histogram of model uncertainty. A more fine-grained picture is shown in Supplementary Figure S2, which

charts model sensitivity, as measured by surface mean temperature change over Ireland by 2071–2100 relative to 1976–2005 under RCP8.5 for each of the 26 GCM/RCM combinations that were available from EURO-CORDEX. The partitioning of all available simulations among the three sensitivity ensembles is summarized in Supplementary Table S2.

2.4. Detrending, bias-correcting, and downscaling RCM output

2.4.1. Detrending

Each member of the 27 different ensembles represented in Figure 1 is in principle an independent climate instance, and as such, should represent a stable climate with no background trend. However, the different RCP scenarios typically generate clear trends in many variables as the climate changes in response. Thus, a simple detrending is performed on all RCM 30-year output timeseries (and on observed 30-year timeseries) before any other adjustments are made. Detrending distills the changing climate over a century or so into just a few representative time-periods, and allows each future projected 30-year period to be treated statistically just as recently observed 30-year climate normals are (Gutman, 1989). With the climate change signal removed, internal climate variability, extreme events, and other indices can all be calculated more reliably over 30-years of a statistically stable climate than year-by-year of a changing climate.

In the case of interval variables like temperature, detrending can be done by subtracting the linear trend from the original timeseries. In the case of ratio variables such as precipitation, the linear trend is calculated, but cannot be simply subtracted from the original timeseries since that can introduce distortions such as negative precipitation, or turning dry days into wet ones. Precipitation detrending must be done multiplicatively. If $P_{orig}(t)$ is the original time-series, P_{mean} is its mean, and $P_{linear-trend}(t)$ is its linear trend value at time t (with zero mean), then a detrended timeseries $P_{detrended}(t)$ is:

$$P_{detrended}\left(t\right) = P_{orig}\left(t\right) \times [1 + \frac{\left(P_{mean} - P_{linear-trend}\left(t\right)\right)}{P_{mean}}]$$

This has the desired characteristics that dry days stay dry $(\mathbf{P}_{detrended} = \mathbf{P}_{orig} = \mathbf{0})$, and no negative precipitation is possible $[\mathbf{P}_{linear-trend}(\mathbf{t}) \leq \mathbf{2} \times \mathbf{P}_{mean}]$. However, it does not preserve the original mean value P_{mean} . That is recovered by computing the mean of the $P_{detrended}$ series, then scaling all $P_{detrended}(t)$ values by multiplying them by the factor $\frac{\mathbf{P}_{mean}}{\mathbf{P}_{detrended}-mean}$.

2.4.2. Bias-correction with quantile delta mapping

The RCMs nested in the GCMs provide downscaled projections that represent the best that can be achieved using the laws of physics, as expressed numerically in the various models. Beyond the physics, however, there remains an opportunity for statistics to contribute useful information by adjusting the model projections to correct for systematic biases that can be identified during well-observed historical periods. Without bias-correction, raw model projections are usually shown as "change" fields between a simulated future and a simulated past, in which the biases are assumed to cancel out. Change fields alone may suffice for some purposes, but most practical applications eventually need to match projected changes with recent observations, which amounts to biascorrection, however implicit. For example, it is not enough to tell engineers that events with 10-year return periods currently will have 5-year return periods in the future; they also need to know the magnitude of such events, and bias-correction is required to more reliably estimate that information.

TRANSLATE adopted the quantile delta mapping (QDM) method, as described by Cannon et al. (2015), and who also show how it is superior to the other quantile mapping variants considered by virtue of explicitly preserving relative changes in (e.g.,) precipitation quantiles. By now, QDM has been widely tested and validated, e.g., by Fauzi et al. (2020) or Xavier et al. (2022). The method is applied to each grid-point independently, and so is easy to parallelize. However, this suggests a potential weakness of the method, which is that dynamical consistency between fields (e.g., temperature and precipitation) is not enforced and so may be lost, as explored by Rocheta et al. (2014). Indeed, consistency within a single field may also be lost (Maraun, 2013), especially insofar as the method is applied for downscaling purposes. More fundamentally, QDM assumes that biases remain statistically stable from the observed historical period to the end of the future projected period. This is usually a valid assumption, as discussed by Maraun (2012), but still, should not be pushed too far. TRANSLATE developed its own implementation of QDM, but third-party software implementations are also available.⁴ The nature of the changes made by QDM can be seen in Supplementary Figure S3, which shows the modifications made to the Ireland-mean daily precipitation timeseries for the period 2071-2100 under RCP4.5 for each of the 6 members of the N&F ensemble.

2.4.3. Downscaling (EURO-CORDEX) using degraded observation corrections

Ultimately, we want to produce final projection fields on the finest possible grid, which in our case is the observational grid, with \sim 1.0 km grid spacing. Meanwhile, the N&F output fields are on a native grid with \sim 4 km spacing, while the EURO-CORDEX output fields are on a native grid with \sim 12 km spacing. In principle, all fields could have been interpolated to the 1.0 km grid from the beginning. Even though interpolation from coarse to fine grids provides no real gain of information, such interpolation allows QDM to effectively function as a downscaling as well as a biascorrection tool, since real information from every observational grid-point is used to adjust the model projections. As stated in Table 1, it was convenient and practical to do this with the N&F RCM output, but not with the EURO-CORDEX output, since that would have consumed over 2 orders of magnitude more computing time and storage resources.

Instead, as also listed in Table 1, QDM on the EURO-CORDEX RCM output was performed on the native 12 km grid for bias-correction purposes only. However, once the ensembles of reconstructed 30-year timeseries were condensed into annual cycles of mean, percentile, and other statistical fields, they were then downscaled onto the high-resolution observational grid as well. "Downscale" is used advisedly here rather than "interpolate," since downscaling adds extra information to the physical fields whereas interpolation does not.

Fields on the 12 km EURO-CORDEX grid can be interpolated onto the 1.0 km observational grid (with some extra care needed around coastlines, as mentioned in Section 2.2, and as shown in Figures 4A, B), but this provides no real gain in information. The real downscaling step involves taking the corresponding *observational* field on the high-resolution grid, interpolating it to the coarser EURO-CORDEX grid (thus losing some information), then interpolating it back again to high-resolution (without recovering the lost information). The difference between that (degraded) observational field on the high-resolution grid and the original observational field on the same grid (e.g., Figure 4C) mimics the information that is potentially missing from the projected field on the same grid. Downscaling is then achieved by simply adding that information to the projected field (e.g., Figure 4D).

If *T* represents temperature or similar variable, and subscripts *OBS* and *PROJ* represent observations and projections, resp., the process can be described symbolically as:

$T_{PROJ} (CORDEX_grid) \rightarrow$	T _{PROJ} (hires_grid)
	[by low to hi – res interpolation]
$T_{OBS_ORIG}\left(hires_grid\right) \ \rightarrow$	$T_{OBS}\left(CORDEX_grid\right)$
	[by standard interpolation]
$T_{OBS}\left(CORDEX_grid \right) \ \rightarrow$	$T_{OBS_DEG}(hires_grid)$
	[by low to hi – res interpolation]
$T_{PROJ_FINAL}\left(hires_grid\right) =$	T _{PROJ} (hires_grid)
+	T _{OBS_ORIG} (hires_grid)
_	T _{OBS_DEG} (hires_grid)

⁴ E.g., https://github.com/topics/quantile-delta-mapping.



Here, T_{OBS_DEG} (hires_grid) represents the degraded observational field on the high-resolution grid. For a ratio variable like precipitation, the process is similar, only the final equation is multiplicative instead of additive:

i.e., the degraded observations after interpolation to the EURO-CORDEX grid and then back to the high-resolution grid again. Otherwise, the quantile-mapping algorithm runs much as before.

Figure 4D shows the result T_{PROJ_FINAL} (hires_grid) of such a process in the case of the annual mean field of daily-mean temperature from the mid-sensitivity ensemble under RCP4.5 for 2071–2100. Overall, Figures 4A–D illustrates the process described symbolically above. The large-scale features don't change between Figures 4A, D, but the process does provide extra local detail.

EURO-CORDEX fields based on histograms of occurrence frequency are downscaled slightly differently. They are interpolated from the EURO-CORDEX grid to the observational grid as above, but being frequency distributions, they lend themselves naturally to application of a second round of quantile mapping—this time not to correct biases based on historical performance, but simply to downscale. The role played by the historical simulations in "normal" quantile mapping is now played by $T_{OBS_DEG}(hires_grid)$,

3. Results

3.1. Integrating the EURO-CORDEX and N&F projections

Once both the EURO-CORDEX and N&F ensembles are detrended, bias-corrected, and downscaled to the same highresolution observational grid, how much relative weight should then be given to each individual (coarse-resolution) EURO-CORDEX simulation relative to each individual (high-resolution) N&F simulation when combining them into a single integrated ensemble? In practice this question is mostly moot, since the final projections for all the fields we have compared from both sets of ensembles are so similar as to be climatically identical. It makes almost no difference whether 80% weight is given to one and 20% to the other, or vice versa. For simplicity, then, the two sets of ensembles were combined into a single final set by giving equal weight to each individual ensemble member.
An example is shown in Figure 5, for the 99th percentile of daily precipitation amounts during autumn (Sept.-Nov.), from the middle-sensitivity ensemble under RCP4.5 for the period 2071-2100. Since autumn tends to be the wettest season in Ireland, these charts indicate what the wettest days during the wettest season would be like under that scenario. The top row (Figures 5A-C) shows the fields from the N&F ensemble, the EURO-CORDEX ensemble, and the combined ensemble, resp. The differences between the fields in Figures 5A, B are very small and difficult to see, so not surprisingly their combination in Figure 5C looks much the same again. The bottom row (Figures 5D-F) shows the ratios of the top row fields to the corresponding observed field from 1976 to 2005, and here the differences between the N&F ensemble (Figure 5D) and the EURO-CORDEX ensemble (Figure 5E) are more apparent, though still small. Their combination in Figure 5F shows a relatively simple pattern of rainy autumn days becoming wetter over most of the country by slightly more than 10% relative to the end of the 20th century.

3.2. Some illustrative sample results

3.2.1. Climate means

The projected end-century annual mean temperature fields under the three different emission scenarios and three different sensitivity ensembles are shown in Figure 6. Each map shows a lot of spatial detail, most of which corresponds to local elevations. All the main mountain ranges in Ireland can be easily identified. In each map, temperatures tend to be slightly cooler in the midlands and north, and slightly warmer around the coasts and toward the south, much as they are today. There is also a clear gradient across the nine maps shown, with temperatures increasing from left to right as the climate sensitivity increases, and from top to bottom as the emission scenarios increase from RCP2.6 to RCP8.5. Note that "absolute value" maps like this that have been bias-corrected are much more credible than raw RCP output, whose biases can be quite misleading.

The differences between each map in Figure 6 and the annual mean temperature during the reference period 1976-2005 are shown in Figure 7. Projected temperature changes relative to the reference period are all relatively uniform and smooth, with just a slight increasing gradient from west to east in each map. This gradient is likely due to the moderating influence of the Gulf Stream extension in the Atlantic acting most strongly on that part of Ireland closest to it. The inter-map differences are larger, with temperature changes increasing between maps from left to right as climate sensitivity increases, and from top to bottom as the emissions forcing increases. Of course, annual mean temperature is precisely the field that was used to define climate sensitivity, so the gradient from left to right in Figure 7 is pre-determined by that choice. Even so, it is apparent in Figure 7 that projected climates are more sensitive to the changes in RCP scenario than to the differences between the model responses (as measured by their climate sensitivity).

The cross-section through Figure 1 for the annual mean of daily precipitation during the late- century 2071–2100 is shown in Figure 8. There is very little difference between any of the

maps in Figure 8: they all show higher precipitation (up to 8 mm day⁻¹) over the higher elevations and along the western seaboard, with lowest values $(2-3 \text{ mm day}^{-1})$ over the midlands and eastern regions. However, the difference between the 9 maps in Figure 8 become more apparent when shown in Figure 9 as percentage changes relative to observations during the reference period 1976–2005. Figure 9 shows that any precipitation increases tend to be largest (in percentage terms) in the midlands and east.

Even the annual mean precipitation changes shown in Figure 9 mask significantly different behavior between the summer and winter seasons. Figure 10 shows projected precipitation changes during the end-century period as in Figure 9, but for the summer months June to August, while Figure 11 shows the corresponding change maps for the winter months December to February. Figures 9-11 all use the same contour intervals and the same color palette. The clear message is that summers are projected to become drier, while winters are projected to be wetter. Those patterns are amplified as the emission scenarios increase from RCP2.6 through RCP4.5 to RCP8.5. In contrast, the (temperature-based) climate sensitivity dimension does not show much variation, or any clear pattern. This is probably because there is only a weak relationship between temperature sensitivity and precipitation sensitivity over Ireland, where variable synoptic-scale circulation patterns can easily overcome the more direct Clausius-Clapeyron scaling between temperature and precipitation. See e.g., Houghton and O'Cinnéide (1976), Kiely (1999), or McCarthy et al. (2015) for evidence of how the Irish climate depends on large-scale circulation patterns in both the atmosphere and Atlantic ocean.

Much as the annual mean precipitation projections (Figure 9) can mask large changes of opposite sign from summer and winter seasons (Figures 10, 11), so too can the individual ensemble-mean maps shown in Figures 9-11 mask large variability within each ensemble, as well as interannual variability within each ensemble member. This is illustrated in Supplementary Figure S4, which is analogous to Figure 9, but instead of the ensemble means, shows the ensemble range in each map, i.e., ensemble-maximum percentage change minus ensemble-minimum percentage change, for daily precipitation on each day of the year, then averaged over the annual cycle. The ranges are large, reflecting the fact that, e.g., if the projected ensemble minimum on each day is 1 mm day⁻¹ less than the observed amount while the ensemble maximum is 3 mm day⁻¹ more, at a point where the observed mean value is 4 mm day^{-1} , then the ensemble range of percentage change will be 100%. The sequence of Figure 8-11 and Supplementary Figures S4 shows how future precipitation projections can be deconstructed from a pattern of relative uniformity to reveal ever more variability as the projections are explored in more detail. This helps to distinguish those projected characteristics that are relatively robust from those that are more uncertain.

3.2.2. Projected frequency distributions

Frequency histograms were computed for each of the four main variables (T_{mean} , T_{min} , T_{max} , and precipitation), and for each 30-year climate instance (or ensemble member) of each projected climate. Temperature frequencies were binned in 1°C increments



observed value) at each grid-point.

from -10 to 35°C, while precipitation frequencies were binned in increments of 2 mm day⁻¹ up to 80 mm day⁻¹.

Figure 12A shows annual and seasonal T_{min} histograms for 2071-2100 under RCP4.5 from the mid-sensitivity ensemble (solid curves) and for the observed reference period 1976-2005 (dashed curves), with local (grid-point) frequencies averaged over both the ensemble and the island of Ireland. The shading around each solid curve spans the range from minimum to maximum within the ensemble. The simplest interpretation of Figure 12A is that all the frequency curves retain much the same shape over time, but are shifted about 2°C to the right from the reference period to the end of the 21st century. The most dramatic changes thus occur near the tails. E.g., winter season $T_{\rm min}$ values of $-5^\circ C$ occurred with a frequency of about 0.02 (i.e., once every 50 winter-time days) during the reference period, as shown by the dashed blue curve in Figure 12A, but the frequency of similar cold nights by 2071-2100 under this scenario is projected to drop by a factor of 5 to about 0.004 (i.e., once every 250 winter days, only every 3 years or so). At the other extreme, summer nights with $T_{\rm min}$ values around $17^\circ C$ are projected to occur up to 10 times more frequently than in the past. "Tropical nights" with T_{min} not falling below 20°C did not occur at all during the reference period but are projected to occur with a small but finite frequency in the future under this scenario.

Precipitation is distributed differently to temperature, and so the precipitation frequency histograms in Figure 12B have a logarithmic y-axis. As in Figure 12A, the biggest differences between the past and projected future precipitation distributions are at the high-rainfall low-frequency tails. Thus, the wettest days are projected to get wetter in all seasons as well as for the year as a whole (all the solid curves at the tail of Figure 12B are to the right of the corresponding dashed curves). Spring-time rainfall events of 60 mm day^{-1} that had a nominal occurrence frequency of 0.00001 (or a return period of 100,000 days) in the past (green dashed curve) are projected to occur about 3 times more often by the end of the century under this scenario (green solid curve).

The low frequencies of extreme events in Figure 12B are referred to as "nominal" above, because in reality they are relatively high-frequency localized events whose frequency value is reduced by the all-Ireland averaging. The curves in Figure 12 result from computing local frequencies and ensemble averaging first, and then doing all-Ireland averaging, instead of the other way round. This ordering doesn't really matter in the case of temperature (Figure 12A), since temperature anomalies tend to span wide areas, but in the case of precipitation (Figure 12B) it has the effect of expanding the sample size by several orders of magnitude before averaging it down again. Instead of \sim 20 ensemble members each with a single 30-year timeseries of daily data from which to compute event frequency, each ensemble member has 30 years of such data for each of about 2,000 (EURO-CORDEX) grid-points, or 30 years for each of hundreds of effectively independent locales where intense precipitation can occur. This sample multiplier effect is how return periods of up to 100,000 days (~275 years) can be plotted in Figure 12B. Even so, it is notable that most curves in Figure 12B have such smooth trajectories all the way down to the lowest frequencies and could reasonably be extrapolated further if desired. Plots like Figure 12B that are restricted to individual grid-



points or small regions of just a few points only extend smoothly to frequencies of 0.001 (return periods of 3 years or so) before becoming noisy and non-monotonic (i.e., reporting isolated very wet events at the extreme tails of the distributions).

3.2.3. Temperature threshold-based projections

As mentioned in the Introduction, future climate ensembles were constructed from timeseries of 20-year periods centered on the year when the annual and global mean temperature from each underlying GCM used by TRANSLATE reached a specified threshold value above the pre-industrial mean from the same GCM. Three threshold values were considered, namely 1.5, 2.0, and 2.5°C. Table 2 shows the threshold- crossing dates for each RCP scenario for each of the CMIP5 GCM runs that were downscaled by either N&F or by EURO-CORDEX and further post-processed by TRANSLATE. Even the higher 2.5°C threshold was crossed by 16 different CMIP5 GCM simulations used by TRANSLATE, and most of those were further downscaled by multiple RCMs. This produced large ensemble sizes (>50 members) for each threshold climate. Each individual 20-year timeseries was then detrended, bias-corrected and further downscaled to the highresolution observational grid, as was done for each of the 30year timeseries underlying the different climate ensembles of Figure 1. One assumption behind assembling these large ensembles at different global warming levels is that the "path" to each level matters less than simply reaching and crossing that level. This assumes that the climate can adjust relatively quickly to a particular



RCP forcing as time goes by. Experiments conducted by Ricke and Caldeira (2014) suggest that the timescale needed to adjust to an impulsive emission event is about 10 years, so the response time to more gradual forcing (as in the RCP scenarios) is presumably somewhat less than that.

While the temperature thresholds were computed relative to the pre-industrial period 1850–1900, only relatively sparse station observations are available from that period in Ireland. Such data as do exist were collected from hand-written records and transcribed to digital format by Mateus et al. (2020), and are available from the Met Éireann web-site.⁵ From this collection, 9 stations were selected for their geographical distribution around the country, and because each has relatively long and continuous observations of T_{mean} , T_{min} , and T_{max} from the pre-industrial period. Long-term mean values from these stations are shown in Supplementary Table S3, along with comparable data from the well-observed reference period 1976–2005 (The "pre-industrial" period is extended to 1914 or 1913 for a couple of stations for the sake of a longer continuous timeseries). For most stations, the 3 temperature variables increased from pre-industrial to modern times, on average by 0.51, 0.43, and 0.51°C for T_{max} , T_{min} , and T_{mean} , resp. However, there is large variation between stations, and even a couple of temperature decreases (shown in red font in Supplementary Table S3). The numbers are also sensitive to arbitrary choices, such as whether the Malin Head station data (from the northernmost tip of Ireland) are taken from 1885 to 1914, or from 1885 to 1900. Nevertheless, it seems reasonable to add an extra 0.5°C to any temperature change field that is

⁵ https://www.met.ie/climate/available-data/long-term-data-sets



computed relative to 1976–2005, in order to obtain an estimate of temperature change relative to 1850–1900. Moreover, this analysis was repeated using CRU temperature data over Ireland and obtained very similar results.

Figure 13 shows the T_{mean} changes (relative to 1976–2005) for each of the three threshold climates, and for the 10th percentile, mean, and 90th percentile of each threshold ensemble. As discussed above, a further 0.5°C should be added to each field in Figure 13 to approximate the projected changes relative to 1850–1900. In that case, the means of each ensemble (middle column in Figure 13) show changes over Ireland very close to, but perhaps slightly less than, the global mean change (i.e., 1.5, 2.0, and 2.5°C). As in the time- and scenario-dependent projections (e.g., Figure 7), the change fields are remarkably uniform and featureless, with relatively weak internal gradients across the country. Once again, the global change signal is very straightforwardly manifested in the projections over Ireland too. Of more significance, perhaps, is the relatively large spread within each ensemble, shown by the $\sim 2.0^{\circ}$ C differences between the 10th percentile fields (leftmost column of Figure 13) and the 90th percentile fields (rightmost column of Figure 13). This intra-ensemble spread reflects quite a large range of uncertainty that can be attributed mainly to differences between the models—both GCMs and RCMs. Analyses like this can be used to assign confidence levels to the projections, especially given the large ensemble sizes behind them. Thus, there is $\sim 80\%$ chance that temperature changes over Ireland (relative to 1976–2005) will



be somewhere between the leftmost and rightmost columns of Figure 13 whenever any of the (global) temperature thresholds shown are reached.

3.2.4. Climate indices

A total of 27 standard climate indices are defined by the Expert Team on Climate Change Detection and Indices (ETCDDI).⁶ Most of the indices measure different aspects of climate extremes. They can all be easily computed from the (detrended and bias-corrected) 30-year timeseries files for each ensemble member in each ensemble shown in Figure 1, or from the 20-year timeseries for each ensemble member of each temperature threshold climate. TRANSLATE saves each such (reconstructed) timeseries so that any ETCDDI index, or indeed other custom indices (e.g., "growing season duration") can be computed on demand. Typically, an index is computed for each year, then averaged over the duration of each timeseries; finally, the ensemble median is computed as the representative index value for that particular climate (e.g., each of the 27 sub-blocks in Figure 1). For reference, a regional breakdown of several such extreme climate indices using CMIP6 global model projections is provided by Almazroui et al. (2021). The changes in selected indices (TXx, TNn, R99p) relative to 1976–2005 are shown in Supplementary Figures S5–S7, as cross-sections through Figure 1 for the end century period 2071–2100.

⁶ ETCI indices are listed at http://etccdi.pacificclimate.org/list_27_indices. shtml.



4. Discussion and conclusions

A paradox of various national standards for future climate prections (e.g., UKCP18, CH2018, and KNMI'14 in the UK, Switzerland and the Netherlands, resp.) is just how different they all are from each other, each reflecting different national circumstances. This is also true of more recent projections for Central America by Tamayo et al. (2022). Nevertheless, it is clear from those projects that any standard future projection for Ireland should be based on high-resolution dynamical downscaling of global CMIP models. They should include a range of forcing scenarios to accommodate future emissions uncertainty, and a range of climate sensitivity responses to accommodate model uncertainty. Ideally, future projections should be based on as large an ensemble as practically possible, with each ensemble member providing an independent climate instance of daily values of relevant variables for periods long enough to provide stable statistics (i.e., 20–30 years). Aggregated projections based on the modeled temperature crossing key thresholds are also worthwhile. The timeseries of each variable in each climate instance should be detrended, bias-corrected, and downscaled to the best possible grid-spacing to provide a stable climate reconstruction, which can then be queried for a wide range of statistics and climate indices. As shown in Section 2.4.3 and by Figure 4, statistical downscaling can add meaningful spatial information to climate projection fields that have coarser grids, just as dynamical downscaling by RCMs can provide more spatial detail than the low-resolution GCMs



that drive them. Nevertheless, downscaling does not fundamentally alter or feedback on the climate change signal that is passed down from the coarser model grid.

An initial set of standardized climate projections for Ireland was produced, based on the dynamical downscaling work already done by N&F, and by the EURO-CORDEX project. These two sets of downscaled ensembles are nested in the same global CMIP5 models but are very different in the RCMs they use and in their native grid spacing. Given their different grid spacings and ensemble sizes, their post-processing by TRANSLATE to provide detrended, bias-corrected and fully downscaled output was done somewhat differently (Table 1). Nevertheless, the final projected output fields from both sets of ensembles tend to look remarkably similar (Figure 5). The future projected fields e.g., Figure 6 tend to include local details that reflect the main geographical features of Ireland, but the difference fields with respect to the reference 1976–2005 climate tend to be smooth and bland, reflecting the large-scale pattern of the underlying climate change signal (e.g., Figure 7). The similarity in the final future projections between the N&F fields and the EURO-CORDEX fields tends to serve as a cross-validation between them, increasing confidence in the validity of both.

Under the TRANSLATE project, initial standard projections for Ireland were built along the three separate axes of the cube shown in Figure 1, namely future forcing scenarios (as defined by the CMIP projects), future time periods, and climate sensitivity (as defined by the mean surface temperature response of the different ensemble members). Three further scenarios were based on 20year time-periods around the 1.5, 2.0, and 2.5°C threshold warming



FIGURE 12

(A) Frequency distribution of projected daily minimum temperature (T_{min}) under the RCP45 (mid-range) forcing scenario for the end-of-century (2071–2100) from the mid- sensitivity ensemble, averaged over all Ireland, for each season and the annual cycle (solid curves). Shaded areas around each projected curve span the range from minimum to maximum value within the ensemble. The corresponding observed T_{min} values from the reference period 1976–2005 are shown as dashed curves. The temperature "bins" are 1°C wide; a frequency of 0.1 means that temperatures within that 1°C bin occur once every 10 days on average. (B) As in (A) except for daily precipitation, with frequency on a logarithmic scale, and for precipitation bins 2 mm day⁻¹ wide. No shading is shown as in (A) to avoid confusing the plot, but as the frequency decreases to 0.0001 (i.e., once in 10,000 days), the range of daily precipitation spans up to 50 mm day⁻¹ from ensemble minimum to ensemble maximum.

TABLE 2 The year at which the smoothed timeseries of global and annual mean surface temperature for the different CMIP5 GCM simulations listed crossed the 1.5, 2.0, and 2.5°C thresholds above their pre-industrial (1850–1900) mean.

CMIP5 Model	1.5°C			2.0°C			2.5°C		
	RCP26	RCP45	RCP85	RCP26	RCP45	RCP85	RCP26	RCP45	RCP85
CNRM	2042	2037	2030		2058	2045		2085	2057
EC-EARTH r1		2023	2021		2047	2027		2077	2052
EC-EARTH r12	2027	2021	2017		2045	2035		2073	2049
IPSL-LR	2012			2036					
IPSL-MR		2017	2015		2031	2031		2056	2042
MPI-ESM-LR r1	2024	2025	2014		2043	2037		2094	2050
MPI-ESM-LR r2	2017	2021	2020		2039	2034		2073	2045
HadGEM2-ES r1	2022	2030	2023	2049	2043	2035		2059	2048
NCCNorESM1-M		2038	2033		2071	2049			2062
MIROC5 r1	2051	2039	2033		2069	2051			2060

The cells with no data are either from simulations that were not available to TRANSLATE, or because a simulation did not cross a particular threshold. See Supplementary Figure S1 for an illustrative example of how each date was determined.

levels as they are reached by simulations under different forcing scenarios. All the raw projected timeseries were detrended (using different methods for temperature and precipitation) and biascorrected using quantile delta mapping, leading to completely reconstructed timeseries for each variable. The relatively coarse EURO-CORDEX fields were further interpolated and downscaled to the high-resolution observational grid by using the information lost as the observations themselves are interpolated to the coarse grid and back again. A second round of quantile mapping was applied to the EURO-CORDEX frequency fields, with the degraded observational field substituting for the historical simulation in the quantile mapping process.

An initial set of standardized climate projections for Ireland has already been produced by the TRANSLATE project using the principles and specific methods described above, and more complete results from these projections will become publicly available by summer 2023. Ultimately, our intent is to provide as complete and accessible quantitative information



as practically possible about likely future climates in Ireland to meet the needs of those whose job is to plan and manage the national infrastructure out to the end of the 21st century.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

EO'B and PN are jointly responsible for the ideas behind this work and wrote the text. PN provided all the RCM output data. The RCM post-processing software was written and run by EO'B, in collaboration with PN. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was funded by Met Éireann under the TRANSLATE project grant to the University of Galway.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to the UK Met. Office for providing observational temperature data over Northern Ireland through their CEDA archive (https://data.ceda.ac.uk/badc/ukmo-metdb). We also benefitted from strategic oversight and direction provided by Peter Thorne and Bart van den Hurk.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

Almazroui, M., Saeed, F., Saeed, S., Ismail, M., Ehsan, M. A., Islam, M. N., et al. (2021). Projected changes in climate extremes using CMIP6 simulations over SREX regions. *Earth Syst. Environ.* 5, 481–497. doi: 10.1007/s41748-021-00250-5

Cannon, A., Sobie, S., and Murdock, T. (2015). Bias correction of GCM precipitation by quantile mapping: how well do methods preserve changes in quantiles and extremes? *J. Climate* 28, 6938–6959. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-14-00754.1

CH2018 (2018). NCCS (Pub.) 2018: CH2018 – Climate Scenarios for Switzerland. National Centre for Climate Services, Zurich. Available online at: https://www. nccs.admin.ch/nccs/en/home/data-and-media-library/data/ch2018-web-atlas.html (accessed February 09, 2023).

CH2018 Report (2018). CH2018 – Climate Scenarios for Switzerland, Technical Report. Eds. Fischer and Strassmann. Available online at: https://www.nccs.admin. ch/nccs/en/home/climate-change-and-impacts/swiss-climate-change-scenarios/ technical-report.html (accessed February 09, 2022)

Chimani, B., Heinrich, G., Hofstätter, M., Kerschbaumer, M., Kienberger, S., Leuprecht, A., et al. (2016). ÖKS15-Klimaszenarien für Österreich. Daten, Methoden und Klimaanalyse; ZAMG: Wien, Österreich. Available online at: https://data.ccca. ac.at/dataset/endbericht-oks15-klimaszenarien-fur-osterreich-daten-methoden-klima analyse-v01 (accessed April 19, 2023).

Department of Communications, Climate Action and Environment, Government of Ireland (2018). National Adaptation Framework: Planning for a Climate Resilient Ireland. Available online at: https://www.nwra.ie/wp-content/uploads/2020/ 05/national-adaptation-framework.pdf (accessed April 19, 2023).

Fauzi, F., Kuswanto, H., and Atok, R. M. (2020). Bias correction and statistical downscaling of earth system models using quantile delta mapping (QDM) and bias correction constructed analogues with quantile mapping reordering (BCCAQ). J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 1538, 012050. doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/1538/1/012050

Flanagan, J., and Nolan, P. (2020). Towards a Definitive Historical High-Resolution Climate Dataset for Ireland – Promoting Climate Research In Ireland. EPA Research Report 350. Available online at: https://www.epa.ie/pubs/reports/research/climate/ researchreport350/ (accessed April 19, 2023).

Flanagan, J., Nolan, P., McGrath, R., and Werner, C. (2019). Towards a definitive historical high-resolution climate dataset for Ireland–promoting climate research in Ireland. *Adv. Sci. Res.* 15, pp.263–276. doi: 10.5194/asr-15-263-2019

Gutman, N. B. (1989). Statistical descriptors of climate. Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 70, 602–607.

Hanssen-Bauer, I., Førland, E., Haddeland, I., Hisdal, H., Lawrence, D., Mayer, S., et al. (2017). Climate in Norway 2100.

Hollis, D., McCarthy, M., Kendon, M., Legg, T., and Simpson, I. (2018). *HadUK-Grid Gridded and Regional Average Climate Observations for the UK.* Centre for Environmental Data Analysis. UK Met. Office. Available online at: http://catalogue.ceda.ac.uk/uuid/4dc8450d889a491ebb20e724debe2dfb (accessed February 09 2023).

Houghton, J. G., and O'Cinnéide, M. S. (1976). Airflow Types and Rainfall in Ireland. Yearbook of the Association of Pacific Coast Geographers, Vol. 38, 33–48. Avaialble online at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/24041039 (accessed April 19, 2023).

Kiely, G. (1999). Climate change in Ireland from precipitation and streamflow observations. *Adv. Water Resour.* 23, 141–151. doi: 10.1016/S0309-1708(99)00018-4

Lenderink, G., van den Hurk, B., Klein Tank, A., van Oldenborgh, G., van Meijgaard, E., dev Vries, H., and Beersma, J. (2015). Preparing local climate change scenarios for the Netherlands using resampling of climate model output. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 9, 115008. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/9/11/115008

Lowe, J. A., Bernie, D., Bett, P., Bricheno, L., Brown, S., Calvert, D., et al. (2018). *UKCP18 Science Overview Report.* Available online at: https://www.metoffice.gov. uk/pub/data/weather/uk/ukcp18/science-reports/UKCP18-Overview-report.pdf (accessed February 09, 2023). organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fclim.2023. 1166828/full#supplementary-material

Maraun, D. (2012). Nonstationarities of regional climate model biases in European seasonal mean temperature and precipitation sums. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 39, L06706. doi: 10.1029/2012GL051210

Maraun, D. (2013). Bias correction, quantile mapping, and downscaling: re-visiting the inflation issue. *J. Clim.* 26, 2137–2143. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-12-00821.1

Mateus, C., Potito, A., and Curley, M. (2020). Reconstruction of a long-term historical daily maximum and minimum air temperature network dataset for Ireland (1831-1968). *Geosci. Data J.* 7, 102–115. doi: 10.1002/gdj3.92

McCarthy, G. D., Gleeson, E., and Walsh, S. (2015). The influence of ocean variations on the climate of Ireland. *Weather* 70, 242–245. doi: 10.1002/we a.2543

Murphy, J. M., Harris, G. R., Sexton, D. M. H., Kendon, E. J., Bett, P. E., Clark, R. T., et al. (2018). UKCP18 Land Projections: Science Report. Available online at: https:// www.metoffice.gov.uk/pub/data/weather/uk/ukcp18/science-reports/UKCP18-Land-report.pdf (accessed February 09, 2023).

Nilsen, I. B., Hanssen-Bauer, I., Dyrrdal, A. V., Hisdal, H., Lawrence, D., Haddeland, I., et al. (2022). From climate model output to actionable climate information in Norway. *Front. Clim.* 4, 866563. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2022.866563

Nolan, P. (2015). Ensemble of Regional Climate Model Projections for Ireland. EPA Research Report 159, 88 p, Johnstown Castle, Ireland. Available online at: https://www.epa.ie/publications/research/climate-change/research-159ensemble-of-regional-climate-model-projections-for-ireland.php (accessed April 19, 2023).

Nolan, P., and Flanagan, J. (2020). High-Resolution Climate Projections for Ireland – A Multi-model Ensemble Approach. EPA Research Report 339, 81 p. Johnstown Castle, Ireland. Available online at: https://www.epa.ie/publications/research/climatechange/research-339-high-resolution-climate-projections-for-ireland-.php (accessed April 19, 2023).

Nolan, P., O'Sullivan, J., and McGrath, R. (2017). Impacts of climate change on mid-twenty-first-century rainfall in Ireland: a high-resolution regional climate model ensemble approach. *Int. J. Climatol.* 37, 4347–4363. doi: 10.1002/joc.5091

Ricke, K. L., and Caldeira, K. (2014). Maximum warming occurs about one decade after a carbon dioxide emission. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 9, 124002. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/9/12/124002

Rocheta, E., Evans, J. P., and Sharma, A. (2014). Assessing atmospheric bias correction for dynamical consistency using potential vorticity. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 9, 124010. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/9/12/124010

Ruosteenoja, K., and Jylhä, K. (2021). Projected climate change in Finland during the 21st century calculated from CMIP6 model simulations. *Geophysica*. 56, 39–69. Available online at: https://www.geophysica.fi/pdf/geophysica_2021_56_1_039_ruosteenoja.pdf (accessed April 19, 2023).

Ruosteenoja, K., Jylhä, K., and Kamarainen, M. (2016). Climate projections for Finland under the RCP forcing scenarios. *Geophysica* 51, 17–50. Available online at: https://www.geophysica.fi/pdf/geophysica_2016_51_1-2_017_ruosteenoja. pdf (accessed April 19, 2023).

Tamayo, J., Rodriguqz-Camino, E., Hernanz, A., and Covaleda, S. (2022). Downscaled climate change scenarios for Central America. *Adv. Sci. Res.* 19, 105–115. doi: 10.5194/asr-19-105-2022

Taylor, K., Stouffer, R., and Meehl, G. (2012). An overview of CMIP5 and the experiment design. *Bull. Amer. Meteorol. Soc.* 93, 485–498. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-11-00094.1

The Royal Society (UK), National Academy of Sciences (USA) (2020). Climate Change: Evidence and Causes, Update 2020. Available online at: https://royalsociety.org/~/media/royal_society_content/policy/projects/climate-evidence-causes/climate-change-evidence-causes.pdf (accessed April 19, 2023).

Tiedtke, M. (1989). A comprehensive mass Flux scheme for cumulus parameterization in large-scale models. *Mon. Wea. Rev.* 117, 1779–1799.

Van den Hurk, B., Siegmund, P., and Klein Tank, A. (Eds). (2014). KNMI'14: Climate Change Scenarios for the 21st Century – A Netherlands Perspective. KNMI scientific report WF 2014-01. Available online at: https://cdn.knmi.nl/knmi/pdf/bibliotheek/knmipubWR/WR2014-01.pdf (accessed April 19, 2023).

Vautard, R., Gobiet, A., Sobolowski, S., Kjellstrom, E., Stegehuis, A., Watkiss, P., et al. (2014). The European climate under a 2°C global warming. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 9, 034006. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/9/3/034006

Walsh, S. (2016). Long-Term Rainfall Averages for Ireland, 1981–2010, Met Éireann, Dublin, Climatological Note No. 15. Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/2262/ 76135 (accessed April 19, 2023). Walsh, S. (2017). Long-Term Temperature Averages for Ireland, 1981–2010, Met Éireann, Dublin, Climatological Note No. 16. Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/ 2262/79901 (accessed April 19, 2023).

Werner, C., Nolan, P., and Naughton, O. (2019). *High-Resolution Gridded Datasets of Hydro-Climate Indices for Ireland*. EPA Research Report 267. Available online at: https://www.epa.ie/publications/research/water/research-267.php (accessed April 19, 2023).

Xavier, A., Martins, A., Rudke, A., de Morais, M., Martins, J., and Blain, G. (2022). Evaulation of Quantile Delta Mapping as a biascorrection method in maximum rainfall dataset from downscaled models in São Paulo state (Brazil). *Int. J. Climatol.* 42, 175–190. doi: 10.1002/jo c.7238 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fai Fung, Met Office, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Barry McMullin, Dublin City University, Ireland

*CORRESPONDENCE Ilissa B. Ocko ⊠ iocko@edf.org

RECEIVED 10 February 2023 ACCEPTED 02 May 2023 PUBLISHED 19 May 2023

CITATION

Cohen-Shields N, Sun T, Hamburg SP and Ocko IB (2023) Distortion of sectoral roles in climate change threatens climate goals. *Front. Clim.* 5:1163557. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2023.1163557

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Cohen-Shields, Sun, Hamburg and Ocko. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Distortion of sectoral roles in climate change threatens climate goals

Naomi Cohen-Shields, Tianyi Sun, Steven P. Hamburg and Ilissa B. Ocko*

Environmental Defense Fund, New York, NY, United States

The longstanding method for reporting greenhouse gas emissions—carbon dioxide equivalence (CO₂e)—systematically underestimates methane-dominated economic sectors' contributions to warming in the coming decades. This is because it only calculates the warming impact of a pulse of emissions over a 100-year period. For short-lived climate forcers that mostly influence the climate for a decade or two, like methane, this method masks their near-term potency. Assessing the impacts of future greenhouse gas emissions using a simple climate model reveals that midcentury warming contributions of sectors dominated by methane—agriculture, fossil fuel production and distribution, and waste—are two times higher than estimated using CO₂e. The CO₂e method underemphasizes the importance of reducing emissions from these sectors, and risks misaligning emissions targets with desired temperature outcomes. It is essential to supplement CO₂e-derived insights with approaches that convey climate impacts of ongoing emissions over multiple timescales, and to never rely exclusively on CO₂e.

KEYWORDS

climate change, climate metrics, greenhouse gas emissions, climate modeling, methane, climate goals, climate policy, economic sectors

Introduction

Quantification of sectoral contributions to future warming is critical for guiding climate change mitigation priorities. However, the current method for evaluating the contributions of economic sectors to temperature increases is distorting their relative magnitudes. This distortion is most salient in the coming decades but persists for over a century. Given that sectoral emissions include a variety of greenhouse gases, aggregating their impacts without a climate model requires a metric for intercomparison. Sectoral contributions are almost always quantified using current annual greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in carbon dioxide equivalence (CO_2e) which employs global warming potentials with a 100-year time horizon (GWP100). A long-term calculation from 1 year's emissions overlooks the near-term potency of short-lived climate forcers such as methane. This is problematic because several sectors are dominated by methane emissions and therefore their impacts (and thus sectoral share) in the near-term would be greater. While the time dependency of the calculation is therefore critical to the statistic, it is continually left out of reporting. The result is a simplified statistic (sectoral share) devoid of its more nuanced meaning (sectoral share over a particular period). In other words, it doesn't mean what people think it means.

Employing a climate model can more accurately convey the relative roles of economic sectors by considering impacts of multiple climate forcers with varying radiative potencies and atmospheric lifetimes over all timescales and accounting for ongoing emissions. In this perspective, we use a reduced-complexity climate model to show that GWP100/CO₂e vastly

undervalues methane-dominated sectors' contributions to midcentury warming for both "no further climate action" and "strong mitigation" scenarios. Further, we discuss the policy implications of the resulting distortion and offer recommendations to improve accuracy.

A more accurate representation of sectoral contributions

As our indicator of "true" temperature impacts from future sectoral greenhouse gas emissions, we use a reduced-complexity climate model (MAGICCv6) (Meinshausen et al., 2011). Though models are not without uncertainties (see Supplementary material for how uncertainties influence our analysis), they are more accurate than simplified metrics because they consider interacting chemistry and physics along with climate feedbacks and treat changing climate forcer emissions and resulting atmospheric concentrations with more sophistication.

We consider two global GHG emissions scenarios: a "no further climate action" reference pathway and a "strong mitigation" pathway designed to limit global mean temperature increase to 1.5°C (Keramidas et al., 2018) (Supplementary Figure S1). We use these two scenarios to investigate both the breakdown of global sectors' contributions to absolute warming, as well as their contributions to avoided warming from potential emissions reductions. The reason for this is to determine how standard metrics can influence the perception of sectors in not just contributing to the climate change problem, but in contributing to climate change solutions as well. For example, it is important that we not only understand the full extent in which different sectors cause warming, but also the full extent in which their mitigation can avoid warming. We evaluate the impacts of future emissions from 2021 to 2100 for the three major GHGs: carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), and nitrous oxide (N₂O); we do not evaluate changes in hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) because their current contributions to warming are relatively small and are already covered under a global phaseout agreement (The Kigali Amendment, 2016). Though sectoral emissions also include other warming and cooling climate forcers, as analyzed in Unger et al. (2010), we limit our focus to the main GHGs included in netzero targets.

We categorize emissions into nine global economic sectors, three dominated by methane—agriculture; fossil fuel production & distribution (FFPD); and waste—and six dominated by CO₂– power generation; industry; transport; buildings; land-use, landuse change, and forests (LULUCF); and Other CO₂ (e.g., energy losses, transfers, etc.). For all sectors, the dominant gas accounts for more than two-thirds of emissions as weighted by GWP100 and a GWP with a shorter time horizon of 20 years (GWP20) (Supplementary Figure S3). We evaluate the global mean temperature responses to sectoral emissions through midcentury to convey near-term warming on policy-relevant timescales, as well as through the end of century to convey long-term warming and relevance for temperature targets.

For the "no further climate action" scenario, the climate model suggests that around half (53%) of additional warming in 2050 due to future GHG emissions, and slightly less than half (44%) in

2100, will be attributed to the three methane-dominated sectors (Figure 1). Methane sectors' contributions are substantial because methane is a potent gas with emissions expected to increase throughout most of the century in the absence of further action (Ocko et al., 2021). In fact, our analysis suggests that around 60% of warming over the next decade from future GHG emissions will come from methane-dominated sectors. Increases in methane emissions will continue to reinforce its near-term potency, even as the warming share of methane-dominated sectors decreases over time due to the accumulation of CO_2 in the atmosphere from the CO_2 -dominated sectors.

The methane-dominated fossil fuel production and distribution (FFPD) and agriculture sectors, along with the CO_2 -dominated power generation sector are the three largest contributors— amounting to 59% of warming in 2050 with no further climate action. This broadly aligns with previous findings that the highest contributing sectors in the near-term are energy sectors (including FFPD and power generation) and agriculture (Lund et al., 2020).

For the "strong mitigation" scenario consistent with a 1.5° C target, emissions reductions from methane-dominated sectors could contribute half (52%) of the total avoided warming by 2050 (avoided warming relative to absolute warming in the "no further climate action" scenario; note that this is different than the absolute warming analyzed under the reference scenario and thus not directly comparable), and at least a third (36%) of avoided warming in 2100 (Figure 1). While the modeled mitigation scenario in this paper is just one of many potential pathways to achieve 1.5° C, it illustrates the substantial impact that methane mitigation efforts can have on reducing near-term, as well as longer-term, warming.

Misleading metrics and a distorted climate problem

The metric almost always chosen to convert GHGs into their CO_2e is GWP: a measure of the relative potency (in terms of cumulative radiative forcing) of 1 year's (pulse) non- CO_2 emissions as compared to a pulse of CO_2 emissions over a specified time horizon. While the time horizon is an arbitrary choice, 100 years has become the standard. GWP100 is used in Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), corporate climate targets (Net Zero), state and company level emissions inventories such as WRI's Climate Watch platform, EPA's annual greenhouse gas inventory, and the European Commission's annual JRC GECO report.

Decades of literature have illustrated the shortcomings of GWP100 (Lynch et al., 2021) and a prominent issue is that it does not convey the near-term impacts of short-lived gases (Balcombe et al., 2018). This is significant because, of the two GHGs responsible for most of current warming— CO_2 and methane— CO_2 can last for centuries in the atmosphere whereas methane is a potent but short-lived gas that on average remains in the atmosphere for around a decade (IPCC, 2021). When GWP100 is used to convert methane emissions into CO_2 e, the result is a skewed perception of methane's impact because the metric relies

¹ https://ghgprotocol.org/



emissions from losses of the energy transformation industry (excluding power and heat generation).

on averaging the warming impact of a pulse of methane over multiple decades when the pulse has substantially decayed and is not considerably influencing the atmosphere. A continuing flow of methane will maintain a corresponding elevated atmospheric concentration, and warming impact; but again, this is not well reflected via GWP100.

Our analysis illustrates the inadequacy of relying solely on GWP100. While the climate model makes it clear that methanedominated sectors could account for around half of (1) warming from future GHG emissions in the absence of climate action and (2) avoided warming from a strong mitigation scenario, using the standard GWP100/CO₂e approach leads to vastly different results.

For example, cumulative CO_2e using GWP100 practically halves the role of methane-dominated sectors over the 2021–2050 period relative to the model results (53% model; 28% metric; Figure 2). While GWP100 performs better in the long-term, as the period from 2021 to 2100 more closely matches a 100-year time horizon, the results in 2100 over this time period are still distorted, with the methane-dominated sectors' role cut by around a third when using the metric relative to the model (44% model; 30% metric).

Similarly, GWP100 obscures the importance of emissions reductions from methane-dominated sectors-cutting their

avoided warming potential almost in half in 2050 (52% model; 24% metric) and by almost a third in 2100 (36% model; 22% metric). This yields a misrepresentation of the relative potentials of economic sectors to mitigate additional warming (Figure 2).

While alternative metrics for comparing GHGs with different lifetimes have been proposed (e.g., Ocko et al., 2017), there is no single simplified metric that can capture impacts over all timescales. Nevertheless, we test the accuracy of two other popular climate metrics: GWP20 and GWP* [a metric that evaluates the relative climate impact of a change in the emission rate of a short-lived climate pollutant compared to a pulse of CO2 (Cain et al., 2019)]. In 2050, both GWP20 and GWP* can provide sectoral shares that are consistent with the climate model (Supplementary Figure S4). In 2100, neither metric replicates the climate model as closely; GWP20 slightly overvalues the contributions of methane-dominated sectors and GWP* slightly overvalues the contributions of CO2dominated sectors (Supplementary Figure S4). However, both can perform better than GWP100 out to 2100. We also note that the specific distortion of methane's contributions assessed via cumulative GWP is highly dependent on the methane emissions pathway under consideration in addition to the chosen time horizon.



Comparison between a climate model and GWP100 of sectoral warming and avoided warming contributions in 2050 from continuous 2021–2050 emissions of CO_2 , CH_4 , and N_2O . Left panel shows one possible reference scenario that includes all climate and energy policies implemented as of 2017, and right panel shows avoided warming (relative to the reference scenario) under a scenario that limits global warming to $1.5^{\circ}C$. Both scenarios are taken from JRC GECO (2018). CO_2 -dominated sectors are in shades of blue, methane-dominated sectors are in shades of red. "Land use" refers to "land use, land-use change, and forestry." "Other CO_2 " includes emissions from losses of the energy transformation industry (excluding power and heat generation).

Climate decision making must adopt new standard practices

Given how GWP100-based CO₂e calculations distort the roles of economic sectors in contributing to future warming, relying solely on GWP100 can lead to suboptimal policies and priorities by misleading climate actors from the top levels of government (e.g., U.S. NDC)² to grassroots organizations. This is because the importance of methane emissions in several sectors is systematically underestimated by GWP100.

The prominent role of methane in climate change and its mitigation has been increasingly recognized (UNEP, 2021), culminating in the recent Global Methane Pledge. However, $GWP100/CO_2e$ in isolation continues to be pervasive in climate policy, advocacy, and education. Yet there are examples of acknowledgment of the metric issue by stakeholders (such as work by the Irish Climate Change Advisory Council to establish multi-gas GHG budgets, as well as the State of New York publishing their emissions inventory using GWP20). Given that prioritizing sectoral mitigation efforts is often necessary under cost and political constraints, the current sectoral share distortion imposed by GWP100/CO₂e risks mis-prioritizing sectors for emissions reductions, undervaluing the benefits of methane-sector mitigation—especially in the near-term—and potentially overlooking important abatement measures. This can have implications for the temperature outcomes of climate policies. For example, if CO₂-dominated sectors are regularly prioritized for mitigation, the realized temperature benefits in the near-term will be lower than anticipated because the remaining warming impact from methane-dominated sectors will be underestimated.

The bottom line is that GWP100 should never be singularly relied upon for emissions assessments. Fortunately, myriad alternative or supplemental metric strategies have been proposed.

² https://unfccc.int/NDCRE

These include dual-reporting of emissions using two metrics to capture both the near- and long- term climate impacts, (Ocko et al., 2017) separately indicating contributions of short- and long-lived pollutants to a total CO₂e target, (Allen et al., 2022) or defining metric time horizons according to global temperature goals (Abernethy and Jackson, 2022). While there is no "one-size-fits-all" metric for climate decision making (IPCC, 2021), this should not be a reason to always defer to the status quo. We urge the climate policy community to recognize the necessity for additional metrics or methods that can adequately convey the impacts of GHG emissions in both the near- and long-term. Furthermore, we recommend that:

- 1. All emissions accounting start by breaking down emissions by gas in units of mass. This is an essential practice for ensuring that the most appropriate evaluating method and time horizon can be used by making the underlying information available. Too often emissions are presented whether for a company, a sector, or an entire country only as a combined CO₂e. Without the breakdown by gas, it is impossible to convert the emissions to any other metric or input accurately into a model. The UNFCCC is a prime example of requiring emissions inventories to be broken down by gas, and we strongly recommend this practice be widely adopted.
 - a. We also recommend that this method of emissions accounting by gas be extended to emissions projections and commitments, such as those included in countries' NDC targets.
- 2. Data tools, inventories, and reports allow users to see GHG emissions according to different metrics, side by side. This means reconfiguring the way we present sectoral emissions data to better account for varying sectoral contributions to warming over time. This would introduce a user-oriented decision-making process regarding which metric is most appropriate for the application at hand.
- 3. Emissions totals and percentage contributions that combine multiple greenhouse gases using a specific time-horizon in the aggregation should never be reported without explicitly stating the time-horizon of the climate metric used to calculate them. This would bring the time-dependency of the information to the forefront.

These new standard practices must become embedded across the climate science and policy communities if we want to secure the best chance at reducing emissions and mitigating the worst of climate change over all timescales.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

IBO designed the study. NC-S carried out the experiments with help from TS. NC-S analyzed the results. IBO and NC-S prepared the visuals. All authors wrote the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

NC-S was funded by the High Meadows Foundation.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fclim.2023. 1163557/full#supplementary-material

TABLE 1

Data Appendix; emissions data and GWP calculations.

DATA SHEET 1

Model Parameters; used to run MAGICCv6 in this study.

DATA SHEET 2

Supplementary Material; including supplemental figures, experiment descriptions, and tabular data.

References

Abernethy, S., and Jackson, R. B. (2022). Global temperature goals should determine the time horizons for greenhouse gas emissions metrics. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 17, 2. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/ac4940

Allen, M. R., Peters, G. P., Shine, K. P., Azar, C., Balcombe, P., Boucher, O., et al. (2022). Indicate separate contributions of long-lived and short-lived greenhouse

gases in emissions targets. Npj Clim. Atmos. Sci. 5, 5. doi: 10.1038/s41612-021-00226-2

Balcombe, P., Speirs, J. F., Brandon, N. P., and Hawkes, A. D. (2018). Methane emissions: choosing the right climate metric and time horizon. *Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts* 20, 1323–1339. doi: 10.1039/C8EM00414E

Cain, M., Lynch, J., Allen, M. R., Fuglestvedt, J. S., Frame, D. J., and Macey, A. H. (2019). Improved calculation of warming-equivalent emissions for short-lived climate pollutants. *Npj Clim. Atmos. Sci.* 2, 29. doi: 10.1038/s41612-019-0086-4

IPCC (2021). Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press. doi: 10.1017/9781009157896

Keramidas, K., Tchung-Ming, S., Diaz Vazquez, A., Weitzel, M., Vandyck, T., Desprãs, J., et al. (2018). *Global Energy and Climate Outlook 2018: Sectoral Mitigation Options Towards a Low-Emissions Economy.* Publications Office of the European Union. doi: 10.2760/67475

Lund, M. T., Aamaas, B., Stjern, C. W., Klimont, Z., Berntsen, T. K., and Samset, B. H. (2020). A continued role of short-lived climate forcers under the shared socioeconomic pathways. *Earth Syst. Dyn.* 11, 977–993. doi: 10.5194/esd-11-977-2020

Lynch, J., Cain, M., Frame, D., and Pierrehumbert, R. (2021). Agriculture's contribution to climate change and role in mitigation is distinct from predominantly fossil CO2-emitting sectors. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 4, 518039. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.518039

Meinshausen, M., Raper, S. C. B., and Wigley, T. M. L. (2011). Emulating coupled atmosphere-ocean and carbon cycle models with a simpler model, MAGICC6

- Part 1: model description and calibration. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 11, 1417-1456. doi: 10.5194/acp-11-1417-2011

Ocko, I., Hamburg, S. P., Jacob, D. J., Keith, D. W., Keohane, N. O., Oppenheimer, M., et al. (2017). Unmask temporal trade-offs in climate policy debates. *Science* 356, 492–493. doi: 10.1126/science.aaj2350

Ocko, I. B., Sun, T., Shindell, D., Oppenheimer, M., Hristov, A. N., Pacala, S. W., et al. (2021). Acting rapidly to deploy readily available methane mitigation measures by sector can immediately slow global warming. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 16, 054042. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/abf9c8

The Kigali Amendment (2016). The Amendment to the Montreal Protocol Agreed by the Twenty-Eighth Meeting of the Parties. Available online at: https://ozone.unep. org/treaties/montreal-protocol/amendments/kigali-amendment-2016-amendmentmontreal-protocol-agreed

UNEP (2021). Global Methane Assessment: Benefits and Costs of Mitigating Methane Emissions. Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and Climate and Clean Air Coalition.

Unger, N., Bond, T., Wang, J., and Bauer, S. (2010). Attribution of climate forcing to economic sectors. *PNAS* 107, 3382–3387. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906 548107

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Markus Donat, Barcelona Supercomputing Center, Spain

REVIEWED BY Sam Grainger, University of Leeds, United Kingdom Jana Sillmann, University of Hamburg, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Tobias Geiger ⊠ tobias.geiger@dwd.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 24 November 2023 ACCEPTED 26 February 2024 PUBLISHED 13 March 2024

CITATION

Geiger T, Röösli T, Bresch DN, Erhardt B, Fischer AM, Imgrüth D, Kienberger S, Mainetti L, Mühlbacher G and Spiekermann R (2024) How to provide actionable information on weather and climate impacts?—A summary of strategic, methodological, and technical perspectives. *Front. Clim.* 6:1343993. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2024.1343993

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Geiger, Röösli, Bresch, Erhardt, Fischer, Imgrüth, Kienberger, Mainetti, Mühlbacher and Spiekermann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

How to provide actionable information on weather and climate impacts?—A summary of strategic, methodological, and technical perspectives

Tobias Geiger^{1*†}, Thomas Röösli^{2†}, David N. Bresch^{2,3}, Bodo Erhardt⁴, Andreas M. Fischer², Dominik Imgrüth⁵, Stefan Kienberger⁵, Laura Mainetti⁵, Gudrun Mühlbacher⁶ and Raphael Spiekermann⁵

¹Regional Climate Office Potsdam, Climate and Environment, Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD), Potsdam, Germany, ²Federal Office of Meteorology and Climatology MeteoSwiss, Federal Department of Home Affairs FDHA, Zurich, Switzerland, ³Institute for Environmental Decisions, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ⁴Customer Services and Development, Weather Forecast, Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD), Offenbach, Germany, ⁵RiskLab-Weather, Climate and Natural Hazards, GeoSphere Austria, Vienna, Austria, ⁶Regional Climate Office Munich, Climate and Environment, Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD), Munich, Germany

Climate change will result in more intense and more frequent weather and climate events that will continue to cause fatalities, economic damages and other adverse societal impacts worldwide. To mitigate these consequences and to support better informed decisions and improved actions and responses, many National Meteorological and Hydrological Services (NMHSs) are discussing how to provide services on weather and climate impacts as part of their operational routines. The authors outline how a risk framework can support the development of these services by NMHSs. In addition to the hazard information, a risk perspective considers the propensity for a given hazard to inflict adverse consequences on society and environment, and attempts to quantify the uncertainties involved. The relevant strategic, methodological and technical steps are summarized and recommendations for the development of impact-related services are provided. Specifically, we propose that NMHSs adopt an integrated risk framework that incorporates a hazard-exposure-vulnerability model into operational services. Such a framework integrates all existing forecast and impact services, including the underlying impact models, and allows for flexible future extensions driven by the evolving collaboration with partners, stakeholders and users. Thereby, this paper attempts to unify existing work streams on impact-related services from different spatial and temporal scales (weather, climate) and disciplines (hydrology, meteorology, economics, social sciences) and to propose a harmonized approach that can create synergies within and across NMHSs to further develop and enhance risk-based services.

KEYWORDS

climate service, weather and climate risk, extreme weather and climate, National Weather Service, impact assessment, co-design, user needs, hazard-exposure-vulnerability

1 Introduction

Weather and climate events pose a multitude of risks to societies (WMO, 2020). Providing effective decision support services concerning these risks is a challenge for research institutions, service providers and users alike. Here we address National Meteorological and Hydrological Services (NMHSs) in identifying common strategies and best practice guidelines for the integration and provision of impact information into weather and climate services. NMHSs' primary objective is the provision of actionable decision support service with respect to meteorological, climatological and hydrological information (Mosley, 2001; WMO, 2015; Göber et al., 2023). Ultimately, these services should increase preparedness, activate swift response and prevent/reduce negative impacts of the hazard.

In recent years, an increasing number of NMHSs have begun to provide not only information on the hazard itself, but also information on the potential impact (Uccellini and Ten Hoeve, 2019; Kaltenberger et al., 2020; WMO, 2020). This shift is motivated by the fact that the ideal basis for risk-reducing actions is knowledge of the potential societal impacts. It is challenging to evaluate potential adverse impacts based on weather and climate information alone (Anderson-Berry et al., 2018; Uccellini and Ten Hoeve, 2019; Kaltenberger et al., 2020; Potter et al., 2021). Moreover, besides information on the potential impacts, other measures (e.g., preparedness planning, mitigation works) can influence the decision-making process (Potter et al., 2018; Taylor et al., 2018). In accordance with the IPCC, we refer to impacts as the consequences of realized risks on natural and human systems (IPCC, 2023). Risks result from dynamic interactions between the hazard (a spatio-temporally constrained weather or climate event) with the exposure (the geographical distribution of points of interest, e.g. infrastructure, persons) and vulnerability (the susceptibility of these points of interest to the hazard) (Reisinger et al., 2020). Hazards, exposure and vulnerability may each be subject to uncertainty in terms of magnitude and likelihood of occurrence, thereby contributing to the probabilistic nature of risks (Kropf et al., 2022).

To provide actionable climate and weather services, we propose the implementation of a risk framework by NMHSs that includes the hazard-exposure-vulnerability (HEV) dimensions as building blocks in a model to calculate impacts and risks of extreme weather and climate events (Birkmann et al., 2013; IPCC, 2021). In comparison to traditional representations of risk modeling where hazard, exposure and vulnerability are discrete building blocks, e.g., using the famous IPCC risk propeller (O'Neill et al., 2022), we here propose a continuous representation of risk modeling in a smooth risk plane (Figure 1). The mechanics of this modeling approach allows for a gradual increasing interaction of these three building blocks, starting with hazard only information up to a full risk assessment (Röösli et al., 2021). We therefore refer to the full risk triangle as shown in Figure 1 as the "larger picture" into which the traditional hazard modeling activity of a NMHS is naturally embedded. By increasing the complexity of the provided exposure and vulnerability information (from uniform over categorical to more sophisticated levels), the model generates the impact-related output as required by the user (numbered items in Figure 1, Table 1 for detailed examples). In addition, existing HEV-models are also capable of integrating cost/benefit perspectives on specific risk reduction and adaptation measures, e.g., CLIMADA (Bresch and Aznar-Siguan, 2021) and the Oasis Loss Modelling Framework (n.d.).

An integrated HEV-model (operated at a NMHS or in collaboration with other organizations), that flexibly incorporates the existing NMHS service landscape and the various impactrelated services requested, resembles the first of two pillars of a NMHS' impact strategy. The second pillar is transdisciplinary collaboration, as implementing an impact strategy does not only involve research and development but also an increased exchange with existing but also new public and private actors. The implementation of impact-related services in cooperation with so-called boundary organizations is therefore key. We refer to boundary organizations (BO) as all downstream users, service providers or consultancies that can independently access the hazard event and impact information to produce additional impact and risk assessments either for their own purposes or for other specific users and applications. The provision of a modular, open-source and -access HEV-model will support this co-design process. Potential services might comprise purely physical (e.g., hydrological impacts), social (e.g., lives threatened), economic (e.g., economic damages) but also environmental, cultural or institutional assessments. In another dimension, the model can provide either qualitative (e.g., impact-oriented warnings or forecasts) or quantitative assessments (e.g., potential economic damage, potentially affected people, data-driven impact-based decision support services for specialized users) (Table 1).

The implementation of such a process at a NMHS requires strategic, methodological and technical considerations, which are further detailed below and complemented by a discussion with recommendations and practice-oriented steps.

2 Strategic perspectives of impact-related services

Many NMHSs are currently revising their strategies triggered by changing user requirements, budgetary or legal constraints, novel technical developments and as a response to rapid climate change (WMO, 2020).

NMHSs respond to changing user preferences by refining both their products and services as well as the product's design procedure, e.g., following the value chain approach (Nurmi et al., 2013; Golding et al., 2019). From the outset, the design process ideally involves potential users through interdisciplinary expertise and co-design strategies. As a result, the usability of the NMHS' portfolio increases, which in turn may result in favorable behavioral changes, support individual and especially institutional decision making and render socioeconomic benefits for society.

Providing impact-related services represents one way of responding to changing user preferences toward individualized and decision-relevant services. Recent advances in method development and data availability have resulted in model improvements that allow NMHSs already today to generate and provide impact-related warnings and forecasts fully probabilistically and seamlessly from the nowcasting to the



Modeling impacts for weather and climate services in a continuous risk plane. A hazard-exposure-vulnerability (HEV)-model uses the building blocks hazard (a spatio-temporally constrained weather or climate event), exposure (the geographical distribution of points, lines or polygones of interest) and vulnerability (the susceptibility of these points of interest to the hazard) to calculate impacts and risks of extreme weather and climate events. Traditionally, risk modeling is done using discrete HEV building blocks (IPCC risk propeller, left of figure). Here, we propose continuous risk modeling in a HEV-plane (risk triangle, center of figure). The risk triangle displays different weather and climate services (numbers (-, 0)) as potential realizations in the HEV-plane. As a common first step the desired weather or climate information (top of figure) is transformed into a spatio-temporal hazard event, e.g., containing the hazard's intensities (0, e, 0), with a full risk assessment reached at (-, 0), with a full risk assessment reached at (-, 0), with a full risk assessment reached at (-, 0), e.g., stakeholders, partners and users, increases from top to bottom

(bottom and lower right of figure).

climate forecast scale (Röösli et al., 2021). Therefore, impactrelated services are in line with other key strategic developments (probabilistic and seamless forecasts) and, if produced by an integrated HEV-model (Figure 1), can help to unite existing NMHS products within a single framework.

Individual NMHSs might argue that they lack the legal mandate to act in this field, because the responsibility (and related expertise) lies with other governmental bodies or private service providers (Kaltenberger et al., 2020). While this might be the case today, the situation might change in the future, e.g., due to adapted legal requirements and/or increasing risks driven by climate change. Adopting an integrated HEV-model now allows one to fulfill the current mandate, but also to move toward impact-related services in partnership with others in the future (Figure 1).

Another NMHS's concern might be liability. To avoid that false alarms could undermine the provider's reputation or even cause liability issues, it is again of utmost importance to co-develop the impact-related services with the users from the start and to reiterate that these services do not replace decision making. Moreover, starting out with more qualitative impact advisories instead of impact warnings (see Methodological Perspectives) will help to avoid false expectations and to circumvent potential liability issues.

3 Methodological perspectives of impact-related services

"Understanding disaster risk and forecasting hydrometeorological¹ impacts are generally beyond the remit of meteorologists and hydrologists. However, since the risks and impacts are often triggered by extreme hydrometeorological

¹ While our present discussion refers mostly to meteorological hazards, we acknowledge that our reasoning also holds true for hydrometeorological hazards and related impact assessments not in the focus here, as highlighted in the WMO report (WMO, 2015).

Product type (cf.)	Forecast range	Actionable information	Intended users	Represe	entation in H	Details	
				Hazard- event	Exposure	Vulnerability	
Hazard only ①	Short / medium	Wind speed	All users	Storm footprint based on wind speed	-	-	Wind footprint, e.g., ensemble mean of daily max wind, as provided by numerical weather model. Use case : Tropical cyclone track forecasting
Customized hazard ®	Short / medium	Wind warning level	All users	Storm footprint based on wind speed	-	Fixed official warning thresholds	Categorization of wind footprint by warning level. Use case : Warning of tropical cyclone occurrence by Saffir-Simpson scale
Hazard- vulnerability focus ③	Short / medium	Probability of sewage system failure	Local infrastructure managers	Maps with hourly precipitation sums	-	Sensitivity of sewage system to extreme precipitation	Risk map with hot spots for sewage system failure. Use case : Coordination of rapid response teams
Hazard- exposure focus ④	Short / medium	Number of vacant hospital beds exposed to heatwave	Hospital managers, emergency services	Map with multi-day heatwave extent	Location of hospitals and their number of vacant beds	-	Risk map with potential hospital bed shortage. Use case : Cancelation of non-emergency hospital services to free staff and beds
Risk focus \$	Short / medium	Map with expected building damages	Emergency services, post-event assessment teams	Map with daily max wind forecast	Location and value of buildings	Sensitivity of building damage to max wind	Impact map for building damage hotspots. Use case: Planning of personnel for post-event insurance claim services
Hazard only ①	Extended / long	Sunshine duration	All users, energy sector, tourism	Map of monthly expected sunshine duration	-	-	Regional aggregation of sunshine duration as direct model output. Use case : Solar energy generation potential
Customized hazard ⁽²⁾	Extended / long	Map with wildfire danger	Planners in fire departments, tourism managers	Map with wildfire index	-	Fixed official warning thresholds	Categorization of forecasted wild fire index by warning levels, that are associated with certain behavioral restrictions. Use case: Outside leisure activity planning in tourist regions
Hazard- vulnerability focus ③	Extended / long	Map with expected crop yield losses by crop type	Farmers, local decision makers	Map with high probability of prolonged drought conditions	-	Sensitivity of specific crop variety to drought conditions	Translation of drought conditions into potential crop yields. Use case : Pre-sowing decision support for crop choice
Hazard- exposure focus @	Extended / long	Map combining riverine traffic and forecasted river discharge	Hydrological experts, water traffic authorities	Map of forecasted weekly min/max river discharge at specific gauge stations	Daily number of shipping vessels at specific gauge stations	-	Interacting forecasted river extreme discharge with usual shipping activity to anticipate potential impacts of decision-making. Use case : Optimization of decision timing for efficient logistics
Risk focus 🕏	Long / projections	Guidance for future health care requirements by region	Political decision makers, public health experts	Maps of changes in severity of heatwaves in a warming climate	Maps of demographic changes of population	Sensitivity of heat-related mortality by age cohorts	Quantification of local heat-related deaths for future scenarios. Use case: Adaptation of building standards of health care facilities, e.g., retrofitting of air-conditioning systems

TABLE 1 Examples of actionable impact information as obtained from a HEV-model.

Illustration of concrete impact-related applications as represented by the individual numbers (cf. column 1) in Figure 1, their representation in the HEV modeling plane (cf. columns 5–7) and intended users (cf. column 4). An exemplary use case is provided in the last column. The applicability from the weather to the climate forecast range (cf. column 2) is illustrated by the following lead times: short range (≤ 2 days), medium range (≤ 15 days), extended range (≤ 6 weeks), long range (months to years), projections (decades).

events, it may be argued that NMHSs are best equipped to forecast their impact in partnership with others" (WMO, 2015).

This quote highlights two aspects: (i) NMHSs possess substantial expertise, both, with respect to the hazard and technically in the provision of operational services, (ii) impactrelated services require interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary (user engagement and co-design) partnerships. Working with BO from the start will bring together the interdisciplinary expertise, will ensure the usefulness of the services to be developed and share the burden of developing, providing and communicating the service. As a matter of fact: the more the services focus on impacts, the more tailor-made the services become, and the more such partnerships are required (Figure 1). At the same time, the provision of tailormade products for a range of users remains only feasible if the underlying service architecture is strictly modular and flexible and/or supported by stakeholders or BO.

Another important aspect concerns the metrics to be provided, which range from qualitative metrics (e.g., text-based, based on forecasters' judgment, simple impact indicators) to quantitative assessments (e.g., economic damages, affected people). Depending on the metric requirements, less complex impact advisories (potentially derived from non-public impact forecasts) can be a good starting point in place of actual impact warnings or forecasts. Impact advisories are also less strict on data availability and quality or on output evaluation, verification and uncertainty assessments. Quantitative assessments, on the other hand, will benefit from standardized and generalizable metric definitions that are clearly defined and communicated and comparable across impacts, e.g., people affected or monetized damage.

The successful development of any impact-related service will rise and fall with data availability across the full risk plane (Kaltenberger et al., 2020). Data on hazard, exposure and vulnerability are prerequisites for impact estimates (Table 1). In addition, impact observations are needed ex-ante to calibrate vulnerability functions and ex-post to validate impact-related services (Themessl et al., 2022). Alternatively, NMHSs should be prepared to provide their hazard event data to BO to allow for impact assessments with their bespoke exposure and vulnerability information, e.g., to meet user requirements best or to comply with confidentiality.

Accounting for uncertainty throughout the impact-modeling chain is a crucial part of developing impact-related services. This amounts to fully probabilistic risk assessments that combine present probabilistic weather and climate forecasts with suitable uncertainty considerations for the exposure and vulnerability component (Kropf et al., 2022). The associated quality or skill of the impact-related service will strongly depend on the hazard type and the time scale considered. E.g., impacts of an extreme wind event might only be forecasted with sufficient accuracy few days in advance, while temperature-related impacts can be skillful on seasonal time scales and beyond (Merz et al., 2020; Domeisen et al., 2022; Delgado-Torres et al., 2023). Therefore, hazard-specific decision protocols and communication guidelines that clearly name the target group, how to interpret and deal with associated uncertainties, probabilities and the forecast skill must accompany each impact-related service (see Technical Perspectives). This is needed to avoid false accuracy and false expectations.

4 Technical perspectives of impact-related services

Moving toward impact-related services requires specific technical steps. The focus lies on technical steps that are independent of the scope of the service, e.g., the weather or climate scale. This opens up the possibility for synergies in tackling these steps.

Implementing impact-related services at a NMHS for the first time usually requires introducing new concepts, methods and data sources into the operational setting (Röösli et al., 2021). Using a common approach like a HEV-model does not avoid this effort, it only provides a reusable framework for new concepts and its elements, especially if provided open-source and free to use. To facilitate the initial implementation of this framework, it needs to be attached to a strong use case and priority should be given to a generalizable structure. In this way the concepts become part of an operational setting and the efforts for subsequent developments building on the same concepts are reduced considerably. It is generally recommended to start small in terms of implementing the HEV-model at a NMHS and grow with collected experiences.

In the rapidly expanding field of impact-related services, transparent collaboration is a powerful catalyst to bring new concepts to widely used applications. Whilst some methodologies for calculating impact-related information are established, several extensions like compounding events and time-dependent exposure and vulnerability are currently being researched and developed. Different organizations using the same open-source software for their HEV-model allows sharing of new solutions quickly. This supports not only a quick transition from research to application, but also synergies among NMHSs in this common undertaking. At the same time, successfully launched impact-related services by NMHSs supported by a flexible, modular and open-access framework would allow BO, consultancies and other service providers to build upon the same framework and existing interfaces and to create additional services and products that are beyond the mandate of NMHSs. Examples of such services are listed in Table 1, where additional services could be iteratively improved using the same HEV model.

Integrating impacts requires an (extreme) event perspective. In both weather and climate services, the standard for meteorological information is continuous weather data in time and space. On the other hand, observed impacts are normally associated with a specific event, e.g., aggregated precipitation in 24 h within a specific region or spatio-temporal extension of a drought defined by soil moisture indices. Derived statistical evidence, like calibrated damage functions, will require the hydrological and meteorological data to share the same event definition. This requirement calls for an event-based strategy that transforms continuous weather and climate data according to definitions of extreme weather and climate events. While this sounds like a strong limitation at first sight, the event definition is very flexible and is usually defined by the context. On spatial scales, an event can cover anything from a single grid cell to a huge region, e.g., a continent. On temporal scales, an event can be as short as a lightning and as long as a multi-year drought. Sometimes the events can be derived from continuous data using thresholds (e.g., Beusch et al., 2023), sometimes meteorological features are identified and tracked in model data (e.g. Hodges, 1995). Using harmonized event definitions within and across NMHSs will not only make the extreme weather and climate services consistent but also ensures the reusability of impact-related methodologies between the different services and beyond. This automatically ensures a truly seamless handling of impact information.

Having implemented and operationalized an HEV-model is part of the solution, the other part being evaluated model configurations for specific hazard and impact types. These model configurations contain all specifications for the elements hazard, exposure and vulnerability to produce meaningful results in the form of quantitative impact estimates or qualitative impact advisories. These model configurations can be a result of data analysis of past events or of transdisciplinary efforts including stakeholder and expert knowledge. To speed up the generation of new and reliable model configurations, establishing structures for evaluating published model configurations from the scientific literature or the development of new model configurations is important. Here, the interaction of NMHSs with BO in identifying, defining and applying these model configurations is again key.

Another important aspect of HEV-model configurations is the metric on how to measure the quality of the implementation. This aspect should be thought of from the beginning and actively monitored. As such a new service requires resources, it will be important to evidence the success and skill of the new implementation. As observations of impacts are rare, available with a delay and sometimes uncertain, the methodologies normally applied to measure the quality of meteorological and climatological services will have to be adapted. First concepts on comparing impact data with meteorological services are being conceived (e.g., Wyatt and Robbins, 2023). In particular, one should consider that a successful implementation might affect the quality measure under consideration, e.g., behavioral responses affecting the forecasted impact (Scolobig et al., 2022).

Finally, a disclaimer for impact-related products and services needs to be provided with any operational impact service. The role and liability of each stakeholder must be established by actively communicating the disclaimer during the delivery of impact-related products and services. Such a document provides information on the intended use of the product and its uncertainties and shortcomings and can help to address liability concerns raised in the strategic perspectives part of this document. Collaborating with other NMHSs on the elaboration and establishment of such disclaimers could speed up this process.

5 Discussion

Based on the strategic, methodological and technical perspectives raised above we here provide four general recommendations on how to integrate impact information into weather and climate services. These recommendations specifically address applied scientists, senior forecasters and strategic decision makers within NMHSs but also practitioners within the community of stakeholders and BO:

- i) First of all, be bold: although risk assessments and impact forecasts seem to be beyond the remit of meteorologists and hydrologists, there are very few others that hold expertise in hazard modeling and in running operational services. Collaborating in inter- and transdisciplinary teams with external partners and users will get the job done.
- ii) Use a hazard-exposure-vulnerability mindset: when working with weather and climate data in any project, try to be aware of the potential risks, i.e., the exposure and vulnerability components, even if you are only interested in the hazard for now (Table 1). The weather and climate information should be considered as a potential hazard (in terms of structure) so it can be (re)used in an impact model outside your project or even outside your organization.
- iii) Use an integrated HEV-model: a HEV-model is not an add-on of your current activities, it is a way of integrating your current activities into a larger picture. A suitable model integrates your current hazard forecast and warning system and allows you to switch seamlessly between hazard and impact/risk forecasts and warnings-if desired. A HEV-model also works seamlessly from the weather to the climate scale (Table 1).
- iv) Think about (strategic) collaborations early on, as BO matter in providing products and services to public and private actors. Research institutions can help, but it will ultimately be BO who can deliver the required services.

How to start - first steps:

- 1) How to create a basic running HEV-system? Look around for existing HEV-models, see refs. (Bresch and Aznar-Siguan, 2021; Oasis Loss Modelling Framework, n.d.). Pay attention to their usability (open-source code/license of usage, comprehensive documentation, compatibility with your system, potential collaboration with other NMHSs), applicability (relevant use cases/demonstrators available incl. scientific publications, possibility for extension) and reliability (broad and active developer and user community, active code maintenance, helpdesk available). Check the requirements needed to integrate the code on your system? Has someone integrated this model under similar circumstances before? Install the model and try to reproduce existing use cases and adapt them to your needs.
- 2) First impact assessments: Impact assessments become useful if done in collaboration with accredited partners, relevant agencies, or users. Look around for relevant partners and engage in a co-design process from the very start. Only then will the product be useful and used.
- 3) Extending your impact portfolio: as many studies, use cases or data sources already exist in the global impact model community, you need a strategy of how to build on this knowledge without starting from scratch every time. E.g., the CLIMADA model (Bresch and Aznar-Siguan, 2021) provides running use cases solely based on open-source data that can be adapted to your needs. This guideline of if and how to use certain knowledge or expertise should revolve around following questions: how to evaluate published studies/use cases for usability? Do their output

metrics coincide with your user requirements? Have the studies/use cases been validated? Do you have access to relevant validation/verification data for your application? Do you have access to relevant exposure/vulnerability data? Has the use case been operationalized? What is the outcome?

- 4) Make robust, future-ready decisions: integrating impacts into a NMHS is a new and rapidly developing field. To make a robust decision now means to establish concepts and technological solutions that can be flexibly adjusted to the yet unspecified requirements of the future.
- 5) Spread the word: talk about your experiences, share your developments open-source, publish your work and thereby help others.
- 6) Carefully assess the potential of existing collaborations (e.g., with emergency services) to build on and new ones to establish (e.g., with engineering consultancies serving their clients managing risks).

6 Conclusion and outlook

Prospectively, operating a HEV-model and integrating it into operational warning and climate services of a NHMS requires adaptations in the well-established procedures. Operational forecasters have always been using a HEV-mindset implicitly, especially when issuing warnings. Having an objective HEVsystem in operation still poses a great change for forecasting operations and also for the structures and mindsets of the recipients of the HEV products and forecasts. This is especially valid with respect to communication and further processing of HEV products instead of processing traditional hazard information.

By gathering hands-on recommendations and a set of first steps from the authors' experiences, we hope to provide an insightful contribution to a timely discussion on an international level.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

TG: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Supervision. TR: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. DB: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. BE: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. AF: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. DI: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. SK: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. LM: Writing – review & editing. GM: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. RS: Methodology, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. TG acknowledges support from the German Ministry for Education and Research under the funding line CONFILIENCE (01LA2209A).

Acknowledgments

This paper builds on the authors' experiences and extensive discussions with colleagues from various NMHSs. Initiating this document has been made possible by the DWD's guest scientist exchange program during a visit of TR (MeteoSwiss) at DWD in November 2022. We further acknowledge fruitful discussion and exchange within the D-A-CH working group on Risk and Impacts, within DWD's working group on socioeconomics and MeteoSwiss' OWARNA project, exchange during DWD's Climate conference (Klimatagung) (23.11.2022) and during the 1st Weather and Society conference 2022.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Author disclaimer

The opinions and recommendations expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of their organizations.

References

Anderson-Berry, L., Achilles, T., Panchuk, S., Mackie, B., Canterford, S., Leck, A., et al. (2018). Sending a message: how significant events have influenced the warnings landscape in Australia. *Int. J. Disast. Risk Reduct.* 30, 5–17. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdrr.2018.03.005

Beusch, L., Mahlstein, I., Nerini, D., Graf, U., Bhend, J., Willemse, S., et al. (2023). "An extreme weather identifier for severe weather warnings: general concept and first results," in *EMS Annual Meeting 2023, Bratislava, Slovakia* (Bratislava EMS2023-317).

Birkmann, J., Cardona, O. D., Carreño, M. L., Barbat, A. H., Pelling, M., Schneiderbauer, S., et al. (2013). Framing vulnerability, risk and societal responses: the MOVE framework. *Nat Hazards* 67, 193–211. doi: 10.1007/s11069-013-0558-5

Bresch, D. N., and Aznar-Siguan, G. (2021). CLIMADA v1.4.1: Towards a globally consistent adaptation options appraisal tool. *Geosci. Model Dev.* 14, 351–363. doi: 10.5194/gmd-2020-151

Delgado-Torres, C., Donat, M., Soret, A., González-Reviriego, N., Bretonnière, P., Ho, A., et al. (2023). Multi-annual predictions of the frequency and intensity of daily temperature and precipitation extremes. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 18, 034031. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/acbbe1

Domeisen, D. I. V., Eltahir, E., Fischer, E., Knutti, R., Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S. E., Schar, C., et al. (2022). Prediction and projection of heatwaves. *Nat. Reviews Earth Environm.* 4, 36–50. doi: 10.1038/s43017-022-00371-z

Göber, M., Christel, I., Hoffman, D., Mooney, C., Rodriguez, L., Becker, N., et al. (2023). Enhancing the Value of Weather and Climate Services in Society: Identified Gaps and Needs as Outcomes of the First WMO WWRP/SERA Weather and Society Conference. *Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc.*, 104, E645–E651, doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-22-0199.1

Golding, B., Mittermaier, M., Ross, C., Ebert, B., Panchuk, S., Scolobig, A., et al. (2019). "A value chain approach to optimising early warning systems," in *Contributing Paper to GAR2019*. Available online at: www.preventionweb.net/publications/view/65828 (accessed March 4 2024).

Hodges, K. I. (1995), Feature tracking on the unit sphere. *Mon. Weather Rev.* 123, 3458–3465.

IPCC (2021). "Annex VII: Glossary," in Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds. J. B. R., Matthews, V. Möller, R. van Diemen, J. S. Fuglestvedt, V. Masson-Delmotte, C. Méndez, et al. (Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press).

IPCC (2023). Available online at: https://apps.ipcc.ch/glossary/ (accessed October 9, 2023).

Kaltenberger, R., Schaffhauser, A., and Staudinger, M. (2020). What the weather will do – results of a survey on impact-oriented and impact-based warnings in European NMHSs. *Adv. Sci. Res.* 17, 29–38. doi: 10.5194/asr-17-29-2020

Kropf, C. M., Ciullo, A., Otth, L., Meiler, S., Rana, A., Schmid, E., et al. (2022). Uncertainty and sensitivity analysis for probabilistic weather and climate-risk modelling: an implementation in CLIMADA v.3.1.0, *Geosci. Model Dev.* 15,7177–7201, doi: 10.5194/gmd-15-7177-2022

Merz, B., Kuhlicke, C., Kunz, M., Pittore, M., Babeyko, A., Bresch, D. N., et al. (2020). Impact forecasting to support emergency management of natural hazards. *Rev. Geophys.* 58, e2020RG000704. doi: 10.1029/2020RG000704

Mosley, P. (2001). The Role and Operation of National Hydrological Services. Geneva: WMO.

Nurmi, P., Perrels, A., and Nurmi, V. (2013), Expected impacts and value of improvements in weather forecasting on the road transport sector. *Met. Apps.* 20, 217–223. doi: 10.1002/met.1399

Oasis Loss Modelling Framework (n.d.). Available online at: https://oasislmf.org/ (accessed March 4 2024).

O'Neill, B., van Aalst, M., Zaiton Ibrahim, Z., Berrang Ford, L., Bhadwal, S., Buhaug, H., et al. (2022). "Key Risks Across Sectors and Regions," in *Climate Change* 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds. H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, et al. (Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press), 2411-2538.

Potter, S., Harrison, S., and Kreft, P. (2021). The benefits and challenges of implementing impact-based severe weather warning systems: perspectives of weather, flood, and emergency management personnel. *Weath. Climat. Soc.* 13, 303–314. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-20-0110.1

Potter, S. H., Kreft, P. V., Milojev, P., Noble, C., Montz, B., Dhellemmes, A., et al. (2018). The influence of impact-based severe weather warnings on risk perceptions and intended protective actions. *Int. J. Disast. Risk Reduct.* 30, 34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdrr.2018.03.031

Reisinger, A., Howden, M., Vera, C., et al. (2020). *The Concept of Risk in the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report: A Summary of Cross-Working Group Discussions*. Geneva, Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 15

Röösli, T., Appenzeller, C., and Bresch, D. N. (2021). Towards operational impact forecasting of building damage from winter windstorms in Switzerland. *Meteorol. Appl.* 28, e2035. doi: 10.1002/met.2035

Scolobig, A., Potter, S., Kox, T., Kaltenberger, R., Weyrich, P., Chasco, J., et al. (2022). Connecting Warning with Decision and Action: A Partnership of Communicators and Users. In Towards the "Perfect" Weather Warning: Bridging Disciplinary Gaps through Partnership and Communication. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 47–85.

Taylor, A. L., Kox, T., and Johnston, D. (2018). Communicating high impact weather: Improving warnings and decision making processes. *Int. J. Disast. Risk Reduct.* 30, 1–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdrr.2018.04.002

Themessl, M., Enigl, K., Reisenhofer, S., Köberl, J., Kortschak, D., Reichel, S., et al. (2022). Collection, standardization and attribution of robust disaster event information—a demonstrator of a national event-based loss and damage database in Austria. *Geosciences* 12, 283. doi: 10.3390/geosciences 12080283

Uccellini, L. W., and Ten Hoeve, J. E. (2019). Evolving the National Weather Service to build a weather-ready nation: connecting observations, forecasts, and warnings to decision-makers through impact-based decision support services. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 100, 1923–1942. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-18-0159.1

WMO (2015). WMO Guidelines on Multi-Hazard Impact-Based Forecast and Warning Services. Geneva: World Meteorological Organization, 24. Available online at: https://library.wmo.int/index.php?lvl=notice_display&id=17257 (accessed March 4 2024).

WMO (2020). 2020 State of Climate Services: Risk Information and Early Warning Systems. Geneva: World Meteorological Organisation, 47. Available online at: https://library.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=10385 (accessed March 4 2024).

Wyatt, F., and Robbins, J. (2023). "Challenges and opportunities using impact data for impact-based forecast verification," in *EMS Annual Meeting 2023, Bratislava, Slovakia* (Bratislava: EMS2023-28).

Frontiers in Climate

Explores solutions which can help humanity mitigate and adapt to climate change

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us



